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ERRATA AND ADDENDA

Page 27, # 8: after first "ibid" it should read "also, Essex co. VADeeds & Wills,
Bk. 14, pp. 669 & 189."

Page 40, line 7: Recent information indicates this Jesse may be a son of Reuben
Coffey and Sally Scott whodied in 1840.
Page 140, Lines 9 & 10: A reexamination of the list of 1853 immigrants to Oregon
has revealed that on July 25 those passing the Utilla Agencyincluded a J.J.
Lane (wife, 3 sons, and 1 daughter) and a M. (Mordecai ?) Lane (wife and 3 dau­
ghters). Also the 3 sonéin-laws of Mordecai are listed: James Perry (J. Perry,
wife, 3 sons, 2 daughters), James T. Lynch (listed J.T. Lenk, wife, 2 sons, 1
daughter), and Creed T. Biggers (listed C.3. Riggers, wife, 2 sons, 2 daughters.)
It thus appears that John J. Lane and his wife Louisa did cometo Oregon but I
have found no other record of them in Oregon as yet.

Page 191, last 2 paragraphs: Apparently the Coffeysdid comethrough the northern
route. The reexamination mentioned in the note for page 140 has shown that on
July 25 with the Lanes was listed a "Coffin" family (most likely John Coffey but
misspelled) with a wife, 3 __, 4 daughters. Again this is confused as it should
be 4 sons, 3 daughters.
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Preface

In VolumeI of this work a history of James Bluford Coffey (my great grand­

father) was given. All of his descendants, as far as known, were also listed and
discussed. This volumedeals with his ancestors, not only on the Coffey line but
also to someextent on the collateral lines of Lane, Dabney, Wade,Cleveland,

Graves, Powell and others. In addition, I have felt it advisable to include some
collateral Coffey lines and considerable data on other and unplaced Coffey lines
in Colonial and early post-Revolutionary times. There is muchyet unknownabout
the relationships of the latter, and it is hopedthat the inclusions of the data
I have accumulated mayhelp someother researchers to find their ancestral lines.
The purpose of this volumeis thus two fold: first, to provide information for my
family (descendants of James Bluford Coffey) about their ancestry, and second,
to makethe data I have accumulated during the past 20-odd years available to
other Coffey researchers.

In deciding what to include on collateral Coffey lines I started out with the
general rule to not go further than the families of the brothers and sisters of
mydirect line ancestors. However, where I have knownor had considerable corres­
pondence with someliving descendants of these lines I have often included them
and their lines. wheremuchinformation is available in other published family
histories I have referred the reader to those worksrather than attempt a repe­
tition of their data. In somecases I have given myowninterpretation of the
data which maydiffer from that of others. I makeno apologies for this; I have
simply presented the material "as I see it."

No one person can write a history of all the Coffeys in America or even the
descendants of Edward Coffey and Ann Powell. Thus, this work should not be con­
sidered an attempt to do so, but rather an account of some of the better knownof
these descendants. Omission of more recent generations on most lines will un­
doubtedly disappoint somereaders. I have felt that that information is more

readily available to them than that of the earlier lines and have thus mademy
choice of material to include on this basis. To have included more would have

greatly lengthened this volumeand the time necessary to produce it.
The reader will find a study of the charts in Chapter 1 helpful before pro­

ceeding further as this should orient him to the overall picture and to the chapter
where a particular family can be found. In using the charts in other chapters
the reader should note that I have used standard genealogical form with the dates
and abbreviations. While dates are given in the traditional manner (e.g., Feb­
ruary 2. 1827) in the narrative part, in the charts (and other compactedmaterial)
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the genealogical form (e.g., 2 Feb 1827) is used. State abbreviations are those
used by the U.3. Postal Service. Other abbreviations are also rather standard.
They include: '

b = born d = died bur = buried m or md = married dau = daughter
abt = about bef = before aft = after, etc.

The system employed in manyfamily histories of assigning a number to each
ancestor or a numberor letter to each generation has not been employedhere.
Instead, each generation is indented 6 spaces, 3 for the vital information about
a given person, and 3 more for a listing of his or her children. Note, for ex­
ample, page 47. The vital data of ThomasCoffey is indented 3 spaces and then a
numerical listing of the children follow, each indented the same3 additional
spaces under the heading "children." Note that all the descendants of each child
will be listed before going to the next child. If someonehas been married twice,
all the descendants of the first marriage will be listed before going to the sec­
ond marriage (e.g., ThomasCoffey's first marriage (p. 47) to Elizabeth Smith is
followed by all of her children and then Thomas‘2nd marriage to Sally Fields is
followed by her children. Information about a spouse, if known,usually follows
his or her nameand is in parentheses. For example, on page 46 it can be seen
that EdmondCoffey married Nancy Barnett whodied before 27 April 1829, the mar­
riage taking place in Albemarle or Amherst county.

Although I have attempted to get all material up to date, this book will be
out of date as soon as it is published (if not before). The turn to a search of
"roots" by so manypeople is resulting in an accellerated uncovering of newmater­
ial. In time some of the information here can probably be added to or improved
upon. However, after years of intensive research there comes a time when one

must draw a line, publish what he has, and get on with other things. I believe
that time for me has come. Perhaps if enough new information becomes available
a second edition maysomeday be published. Suffice it to say that this book is
not complete, nor is it the final word on the Coffey history.

Errors will undoubtedly be found in this work. For these I take full respon­
sibility. Those whofind any such errors will be helping the author a great deal
if they would bring them to his attention. The sameholds true for omissions. It
is anticipated that an "errata and addenda"sheet will be produced at a later date.
I would welcomecorrespondence from anyone having additional or different informa­
tion, including differing interpretations. Familyhistory is only useful if it
can be shared. It is myhope that the information in this volumewill be useful
to many others.
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I wish to acknowledge my wife, Wanda, for help in preparation of the index,
and my daughter, Lorilee, for some of the drawings of maps. Most of the other
drawings are mine. Those redrawn from other sources are generally acknowledged
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Marvin D. Coffey
Ashland, Oregon
June 198h

DEDICATION

To all Coffey descendants: Those who
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CHAPTER 1

OVERVIEW

"Manis but the sum of his ancestors"
—-- Emerson
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James Bluford Coffey was born October 11, 1837 in the Saline district of
Gallatin county Illinois. Whennot quite 16 years old he madethe long trip to
Oregon in a covered wagonwith his family. He, his parents, and his grandparents
were restless pioneers, movingoften and into undeveloped areas. James’ story
was told in VolumeI of this work; that of his parents and grandparents is in
Chapters 13 and 10, respectively of this volume. The story of these families
is not greatly different from that of manyothers of the same time periods. As
newareas of the United States were charted, children or whole families moved
further into such lands seeking newopportunities.

Our Coffey line started in the "lower" counties of Virginia but soon moved
further west and south as newlands were surveyed. Nearly all of this line
finally left Virginia, most going first to North Carolina in the 1770s and 17805.
In the late 1790s and the early 1800s most of the Coffey families of North Caro­
lina movedon, either further south or to Tennessee or Kentucky. In each of these
areas large groups of the families becameestablished, but always, somemoved
further west.

FromKentucky my line movedto Indiana and then Illinois and Missouri. Many
others followed suit and today Coffeys are found in every state of the Union.
However, the largest number remain in the South.

The story told in this volume is largely one of a line which made one of

the biggest breaks at an early date, following the Oregon Trail in 1853. One
could not tell this story without relating those of other families found along
the way. Thus the reader will find in this volume abundant information on many
other Coffey families, as well as a numberof non-Coffey families. The following
charts should help put someof these families in proper perspective for the reader.



CHART I
SOME DESCENDANTS OF EDWARD COFFEY

Edward Coffey and Ann Powell
Essex co. VA, 1699-1716“

(see Chapt. 3)

Johnlcoffey
md. Jane Graves
Essex. Spotsylvania, 5 Albe­
msrle cos.,VA. 1728-1775

I

Eduard Coffey
nd. Grace Cleveland

(see chapt. 3)

Martha Cpffey (Patsy)
md. Joshua Stapp

(see chspt. 3)

Ann or Annister(s) Coffey

James Coffey

Austin or Austes Coffey
md. Miss Shenalt (?)

(see chapt 3)

Elizabeth Coffey
md. John Cleveland
Orange co. VA

(see chapt. 6)

(see Chfpt. 4) (see chapt. 3)

James Coffey William John Coffey EdmondCoffey Winifred Thomas Coffey Reuben Coffey Benjamin Coffey Elizabeth Coffey
md. Elizabeth Cleveland Coffey, md. md.(l) Dorcas md. Nancy Coffey,md. nd.(l)Eli:abeth md. Sally md. Polly Hayes md. ThomasFields
Albemarle-Amherst cos.VA; Elizabeth Carter,(2) Barnett Nicholas Smith,(2)Sarah Scott (see chapt.b) (see chapt. b)
Wilkes co.,N.C.,1750-1786 Osbourne Nancy Richard- (chapt.4) Moran Fields (chapt.4)

(see crept. 5) (see chapt.h) son (chapt.4) (chapt.4) (Chspt.4)
| T

Elizabeth John Archelaus James Reuben Martha AmbroseCoffey Eli Coffey Rice Coffey Joel Coffey Lewis Russell Coffey
Coffey,md. Coffey Coffey-1755 Coffey Coffey Coffey md. (l)Milley md. Hannah md. Sarah md. Martha md. Bidant Moore
William md. Mary md.E1eanor unmar.? md. Milley md.Mastin Moore,(2)Elizabeth Allen Bradford ? (see chapt. E
Whitesides (Polly) Wade-1755-83 (chapt.5) Morris ? Durham Rice (chspt.5) (chapt.5) ichapt.5)
(chapt.S) (chapt.5) (chapt.8) (chapt.5) (chapt.5) (chapt.S)

James M. Coffey John Coffey Jane Loffey
1776 1778 F782

md. Frances Lane md. Polly Harbord md. William Harbord
1803-1849 (see chapt. 8) (see chapt. 8)
(see chapt.l0,ll,l2)

I I

Archelaus Thomas John Coffey Ann Coffey Elinor Sally Coffey James Wesley Lewis Coffey Louisa Coffey Eli Coffey
Coffey Coffey l8l0 1312 Coffey 1816 Coffey,l8l8 1820 1823 1825

1806 1808 md. Nancy md_ John 1814 md. Ewing md. Mary md. Nancy md. John md.(1) Nancy
md. Jane md. Kezia Snyder,l832- 331dr1dge md_ Jame, Flannigan Kane Laswell Lane Russell, (2)
Dean Varnier 1879. IL,M0,0R (chapt.l0) Kennedy Chapt.10) (chapt.l0) (chapt.lO) (chapt.10) Nancy Foster
(see chapt.10) (see chapt.l0) (see chapt.l3) (¢haPc_1o) (Ch8Pt- 10)

James Bluford Coffey
1837

Gallatin co.,IL to
Oregon (see chapt.l
and 13) a. Dates from to

indicate married years;
single dates are year born.



CHART NUMBER 1 -A

Ancestry of James Bluford Coffey

BOHN 11 Oct 1837
wn£HEGallatin C0., IL

2

, James Bluford COFFEY

wum MARI-IIED(1)190Ct.1862
mm '3 Jul 1921I
wnEnE Adams, Uhat111a,'0R

.Ji_ry_nu_I9_C.0a A I RKLE___
NAME OF HUSBAND OR WIEE

(2) Mary Elizabeth BULIN

4 _ James M

John COFFEY

BORN22 Apr 1810
WHERE Wayne co. , KY
WHENMARRIED13 Sep 1832
DlED‘8 Apr 1879
WHERELooki ngglass , Douglas , OR

5

COFFEY

BORN 20 Jul 1.776
wnsns Amherst co., VA
WHENMARRIED 16 Jan 1801!
DIED 7 Jan 1849
wHEnE3a1ine or Hami]ton co. ,

Frances LANE

IL

__ArChe1aus COFk¥'E;Y

noun 1755
wIIEnE A1bemarle co.
wnm MARRIEDabt 1775
DIED abt 1783/1‘
WHEREWilkes co. . N.C.
Eleanor HAUL-3

VA

16

‘I7

18

BORNabt 1755
wnena Albemarle C0. , VA
DIEDglfter 1829
wHEaEIllinois (?)

Thomas LANE

‘I9

20

aorm 22 Jun 1785
WHERE

map 215Oct 1859
wfifififiSaline co.. IL

North Carol 1na.
11

BORNabt 1743
WHERE Virginia
WHENMARRIED 8 Aug 1783
DIEDabt 1836/?
WHERE30. Illinois
Nancy DABNEY

2!

22

aonnabt

WHERE

WHERE Virginia 2::
DIED ’

WHERE

24

(2)16 Jul 1866 I I2
BORN

WHERE 25

a WHENMARNIED
aonu DIED
wHEnE WHERE 2:;

WHEN MARRIED 13

DIED BORN

WHERE WHERE 27I DIED
Donn 1 Dec 1815 wnens
WHERE Virginia 29
DIED 28 Feb 1893 14
WHERELexington, Morrow, OR aon~

WHERE If

1 WHEN MARRIED

BORN DIED

WHERE WHERE 30

DIED Is
wHErIE norm

WHERE 31

DIED

James (Lp;I;'I,a:_y_____ ____

Elizabeth CLF.‘VELANl)_

John WADE

Elizabeth

William LANE

Anne CREW



CHART NUMBER 1 ‘B

Ancestry 0f James Bluford Coffey, Cont.

Archelaus COFFEY
norm 1755
WHEREAlbemarle co., VA
wuenwxnmso Mill. 1755
omen 31315 1783/1*
WHEREWilkes 60.. N.C.'
Eleanor WADE
NAME OF HUSBAND OR WlF_E

2 J ame 3 CUF‘F'l*}Y

.-’<zLxn_C0F1’EY
I103“ att 1700
wHEfiEESSGXc0.,
wnen MARRIED3-ht 1728 9
mgo Hgp. 30 Mar
WHEREA1&}Y|aI‘1e COn'

BORN 1729
wuam-:Essex co., VA
wusnmanmeo 8b?» 1750
DIED-mp. 26 Oct 1786
wfienfi Wilkes ('20.. N.C.

(see chapt. 5)

Elizabeth CLEVELAND

(see chapt. 1;)

I0

Jane (Jean) GRAVES

1a

..EtLHc1rd_L(¢EE' E! _____.
HOHN

WHERE

wo-an MARRIED abt 1699
0.50W.P. NO".
wneng Essex (:0. , VA

(see chapt. 3) "

15
Ann POWELL

ih£I@ ______
BORN (see chapt. 3)

E (see chapt. 3)WHER

DIED

WHERE |

20

Mary PLACE _

James GRAVES
John GRAVES

BORN

WHERE (553 °h3~Pt- 1‘) 21

(see chapt. ls)
Jean MAYFIELD

WHEN MARRIED

aonn abt 1707
wuane prob. Essex co., VA

man mp. 17 May 1720
wfifififiESSEX CO., 22

30.“, abt 1726/7
wnens V1I‘S11'15a("EDabt
W353; B8dfO1‘d C0. , TN

(see chapts. 5 & 6)

men 1792 n J12 71

wueaa Wilkes 00., N.C. aonu (See chapt L‘)
wnsns 23

(see chapt. 1+) DIED .
wnene

24

:2_
BORN

Al WHERE (See 25
exandel‘ CLEVELAND wn-canMARRIED cha t 6)

norm ba-P- 31 Jul 1687 DIED P '
wueae Gloucester co., VA wHEnE 25
was»: MARRIEDabt 1711 13 D°r°a'3
9.5,, abt 1770 aonu
WHEMprob. Blue Run, Orange, wmzns 27

VA men

(see chapt. 6) wHEnE
2a

14

BORN

WHERE 29

Mary °r M11]-ey PRESLEY WHENMARRIED

BORN Z. DIED
WHEHE WHERE 30

DIED a‘rJt'177O 15
wuane prob. Blue Run, Orange, BORN

’ VA WHERE 31

man
WHERE
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In considering this subject it should be understood that we do not knowthe

specific origin of our Coffey line. However, all of those coming to America seem
to have originated in Ireland. The nameCoffey is an English rendering of the
Irish Cobhthaigh or Cobhthach, which means "victorious".2 As is true with many
other Irish names it was in earlier times given as O'Coffey and O'Cobhthaigh,
meaning "of the family of" or "descendant of". The name Cobhthaigh is Gaelic,
originating from Celtic bands that roamed over muchof Europe in the 3rd and 4th
centuries, B.C. and invaded Ireland sometimelater.3 The Cobhthaigh line is
traced back to Coththaigh's grandfather Olliol Flann Beag, King of Munster (about
240 A.D.), and from there to the brothers Ithe and Bile, relatives of Milesius,
King of Spain.4 In 803 A.D. Fergus MosO'Cobhthaigh brought the leaders of the 3

most powerful waring clans of Eire, the O'Briens, O‘Niels, and Mccarthys, together
at Tara, the ancient capitol of Eire, where a peace treaty was signed. For his
diplomacy and respect for law and order he was made supreme judge of Eire, a
position which has been hereditarily held by the family for seven generations.

Membersof this family seemto have settled in various parts of Ireland, bt
there were 3 main septs.5 The best known was O'Cowhey, O'Cowhig, or O’Coffey of

Fuin Cleena, chief of Triocha Meona, nowthe barony of West Barryroe, Corca
Laoighe (Cork county) in Munster.u These once powerful chiefs had seven castles
along the coast and ruins of themstill exist.

A second group was Ui Maine2'5 (counties Galway and Roscommonin Connaught.)
Theylost their lans and influence in the Cromwellianand Williamite confiscations
of the 17th century. The Irish Civil Warof 16#l is credited with being the cause
of the Commonwealthconfiscations in Ireland. ‘Becauseof their devotion to faith,
King, and country the estates of the Irish "Papist"landed gentry were almost
wholesale confiscated to make room for the Cromwellian settlement. In 1649 Crom­
well became Commander-in-Chiefof all English forces in Ireland and soon con­
quered most of the country. There followed a great deal of redistribution of the

land. In 1675 12%million acres were redistributed, nearly 8%million acres passing
into the hands of English and Scottish settlers. During the Williamite confisca­
tions, 1688-1702, 1,060,792 acres and muchpersonal possessions were forfeited by
Irishmen loyal to King James the Second. About one-fourth of these were eventually

9
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returned to their former owners (by the Treaty of Limerick), but most went to pers­
onal friends of King William the Third. Another consequence of the Commonwealth
confiscation of Ireland was the suppression of prefixes like 0'. Somefamilies
later returned to this use but the Coffeys did not.2'u

Someof the Coffeys transplanted or otherwise removed from their lands in­
cluded in 1653-5#: ThomasCoffie, Balligiffe, county Westmeath; Edward Coffy,

ABal1inkeny, county Westmeath; Murtagh Coffy, Rogerstown, county Westmeath; and

Daniel Coffey, Province of Connaught. Others, date and locality not given, were:
Teige Coffie, and Hugh and OwenCoffy.6

‘ The third Coffey family2'5 was
that of county Westmeathin Leinster,
a celebrated bardic family. In
ancient Ireland the bards ranked

next to royalty. Theypreserved
the folklore, handing it downfrom
generation to generation by word of
mouth. A bardic Coffey family also
lived in Connaught.

There are genealogical charts

listing descendants from Ithe through
over 90 generations down to an Ed­

ward Coffey in America in the 1800s.“
However, we do not know at which

point our line branched from this
It is quite possible the

ancestor went from Ireland to England

MAP OF IRELAND SHOWING COUNTIES IN WHICH COFFEYS

ma Paoraumr genealogy.

for sometime before coming to America. The later (nineteenth century) Coffeys
who came to America from Dublin were probably of the Munster sept (largely from
county Cork.)

If one wishes to trace their origins further than the above a good source is
O'Hart's Irish Pedigggesu and The Annals of the Four Masters by O'Clery, et al.7
After listing the generations from Adamto Noahas given in the Bible,8 and that
Noah's son Japhet was given Europe and most of Asia as an inheritance, dHart men­
tions somedescendants of Japhet that settled and developed the Scythian nation

(see map on next page). Ireland was invaded by a series of sythian groups in,
They seem to be

descended from Japhet's son Magog(as were the earlier groups) but through the

very early times but the most prominent were the Melesians.
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latter's son Baoth and several generations of descendants whospent sometime in
Phoenicia, Egypt, and Crete before one Brigus conquered large areas around the
Mediterranean, including what is now Spain. He had 2 sons, Ithe and Bilef The
latter was King of these conquered contries and his son Milesius succeeded him.

Milesius was quite an adventurer. He went to Scythia where he became a general
and married the King's daughter. Because he was so popular the King became
jealous of him and ensuing events led to Milesius slaying the King. He then
went to Egypt where the Pharaoh made him his general and gave him a daughter,

Scota, in marriage, Milesius nowbeing a widower. At length he took leave and
returned to Spain. Someyears later he sent his uncle Ithe along with the
latter's son Lughaidhto Ireland. Ithe was subsequently killed by the ruling
group there. Lughaidh and some of the men escaped to bring word back to Miles­
ius whothen dispatched his sons and manymen to conquer the Island. Milesius’
son Heremoneventually becamethe sole ruler of Ireland and his brother's sons

received large land inheritances. He also gave a part of Munster to Lughaidh.

‘MAP OF EUROPE, THE MEDIGERRANEAN AND THE NEAR EAST, INDICATING SOME

POSSIEE ORIGINS OF THE HELESIANS AND IRISH CELTS THAT MAY HAVE

GIVEN RISE '10 THE COFFEY LINE
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The Milesians ruled Ireland for 2,885 years downto their subnission to the Crown
of England in the person of Henry the Second. The Heremonian nobility includes
all the kings of Scotland downto the Stuarts and the Kings and Queens of England

4from Henry the Second down to the present time.

From Ithe's son Lughaidh 0'Hart gives the descendants downto Cobthach Fionn,
a namemeaning "Fairhaired Victor." Cobthach is synonomouswith Coththaigh. His
son was O'Cobhthaigh and as mentioned earlier, local dialects were anglicised to
O'Coffey, O'Cowhig, Cowhey, Caughey, Coffey, Coffy, and Coffee. lhe name O'Coffey
exists at least from as early as 1213 A.D. when Ainmire O’Coffey died.“ He was
an "abbot of the Churchof Derry, an ecclesiastic of noble birth, distinguished
for piety, charity, wisdomand other virtues." He was also a near kinsman of
Erlile, number104 on the Nicholson line.

A list of the principle or well-knownfamilies in Ireland from the 11th to

the beginning of the 17th century included O'Coffey, chief in Westmeath, O'Coffey
in Galwayand O'Coffé'(location not mentioned).u In 1960 there were listed as
being 4,250 Coffeys in Ireland.9

Since Ireland was invaded by manygroups over the centuries, the Coffey
line as well as others must have been well mixed. Comer, another descendant of
Japhet, is thought by most scholars to be the ancestor of the Cimmerianswho in

turn were the source of, amongothers, the Gaelic and Celtic peoples, some of
whomsettled Ireland. It should be mentioned that the terms Gaelic and Celtic
have come to be almost synonymous in terms of origin.

There is another sourceio that suggests that the namewhich means ”fairhaired
victor" (Cobthach Fionn) must have come from a Norseman during the Norse in­
vasion (in the 9th and 10th centuries), whostayed around and married a native

Irish girl. This does makemore sense as one would not expect a line from Spain
or Southern Europe to produce someone who was "fairhaired" and we know that the
Norsemendid remain in Ireland for several centuries and intermarried with the
Celts and others who were already there. However, I know of no other records

indicating this to be the case and it would seem that the nameCobthach (or
Cobhthaigh) Fionn was used before the Norsemen came.

o'Hai-t“

the ancient Scythian and claims this (the Celtic language) was the Adamiclang­
makesa strong point for the similarity of the Irish language with

uage of Eden, the Irish is the most pure form of it, and is a key to the modern
languages of Europe.



THE COFFEY FAMILY COAT OF ARMS

The Coat of Arms(see frontispiece) consists of a shield, the surface
(escutheon) of which is green with a broad band (fesse) across the middle (either
straight or chevron-shaped) in ermine between three covered cups (coons) which
are gold. The green refers to a religious temperament,eternity, everlasting
life, and fecundity. Gold is the metal denoting strength, authority and wealth,
while ermine is the fur denoting judgeship or a judicial position.

The coon or Celtic drinking cup was a very important charge. Since each
treaty or agreement was sealed by a drink it becamea symbol of friendship, honor
and peace. The three cups in the Coffey arms allude to the peace of Tara, the
great capitol of ancient Eire, between the clans O'Brien, O'Niel and McCarthy.

The motto, which can be translated "Not by Providence but by Conquest" or

"Not Prudence but Victory", is a canting upon the name inasmuch as O'Cobhthaigh
means "victory" or "conquest".

The mantle or decorative matter around the shield has no special shape.
This is left to the taste and discretion of the artist. It takes its namefrom
a cloak or mantle which the mounted knight wore suspended from his helmet. This

mantle would become out and slashed in combat and the knight was very proud of
these rents. ‘

The shape of the shield is also immaterial and left
to the discretion of the artist. Theone pictured to the
right is one which is more commonlypictured in books on

coats of arms, as for example, the book by MacLysaght.2
The one figured in the frontispiece originally camefrom
a tracing in the Office of the Ulster King of Arms(for
Ireland) in Dublin.

The crest of the Arms shows a nude man riding a
dolphin. The latter symbolized the sea and the naked
manrepresented the family. This is another canting as

o’com-:Y
the man riding the dolphin signifies conquest of the sea. (Cb.Cmk)
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Anyonewhohas been associated with the Coffey family history for sometime

will tell you that the first knownCoffey to come to America was John Coffee who
cameto Elizabeth City county, Virginia in 1637 as an indentured servant, the
patentee being Nicholas Hilll. However, Greer madea mistake in copying his
namefrom the Virginia land patents, a mistake that was picked up by Nugentz
when she compiled her books2 on these land patents. She records'his nameas
"John Coffin or Scoffin." In order to rectify the discrepancy I went to the
original records and found that Nugent had madea correct copy; the name is given
as Coffin at first and then at the end the nameis repeated but appears to have
an old style "s" in front of it so as to makeit Scoffin. At any rate, it is not
Coffee or Coffey. It may be that Greer assumed Coffin was meant to be Coffee.

However,Coffin is an entirely separate name, dating from early times, and per­
haps more commonthan the name Coffey in America.

It seems rather ironic whenwe consider that Coffey genealogists have for
years accepted John Coffee as the earliest Coffey in America, some even making
him the ancestor of Edward Coffey of Essex county and giving him one or two wives,

either MaryJolliffe and/or RebeccaIreland. I have never seen any records that
could document the above marriages or individuals. A William Ireland does appear
in York county Virginia records, 1633-48. The earliest Jolliffe I have found was
a John2 in Nansemondand Isle of Wight counties in 1653. '

Manypeople have proposed, as mentioned above, that this fictional John
Coffey was the grandfather, or even the father, of EdwardCoffey. Others have

Edward coming directly from Ireland in about 1680 or 1690. Thus some have postu­

lated that he was born anywhere from 1650 to 1680. This all appears to be specu­
lation as I have yet to see a single record indicating one possibility or the
other. The first record of EdwardCoffey in Virginia appears to be the will of
Edward Mosely, dated January 6, 1699 in which he gives to his "servant Ed. Coffe

one heifer of 2 years old." The will was proved in Essex county court April 16,
4 from the

Mosely estate for his freedom, corn, and clothes. Myown "guess" is that Edward
1700 and on September 10 of that year Edward Coffey received a judgment

cameto Virginia from Ireland during the Williamite Confiscation mentioned in

chapter 2, perhaps around 1690 or a few years later, and was transported by Ed­

ward Mosely. If this is so, whyis he not mentioned in the land patent books?

17
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If one examines these carefully he will see that an individual received so much
land for transporting so manypeople but not in all cases are the namesOf all

these people listed. EdwardMosely transported manypeople into Old Rappa­
hannock county from about 1660 until and including the l690S- It is logical
that he transported his servant Edward. As we shall see later, Edwardprobably
lived on land owned (or once owned) by Mosely.

But before we proceed with an account of Edwardlets return to other pos­
sible early Coffey immigrants. Although Nugent mentionsz some others by the name

‘ of Coffey (variant spellings) in the 1600s there seems to be no other records of

them. The only Coffey for whomI have seen a record this early is AbrahamCoffee
who signed a petition about 1683 in NewKent (now King & Queen) county.5 This may
be the same manGreer lists as Abr. Coffagg and Nugent as Coffall being trans­
ported in 1653. The land patent for this transportation was "on the south side
of the freshes of the York river right against Tbtopotomoy." Abrahamis ment­

ioned further in Chapter 7. V
Nugent also lists6 some Coffeys who were transported in the 1700s: A Thomas

to Isle of Wight county in 1711, a Charles to King and Queen county in 1714, and

an Edward to Isle of Wight county in 1726. I have no further information on any
of these Coffeys and they were all too late to be the ancestors of our line.

The next record we have of Edward, our progenitor, comes on March 10, 1700
when ThomasPowell of Sittingbourne Parish, Essex county Virginia made his will.7

In it he bequeathed 1 shilling to his daughter AnnCoffey, a witness being Ed­
ward Coffey. Thus Edward had married Ann Powell by 1700. Unfortunately some

genealogists have used this date for the marriage. Edwardmadehis will8 (see
Appendix A) February 14, 1715/16 and all of his children were under 16. Al­

though it wasn't probated until November20, 1716 he died before July 16 as on
that date John and EdwardCoffey, his sons, concluded a land transaction9 for

200 acres on Occupatia Creek with John Mosely, son and heir of Edward Mosely and
oneathird was set aside for John and Edward's mother Ann Coffey as a widow's

dower. The deed lacks explanation but it seems probable that this may have been
land the Coffeys lived on and which was willed by Edward to his sons although
he did not have clear title. This deed is a lengthy one and apparently gave
clear title to John and Edwardwith the additional payment of 8,000 pounds of
tobacco (a commonmedium of exchange in those days).

The purpose of the above lengthy account is to show that John and Edward,
the sons of Edward, Sr., were not 16 on February 14, 1716 but were on July 16­

It would thus appear that they must have been twins and born between February and
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July 1700. Wecan thus affix the date of Edwardand Ann's marriage as probably
being in 1699, at least not later than that.

Ann Powell and Her Ancestry

While on the subject of Annit would be well to mention here a little of her

ancestry. According to Lucasio her father ThomasPowell was born about 1630 and

’V married Mary Place before 1657. However, I believe there is some misinterpre— ‘
tation of dates here. Mary's father, Francis Place, whohad apparently lived in §
Isle of Wight county, patentedé 300 acres on the *north side of the Freshes of

the RappahannockRiver" on September 7, 1654 for transporting 6 persons. On ,

' August 11, 1655, in making his will, he conveyedil this land and some cattle by E
deed of gift to "mydaughter MaryPlace when she arrives at 18 years." On Sep­
tember 30, 1666/? (actually, probably 166?) she and her husband ThomasPowell
sold12 this land to James Coghill for "9 barrells of good Indian corn and divers

' other considerations." This indicates that (1) Maryhad arrived at the age of 18
and (2) she had married ThomasPowell. It seems unlikely that these events had
taken place muchbefore this date. Wemight therefore fix the birth of Mary Place
as taking place in about 16#8 or 16#9, agreeing with Mrs. Hiden in her article13

la:

’ on this family. E
The Powells seemed to have been an early English family in Virginia. A John j

and a Nathaniel Powell were involved in the discovery of Chesapeake Bay in 1608. §

At least 72 Powells had come to Virginia by 16661 and of these, 10 were named a
’ Thomas. Another, more complete source2 shows that 8 ThomasPowells were trans­

ported into Old Rappahannockand adjacent counties (Lancaster and Westmoreland)
between 1650 and 1683, a span of only 33 years. The reader can thus see that it Q

is not easy to see which Thomaswas ours. Mrs. Hiden13, and other authors who

p have followed her, have suggested that our Thomaswas the son of William and
Elizabeth Powell of Isle of Wight county, this William being the son of another

ThomasPowell of the same county. They cite William's will in Isle of Wight
county in 1695 in which he names a son Thomas. I tend to discount this connect­

’ ion because (1) it would seem strange that a man, in 1695, would will a large tract
of land to his son whowas himself perhaps 65 (at least 55) years old and well
established on his ownland in another county, and (2) at least one ThomasPowell W

persists in Isle of Wight county records long after our Thomaswould have moved

P to Rappahannock. Mrs. Hiden's main premise for believing as she does is that many
Nansemondand Isle of Wight families moved to Rappahannock about this time.
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Lucaslo states that our Thomaswas probably a brother of the John Powell

whomarried (1) Mary Coghill (2) Margaret Coghill, and (3) Jane Lucas (John born
164#, died 1698-9 in Essex county). There was also a ThomasPowell in neighbor­

ing Lancaster county in the 1650s and 1660s who had a son Thomas. However, he

must be ruled out as our ancestor since he had a wife Anne who died by 166k and
Thomas remarriedlb Mrs. Jane Catesby in late 1660 or early 1655- A HOWG11

Powell, mentioned several times in deed records, was probably either a son or
a brother to this Thomas. This may also be the Thomaswhopatented 500 acres

on the north side of Rappahannockriver, "being a neck of land commonlycalled
Powell's Quarter bounded ...on the eastermost with Deep Creek? October 24, 1650
for transporting 10 persons. This land wouldbe in present Lancaster county just
south of present Richmondcounty (then part of Rappahannock).

The above being the case, and looking at every other land transaction and

importation in the same critical way, our ThomasPowell maymore likely be the
one transported16 by William Mosely in 1663 for which Mosely received 1157 acres
on the south side of Rappahannockriver in Sittingbourne Parish. He may even

have been a servant of this Mosely for a time. If so, it must have been for only
a short time for it is generally thought that our Thomasis the one whopurchased17
50 acres in Rappahannock county on Tignor's creek from John Mills December 12,
1665. It may well have been about this time or in the next year or two when he
married Mary Place. ‘

The sum of all this is, that we can't be certain whoour ThomasPowell is
and where he came from. Suffice it to say that I think the long-held idea of his
origin from William Powell oflsle ofwight county is not entirely tenable and I feel it
more likely that he was an immigrant from England to Virginia (specifically Old
Rappahannock county) sometime after 1650 and most likely about 1663. He was prob ­
ably thus born about 1690, not 1630 as generally listed.

Thomas purchasedie more land in 1668 and he and Mary conveyed 100 acres to

their oldest son Honorias in 1694. Fromthis and later deeds in Essex county and
from Thomas‘ willig, made March 10, 1700 and proved April 10, 1701, we learn the
names of his children. They are as follows:

1. Honorias - born about 1669, died after 1750, md. 1694 Mrs. Joyce Lamberth,
widow of George. 20

. Place - d. abt 1715, md. Mary bef 1705.

. Thomas, Jr. - b. abt 1680, d. by 1739. md Mary Gibson.

. William - b. abt 1682 (under 21 in Thomas’ 1700 will), d. 1705, unmd.
Frances - nothing known.
Elizabeth - md. John Salmon.
Ann - md. Edward Coffey.-(='\»)N
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Most of Thomas’ descendants went west —Orange, then Amherst county Virginia
and into North Carolina and Kentucky. It is of someinterest to note that Hon­

orias' son John named a son Ambroseand this may be the origin of the name of

AmbroseCoffey, son of James and Elizabeth (Cleveland) Coffey (see Chapter 5).
Mary (Place) Powell died21 in Richmond county about the middle of December

1710. About the only other item of interest to note about Thomasis that a

Major Thomas Powell of Rappahannock county was wounded in the taking of Jamestown
in Bacon's Rebellion5 (about 1676). Wehave no proof but this might well have
been our Thomas.

Returning now to AnnPowell, after her husband Edward Coffey died in 1716

she married Robert Dooling (or Dulin), the ceremony occuring before March 19, 1717.22
They had two children, William, born about 1720 and Thomas, born about 1725. In
Ann's will23 made October 30, 174# in St. Ann's Parish, Essex county she leaves

all her possessions to the two "Dooling" boys and her daughter Annisters (Ann)
Coffey and Annister's son, James Coffey. It would seem, from the language of
the will, that Annisters was living with her mother. Weknowof no marriage of
Annisters and unless she did marry someunknownCoffey the likelyhood exists that
her son James was illigitimate. For a possibility of what mayhave happened to

Fromthe date of birth of Ann's last child it would
appear that she was probably born about 1685, or a few years earlier.

this James see Chapter 7.

The Children of Edward and Ann (Powell) Coffey

Edward Coffey was a tobacco planter and had land on branches of Occupatia
24

Greek (or swamp)in Essex county. Whenhe died the inventory of his estate
listed a valuation of 45 pounds, 10 shillings, and 9 pence. His will8 lists 6
children.

to John and daughter Martha (it is written Marthgr) and all the tenables to his
wife Ann. He then names his 6 children as John, Edward, Marther, Ann, Austes
(we think this should be Austin), and Elizabeth. There has been somedifference
of opinion over the dates of birth for these children.

He leaves all of his land to his 2 sons John and Edward, a cow each

If we accept the premise
that John and Edward were twins, born in 1700, and allowing for the "normal 2

years" between children we might list their birth years as Martha 1702, Ann 170h,
Austes 1706 and Elizabeth 1708. However, such is probably not the case.
was young and still able to bear children. It seems unlikely there would be the
period of 1708 to 1716 without any children. Also, since Edwarddidn't leave

anything to Ann, Austin and Elizabeth it is probable that they were quite young
and Edward only thought of leaving something to his older children whowould soon

Ann
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be out on their own. Since Elizabeth married John Cleveland who was born 1712

(see chapter 6) it's quite possible she wasn't born until 1714 as somehave sug­

gested. The birthyears as given in the chart at the end of this chapter is there­
fore quite hypothetical except that John and Edwardmust have been born in 1700
for reasons given earlier.

Edward Coffey, Jr.

John will be the subject of the next chapter. Let's nowturn our attention

to the other children, each in order, starting with Edward. Weknowvery little
about he and his wife Grace Cleveland. Edwardsold25 his share of the land in

Essex county to his brother John in 1737 and apparently moved to Orange county
where he witnessed a deed in 1740. The Cleveland family lived in Orange county
at that time so this is probably where he met and married Grace. Wedo not know

when this marriage took place but Grace Cleveland is mentioned in some Orange
county records in 173426so it would have been after this time and probably also
after 1737. There is also a brief mention of Edwardin Caroline county records

I in 174527 but it is not known if he lived there. On January 20, 1751 he bought28
150 acres in Anson county North Carolina on Jones Creek on the south side of
the Pee Dee River. A year and a half later on August 15, 1752 he sold it and

apparently movedback to Orange county Virginia. He is listed there on the 1749
list of tithables and again in 175#. The family must have soon movedover to
Fredericksville Parish in Albemarle county as Edwardis mentioned a number of times
in these records29 from 1769 to 1774. Most of these relate to payments to Edward
for care which he provided for Alexander Cleveland, evidently his father-in-law.

As to the children of Edward and Grace we have no information. However, I
believe there are some otherwise-unaccounted-for Coffeys whocould well be their

children. The most likely is a Cleveland Coffey (wife Elizabeth) whoappears in
various Orange and Albemarle county records from 1762 to 1774 (and possibly one
record in 1791. Hewould have had to have been born by the early 17#Os. This

may also be the Cleveland Coffey who had a land entry3O in 1778 on Zack's Fork
of Lower Creek in Burke county North Carolina.

Another possible son of Edward and Grace is the Benjamin who was born in

Virginia in 1763 and is on the Burke county North Carolina census from 1790 to
1850 (Caldwell in 1850). His wife is Leah, born about 1760 in Virginia. The Leah

Coffey whomarried Francis HickmanApril 19, 1798 in Jefferson county Tennessee

may be their daughter. They also had a son Cleveland, born about 1782 with whom
they were living in 1850. The name Benjamin probably came from the Cleveland

family, Grace having a brother by that name (see Chapter 6). The chief problem

' ——-———.——.—..—_eT-V—«_»- . . .—A— ~—=-7.:-:=:_-.:—-.-=:.-$2.;-.-.=..=.....,._—-».su...
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with this Benjamin being a son of Edward and Grace is that Grace would have been

47 when Benjamin was born, rather late in those days.

Twoother possible children of Edward are James Coffey who is on the 1785
enumeration of Botetourt county Virginia and William Coffey, found in somerecords
of MontgomeryCounty Virginia, 1781-1785. It is also possible that these two

are children of Peter and Susannah Coffey of Prince Edwardcounty (see chapter 7),
but I have found no indication for one or the other. However, the William Coffey
on Buckinghamcounty tax lists, 1783-1797, is quite probably Peter's son. He also
had land in Prince Edward county and had sons Abner, David and probably Pleasant.

Still other possible children of Edwardare Jesse whois in Wilkes county
North Carolina records 1779-1786, and an Isaac or Isaiah Zarrah, also in Wilkes
county 1782-1796(see chapter 4 for another possibility of the parentage of these
two). The Jesse in Wilkes county up to 1786 may well be the same one who is on
the Pendleton county South Carolina census of 1790 and 1800 and the father of
six boys, Cleveland, Edward, Joel, Elijah, Elisha, and John whomoved to Rabun

county Georgia31 in 1821. The use of the names Cleveland and Edward strengthen
the possibility that Jesse was a son of Edward. Since he was over 45 at the
time of the 1800 census he would have been born in 1755 or before. Jesse is not

on the 1810 census of Pendleton county but a Nancy (over 45) is. This may well
be his wife, Jesse having died prior to 1810. The numberand age of children in
the family are about right if this is the case.

-Martha Coffey

Martha (Patsy) married Joshua Stapp (or 3tepp).32'33 He was a son of Abra­
‘ham and Dorothy (Moss) Stapp (or Stepp) of Essex county Virginia. Abraham made

his 111113“October 20, 1710 and it was recorded April 18, 1714.33 Henry Scalf
wrote a book33 about this family which is both a help and a problem for us.
Abraham's children3u were AbrahamJr., William, Jacob, Joshua, Joseph, James,
Ruth, Rebecca, and Martha. Joshua was the most prominent and according to Scalf

was born about 1688. He lists his marriage to Martha Coffey as occurring in
1709/10 and her birth as 1690. Weknowthis is not possible as Martha couldn't
have been born before 1702 as we have previously seen. I have studied over the

information provided by Mr. Scalf and, although no proof is given I will ack­
nowledge that Joshua Stapp gguld_have been born by 1688. However, I can see no

reason whyhe needed to be married by 1709 or 10 and start having children. In­
deed, the information given wouldtend to fit better if the first children were
born in the 17205. I would tend to place the marriage of Joshua and Martha as
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occurring about 1718-21 and the first child born about 1720-22. This is where

it helps to place Martha Coffey's birth in 1702, not 1704 or even 1708 as some
have it. If the above conclusions are not true, then it seems to me that the
only other alternative is to look at Martha as a second wife of Joshua. There
seems to be no evidence for this however.

The children33 of Joshua and Martha were as follows (I shall not use the

birthdates Scalf gives since they do not fit the conclusions I have drawn):
1. John - eldest son, d. prior to May 21, 1751; md. Ann Salmon
2. Joseph - md. Elizabeth Lucas
3. Joshua Jr. - d. Jul 181#; md. Hannah Durham
h. Thomas - md. Ann Lucas
5. James
6. Anester - md. Capt. William Sims
7. Eve - md. Anthred Salmon
8. Elizabeth - d. 1795; md. William Morris

_Joshua's will is dated December19, 1782 and according to Scalf he died just
before March 27, 1783. Martha is supposed to have died in 1772. They apparently
spent most of their mature years in Orange county Virginia where they also died.

Annister(s) and Austin Coffey

Dr. Laurence H. Coffey in his early work32on the Coffeys lists the spouse
of Anister (his spelling) as Shenalt, but in his list of the children
of Edward and Ann Coffey he doesn't mention the son Austin (Austes in Edward's
will). Since Dr. Coffey's study of the family others have listed Austin as
marrying a Miss Shenalt. Not having other proof I amalso listing Austin this
way and assuming that Annister was not married. As was mentioned in connection
with the will of Ann Powell Coffey Dooling, Annister had a son named James

Coffey, but no Coffey or other husband is known for her. James may be the one
wholater turns up in Surry and Stokes counties North Carolina after a brief
time in Pittsylvania county Virginia. 9;, he maybe the James Coffey in Bots­
tourt county Virginia in 1785 which we have tentatively listed as a son of Edward.
Wereally do not have enough information to be certain one way or the other.

we might also note here in passing that the naming of Annister's son James
might give some credence to the thought that this could be the nameof Edward's

father. Theuse of this namefor John's first son (see chapter 4) and possibly
also for a son of Edward is also some evidence. However, the name James appears
in both the Cleveland and the Graves lines as well.

Returning to Austin, one reason to believe this was his true nameis that
some of John and Jane (Graves) Coffey's descendants used the name Austin. where
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Edward and Ann Coffey got the name we do not know but there was a Daniel and

Susannah Austin family in Essex county contemporary with Edward, and others be­
’ fore 1700. Of course the namemight really be Austes and the person be a female.

However, I do not believe the weight of what little evidence we have is in favor
of this idea. Assumingthen that this child was a male namedAustin and married

a Miss Chenault (this is the correct spelling) what happened to him? we really
haven't a trace in the records as far as I amaware. A Stephen Chenault family i
occurs in the early 1700s in Essex county and is later in Orange county (1750). u
when John and Jane (Graves) Coffey sold their land in Essex county (see chapter 4)
it was sold in 2 parcels, 1 in 17#5 and the other in 1747. In the first instance
the witnesses included William Duling and William Chenault, in the second instance

William Duling and Stephen Chenault Jr. Thus we see the closeness of the Duling 3
(or Dulin), Chenault, and Coffey families in Essex county. Presumably Austin ‘i
would have been there too, but if so he apparently failed to create any records. ‘W
He may have died as a young man or perhaps he did move out of the area. It has

been suggested that he might have been the father of Chesley Coffey (see chapter

7) who probably was early in Albemarle county and may have gone to North Carolina,
but of whomwe also have no records. However, Austin may have been too young to IV

’ be the father of Chesley. 3

It is of course possible that without creating public records he did manage
to have several children and if so, some of those which I have suggested as

children of Edwardmight be his. 3

Elizabeth Coffey

Genealogical records often get confused and manyhave confused Elizabeth

and Martha, saying it was the latter whomarried John Cleveland. However, it
) definitely was the younger Coffey daughter, Elizabeth, whomJohn Cleveland married.

This couple lived most of their lives at Blue Run, Orange county Virginia and
were the parents of several famous boys, most notably Colonel Benjamin Cleveland
of Revolutionary War fame.35 The Coffeys and Clevelands were neighbors in Vir­

} ginia and later in North Carolina and there were at least 2 other Coffey-Cleveland
marriages. Because of this close relationship I have devoted a chapter (6) to
them in addition to some information in chapters 5 and 7.
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CHART 2

VITAL DATA OF EDWARD COFFEY AND ANN POWELL

Edward Coffey .
b. abt 1670 (?), prob. in Ireland
d. bef 16 Jul 1716 (will made 14 Feb 1716, proved 20 Nov 1716, Essex co., VA).
m. abt 1699 Ann Powell, Essex co., VA(dau of Thomas Powell and Mary Place, b.

abt 1683-5, Essex 00., VA; d. Oct-Dec 1744 (will made 30 Oct, proved 18
Dec) St. Anne's Parish, Essex co., VA; she md. 2nd bef 19 Mar 1717 Robert
Dulin).

children:
1. John Coffey

b. bef 16 Jul 1700, Essex co. VA
d. Jan/Feb 1775 (will dated 31 Mar 1774, proved March 1775); Albemarle

co. VA

m. abt 1728 Jane Graves (dau of John & Hannah Graves), Essex co. VA
children: see cahpter 4

2. Edward Coffey _
b. bef 16 Jul 1700 - twin of John (?), Essex co., VA
d. after 1774, prob. Albemarle co. VA
m. abt 1737-40 Grace Cleveland (dau of Alexander Cleveland and Willey

Presley ?; b. 1 Sep 1716, Gloucester co., VA), Orange co. VA.
children: see text, p. 22fbr*discussion of possible and probable children.

3. Martha (Patsy) Coffey
b. abt 1702, Essex co. VA
d. abt 1772, Orange co. VA
m. abt 1718-21 Joshua Stapp or Stepp, Essex co. VA
children: (see text for full discussion)

1. John, b. abt 1720-22, d. prior to 21 May 1751; md Ann Salmon.
Joseph, md. Elizabeth Lucas; d. after 1775.
Joshua Jr., d. Jul 1814; md Hannah Durham.
Thomas, mda Ann Lucas
James
Annester, md. 6 Aug 1751 Capt. William Simms
Eve, md. Anthred Salmon
Elizabeth, d. 1795: md 1745 William Morris
Brockmana says there was a dau md. Wilhout, a dau md. Creel, and
a dau md. Hubbard. He also says James married Elizabeth Lucas.

\0.O3'\1O\U\-I-‘KAJl\)

4. Annester (Ann) Coffey
b. abt 1708 (?), Essex co. VA
m.ummmm,pnm.umfl.
one known son, James Coffey

5. Austin (or Austes) Coffey
b. abt 1710 (?), Essex co. VA
m. Miss Chenault, prob. dau of Stephen Chenault,3r.

6. Elizabeth Coffey
b. abt 1714, Essex co. VA
d. 1770, Orange co. VA

m. 20 Apr 1734 John Cleveland (brother of Grace, above).children: see chapter 6

a. Brockman, William Everett. Orange County Virginia Families. Vol III. Einneap—olis, MN.1959. pp. 100-104.
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CHAPTE R 4

COLON|AL VHNHNIA PLANTERS­

JOHN COFFEY AND JANE GRAVES

"The good old Dominion,
the mother of us "

-- ThomasJ rson
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Curing and storage of tobacco
(from Tatham, Culture and Commerce
of Tobacco, London, 1800)
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The Coffey and Graves families of eighteenth century Virginia were probably 6

typical of their times: planters, membersof the established Church of Englandi,
and slave holders.2 As mentioned in Chapter 3, John obtained land in Essex county
in 1716 whenprobably only 16 years of age. This land was held jointly with his1
brother Edward until 1737 when Edward sold his share to John. About 1728 John

Coffey married Jane Graves, the daughter of John Graves, deceased, and his wife
Hannah.3

The Graves Family

The origin of our Graves ancestors is far from clear. This family was a
very early and prominent family in Virginia, the first memberbeing Captain
Thomas Graves of the Jamestown Colony in 1608. Manyof his descendants are
known and much has been written” about them. These accounts include some who

lived in Old Rappahannock(later Essex) county and include more that one of the
name John Graves. Unfortunately we cannot identify our John Graves as one of
these nor can we (at least as yet) trace him to Capt. ThomasGraves. According
to Greer5 at least 21 Graves had cometo Virginia by 1666. Nugenté lists others
after this date including a James in 1667, a John in 1669 and 2 Johns in 1688.
It is possible that one of the latter was the immigrant ancestor. V

Coffey genealogists? whohave looked into our Graves ancestry claim that
the parents of John Graves (d. 1720) were James Graves and his wife Jean Hayfield.
She was the daughter of Robert Hayfield, Sr. and his wife Sarah.8 James Graves

made his will January 10, 1724 and it was proved April 20, 1725, so he outlived
his son (no children are mentionedin his will, only his wife). This lineage is
based on a number of "ifs" and "ands" and it seems unusual that the deaths of 3
generations occur within 10 years and that there are no records of James Graves
in Rappahannock or Essex Cdnnies before 1710. Records of John Graves date from

1675 in Old Rappahannock county including one who was a constable in 1684. But
these could be for one of the Johns in the ThomasGraves line rather than the­

John, son of James whomight be of a muchlater arrival in Essex ounty. Since

we have no better records than these I am following others in this lineage and
proposing the following possible dates:

Robert Mayfield, b. abt 1635-45; d. 1715; md abt 1659-64 Sarah .

31
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dau. Jane or Jean Mayfield, b. abt 1660-65; md abt 1674-79 James Graves who
was b. abt 1650-1660 & d. 1724 or 1725.

son John, b. abt 1675-80; d. 1720; md abt 1698-1702 Hannah :their children:
1. James

. Benjamin

. Martha

. Ann

. Jean or Jane

The above is the order namedin the will and apparently all were unmarried
(or at least without children) and probably underage whenthe will was made on

September 4, 1719.(See appendixfi for wills of Graves and Mayfield.)
I do not have further information on any of them except Jane (familiarly

called Jean) who married John Coffey about 1728. She could have been born as
late as 1710-14.

U\{-‘-'\A)t\)

John and Jane Coffey: The Essex County Years

As we follow the moves of John and Jane Coffey and their children it might
be useful for the reader to refer to the map on page 33.

Nothing is knownabout the life and activities of John and Jane Coffey in
Essex county Virginia except that several children were born there. Chart 4
gives the vital data for their family. Wedo not knowthe date and order of
birth for all of the children but it probably isn't the order given in the will
(see appendix B). Weknow Thomas was born in 1742 and Reuben most probably
in 1744 so John and Edmond could not have both been born between Thomas and

Reuben, in fact, probably neither of them. Also, the date of birth of the two

daughters is not known. Most genealogists have followed the order given by
Laurence Coffey in his booklo on ThomasCoffey. However, it is not likely that
William was the youngest son as given in that work since William was mentioned
with James in the will and quite likely had been established for sometime on

his own. The order and dates I have followed seems to me to be the most probable,
based upon the manyaccounts I have seen, but it should not be considered the
last word.

The first child, James was born in 1729. The date of July 4 comes from the
records of David A. Strange of San Rafael, California but I knowof no other
source for this date. Certainly none of the early Coffey genealogists had more

than a year date. ‘Since mydirect line comes through James, he and his family
will be the subject of the next chapter. The balance of this chapter will be
concerned with the other children of John and Jane Coffey.
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Mapof Virginia showing progressive moves of the Coffey family. 1. Edward
Coffey family; 1,2,3, & #. John Coffey family; 4 & 5. James Coffey family.

William Coffey

I am suggesting that William was the second child, born about 1731. He

married Elizabeth Osborne (variously spelled) before 1759 and they spent most ‘
of their life on their 923 acres on the Tye River in that part of Amherst county I I
that later becameNelson county (see map on page 35). They apparently lived
for a time in Augusta county where there are deed records11 which identify him
from 1780 to 1792 and as late as 1819, and the land sales of his estate into the

1830s (unless this is another William for whomwehavenlt accounted). Although
the estate record of John Coffey 3r., proved after the death of Jane in 1792,
does not list William, he did not die until about 1828.12 If all these dates
are correct he was 97 years old when he died.

William and Elizabeth's children, to the extent.known, are listed in Chart 1

4-A. However, we should here commenton one in particular. The oldest son,
Osborn, was a Revolutionary Warsoldier, serving 6 months as a private and 18

months as a sergeant. After the war he moved to Casey county Kentucky where he
13received a pension for his services. His son Jesse was a Colonel in the War

of 1812, a state senator in 183h, and a memberof the delegation that wrote the
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Kenhickystate constitution in June 1850, a month before he died.1 .

The above Jesse had a son C.R. whorelates15 that Osborn's father (William)
died in Nelson county Virginia (proved by will). A William Coffey was a sergeant
in the same companyof the 6th Virginia regiment as Osborn, who was then a pri­
vate.16 It is generally concededthat this William was Osborn's father. Forrest
Arnold of Seattle, Washington is a descendant of this Osborn, son of William.

John Coffey

The third child of John and Jane Coffey was probably John, born about 1733
in Essex county. He is reportedlo to have had 2 wives, (1) Dorcas Carter and
(2) NancyRichardson, but we have no positive identification of his children or

whether he had children by both wives. He is mentioned in the Albemarle county

Virginia deed books17 as John, Jun. from 1760 to 1765 and then in Amherst county18
in 1767, There are a number of John Coffeys later in Wilkes and Burke counties
lbr&xCarolina and it seems most likely that he is the one whohad two land entries19

in 1779 on Blair's Fork of Lower Creek in Burke county, next to Benjamin Coffey
(see map, paged? ). A John Coffey, Sr. had a land entry in Wilkes county on the
Yadkin River in 1791 (#591). He is also on the tax lists there in 1787 and 1788
and as John Sr. on the 1800 and 1810 census. The terms Sr. and Jr. were some­

times used for an older and a younger person of that namebut not necessarily
father and son. That is probably the case here. In seeking information on what

happened to this John one possibility is that he could be the John Coffey who
received bounty land on "the waters of Silver Creek" in Lincoln county Kentucky
(now in Madison county) for his services in the French and Indian War.2OHowever,
the record for this bounty land seems to indicate that John may never have taken
up residency on the land but instead signed it over to someoneelse. There is

also a John Coffey on the 1800 census (tax list) of Knox county Kentucky for
which we have not accounted.

It seems to memost likely, however, that he left North Carolina for Tenn­

essee and is the John Coffey over 45 on the 1810 census of Grainger county. This

supposition is strengthened by the fact that the one person whois most likely a
son of John, Meredith Coffey, went to Grainger county Tennessee (from Wilkes

county North Carolina) by 179821 and remained there until his death in 1838.22

Meredith married Esther (or Hester) and his children (Chart 4-3) in­
cluded a daughter Dorcas (another indication that Meredith was a son of John
Coffey and Dorcas Carter). After his death his land was partitioned for his
widow and children. 23
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Wecan only be uncertain about other children of John Coffey. Someof those

in the Wilkes-Burke counties area mentioned in chapter 3 as possibly belonging to
Edward Coffey and Grace Cleveland could in fact be children of John. Twodau­

ghters of John may be Sally whomarried Benjamin.Rhea and Jenny who married Levi
Viller, both in Grainger county Tennessee. In both cases the bondsmanwas Mere­

dith Coffey. ThomasCoffey, age between 26 and 45 on the 1810 Grainger county
census might also be a son of John.

Edmond (Edmund) Coffey

The name is given as Edward by Laurence Coffeylo and in some other records,

but although Edmondis more commonlyfound, and that is the way John Coffey gave

it in his will of 177b, there was probably an interchange of names. Nithyc0mbe24

Nap of Albemarle county Virginia (larger outlined area)
and the counties derived from it (dotted lines). 1. Home
of John Coffey, North Garden, St. Anne's Parish; 2. Early
home of James Coffey; 3. Later home of James, William
and Edmund Coffey, Tye River.
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says these two names were often confused in the 17th century (and, we might add,
probably in the 18th century as well) .

Edmond(spelled variously with a "u" or an "o") was probably born about 1735.

He married a Nancy whose last name may have been Barnettzu or 3henalt.25 They
lived in Amherst county Virginia on the Tye River,26 (see map, p. 35) probably
near Edmund's brother William. This land of course was later in Nelson county
where Edmondmade his willzu in 1807 and died in 1808. One of Edmond's sons was

Edmond§.Coffey16 whereas William had a son Edmond§.Coffey. Both also had a

son William. The entire family of Edmondis listed in Chart 4-C. Before going 0n
we should mention that there are marriage records in Nelson and/or Amherst county
of Coffeys whohaven't been identified as belonging to either William or Edmond.
These are Jordan (wife Elizabeth), Jemima, and Sally.

Winifred Coffey

About the only thing knownabout the first daughter, Winifred, is that she

married Nicholas Moran. He had a land patent of 150 acres in Amherst county list­
ed for 1767 but lived in Albemarle county from 1763 to 1766.17 I have not found

them in Wilkes county North Carolina records so they may have remained in Virginia.
She was probably born about 1739 in Essex county but we have no sure knowledge
of this.

Thomas Coffey

Thomas Coffey was born March 7, 1742 in Essex county and an entire book has

been written about his descendants.1O Hemarried twice, the first wife teing
Elizabeth Smith by whomhe had 6 children. This was in Albemarle county and the
minutes of the Albemarle Baptist Church27 show that in 1773 a list of members
included Thomasand Elizabeth Coffey. Elizabeth's father was ThomasSmith of
Albemarle county.

After Elizabeth died and sometime between 1775 and 1780 Thomasmarried

Sarah (Sally) Fields, daughter of Richard Fields and Elizabeth Murrell. About
1778-1780 they movedto Wilkes county North Carolina.19 Here they settled on

the upper waters of the Yadkin River below the present town of Patterson (now in
Caldwell county —see map, page 39). His first land entry was in January 1779

for 25 acres. He lived here the rest of his life, had 9 more children by Sally
Fields, and died in 1825?3 See Chart #-D for Thomas’ family. I have not gone
into great detail on most of his descendants because the names of these can be
found in the book to which I have previously referred. However, some comment

should be made concerning the son Jesse. Laurence Coffey in his book on Thomas
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Coffey says that Jesse died single, and Jesse is not mentioned in Thomas"will?8
(see appendix C) However, there is a marriage record of a Jesse Coffey to Wini­
fred Crumpton December 22, 1821 in Wilkes county. Larkin Coffey provided the
bond. Jesse and Winifred are on the 1850 census of Gilmer county (now Pickens),
Georgia where he is listed as age 52. Several descendants have unsuccessfully
sought the parents of this Jesse and somenowbelieve him to be the Jesse, son
of Thomasand Sally. He is about the right age and since Larkin (another son
of Thomas, only a few years younger than Jesse) provided the bond, and we cannot
place this Jesse in any other family in Wilkes county, it all seems quite plausible.
Perhaps Thomasdid not provide for Jesse since he had already left the area.

West of the children of Thomasremained around the Wilkes-Burke county area

of North Carolina but some went to Indiana. The most prominent of these was
Reuben, a Baptist minister. He sold the ThomasCoffey land where he lived and
with his wife Polly Dowell and 10 children movedto Indiana in 1832 to “get into
the nearest state where slavery was prohibited." Reubenwas in part responsible 1
for the founding of Franklin College, a Baptist institution in Indiana. His
family settled in Gwenand Monroecounties, Indiana.29

It may interest some to know that two sons of Thomas, Smith and William,
married nieces of Daniel Boone.1O

eThe Moveto Spottsylvania County and the Birth of the Last Three Children

Of the 200 acre parcel of land which John and Jane Coffey owned in Essex

county 100 acres were sold in 1745 and the remainder in 1747.30 They were living 3

in Spottsylvania whenboth deeds were recorded. In an even earlier record John
Coffey of St. Goerge Parish, Spottsylvania county, witnessed31 a deed in that
county on October 2, 1744. Thus he was there by that date but, although John

and Jane may have movedto Spottsylvania before his mother Anndied (probably
November1744) they did not sell the land until after her death. It seems likely
that Reuben may have been born in Essex county before they moved but since we
have no real way of knowingI amlisting his birth as occurring in Essex 9; Spotte­
ylvania county.

Reuben has been much confused with his nephew Reuben, son of James (see chapter

5). The Reubenhere discussed married Sally Scott, probably in Albemarle county.

He was pp; in the Revolutionary War (as far as we know), and moved to Burke county

North Carolina by 1778.32 He and Sally's homewas in the Globe settlement on the
St. John's River (now in Caldwell county - see map, page 39). Here he died in
1818, as did his wife in October 1837.33 Their children, and some other descendants
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are listed in Chart h-E. Most of them went to Owencounty Indiana where there
might be additional confusion with the family of Reuben, son of Thomas, pre­
viously mentioned.

Benjamin Coffey

John and Jane's youngest son, Benjamin, was born in Spottsylvania county
Virginia in 1747?” Wefirst find him in the records of Albemarle county Virginia
in 1772 when he purchases35 211 acres. He sold36 this in 1774 to John Coffey,
either his father or his brother. The same land was sold again37 to James Garland
Jr. in 1780. Whyor how this land came back to Benjamin so that it could be

sold again is not known. Sometimeduring this period Benjamin moved to North

Carolina, initially settling on land that wouldbe part of Burke county, but was
at that time a part of Rowancounty. He was there38 by April 1776.34 Some of

his descendants think he went there somewhatearlier and married Polly Hayes in
North Carolina. There does not seem to be any Coffeys in the records of Rowan

county for that time period. The Hayes family lived in Albemarle county Virginia
at the time the Coffeys did and at least some of them came to North Carolina in

the 1770s and '80s. I think it more logical to believe that Benjaminmarried
Polly in Albemarle.county and then movedto North Carolina. Since the Albemarle

county marriage records for that time are not extant we have no way of proving
it one way or the other.

Benjamin served 5 months in 1776 in the Revolutionary War,3u mostly fight­

ing Cherokee Indians on the "frontier of Burke county." In December 1778 Benjamin
had 4 land entries39 on Blair's Fork of Lower Creek in Burke county (see map,
page 39.) Presumably this was land he had been living on for some time. It was

located just over the ridge from Wilkes county and bounded land of John Coffey
(probably his brother) and Nebuzaradan Coffey (see chapter 7), and not far from

his brother James Coffey's land in Wilkes county. In March 1780 he bought land
in Wilkes county and movedthere, residing in that county until the early 18OOs%O
The first of April, 1780 he again volunteered for Revolutionary Warservice,
being assigned to the Regiment commandedby Col. Benjamin Cleveland. Later that
year they marched to Kings Mt., but Benjamin missed the famous battle due to
losing his horse the night before. Because of "pains in his ankles" he was
furlowed home the first of November.34

A list of Benjamin and Polly's children has not been found but must have

included at least 5 sons and # daughters.u1 The best knownof these is John,
born October 15, 1776.38 It is logical that he should be the oldest. However,
if William whomarried#2 Polly Coffey (daughter of Thomas) is Benjamin's son he
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CALDWELLCOUNTYNORTH CAROLINA, Showing areas
of principle Coffey settlements in the 1770s
and 1780s in what was then Wilkes and Burke
counties. ‘

mayhave been older because of his 1796 marriage. Also, if either Ann whomarried
Alexander McKinsey in 1793 or Sarah whomarried James Coffey in l79h are his

daughters, they could also be older. If Benjamincameto North Carolina as early
as 1774 he could have been married by 1773 or earlier. Since he owned land in
1772 it is reasonable to think he might have been married then. However, this
is all speculation since wehave no records to prove it. Nevertheless, I believe
it is useful to mention this as it might provide a clue of information for some­
one else to pursue.

The known, probable, and possible children and some descendants of Benjamin
and Polly are outlined in Chart Q-F. James Coffey of Riverview, fiichigan and
Jeff Radcliffe of Jacksonville, Illinois areknowndescendants of Colby Coffey who



#0

was a son of John Coffey and Elizabeth Rucker. Elizabeth was a daughter to
Colby Rucker. H. Marcus Coffey of Thorn Hill, Tennessee seems to be a descen­
dant of George Coffey although it may be through his mother's line.u5 He is

probably also a descendant of Benjaminthrough his father's line, possibly by
a son Jesse.38 His great grandfather was Cleveland Coffey who was married and

living in Grainger county Tennessee in the 1830s. This Cleveland is supposed
to be the son of a Jesse; however, we are not sure to whomthis Jesse belongs.
Another Benjamin descendant is Bennie Lou Coffey Loftin of Garland, Texas. She

descends through John and Elizabeth's son Benjamin (1808) whomarried Nancy
Hayes. Jeanne Snodgrass Bonhamof Cincinnatti, Ohio descends through John and
Elizabeth's son Ausbon. Someof John and Elizabeth's descendants settled in
Kentucky: Madison, Rockcastle, and other counties. For further information on
these and other descendants of this line the reader is referred to Bennie
Loftin's book.38_

Benjamin moved to Hawkins county Tennessee by 181On3 (some say 1809) and
apparently lived there until his death in 1831+.‘“”

Elizabeth Coffey

The only other child of John and Jane Coffey not yet accounted for is
Elizabeth. Since I have seen no records that indicate when or where she was

born I am including her last, more as a matter of convenience than knowledge
of fact. She is knownto have married ThomasFields, brother of Sally and son
of Richard Fields and Elizabeth Murrell. Elizabeth and Thomasalso movedto

Wilkes county North Carolina.u6 Thomaswas active in the Yadkin Baptist church,
holding the office of clerk and later that of a Deacon.u7 The willu8 of Thomas

Fields in 1807 lists wife Betty and children James Crumpton, William Fields,

Reuben Fields, Betsy Penley, Winifred Humphrey,Polly Humphrey, and Sally Penley.

John and Jane Coffey's Later Years

Although we have followed the children of John and Jane Coffey into North
Carolina and Tennessee we have not finished our story of John and Jane themselves.

Sometime in 17b7, presumably after Benjamin was born, the Coffeys apparently
moved from Spottsylvania to Orange county. John bought 137 acres there on June

23, 174749 and was listed as amongthe purchasers of an estate there in July
1751?O when the 137 acres was purchased in 1747 John was listed as being from
Spottsylvania county, when it was sold, August 30, 17525? his residence was
given as Orange county. The latter date may be when they moved to Albemarle

county. He appears in various Albemarle records in the 1750s and 1760s and re­
mained there the rest of his years. The homeplace was at North Garden on the
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Hardware River in St. Anne's Parish (see map, page 23$. John's will (see appendix

3) was made on March 31, 1774 and proved at the March court in 1775. He likely
died in January or February 1775. In the next few years following his death all
of the children except William, Edmond,and probably Winifred movedto North.
Carolina. Jane also went with them and located in Wilkes county near James and
Thomas.52John's will was such that the final settlement,granted the heirs,would

.not

1.

2.

9.

10.

11.

12.

13.
14.

15.

16.

17.

21.

22.

23.

24.

26.

be madeuntil Jane died. This occurred in 1792.53
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CHART 1+

VITAL DATA OF THE JOHN AND JANE (GRAVES) COFFEE FAI-1ILYa

John Coffey
b. bef 16 Jul 1700, Essex co., VA, son of Edward Coffey and Ann Powell
d. Jan/Feb 1775; lbemarle co., VA
m. abt 1728 Jane (Jean) Graves, dau of John Graves and Hannah .
child

4Lu

ren:
James Coffey
b. 4 Jul ('2) 1729, Essex co., VA
d. Sep/Oct 1786, Wilkes co., N.C.
m. abt 1750 Elizabeth Cleveland, Orange or Albemarle co., VA
children: see chapter 5

. William Coffey
b. abt 1731, Essex co., VA
d. abt 1828, Nelson co., VA
m. abt 1758 Elizabeth Osborne
children: see chart 4-A
John Coffey

"b. abt 1733, Essex co., VA
m. (1) Dorcas Carter, (2) Nancy Richardson
children: see text and chart #-B
Edmond (Edward) Coffey
b. abt 1735, Essex co., VA
d. w.p. 25 Jul 1808, Nelson co,, VA
m. Nancy Barnett
children: see chart 4-C
Winifred Coffey
b. abt 1739, Essex co., VA
m. Nicholas Moran
Thomas Coffey .
b. 7 Mar 1742, Essex co., VA
d. Apr 1825, Wilkes co., N.C.
m. (1) Elizabeth Smith, (2) Sarah (Sally) Fields
children: see chart 4-D

‘ Reuben Coffey
b. 17U#, Essex or Spottsylvania co., VA
d. 1818, Burke co., N.C.
m. Sally Scott
children: see chart 4-E
Benjamin Coffey .
b. 1747, Spotsylvania co., VA
d. 4 Jan 1834, Hawkins_co., TN
children: see chart 4-?
Elizabeth Coffey
b.
d. after 1807, prob. Wilkes co., N.C.
children: see text

a'This information comes from manysources including references # 7, 24, 51,
John's will, and the manypapers of AbbyDyer Griffin, a descendant of child
.# 7.

43



William Coffey

CHART h-A

CHILDREN OF JOHN AND JANE COFFEY: # 2, WILLIAMb

b. abt 1731, Essex co., VA
d. bef 28 Mar 1828 (date will proved), Nelson co., VA
m. abt 1758 Elizabeth Osborne (or Osborn), prob. Albemarle co., VA
children:

1. Osborn (various spellings)
b. 29 Jul 1759, VAC
d. 31 Mar 1800, Casey co., KY
m. 15 Feb 1783 Mary (Polly) Nightingale (b. 1761, d. 1847, dau of Mathew

Nightingale), Amherst co., VA
children:

1U Jesse
b. 26 May 1784
d. Jul 1850, Casey co., KY, bur Middleburg cem.

,;§yt5 ‘,Jn. (1) Tabitha Riffe (or Rife), (2) 16 Feb 1805 Elizabeth Rife
_‘/‘N2 5

1 \Py'\S¢"‘

7.

8.
9.

9’

(1785-1842), Pulaski co., KY
children: had dau Sally and sons C.R. and Jesse Jr.
Elizabeth
m. 9 May 1806 Christopher Riffe
Patsey
m. George Portmancc
Matthew
b. abt 1790, Amherst co., VA
d. prior to 1830
m. 29 Jul 1823 Nancy D. Adams (d. 1854, Schuyler co., M0), Lincoln

co. KY
Lucy
b. abt 1792
Richard N.
b. abt 1790-95
m. 29 May 1820 Catherine McCormick, Lincoln co., KY
Osborn
m. 1829 Jane Bell
William
John
m. 2 Sep 1843 Catherine Bryant, Lincoln co., KY

William Jr.
m. 2 Nov 1790 Polly Rippeto

E“5’K”

. Winnefred (Ureney?)
m. 29 Mar 1792 Thomas Hayes (bond 28 Mar)
Mildred (Milley)
m. 1783 Samuel Collman (Coleman)d
Elizabeth (Betsey)
m. 15 Sep 1795 John Bridge

b. Marriage bonds and records of Amherst co., VA; deed rec of Amherst & Augusta
cos., VA;ref. # 16; pension papers for Osborn; Will of William, Nelson co.
VA Will Bk.

CO

C, p. #17.
DARPatriot Index

cc. DARLin. Bk. 119: 208-9.
d. Marriages of Fredericksville Parish, in Papers of the Albemarle co. Hist. Soc

V01u 6, P0 o -: .
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6. Edmond F.
b. abt 1773 (age 72 in 1845 —ref. # 16)
m. 3 Apr 1802 Elizabeth Burger

7. Jane
m. (1) 16 Dec 1819 Anderson; (2) Fitzgerald
children of # 1: Joshua, Sallie, and Winnie; children of # 2: Perry

and Asbury.
8. Margaret

m. Monroe
9. Mary

10. Frankey

CHART 4—B

CHILDREN OF JOHN AND JANE COFFEY: # 3, JOHN

John Coffey
b. abt 1733, Essex co., VA
m. (1) Dorcas Carter, (2) Nancy Richardson
probable children:

1. Meredithe
b. abt 1760-70 (perhaps 1769), Albemarle or Amherst co., VA”
d. 1838, Grainger co., TN '
m. Esther (or Hester)
children:

1. John
b. 18 Oct 1798, Grainger co., TN
m. (1) 24 Feb 1821 Rebecca Ragsdale; (2) Jane Hopper

2. Anna '
b. abt 1800, Grainger co., TN
m. 3 Nov 1819 Jacob Arnett, Grainger co., TN

3. James
b. abt 1803, Grainger co., TN
d. bef 10 Sep 18511, Grainger co., TN
m. 14 Dec 1825 Sally Fielding, Grainger co., TN
children: Joel Henry Coffey and James Temple Coffey.

(b. abt 1776). - md. abt 1797.

f
4. Dorcas

m. 26 Jan 1840 Jubal Mitchell, Grainger co., TN
5. Joel

b. abt 1806, Grain er co., TN
d. bef 10 Sep 1851 , Grainger co., TN
m. 5 Feb 1829 Elizabeth Grubb, Grainger co., TNchildren:

1. Nancy
m. 16 Oct 1847 John Hinshaw, Grainger co., TN

2. John 5. William E.
b. abt 1833 b. abt 1842

3. Susan 6. Sarah E.
b, abt 1838 m. 6 Dec 1860 Robert lnkle­
m. Samuel Stalsworth barger

4. Jacob 7. Elvira
b. abt 1839

eRef. #s 22 and 23. Thomas Roach, Kenneth Fortner, & Peggy Swenson are descendants.
Grainger co. TNInvent.of Est. & Wills, 1847-52, pp. 399. 408»10; same, 1852--,
pp. 157 & 252; Deed Bk. M, pp. 38-41.
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6. Mira
b. abt 1809
m. 6 Aug 1827 Hardiman Sparkman, Grainger co., TN

7. Eliza
m. 16 Feb 1834 Henderson Sparkman

8. Mary
m. 29 Oct 1838 Henderson Dyer, Grainger co., TN

9. Mahalia
m. 11 Aug 1838 Samuel Crain, Grainger co., TN

10: Rice
m. 16 Jun 1839 Elvira Trogden, Grainger co., TN
moved to Crawford co., M0

Possible children of John Coffey:
2.

3.

4.

5.

Thomas
b. 1766-84 (age 26-95 in 1810)
Sally
m. 9 Feb 1802 Benjamin Rhea, Grainger co., TN
Jenny
m. 23 Sep 1806 Levi Miller, Grainger co., TN
For others see text.

CHART 4-C

CHILDREN OF JOHN AND JANE COFFEY: # 4, EDMONDg

Edmond (or Edmund) Coffey
b. abt 1735, Essex co., VA

d. 1808, Nelson co., VA .
m. Nancy Barnett (d. bef 27 Apr 1829 - prob bef 23 Mar), Albemarle or Amherst co,
children:

1. Edmund S.
b. abt 1773b
d. after 18#5 _
m. 3 Jan 1798 Tildy Fitzgerald, Amherst co. VA
William

' m. 18 Apr 1800 Betsey Giles, Amherst co., VA
Reuben
m. 5 Sep 1801 Nancy Giles, Amherst co. VA
Amelia (Milley)
b. abt 1772
m. 22 Feb 1793 John Campbell,Amherst co. VA
Nancy
m. Sep 1817 (bond 29 Aug) Joel Campbell, Nelson co. VA
Polly
m. 28 Aug 1819 John Steel, Nelson co. VA

EW111 of Edmond Coffey in Will Book A, page 1 and Bk. D, D. 70, Nelson co., VA;
marriage rec of Amherst and Nelson cos., VA ‘



CHART 4-D

CHILDREN OF JOHN AND JANE COFFEY: # 6, THOMASh

Thomas Coffey

* b. 7 Mar 17#2, Essex co., VAd. Apr 1825, Wilkes co., N.C.
m. (1) abt 1762 Elizabeth Smith, prob Albemarle co., VA
children:

1. Elizabeth
b. 25 Oct 1763 Alhemarle co., VA
d. 1850, Indiana (Owenco.?)

7 m. David Allen
moved to Owenco., IN in 1828

2. John
b. abt 1765 Albemarle co., VA
d. abt 1812, Wilkes co., N.C.
m. 3 Oct 1796 Hannah Wilson, Wilkes co., N.C.

r children:Eliza, Cassandra, Wilson (or William), Rebecca, Jane.
3. Thomas

b. abt 1767, Albemarle co., VA ?
m. (1) Margaret_Coffey; (2) Nancy Pendley 4
children of # 1: Joshua, Sallie, and Winnie; children of # 2: Perry ‘

’ and Asbry.
4. James

b. 1772, Albemarle co., VA
d. 1840, Wilkes co., VA‘
m. 31 Aug 1799 Delilah Ferguson, Wilkes co., N.C.
children: Thomas (b. 1804), James, Lovanby, Marvel, Eli (m. Caroline (

b Storyhh), Myra, and Louisa (m. John Jackson 15 Aug 1820 Wilkes co.) 1
5. Mary (Polly) »

b. abt 1775, Albemarle co., VA
m. 3 Jul 1796 William Coffey (prob. son of Benjamin). 3
children: Austin, William, Elijah i

? 6. Smithb. abt 1776, Albemarle co., VA
m. Hannah Boone
children: Squire, Morgan,Athan, Sallie, Leland, Isaac, Millie.

1

m. (2) abt 1778/9 Sarah (Sally) Fields, prob. Albemarle co., VA !
:7 children :
V 1. Martha (Patsy)b. abt 1780 Wilkes.co., N.C.

d. Indiana '
m. 3 Sep 1807 Rev. James Dowell

2. William ,
b. 29 Nov 17821, Wilkes co., N.C.

’ d. 21 May 1839. Wilkes co., N.C.
m. 16 Oct 18041 Annie Boone (b. 26 Jul 1785i) ­
children: Daniel, Wilborn, Celia, Gilliam, Calvin (latter is ancestor

of Dr. Robert Coffey of Portand, OR(see chapter 13).

hsee ref. # 10 for a more complete list of descendants.
hhA descendant of this line is Waneta (Coffey) Matney of Tacoma, WA.

» Coffey fam. Bible in possess. of Mrs. Miriam Leeper, Manhattan, KS.



3. Reuben A.
b. 15 Sep 1785, Wilkes co., N.C.
d. Feb 1854, Indiana
m. 1805 Polly Dowell, dau of Goerge Dowell.
children:J

1. Alfred Martin
b. abt 1807
m. Jane Coffey

2. Albert
b. abt 1810
m. Sarah Goodnight

3. Cornelius
b. abt 1812
m. Margaret Smith

4. Emily
b. abt 1814
m. William I. Curtis

5. Malena
b. abt 1816
m. Wilson Coffey

6. Luther
b. abt 1818
m. Myra Crisp

7. Rufus
b. abt 1820
m. Charlotte Allen

8. Miriam
b. abt 1822
m. (1) John Sanders 30 Sep 1849; (2) J.H. Buchanan

9. Shelton
b. abt 1825
m. Dicey Sanders

10. Judson
b. abt 1830
m. Caroline Hone

All went to Monroe-Owenco., IN in 1832
4. Elijah

b. 1788, Wilkes co., N.C.
d. 1865, Georgia
m. Polly Hull
moved to Georgia in 1835
children: Anderson, Minerva, Newton, Starling, Alphonso, Elvira, Milton.

5. Sally
b. abt 1792
d. N.C. .
m. 2 Mar 182b Samuel Thomas Stewart

6. Lewis
b. 25 May 1796, Wilkes co., N.C.
d. Owenco. (?) Indiana (moved there)
m. Harriet E. Powell
children: Sarah, Martha, Mary, Richard, Amanda,Jasper, and jephronia.

jCoffey Family M3, Z. Smith Reynolds Library, WakeForest Univ.
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7. Jessek

b. abt 1798, Wilkes co., N.C.
d. , unmar. gr d. 1858 in Georgia if this is the Jesse who
m. 22 Dec 1821 Winnifred Crumpton, Wilkes co., N.C.

) children:
1. Lewis E. (Elbert?)

b. abt 1826
2. William

b. abt 1829
3. Eli

) b. abt 1832
4. Martin Van Buren

b. abt 1838
m. 29 Feb 1859 Francis Pettit, Pickins co., GA

5. John
b. abt 1840

8. Larkin
b. 18 Feb 1800, Wilkes co., N.C.
d. 12 Jan 1881, Owenco., IN (moved there in 1833)
m. Catherine H. Wilson 9 Jan 1826, Wilkes co., N.C. 1
children: Susan, Sylvester, Lorenzo, Jason, Sarah, Adolphus, and Elzy. Q

9. Mccaleb (or Caleb) ‘
b. 22 Aug 1803, Wilkes co., N.C.
d. 17 Feb 1881, Caldwell co., N.C. (lived near Patterson, N.C.)

m. 1 (or E) Feb 1828 Elizabeth Collett, Burke co., N.C.children: ThomasJefferson, Charles L.,Sarah A., John.Eq MaryLou,
Margaret, Wm.Columbus, Martha E., Henry C., James E., Frances

b Caroline, Rachel M., Julia Jane, Laura Louise, and Buddie.
CHART u-E ;

CHILDREN OF JOHN AND JANE COFFEY: # 7, REUBENm i

Reuben Coffey
b. 17h4, Essex 9; Spottsylvania co., VA

P d. 1818, Burke co., N.C. ‘m. bef 1772 Sarah (Sally) Scott (d. Oct 1837), prob. Albemarle co., VA §
children: (most went to Owenco., IN) E

1

I

1. John
2. Reuben

‘ b. 1772d. 30 Nov 1851, Owen co., IN
m.~7 Feb 1797 Naomi Hays, Wilkes co., N.C.
children:

1. Hiram (1802-1889), m. Charlotte Stansbry 19 Apr 1827
2. Alfred, m. Rachael Fulling
3. Celia, m. James Sharp

8 4. Minerva, m. Gilbraith Neil
5. Thomas R., m. Sarah Rocket

kProb. the J.C. Coffey on Cherokee co., GA1840 census.
lsee ref. # 7.
"'-Sources are various but include rec. of AbbyDyer Griffin and Ann Gold, both

* descendants, and a petition of heirs in Burke co., N.C. Ct. of Equib, Spring
term 1838. Abby Dyer & her brother Fred were some of the earliest Coffey gene­
alogists. The order of birth maydiffer from the order listed here.
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6. Denzia (1812-1842), m. William Mayfield
7. Isom (1814- ?), m. Martha Smock
8. Nancy, m. John Fullen
9. James W. (1819-1885), m. Theresa Wampler

10. Temperance, m. Mr. Moreland
3. Joseph

d. 1835
children:

1. Sarah, m. Larkin Galloway
2. Margaret, m. Tyre Webb
3. Nancy, m. William Gragg
4. Enoch, m. 15 Dec 1831 Prudence Cragg, Burke co., N.C. (?)
5. Elisha ­
6. Zacheus
7
8

. Matilda

. Luchia Minors in 1838
9. Brice

4. Jesse
d. 1840

5. Elizabeth B.
b. 30 Jul 1776
d. 5 Mar 1868, Greene co., IN
m. John Green or Thomas Roper ?

6. Elijah“
b. 11 Mar 1779, Globe, Burke co.,
d. 3 Sep 1863, Owen co., IN
m. 23 Sep 1803 Mary Abby (Polly) Dyer, Ashe co., N.C.
children:

1. Lucinda, b. 8 Aug 1804; m. 30 Sep 1838 Emanuel Falkner
Allen, b. 21 Sep 1806, Globe Settlement, Burke co., N.C.
Alfred, b. 18 May 1809; d. 11 Jun 1885.
Amos, b. 12 Jun 1811; md. 11 Feb 1834 Martha K. Niell
Jane Louisa, b. 12 Jun 1813, Globe settlement, Burke co., N.C.
Albert, b. 7 Dec 1815; m. 28 Jan 1841 Caroline Hall -‘
Joel Anderson, b. 10 Jun 1818, TN; d. 21 Mar 1901, m.
Charity McDonald
Wm. Trimble, b. 17 Dec 1820, KY; d. 19 Mar 1879
Wiley H., b. 27 Feb 1823, IN; m. 10 Jun 1849 harriet Icbonald
Malinda Caroline, b. 6 Mar 1825, IN; m. 25 May 1845 Isaac Franklin.

11. Nancy Emmaline, b. 25 Sep 1827, IN; d. 19 Mar 1904.
7. James D.

b. 23 Oct 1786, Globe, Burke co., N.C.
d. 27 Oct 1868, Owen co., IN
m. Hannah Alloway Strange (b. 18 Feb 1790, d. 14 Dec. 1871)
moved to Indiana in 1834, first to Wonroeand then Owenco.
children:

1. Archelaus (or Archelius)°, b. 1 Mar 1810, Wilkes co., N.C.;
d. 27 Dec 1900, IN; m. 23 Jan 1834 Rachael Wilson, Ashe co., N.C.

2. Sally, b. 12 Feb 1312; d. 22 Feb 1861
3. Abraham, b. 26 Apr 1814, Wilkes co., N.C.; d. 23 Aug 1885; m.

Now1835 Sally Green.

NICI

12 Dec 1847

I-*
53:00)\lO\\J1-P‘\A)l\)

“Information from a Bible owned in 1943 by Mrs. Bladen of Indianapolis, IN;
see ref # 7 for further information on this line.

Or“ . - _ n "77 . . .. , ,,
1ales of rioneers. nistory of uwen County (In), Vol II. opencer (IN) Cnamb, 01
Comm., Spencer, IN. 1903. .
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9.

P

P
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4. Polly (Mary), b. 9 (or19) Jul 1816, N.C.; d. 18 oct 1909, Owenco.,
IN; m. 28 Apr (or Mar) 1859 Anderson B.Mills, Owen co., IN.

5. Riley, b. 27 Jun 1818; d. 27 Aug 1855.
5. John Davidson, b. 4-1OPJul 1821, Ashe co., N.C.; d. 5-1'? Jan 1909,

Ellettsville, IN; m. (1) 1844 Mary Whisanand, (2) 1847 nary A.
Mayfield, (3) 1874 Mary J. Ridge.

7. Elvira Ann, b. 27 Oct 1823; d. 19 Mar 1880, IN; m. 5 Jul 1853
Geo. W. Starnes.

Nancyq
b. 10 Sep 1788, Globe, Burke co., N.C.
d. 19 Apr 1866, IN
m. (1) Durham, (2) Joel Anderson Dyer
ancestor of AbbyDyer Griffin, early Coffey genealogist.
william H.q
b. 1789, Globe, Burke co., N.C.
d. 17 Oct 1844, Owen §o., IN
m. Mary Faulkner
children:

1. Mary Ann, m. 9 May 1859 David H. Allen
2. Silas, b. 23 Feb 1839, d. 6 Mar 1904, m. 1 Nov 1864 Carolyn Byles
3. John
4. Isaac
5. James L., b. 9 Jun 1834, d. 6 Nov 1890, m. 30 Sep 1855 Elizabeth

Litton
6. Oliver N., b. 2~Dec 1832, d. 30 Dec 1900, m. 30 Jan 1851 mlizabeth

Litton
7. Serena T., b. 1846, d. 1 Apr 1855

Thomas .
d. bef 1838 (no children)
Benjaminq
b. abt 1790 (?), Globe, Burke co., N.C.
d. 1843, Owen co., IN
m. 1816 Exa Saphronia Stepp
children:

1. Jesse, b. 18 Nov 1818; d. 10 Oct 1885; m. 12 Feb 1840 Lucinda Burpo
2. Lawson, b. 15 Aug 1820; d. 7 Aug 1904; m. (1) 1 Feb 1851 Mary ’

Litton, (2) 1856 Eliza Camptell
Nancy J., b. 1823; d. 3 Feb 1866; m. 22 Dec 1842 David Allen.
Sally Ann, b. 1838; m. (1) william Litton, (2) George Luggett,
(3) Ira Graham.
William W., b. 15 Nov 1830; d. 18 Jun 1865; m. 7 Feb 1850 Malinda
Litton.

. Milton Hiatt, b. 14 Nov 1831; d. 25 May 1915; m. 1 Jun 1858
Cynthia J- NiCh01aS——9JamesMarion Coffey-—-?Bessie May Coffeyqq

7. Matilda c., b. 9 Aug 1837; d. 15 Apr 1917; m. (1) Elijah Filler,
(2) Calvin Lyman.

Jane
m. James Webb
Sallyr
m. Samuel Curtis

pvarious dates fromdifferent lists; at this writing I don't knowwhichis correct.
* qsee ref. # 7 for further information on these lines.

rl amnot certain that this child fits in this family.
qqMother of Herschel Sharr (husband of Noreva), El Monte, CA.
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CHART 4-F

CHILDREN OF JOHN AND JANE COFFEY: # 8, BENJAMINS

Benjamin Coffey
b. 1747, Spotsylvania co., VA
d. 4 Jan 1834, Hawkins co., TN
m. Polly Hayes (poss dau of Jesse Hayes)
known children:(according to 1790 & 1800 census they had 5 male & 4 female children)

1. Johnt ‘
b. 15 Oct 1776, prob. Rowanco., N.C. (area that became Burke co.)
d. 15 Mar 1845, Grainger co., TN
m. Elizabeth Rucker, dau of Colby Rucker, and b. 6 Jan 1787, d.22 Mar 1855.
childrenzu .

1. Ausburn (various spellings), b. 11 (or 14) Jan 1805 Wilkes 00-. N-C-:
m. abt 1830 Matilda Dalton; d. 30 Dec 1876, Grainger co., TN. A
descendant of this line is Jeanne Snodgrass Bonhamof 516 Hickory
Hill Lane, Cincinnati, OH45215. Her line is Ausburn-9Thomas
Jefferson Coffey (1822-1897) & Perlina Hayes--€>Lee Coffey (1854­
193u) & Isabelle Hiatt-—->Arthur A. Coffey (1876-1929) a Gatie
Ramsey-——9EllaMae Coffey (1898- ) & Bradford 3nodgrass—¥>M. Jeanne
Snodgrass (1928- ) who m. C. Philip Bonham. Another son of
Ausborn,James Madison Coffey (1834-1886) m. Lydia Wolfe and had
Glathia Jane Coffey (1864-1939) who m. Joseph Love Ramsey and had
Janie Lydia Ramsey (n.md.)

2. Colby, b. 23 Aug 1806, Wilkes co., N.C.; m. 22 May 1330 Mary Adams,
Grainger co., TN; d. 17 Jun 1888, Estill co., KY. A descendant
of this line is James V. Coffey of 13869 Sibley 3d., Riverview,
MI 48192. His line is Colby-—+>William W. Coffey (1841-1906) &
Josephine Jones———?VernonCoffey (1895-1972) & Beulah Curtsinger
———9JamesJunior Coffey (1929-1967) & El Wanda Beasley-———7James
V. Coffey. Jeff Radcliffe of Jacksonville, IL is another descen­
dant of Colby.

3. Benjamin, b. 8 Feb 1808, Wilkes co., N.C.; m. Nancy Hayes; d.8
May 1867, Rockcastle co.KY. A descendant of this line is Bennie Lou
Loftin of 4006 Clemson, Garland, TX75042. Her line from Benjamin
is-->Ausburn (Ausbon) Coffey (1846-1923) & Celia AnnLaswell--€>
William Ransome (Rance) Coffey (1859-1932) & Lou Mina Jane Clark-9
William Benjamin Coffey (1912- )& Lou Ellen Simcox-——>BennieLou
Coffey (1934- ) m. (1) Roy Chapman(div), (2) Robert Loftin.

4. Nancy, b. abt 1811, TN; n.md.; d. 20 Nov 1896.
5. John Jackson, b. 12 Jan 1812, Tn; m. 7 Jul 1839 Alsy (Elsie) Nash,

Grainger co., TN; d. 15 Oct 1877, Rockcastle co. KY.
6. Elizabeth, b. 1821, TN; m. (1) 30 Nov 1839 Nathan Whitsett,

Grainger co., TN (he d. 22 Jan 1842, Grainger co.), (2) 20 Feb 1845,
Geo. W. Hayes, Grainger co., TN. A descendant of this line is
Kathryn Johnson of 159 Sheridan Ave., Longwood, FL 32750, Her line
is through Elizabeth's 2nd marriage to George W. Hayes (abt 1817­
18--)-——awilliam Daniel Hayes (1861-1911) & Ida Mae Henry-—u>wi11iam
Ernest Hayes (1902- )& Irene Theresa Gudde-—9Kathryn E. Hayes m.
William Wallace Johnson

Sfief. #s 7,22,23,34,44; corr. from Marcus Coffey, Thorn Hill, TN, Jeff Radcliffe,
Jacksonville, IL, James Coffey, Riverview, MI, Alice Ketron, Winchester, IN, &
Bennie Lou Loftin,_Gar1and, TX(latter has Bible rec.)

Info. fr. 2 fam Bibles, War of 1812 Pens. pap., census, & toombstone rec,
“Children proven by deeds of sale(of inheritance of each child) to Ausborn, Grainger
co. DeedBk. K (pp.209,10,425,532),L (pp130,491,602—3);also Bible recs.

1)»
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7. Sarah Lucinda, b. 1822, TN; m. 21 Mar 1840 William Coffey (son of
George), Grainger co.TN;d.4 Nov 1895, prob West Plains, MO

8. Margaret, b. 28 Feb 1825, TN; m. 7 May 1844 Isaac Bullen, Grainger
co. TN; d. Rockcastle co. KY.

9. William M., b. 31 Oct 1828, TN; m. 12 Jun 1849 Ellen Nash,Grainger
co. TN.; d. 9 Aug 1893, Grainger co. TN

10. Catherine, b. 10 Aug 1834, TN; m. Sweet(?); d. Prob Cass
co. MO.

probable children:
2. George

b. abt 1782 (age 68 in 1850) g
m. Margaret Rucker (prob. sister of Elizabeth and dau of Colby Rucker, ' 1

b. 1789-90.) 5
children: 1

1. Mira

b. abt 1810 E
m. John Hipshire E

2. Thomas
b. abt 1812

3. Delphia
b. abm 1815 _
m. 29 Dec 1828 Timothy Dalton, Grainger co., TN ‘

4. Mary '
m. 2 Sep 1833 Jack Dalton, Grainger co., TN

5. William
b. 20 Jan 1817; d. 15 Jun 1878
m. Sarah Lucinda Coffey, dau of John & Elizabeth. Qrainger co., TN

0. Elijah
b. 23 Feb 1820; d. 13 Jul 1890
m. 11 Jan 1840 Rebecca Shockley, Grainger co., TN

7. Matilda ’
b. abt 1821
m. 27 Aug 1835 Tandy Dalton, Grainger co., TN

8. Malinda (not certain this one belongs in this family)
b. abt 1823 ,
m. 11 Nov 1839 Cleveland Coffey, Grainger co, TN

9. Mahalia
b. abt 1828
m. 21 Jan 1846 Enos Shockley, Grainger co., TN

10. Emily or Emeline
b. abt 1831
m. 20 Feb 1851 Wainright Shockley, Grainger co., TN

11. Louisa
b. abt 1834
m. 18 Mar 1851 William Shockley, Grainger co., TN

3. Bennettv
b. abt 1779 (age 71 in 1850); a. by 1858
m. 5 Feb 1805 Sally Ferguson
children:

1. Caswell
b. abt 1806, N.C.; d. 7 3ep_1882, Grainger co., TN
m. 3 or 4 times, one was Martha Campbell '

V . . . . . . . . .Bennett was closely associated with Benjaminin hawkins co. on tax list, witness
to deeds, etc.; also see ref. # 38.
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2. Joel“
m. prob. Sarah Mullins, 5 Nov 1855, Grainger co., TN

3. Jesse
b. abt 1828, TN

LP. Louisa
b. abt 1831, TN

Others unknown
H. William ~

b. prob. 1778 or poss. 177$/5 if Benjamin md. abt 1773/5.
m. 3 Jul 1796* Mary (Polly) Coffey (dau of ThomasCoffey and Elizabeth

Smith)
children:

1. Austin
m. Betsy Hawkins

2. William
m. Margaret Robbins

3. Elijah
m. Elizabeth Robbins

possible children: _

g. Jesse (there are a numberof Jesses and it's difficult to separate them). Jane
m. Aug 1793KJoel Coffey, Wilkes co., N.C. (It seems more probable that

this Jane and Joel belong to the Chesley Coffey family - see chapter
7. It may be that Benjamin had a dau Jane but we do not have her mar.)

7. Ann
m. 28 Oct 1793 Alexander McKinsey, Wilkes co., N.C.

8. Sarah
m. 30 Aug 1794 James Coffey, Wilkes co., N.C. (Note: It has been sugested

that this Sarah and James also belonged to the Chesley Coffey family­
see chapter 7).

9. Another daughter

"Deed from Bennett to Joel and old letter regarding Caswell, recd. by ccrr. from
Bennie Loftin.

XBenjamin was a witness to these marriages so he may have been the father.



CHAPTER 5

VIRGHNA TO NORTH CAROL|NAi

JAMES COFFEY AND

EUZABETH CLEVELAND‘

¥
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“There goes the parson, oh illustrious spark!
Andthere, scarce less illustrious, goes the clerk’:

. Cowper





I marle counties.1

5
James is one of the best known of the children of John and Jane (Graves)

Coffey. Born 1729 in Essex county Virginia, he was their first child. He is
referred to as Reverend James Coffey because he becamea Baptist minister in
Wilkes county North Carolina. He married Elizabeth Cleveland, the daughter of
Alexander Cleveland. The Clevelands are further discussed in the next chapter.
It appears that the Cleveland and Coffey families lived in both Orange and Albe­

Most Coffey genealogists have assumed that James and Elizabeth
were married in Orange county about 1750 and the date has been listed as August
30, 1750.2 However,there is no reference given for this date and it is not
found in the Orange county marriage records. The date may be confused with the

date of James‘ first land entry (see below). Since we haven't found a record
in Orange county it is quite possible that they were married in Albemarle county
where the marriage records for that period of time are not extant.

James Coffey was on the Orange county "List of Tithables" in 17b9 but not
in 1754 so they probably settled in Albemarle county soon after their marriage.
However, the first deed record I have found in Albemarle county is dated 1758.
In this they bought 124 acres from James’ father John, at the head of the middle
branch of the Hardware River.3 Again, manyof the early Albemarle county records
are missing and we do not even know when John bought this land. Thus it is

presently impossible to be certain whenJames Coffey settled in Albemarle county,
but I am assuming it was probably by 175# and possibly as early as 1750. Jacqueline
Sexton says they had a land entry of 115 acres there August 30, 1750.“ The only
land entry I have been able to find is a Virginia land patent for 262 acres "on the
head branches of MeechumsRiver (see map, page 35), under the Ragged Fountains."
This was received July 26, 1765 but such dates were often several years after the
land was entered. In this case, James had already movedto Amherst county a
year previous to the date of this land patent (see later). I amthus listing the
birth of the first 2 children, Elizabeth (born about 1751) and John (born about
1753) as probably Albemarle county.

Elizabeth Coffey

Elizabeth (the first child and daughter) was generally called Betty. She
married Robert whiteside of Albemarle county and they later movedto North Carolina

where they lived next to her parents in Wilkes county. This marriage was probably

57
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in Albemarle county since Robert's father, William, had a land patent there near
the Coffeys (in 1753). William and ThomasWhiteside, probably brothers,were

listed as members of the Orthodox Reformed Presbyterian Church5on Ivy Creek March ’
29, 1747 and William was amongthe Albemarle companyof'Kilitia for Protection of
the Frontier Against the Indians, September 1758.6 Robert was in the Revolu­
tionary Warand probably at the Battle of Kings Mountain with some of the Coffeys.7

Sometime later Robert and Elizabeth moved to Waynecounty Kentucky where they t
probably both died, 1810-1812. Their best knownson was Jonathan who it is said
‘settled in Chattanooga, Tennessee. He and brother Robert are on the Pulaski
county Kentucky tax lists in 1806-7. See Chart 5-A for the data on this family.

John Coffey

Accordingto long standing tradition and early family lists the second child
and first son of James and Elizabeth Coffey was named John and was born about 1753.

8 has cometo light which gives his birth as Feb- r
Recently a supposed Bible record
ruary 13, 1755. If true, he maynot be the first son. However,at present there
is enough room for doubt that I will here use the 1753 date. There are few records
concerning John. He also settled in Wilkes county North Carolina9 where his
children were raised and where he died December 27, 1825.10 His wife was apparent— 3

1y namedMary (called Polly or Molly)11 but nothing further is knownabout her.
11The names of only 9 children have been known but David Strange's records list

11. Wehave the marriage records of 5 of these.12 A daughter Sarah married

Michael Israel, Jr. and a descendant of this couple is Willard Israel whopre- ”
sently lives in Crossville, Alabama. A descendant of the son Levi, whomarried
Dolly Edmondson, is Lavar West of Thatcher, Arizona. Twodescendants of the
daughter Elizabeth whomarried Archelaus Alloway Strange are Frances Tiller of

Kansas City, Missouri, and David A. Strange of San Rafael, California. Their P
lines are given in Chart 5—Balong with other descendants of John and Polly. The
son Lewis went to Gwinnett county Georgia and is listed there on the 1830, 18b0,
and 1850 census. A Revolutionary War pay voucher for John Coffey, dated June 26,

1784, is supposed to be for this John.“ It has been said that Reverend James said b
he had 2 sons and 1 son—in-law who served in the war. The sons might thus be

John and Reuben and the son—in-law Mastin Durham. However, we have already seen

that another son—in-law,Robert Whiteside, had Revolutionary service, and later

we shall discuss two more sons, Ambrose and Eli, who may also have served in the *
War.

‘Thenext child was Archelaus, born about 1755 in Albemarle county. He will
be the subject of Chapter 8.
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James, Jr. was born about 1757 in Albemarle county. Some say he never
married; however, R. Ivey Mooreiu says he married Mollie floore (torn June 2, 1766
and a daughter of Jesse Moore). This must have been an error in recording how­
ever, as an earlier source15 gives Mollie's husband as AbrahamAlloway Strange.
Wehave no record of a marriage between James and Nollie,but two of Mollie's
sisters married Coffey brothers from this family. There is one marriage record
in Wilkes county North Carolina for a James Coffey to Sarah Coffey (August 30,
1794) and we haven't definitely accounted for either of these individuals. Sarah ;

- could be a daughter of Benjamin, as mentioned in chapter U. Also, in chapters

4 and 7 it is pointed out that these 2 individuals could both belong to the :
Chesley Coffey line. June Borkié lists him as married to Salley Rue. It is E
difficult to separate this James in the records of North Carolina from James, son

of Thomas, whomarried Delilah Ferguson. The James Jr. mentioned in the Wilkes
county Court of P and Q minutes is probably the son of Reverend James as is the fl
James mentioned in the Yadkin Baptist church records 17 as being clerk in 1790.
Our James lived next to his father in Wilkes county,18 but is said to have gone
to Waynecounty Kentucky quite early in the 1800s, later returning to North caro­
lina and trading his land in Kentucky to his brother Lewis Russell Coffey.19 I
have seen no record of this land unless it is the 1799 grant in Elk Spring Valley t
(Waynecounty) listed for Lewis Coffey.2O There are no deed records for this James
in Waynecounty. It is possible that researchers have confused him with James

N. Coffey, son of Archelaus (see chapter 10) who was in Waynecounty at that
early date.

_a..,/-V__....—-.,.2,4».- ._-....-..~«Jamescannot be definitely found on the 1800 or later census of Wilkes or

.——.»._s.-..:~.-,—..-A.-.....--'

Burke counties, but he cannot be found in Waynecounty, Kentucky either. Perhaps
he went with Rice and others to Bedford county, Tennessee as there is a James
there in 1830 of the appropriate age and its difficult to imagine whoelse this
could be. There is also a James on the Jefferson county, Tennessee tax lists of 1
1800 and a will listed for 1807.21

Martha Coffey

Martha Coffey, according to her great great granddaughter Nell Narshzz was

born about 1758 (this would be in Albemarle county) and married in February 1774
Mastin Durham (born 1755, died August 1, 1844) who served in the Revolutionary

23 'War. Nastin_was active for a time in the Yadkin Church, holding the office of
clerk, but according to the minutes17 in 1807 he accused the church with being
"extortionists, drunkards and disorderly persons,” and desired to withdrawhis
fellowship. He was excommunicated.



60

The children of Martha and Mastin were born in Wilkes county, North Caro­

lina but the family moved to Waynecounty Kentucky in 1811 where both Martha

and Mastin died. She died prior to August, 12, 1826 and was buried near the
Coffey Settlement in Waynecounty.4 Most Coffey genealogists have listed Martha
as born 1768 and married 1794. However, the family records of Nell Marsh are

probably more reliable. It appears that the dates 1768 and 1794 were copying
errors.

Reuben Coffey

Reuben Coffey was born September 16, 1759 in Albemarle county Virginia. He

is frequently confused with his uncle Reubenwhomarried Sally Scott (see pre­
vious chapter). The Reuben here discussed was in the Revolutionary War and re­

24ceived a pension. He fought at the Battle of Kings Mountain under Colonel

Benjamin Cleveland, a first cousin(see page 87). Reubenlived in Wilkes county
1778-1797 (on the north side of Warrior Gap —see map, page 39), Burke county

1797-1819 (Blairs Fork), and Waynecounty Kentucky from 1819 until his death on
June 9, 1842.25 The wife of Reuben is not given in any records, but tradition
has it that her namewas Millie Morris.26

rem? The 1800 census of Burke county, N.C. would seem to indicate that there

Reubenis listed as having 10 child­

was another male, born between 1790 and 1800. If so, we have no record of him.

Manyof Reuben's children lived in Waynecounty Kentucky. Somedescendants still
live there today, amongthem Bennie Bryan Coffey and his daughter Jacqueline
Coffey Sexton, authors of "The Coffeys of WayneCountyf A

Ambrose Coffey

The next child was Ambose, born in 1762 in Albemarle county Virginia. He
is said by some to have also served in the Revolutionary War, but I have seen no
proof of it. I believe he has been confused with the Ambrosewho was at the siege

of Fort Boonesboro (see below). Our Ambrosemarried Mildred (Millie) Moore,

another daughter of Jesse and Alley Moore. Millie was born March 31, 177014 (or
March 13, 177015) and died in 1812, probably in Pulaski county Kentucky. Follow­
ing her death Ambrosemarried Elizabeth Rice27 and later probably }olly .

Ambroselived in Wilkes county, N.C. until about 180428, lived in Tennessee»
for a short time, and came to Kentucky about 1806.20 He was living in Pulaski
county whenhe died, as his widowpetitioned there for letters of administration

and for the allowance of dower, September and November1818, respectively. They
had just sold3O 90 acres of land (purchased in 1816) in Pulaski county to Vincent
Garner on September 2. ,The balance of Ambrose's land (157 acres) which fell to

‘““1§
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the widowand children as heirs was finally soldjl April 18, 1826, also to Vincent
Garner. The settlement32 mentions that there were 12 children but doesn't name

them. In all of these petitions and deeds Ambrose'swife is listed as Polly.
Since this is not a diminutive of Elizabeth it seems likely that Ambrosehad a
third wife. In the indenture of 1826 she is listed as the wife of John Mills but

I did not find the record of her remarriage, nor do I know her maiden name. There
is a marriage of Polly Coffey to James McHenryon July 7,, 1821, security Vincent

Garner, so perhaps she married him first and then John Mills before 1826. Since
Vincent Garner provided the bond whenshe obtained letters of administration and
he is frequently found in other records involving Polly and Ambrose, it seems
likely that her maiden name may have been Garner. In October 1877 Samuel Tate is
granted33 letters of administration in the estate of Polly Coffey, deceased, but
this could be another Polly. There is a Polly Coffey on the Pulaski county 1820
census (age 15-20) and a Polly Ann on the Pulaski 1830 census (age 20-30). Four F
children are listed at homein 1820, three in 1830, but one of the latter is a 1
male under 5. Perhaps she was remarried once or even twice (briefly), had 1 son
and resumed her first married name (Coffey).

The children listed in the indenture are Jesse, Hiram, Betsey, America, Kira,
Jefferson, Washington, Greenup, and Emily. The latter two we understand to be
children by the second wife, Elizabeth Rice,34'the others by Millie fioore. However,
omitted are James Madison, Holland, Alice, and Mildred.3u Perhaps they were
plder and already gone from home, although some could have been predeceased. He

knowfor certain that Holland was alive as he later becamequite prominent in Texas.
He is knownthere as an Indian fighter and owner of the Coffey Trading Post on the
Red River (in Red River county). Eventually he was killed and buried at the trading
post.3u Ambrose's family appears in Chart 5-E.

ManyCoffey genealogists have mistakenly said that our AmbroseCoffey was in
the battle of Fort Boonesboro (Kentucky) with Daniel Boone. True, an Ambrose
Coffey was there but it was a different one. A deposition35 taken in 1809 in
Vadison county Kentucky proves that this Ambrose was not the same man as ours. He

was born about 1759 in Dublin, Ireland and came to this country as a young boy. He
is undoubtedly the Ambroseon the Fayette county Kentucky census of 1790 and'Nont­

gomerycounty 1800, and the Revolutionary soldier stationed at Fincastle (Kentucky)
in 1776.36 He had several children, including a son Ambrosewho in turn had a son

Ambrose. These families are found in the records of Montgomery, Norgan, and Green­

up counties.
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Eli Coffey

The next child was Eli (often spelled gly in some records). He was born
March 1, 1763, probably in Albemarle county Virginia. He married Hannah Allen,
daughter of David and HannahAllen, and they probably lived in Wilkes county37
North Carolina until 181620 when they moved to Waynecounty Kentucky. Eli was

quite active in the Yadkin Baptist church, serving as church clerk, 1804-1807.
In June of the latter year he left the church "on account of principle and rules

61of said society.17 In 1808 he was a Justice of the Peace. He is said to have
died at the home of his son, Colonel Asbury Madison Coffey in Knobnoster, Missouri

September 5,_1847. However, Asbury did not move to Knobnoster until 1859 and was
in Pettis county Missouri at that time. There is a Revolutionary Warpension
application38 for Eli Coffey, and his son Asbury wrote a letter39 in which he
says that his father entered the army at the age of 16 and served the balance of
the war.

Eli and Hannah had 2 boys that died in infancy, James and Allen,uO and one
wholived to maturity. The latter was Colonel Asbury Madison Coffey, born July

25, 1804 in Wilkes county North Carolina. He.graduated from Center College in
Danville, Kentucky in 1826 and moved to Tennessee where he taught school. On July

22, 1828 he married one of his former pupils, Mary Bradford. She was a niece of
Sarah Bradford, the wife of Rice Coffey whowas the brother of Asbury's father
Eli.uO Asbury and Mary lived in McMinncounty Tennesseeul until 1842. During
this time he was treasurer of the East Tennessee and Virginia Railroad.16 They
movedto Pettis county Missouri, and finally in 1859 to Knobnoster, Johnson
county, Missouri. Asbury was elected to the legislature from Pettis county in
1850 and appointed as an Indian Agent by President Fillmore in 1851.42 He lived
for some years among the Peories in Kansas.u3 He was a memberof the first

Territorial Legislature of Kansas ("BogusLegislature") in 1855 and Coffey county
Kansas was namedfor him, but not the town of Coffeyville as many have stated.4#
Of someinterest to western Coffeys is the fact that 2 of his children settled in
the Beaverton-Portland, Oregonarea. The latter
married Robert walker. Asbury died in Knobnoster November28, 1897.u5

These were Henry and Rachael.

Rice Coffey

Rice Coffey, born April 1766 in Amherst county Virginia, was probably the next

child of James and Elizabeth. On December 13, 1764 James bought land along the
Tye River in then Amherst county but now Nelson county (see map, page 35 ) from

ThomasJefferson.u6 The land in Albemarle county was sold in 2 parcels, one in
1766 and the other in 1767.47 Thus Rice was probably the first child born in

tn
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Amherst county. As previously mentioned he married Sarah (3ally) Bradford. This
took place in 1790. She was born July 22, 1770 and died September 3, 1840 in

~Bedford county Tennessee.u8 Rice died at the same place July 24, 1853. Their
homeplace was near Wartrace. They probably went there quite early as Rice appears
in very few North Carolina records. He is on the 1788 and 1789 tax lists as well
as those for 1796-99, but not on the 1790 or 1800 census. This could indicate

that he was gone during the Period 1790-95 and that he moved permanently about
1800 or soon thereafter. The first tax list in Tennessee in which he appears is

_1812, in Bedford county (first list extant for that county). A short accountbg
of the family written about 1890 by Rice Abner Coffey, a grandson, says that Rice
movedfrom North Carolina to Bedford county Tennessee in 1808. It also says that
all of the children except the last 3 were born in North Carolina which would put
the migration date a bit earlier.

Rice and Sally was parents of 9 children. Somediscrepancy exists in various ;
lists of these children but I believe the one given at the end of this chapter is
about as correct as we can get it. The 1820 census lists 5 male children and 3
female, which would be'correct because Jerusha died in 1810. Rice and Sally's
youngest son, John Reid was a colonel in the Mexican war (later Brigadier General
of the AlabamaMilitia) and otherwise rather prominent in the south, serving as

sheriff of Jackson county Alabama, and in 1861 as a delegate to the convention
50

Joel Coffey

The tenth child of James and Elizabeth was Joel, born in 1770 in Amherst

county Virginia. He married Martha (Patsy) ______(maiden name unknown). It is
difficult to be certain about records in Wilkes county for Joel,as he can be con­
fimedwith.another Joel living there. This other Joel will be discussed in Chapter
7. Our Joel may have gone to Burke county as he and his family are reportedu to
have moved from there to Waynecounty Kentucky about 1806. A Joel of the "¢orrect"

age appears on the 1800 and 1810 census of Burke county. Joel was a carpenter and

built the Waynecounty courthouse in 1825.4 He died in December 1826 leaving a

will.51 Vartha went to Randolph county Missouri where she died in 1839. Their
children were 6 in numberand are listed in Chart 5-H.

Lewis Russell Coffey

The last of James and Elizabeth's children was Lewis Russell, born November

18, 1772 in Amherst county Virginia. He married on December 10, 1795 Bidant ("Biddy")

Moore, another daughter of Jesse and Alley Moore. She was born May 3, 1775 and died
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January 3, 1851. Although Lewis had a land grant in the Elk Spring Valley of
Waynecounty Kentucky in 1799 (then Green county) they apparently didn't move
there until 180720 Perhaps the 1799 grant was originally to his brother James
and was the land previously mentioned which was traded to Lewis. ManyOf theiv
children and relatives settled around them so that this area becameknownas the

"Coffey Settlement", and was located on the east side of a mountain knownas
"Coffey Mountain." (see pictures). It is a beautiful spot, only a few miles
from Monticello. There is a family cemetery located there in which both Lewis

and Biddy are buried. I visited this area in 1976 and marveled at its beauty
and solitude.

Bennie Bryan Coffey and Jacqueline Mark Alan Coffey holding Todd
Coffey Sexton (authors of'Coffeys Coffey, sons of Marvin D. Coffey--­
of WayneCounty") and Jacqueline's in Coffey cemetery, Elk Spring
son - in Elk Spring Valley, Wayne Valley, Wayneco. Kentucky. Large
county Kentucky. Foothills in back- toombstone is for Lewis R. Coffey.
ground lead to Coffey Mountain.

Lewis was a large land-holder and quite prominent in Waynecounty.19 There
were 11 children in this family, listed in Chart 5-I. It is probably the best
known family descended from James and Elizabeth Coffey. A grandson, Shelby Roore

Cullom, was a U.S. Senator amdcovernor of Illinois (son of Elizabeth Coffey and
Richard Northcraft Cullom)§2 It has sometimes been said that Lewis was in the
Revolutionary War. This is an error since he would have been too young to serve
then. However, there mayhave been an older Lewis, still unidentified, whowas in
that War. Lewis was in the War of 181219, serving as a private in Captain Micah

Taul's companyfrom Waynecounty. He also served in the House of Representatives
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of the KentuckyLegislature in 1815.19
we should now go back to Amherst county Virginia where the last of James and

Elizabeth's children were born. James had sold some of his property to William
Coffey (presumably his brother) in 1768.53 The remainder was sold March 1, 1779.5”
However, James movedhis fmnily to Wilkes county North Carolina before this as
he had a land entry there June 2, 1778 for 200 acres on warrior Creek.55 (see map
page 39). He had a second land entry November23, 1779 for 300 acres and several

other early deeds such that by 1782 he owned700 acres.56
Although James becamea large landholder in North Carolina and had sufficient

"land in Virginia he was far from a wealthy man. In an undated British Mercantile
Claim document57 (probably about 1777-8) he had a debt at the Amherst Store of
Speirs, Bowmanand Companyof 10 pounds, 1 shilling, and 1 pence. The record

states "James Coffie or Coffey was insolvent before the war as appears by the
return of the Sheriff upon an execution which issued against him in behalf of
Tucker Woodson‘that the defendant had no goods whereof the debt and costs could

be made‘. At no period since the commencementof the war has he been able to pay

anything."
It has often been said that James was a missionary to Wilkes county, perhaps

as early as 1757, and a minister whenhe lived there. Also, some tradition says
that he founded the old Mulberry Fields Baptist church which was located at the
present site of Nilkesboro, North Carolina.58 There are probably two major errors
in this idea. First of all, someBaptist records written in 177259indicate that
James joined the Baptists sometime between 1767 and 1771 and he and his wife were

part of a group forming the Amherst Baptist church May10, 1771. Thus, if he did

serve as a missionary it was probably after this date. Secondly, the Baptist re­
cords dealing with the Mulberry Fields church,6O organized in 1769, make absolutely
no mention_of James Coffey, either in the founding or in the preaching, then or
later. Records of other Baptist churches in the region are very scant until about
1790 when we find records of the Yadkin Baptist church. Several Coffeys were

active in it but this was after the death of James. However,one other historyél
indicates he may have founded a church in the Mulberry Field sector of Wilkes

county. It goes on to say that this was a mere meeting house, commonlycalled
"Brother Coffey's Neeting House" and was not strictly Baptist but was attended
by people of manyfaiths. Since an area near where the Coffeys lived is also
called Nulberry (nowa township by that name) it seems probable that this simple
meeting house where he preached was located there (in present Caldwell county)
and not at Mulberry Fields. The latter was some distance away and would have
necessitated considerable travel to attend meetings. It is not clear in various
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histroies whether this meeting house was located on the Yadkin (near Patterson)
and was thus the forerunner of, or was actually the original Yadkin church, or
whether it was located on or near James‘ property and the establishment of the
Yadkin church was independent and a few years later. From Hayes‘ work61 it

would appear that they are separate entities since on page 110 he refers to the
church at the head of Yadkin (Patterson) being established in 1779 and on page
111 there is a reference to a meeting in 1791 at Brother Coffey's Meeting House
on Lower Creek. The latter area is a bit south of James’ property. Of course

James Coffey died in 1786 and the minutes of the Yadkin church show that most of
his relatives were associated with it in the 1790's and early 1800's. Someof
these minutes from 1801 lead one to believe there was only one church as they
mention the "Mountain Association met on Head of Yadkin at Coffey's fleeting
House".62 There is another reference to this same church as "Coffey's Meeting

House" in 1807. ThomasCoffey was very active in church affairs and James Jr.

(son of James 3r.), Eli Coffey, and Mastin Durhamwere all clerks at one time or
another. ThomasFields was a deacon. Eli and Nastin (and probably James Jr.)
left the church over disagreements.

James was a patriot during the Revolutionary War.63 It has been said that
all of his sons that were old enough served in the War, and more particularly in
Colonel Ben Cleveland's Regiment of Wilkes county "Bulldogs." However, the only

ones for whomI have seen materials that would tend to verify this are John,
Reubenand Eli. Both of his son-in-laws were Revolutionary soldiers.

James made his will (see appendix(3) September 13, 1786 and it was proved $October 26 in Wilkes county.64 All of his children are namedexcept he mentions
the "heirs of my son Archelaus." The latter thus died before September 1786.
Elizabeth is said to have gone to Tennessee with her son Rice where she died

about 1827, and probably about 100 years old. At the Bell Buckle or Old Salem #cemetery (in Bedford county Tennessee) there are 2 stones in the Coffey lot that
65are underground and unreadable. According to Timothy and Helen March one of

these is probably that of Elizabeth Cleveland Coffey, or at least they say she

is buried there. *
we have noted that a number of the children of James & Elizabeth Coffey went

to Waynecounty Kentucky. A neighbor of theirs, Daniel Boone, was of course in­

strumental in the blazing of the wilderness Trail into Kentucky. It began near
where the Coffeys lived and went through the Watauga country into Tennessee where

it joined the Great Valley Road coming down from Virginia. Here the road passed *

through the famous Cumberland Gap into Kentucky (see map, page 68 and picture,

page 118.)
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CHART 5

VITAL DATA OF THE JAVE3 AND ELIZABETH (CLEVELAND) COFFEY FAVILYa

James Coffey
b. 4 Jul (?)b1729, Essex co., VA, son of John Coffey and Jane Graves
d. Sep/Oct 1786, Wilkes co., N.C. (w.d. 16 sep, W.p. Oct 1786)
m. 30 Aug (?) 1750 Elizabeth Cleveland (dau of Alexander Cleveland, b. Feb (7)

1726/27; d. 1826/27, Bedford co., TN), Orange or Albemarle co., VA
children:

1. Elizabeth (Betsy or Betty)
b. abt 1751, prob. Albemarle co., VA
d. 1811/12, Wayne co., KY
m. abt 1770 Robert whiteside, Albemarle co., VA

2. John
b. abt 1753 (or 13 Feb 1755 7?)? prob. Albemarle co., VA
d. 27 Dec 1825, Wilkes co., N.C.
m. abt 1773/4 Mary (Polly or Molley) , prob. Albemarle or Amherst

3. Arcgglau¥A(see chapt. 8)
b. abt 1755, prob. Albemarle co., VA —
d. abt 1783/u, Wilkes co., N.C.
m. abt 1775 Eleanor Wade, prob. Amherst co., VA

4. James, Jr.
b. abt 1757, Albemarle co., VA
d. prob. N.C. or TN
m.umm.??

5. Martha (Patsy)
b. abt 1758, Albemarle co., VA
d. abt 1826, wayne co., KY
m. 1774 Nastin Durham

6. Reuben
b. 16 Sep 1759, Albemarle co., VA
d. 4 Mar 18h2, Wayne co., KY
m. Mildred (Millie) Morris —(tradition)

7. Ambrose
b. 1762, Albemarle co., VA
d. abt 1818, Pulaski co., KY
m. (1) Mildred (Millie) Moore, (2) Elizabeth Rice, (3) Polly Garner (?)

8. Eli
b. 1 Mar 1763, Albemarle co., VA
d. 5 Sep 1847, prob. Johnson or Pettis co., NO
m. Hannah Allen
Rice
b. Apr 1766, Amherst co., VA
d. 24 Jul 1853, wartraoe, Bedford co., TN
m. 1790 Sarah (sally) Bradford

10. Joel
b. 1770, Amherst co., VA
d. Dec 1826, Wayne co., KY
m. Martha (Patsy) .

b

~o

alnformation is from manysources (see text).
These dates come from David A. Strange, San Rafael, CA, who has a xerox copy of
a Bible record giving such dates. However,at this writing there is somedoubt
about the veracity of the source, hence question marks (?) are used.
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11. Lewis Russell
Nov 1772, Amherst co., VA
Sep 1850, Wayne co., KY
Dec 1795 Bidant (Biddy) Moore

b. 18
d. 29
m. 10

. CHART 5-A

CHILDREN OF JAMES AND ELIZABETH (CLEVELAND) COFFEY: # 1 ELIZABETHC

Elizabeth "Betty" Coffey
b. abt 1751, prob. Albemarle co., VA
d. 1811/12, Wayne co., KY
m. abt 1770 Robert Whiteside (b. 22 Feb 1743, Albemarle co., VA, son of William

whiteside and Elizabeth Stockton; d. 1810), Albemarle co., VA
children:

1!

2’

3.

James
b. 21 Jul 1771;
William
b. abt 1773; d. 1820; m. Lavina Singleton
Jonathan
b. 13 Apr 1776, Amherst co. VAor Burke co., N.C.
d. 1860, Tennessee
m. 19 Jul 1796 Thankful Anderson,
Robert
m. Betsy Dick, Wayne co., KY
Mary "Polly"
m. Isaac Davis
Joel
m. Sally Lunch

d. 20 Apr 18#8

Iadison co., KY

CHART 5-B

CHILDREN OF JAMES AND ELIZABETH (CLEVELAND) COFFEY{ # 2 JOHNd

John Coffey
b. abt 1753 (or 13 Feb 1755?), prob Albemarle co., VA
d. 27 Dec 1825, Wilkes co., N.C.
m. abt 1773/4 Mary (Polly or Holley) _ (b. 18 Dec 1755, d. bef 1825)
children:

1.

Ca

Levi
b. 19 Dec 1774, VA
d. bef 1850
m. 18 Aug 1799 Dorothy "Dolly" Edmundson
children: .

Rice (1802), Mary Ann (1804), James (1806), Robert (1807), John (1809),
Keziah (1812), Enoch (1812), Elisha (1814), Levi (1817) and Nancy (1820)

Lewis
b. 12 Jan 1777: VA
d. after 1850, Gwinnett co., GA
m. ? ’
children:

1. Louney (b. abt 1806, N.C.)
2. Sarah (b. 1 Sep 1812, N.C.; d. 5 Nov 1893, Atlanta, GA; m. 5 Nov

1833 Jesse Brawner Jr.e
see Ref. W’ 7; also The Whiteside Book by Clarence Cannon, 1957.

d3ee Ref. #5 10, 11, 12 & especially 8 for specific dates.
eA descendant of this line is Mic Barnette of NewOrleans, LA
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3. Poss. Catherine ?
4. Poss. sons Webster and Edmond

Sarah (Sally)
b. 1 May 1779, prob. Wilkes co., N.C.
d. 26 Aug 1842, Ashe co., N.C.
m. 26 Feb 1800 Michael Israel, Jr. (son of Michael Sr. & Sarah Graves),

Wilkes co., N.C.
children:

James (b. 1802, m. Mary ); Mary (b. 1804, m. A.B. Carland);
Elizabeth (b. 1805, n.md.); Celia (b. 1807, m. Russell Jones); John
c. (b. 1811, d. 1904, n.md.); Sarah (b. 1814, d. 1898, m. Laxton Case);
Arminta (b. 1818, n.md.; Caroline (b. 1820, m. William Bishop).
Willard Israel of Crossville, ALdescends through the oldest child
James and wife Mary____;son Monterville Marvin Israel (1826-1864) &
wife Matilda Green-———;sonJames Monroe Israel (1850-1928) and wife
Elizabeth Jones.__4>son Marvin Belson Israel (1897-1968) and wife Eve
Gertrude Hagler___;son Willard Alfred Israel (1926-- ) n.md.

Elizabeth
b. 10 Jan 1782, Wilkes co., N.C. ­
m. 23 Nov 1802 Archelaus Alloway Strange (son of Abner Alloway Strange,

b. 12 Jul 1780, Fluvanna co., VA; d. 23 Oct 1852, Adair co., KY).
children:

John Strange (1803-1865), m. Sally Walkup; William Strange (1805-1845),
m. Demoriah Davis; AbrahamStrange (1808-1866), m. Elizabeth Morrison;
Lewis Strangef(1810-1886), m. Isabel Biggs; Archelaus Strange (1812­
1883), m Celia Miller; Levi Strange (1817-1882), m. Elizabeth Robertson;
Larkin strange%(1819-1884), m. Mary Simpson; Winston Strange (1821­
1900), m. Margaret Meadows; Elizabeth Strange (1823-1890), m. Kr. Wal­
kup; Mary (1814-1875), m. John Thomas; Ellen Strange (1826-1840), n.md.

William
b. 17 May 1784, Wilkes co., N.C.
d. after 1850, prob. Gwinnett co., GA
m. Sarah
James
b. 23 Oct 1786, Wilkes co., N.C.
Celia (Sealy)
b. 19 1789, Wilkes co., N.C.
d. bef Aug 1825 (pre-deceased when John made his will)
m. Mr. Smith
Nancy
b. 14 Jul 1791, Wilkes co., N.C.
m. 10 Sep 1818 Thomas Pendley
Eleanor
b. 9 Jan (prob. 1793/4)? Wilkes Q0. N.C.
m. 10 Feb 1819 Jesse Crumpton (or Compton)
John
b. 5 Jul 1796, Wilkes co. N.C.
Polly '
b. 5 Feb 1799

fA descendant is Frances L. Tiller of Kansas City, MO.FromLewis & Isabel her lineis: Lewis Wilson Strange (1853-1905) & wf. Frances Pound———4>ZouEllen Strange
(1882-1970) & hus. Arthur Linvill Frances Linvill (1916 -- ) & hus Stanley Tiller.

EAdescendant is David A. Strange of San Rafael, CA. From Larkin & Mary his line is:
Samuel Archelaus Strange (1850-1938) & wf. Melrose Lisenby._.;>Ian Maclaren Strange
(1897­ ) & wf. Adelaide Weihe———fi>DavidAlloway Strange (1924 -- )& wf. Florence
Fernsteiner.

hThe Bible rec. says 1791 but this must be an error in transcribing.
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CHART 5-C

CHILDREN OF JAMES AND ELIZABETH (CLEVELAND) COFFEY: # 5 MARTHAl

Martha Coffey +b. abt 1758, Albemarle co., VA
d. bef 12 Aug 1826, Wayne co., KY
m. Feb 1774 Nastin Durham (b. 1755 Hanover co., VA; d. 1 Aug 1844), Albemarle

co., VA
children:

1. Molly Durham . ?b. 7 Feb 1775
2. James Durham

b. 8 Feb 1777
3. John Durham

b. 29 Mar 1779
4. Elizabeth "Betsy" Durham h

b. 29 sep 1781
m. Mr. Boone_

5. Selah DurhamJ
‘b. 29 Jun 1784, N.C.
d. 12 Aug 1874

m. 4 Feb 1804 Ebenezer Fairchild, Burke co., N.C. F
6. Sally Durham

b. 11 Mar 1787

CHART 5-D

CHILDREN OF JAMES AND ELIZABETH (CLEVELAND) COFFEY: # 6 REUBEN‘

Reuben Coffey
b. 16 Sep 1759, Albemarle co., VA
d. 9 Jun 1842, Wayne co., KY
m. abt 1782 Willie Morris (tradition)
children:

1. Eleanor Vb. abt 1783, Wilkes co., N.C.
m. Hr. Hisan

2. Sally
b. abt 1785, Wilkes co., N.C.
m. Joseph Owens

3. Elizabeth ("Betsy")1 *b. abt 1786, Wilkes co., N.C.
m. Thomas Sumpter

4. Jamesl
b. 1790, Wilkes co., N.C.
d. 1870/80, Flat Rock, KY
m. 7 Jul 1810 Sally Sumpter *

5. Anna
m. Washington Owens (?)

6. Rachael
m. 23 Jul 1820 Burnett Elam, Wayne co., KY

{see ref. # 22 - j
JA descendant is Nell Marsh of Monticello, KY A
See ref. #5 25, 26 & especially 4 for information on additional descendants.
AlmaWhitis, Indianapolis, IN is a desc. of James; Bennie Coffey & Jacqueline
Sexton are desc. of both Elizabeth & James.
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Polly
m. Mr.
Oliver
m. 18 Oct 1815 Sally Ramsey
Austin
b. abt 1796, Wilkes co., N.C.
Naomi N.
b. abt 1805, Burke co., N.C.
m. Summers Wright

Giddens

CHART 5-E

CHILDREN OF JAMES AND ELIZABETH (CLEVELAND) COFFEY: # 7 AMBRO3Em

Ambrose Coffey
b. 1762, Albemarle co., VA
d. Sep 1818, Pulaski co., KY
m. (1) Mildred "Millie" Moore, dau of Jesse and Alley Moorechildren:

1.

20

3.

11.

James Madison ­
d. 25 Jun 1833, Mississippi
Jesse
b. 1792
d. 11 Feb 1835, Tennessee
ThomasJefferson
b. 16 Feb 1805, Burke co., N.C.
d. 1 Nov 1858, Brazoria co., TX
m. Malinda Graves Williams Haley
George Washington
b. abt Dec 1806“
d. 17 Mar 1840, Jackson, MS
m. Mary Catherine Isler
Hollando ­
b. 15 Aug 1807
d. 5 Oct 1846, Texas
m. 29 Jan 1839 Mrs Sophia Suttenfield
Hiram
d. 19 Jan 1836, Mississippi
Alice
b. Burke co., N.C.
America
b. Burke co., N.C.
m. Samuel Lusk
Mildred
b. Burke co., N.C.
Myra
d. 3 Sep 1835, Tennessee
m. Mr. Edmondson
Elizabeth
d. Jan 1843, Warren co., TN
m. George Washington Jewell

mData from several sources; see chiefly ref. # 34
"Based on age at indenture of apprenticeship, Wayneco., KYDeed Bk. C, p. 85.
°Ray, Worth 3. Austin Colony Pioneers. Washington co., Austin, TX. 1949
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m. (2) 1812 Elizabeth Rice
children:

1. Christopher Greenug
d. 19 Apr 1861, Jackson, MS

2. Emily
m. (3)bef Sep 1818 Polly Garner (?)

CHART 5-F

CHILDREN OF‘ JAMES AND ELIZABETH (CLEVELAND) COFFEY: # 8 ELIP

Eli Coffey

P

b. 1 War 1763, prob. Albemarle co., VA
d. 5 Sep 1847, prob. Johnson or Pettis co., MO
m. bef 1790 Hannah Allen, dau of David and Hannah Allen
children:

1. James
d. in

2. Allen
d. in infancy

3. Asbury Madison
b. 25 Jul 1804, Wilkes co., N.C.
d. 28 Nov 1897, Knobnoster, Johnson co., MO '
m. 22 Jul 1828 Mary Bradford,(dau of Col. Henry Bradford), Tennessee
children: (9 - only 7 listed)

1. Rufus L.
b. abt 1831
d. 25 Dec 1860
m. Martha Ann

2. Alexander B.
b. abt 1832
m. Mary Bradford

3. Ellen B.
b. abt 1836
m. Mr. Corrum of Knobnoster, NO­

4. Mary
b. abt 1838

5. Tipton H.
b. 18 Feb 1846
d. 19 Dec 1860

6.Hmmy
b. 8 Jul 1848
d. Nov 1934

7. Rachael Frances (twin of Henry)
b. 8 Jul 1848
m. 24 May 1871 Robert H. Walker

infancy

Several sources - see chiefly ref. 39-45 and 1850 census of Pettis co., NC. Accord­
ing to census records there was probably a son b. 1829 and another either 1835 or
1839/40. An article in an Oregon newspaper in 1932 says the twins were the young­
est of a family of 9 children.

4­



CHART'5-C

CHILDREN OF JAMES AND ELIZABETH (CLEVELAND) COFFEY: # 9 RICEQ

Rice Coffey
b. Apr 1766, Amherst co., VA
d. 24 Jul 1853, wartrace, Bedford co., TN
m. 1790 Sarah "Sally" Bradford (b. 22 Jun 1770; d. 3 Sen 1840)rchildren: ‘

1. Jerusha (or Joenash)
b. 4 May 1792, N.C.
d. 10 Mar 1810, Bell Buckle, Bedford, TN
unmd.

2. Elvira
b. 14 May 1794, N.C.
d. 10 Jul 1849
unmd.

3. Henry Bradford
b. 12 Jul 1796, N. C.
d. 11 Apr 1864, Jackson, AL
m. Sarah Edmonson

4. Mary C. (or G.)
b. 12 Oct 1797. N.C.
d. 22 Oct 1878
m. John Kendall (?)

5. Weightstill Avery
b. 1801, N.C.
d. 1837, unmd.

6. Alexander Hamilton
b. 1803/4, N.C. (?)
d. 1864, Bedford co., TN
m. Nancy E. (Mary) weatherly (or Matherly ?)

7. Martha "Patsy"
b. 1805/6 (or 1808), TN (?)
d. 1845
m. Alex Yell (or Bell?)

8. Benjamin B.
b. 1809/10, TN
d. 1864
m. Mrs. Mary E. Roache (Beach ?)

9. John Reid
b. 27 Mar 1814, Hartrace, Bedford, TN
d. 21 Mar 1896, prob. Jackson co., AL
m. 21 Aug 1849 Mary Ann Cross (b. 28 Dec 1831; d. 8 Sep 1897).

CHART 5-H

CHILDREN OF JAMES AND ELIZABETH (CLEVELAND) COFFEY: # 10 JCELS

Joel Coffey
b. 1770, Amherst.co., VA
d. Dec 1826, Wayne co., KY

qSee ref. #s 4, 16, 48, 49, 50
:Tombstone rec in Bedford co., TN (Bell Buckle or Old Salem cem.)
See principally ref. # 4; one ref. (# 16) lists a 7th child, Elizabeth (Betsy)
who md. Burrell Elam.
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m. Martha "Patsy" .
children:

1. Nathaniel
m. (1) 1823 Louisa Durham; (2) after 1830 Nancy Clark
Alvina (Elvira)
m. 27 Mar 1828 Martin wright
Carolina (or Caroline)
b. abt 1819, Wayne co., KY
m. Noah Summers
Martha L. .
m. 19 Feb 1835 Perry M. Stacey
Frances (Franky)
m. Andrew Jackson Jones
Henry B.
d. Macon or Moniteau co., MO
m. 24 (or 3) Jan 1838 Sara Ann Isbell, Wayne co., KY

CHART 5—I

CHILDREN OF JAMES AND ELIZABETH (CLEVELAND) COFFEY: # 11 LEWIS RUSSELLt

Lewis Russell Coffey
b. 18 Nov 1772, Amherst co., VA
d. 29 Sep 1850, Wayne co., KY
m. 10 Dec 1795 Bidant "Biddie" Moore,(dau of Jesse & Alley Moore, b. 3 Nay

1775; d. 13 Jan 1851, Wayne co., KY), Wilkes co., N.C.children:
1.

t
co. KY

Elizabeth "Betsy"
b. 1797/8, Wilkes co., N.C.
d. 5 Dec 1868, Tazewell co., IL
m. 17 Mar 1819 Richard Northcraft Cullom (b. 1 Oct 1795; d. 4 Dec 1872)
Mary "Polly" ‘ ­
b. 19 Oct 1800. N.C.
d. 29 Mar 1855, Wayne co., KY
m. # Jan 1821 Joshua Oatts
James Lewis
b. 12 Sep 1802
d. 7 Aug 1855
m. Feb 1829 Sarah Alloway Strange
Henderson
b. 8 Oct 1804, Wilkes co., N.C.
d. 8 Dec 1868 (or 6 Dec 1866)
m. 27 Aug 1827 Minerva Alexander '
Edward Northcraft Cullom
d. bef 13 Apr 1850
m. Rachael A. Isaacs
Rachael
b. abt 1809
m. 1829/30 Thomas Jefferson Jones
Shelby
b. 12 (19) Aug 1811, Wayne co., KY
d. 2 Sep 1863
m. Zerilda Emarine Meadows

Several sources - see principally ref. #s 16, 19, 4; also Lewis‘ will in Wayne
will Bk. A, y. 112, 13 Apr 1850.
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Jesse Moore
d. Aug 1835, Wayne co., KY
m. 1832 Elizabeth AnnSmith (or Elizabeth Griffin)
Benjamin Franklin
b. 10 Dec 1816
d. 11 May 1868
m. 11 Oct 1842 Mary Ann Worsha
Thomas Coleman ‘
b. 1819
m. (1) 11 Dec 1839 Mary "Polly" Havens; (2) 23 Aug 1848 Patience Jane

Miller; (3) Sarah Havens, (4) Mrs. AmandaJane Hudson Stone
Cleveland L.
d. 26 Oct 1834“
m. (1) Mrs. Bradshaw; (2) Sophronia Oatts

16.





CHAPTER 6

THE CLEVELAND

FAIVHLY

."Myhave fellows, we have beaten
the Tories, and we can beat them
again ... I will show you, by my
example, howto fight ... "

BenjaminClevelan to his
men of Wilkes and Surry at
the Battle of Kings Mt.





Several notations have been madein previous chapters concerning the Cleve­
"lands. It seems appropriate at this point to give an account of the Cleveland
genealqy since all who descend from Rev. James Coffey share some Cleveland an­
cestry, and some other Coffeys may be related.

It is extremely difficult, and perhaps impossible to arrive at a true account
regarding the relationships and ancestry of the Clevelands of eighteenth century
Virginia. Most accounts of this family's genealogy seem to have been derived from
the works of EdmundJames Cleveland, published in 1899.1 Mr. Cleveland details,
perhaps accurately, the history of the NewEngland immigrant, Moses Cleveland,

‘and then in volume 3 proceeds to give an account of an Alexander Cleveland who
is supposed to be the ancestor of the Virginia Clevelands and possibly a brother
of Moses. he admits that there is no documentaryevidence for this Alexander in
America. Apparently the best evidence is a letter written by Oliver Cleveland of
Albemarle county Virginia which states "myfather and grandfather were both named
Alexander Cleveland. Mygrandfather lived to be 111 years old and my grandmother
to be 103 years old. Mygrandfather was an Englishman by birth." It appears,
however, that Oliver's grandfather was the son of this (perhaps imaginary) first
Alexander. EdmundCleveland lists only 1 known son, Alexander, born about 1659
(apparently in Englan), and died about 1770 at the homeof son John Cleveland
on Blue Run, Orange county Virginia. His wife was perhaps Milly Presley, born
about 1667 and died 1770, 3 days after Alexander. Children listed were:

John Cleveland, born abt 1695-1700
Alexander Cleveland, born abt 1698-1710
Jeremiah Cleveland, born abt 1700-1712
Micajah Cleveland, born about 1702-1712 (this may not have been his son)
Elizabeth Cleveland, born abt 1704-1716
William Cleveland, born about 1719

He also indicates that the above Alexander mayhave been the original immi­
grant rather than another Alexander whowas his father. At any rate he says they
settled on Bull Run in Prince William county Virginia and removedprior to 1734
or 1738 some 60 miles southwest to Blue Run in Orange county (near the line of

Albemarle. )

At this point it seems to me that Mr. Cleveland may have confused two Cleve­
land lines. In 1958 George A. Martin published an article2 which refutes muchof
these original claims. Citing the AbingdonParish Register of Gloucester county

81
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Virginia (which I also have checked) he shows that Roger and Dorcas Cleveland
were the parents of Alexander whoin turn was the father of John whosettled in
Orange county. He also cites evidence3 that the Clevelands went from Gloucester
county to Spotsylvania county. There is a deed for Roger Cleveland in 1679 which
says he was gf Gloucester.” He purchased land in Old Rappahannock county which
of course later becameEssex county and may have been that part of Essex which

still later becameSpottsylvania county.
Wedo not know when Roger and Dorcas Cleveland came to Virginia, or whether

he came over and married her here, but they seem to be the first Clevelands in
the records of Virginia, and Roger was in Virginia by Nov. 16, 1670.5 It is not
entirely clear to me whether the Clevelands movedfrom Spotsylvania to Orange or
were just in that part of Spotsylvania that becameOrange county in 1734. At
any rate an Alexander Cleveland witnessed a deed in Spotsylvania county April 2,
173h3 and Alexander Jr. bought 100 acres from Rice Curtis in Orange county March

17, 173h.6 He was listed as being from Spotsylvania county at the time. Alexan­
der also bought 10Oacres in Orange county from Lawrence Franklin in September

1738 but sold (or leased) this to John Taylor November23, 1752.7 I
John Cleveland also bought 100 acres from Rice Curtis on Branches of "Blew

Run" adjoining that bought by Alexander and on the same day.6 Both of these deeds
were witnessed by Grace Cleveland who I suppose is the Grace Cleveland that mar­
ried Edward Coffey, son of Edward Sr. and AnnPowell. Grace was John's sister.
John also bought part of 1600 acres on March 18, 1734. He apparently remained
in Orange county on Blue Run the rest of his life and died there. His will was
made November 1, 1778 and proved in Orange county court November 26, 1778.8

Alexander Sr. (son of Roger an Dorcas) married Mary or Milley
Presley and according to the AbingdonParish Register had the following children:

1. Alexander Jr., baptised May25, 1712 (this is probably the Alexander later
found in Albemarle county.)

2. John, born July 31, baptised August 24, 171h (this is the John mentioned
above in Orange county.)

3. Grace, born September 1, baptised September 30, 1716 (she married Edward
Coffey, son of Edward and Ann (Powell) Coffey). ’

b. Hilliam, born February 23, baptised March 22, 1718.
5. Benjamin, born November21, baptised November 28, 1721.

A¢¢°rd1n8to family tradition Alexander died at Blue Runat or near his
son John's home (possibly 1770?). ‘I‘here15 no will for him,
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Moving over to Albemarle county we find that Jacob Cleveland and wife Mildred
sell to Alexander Cleveland 99 acres in North Garden on the Hardware River9

(this is where John and Jane (Graves) Coffey lived) September 9, 1762, witnessed
by Eli Cleveland. This is the land he received by patent November10, 1757. Also
in 1762 he bought 114 acres from Henry Carter (witnessed by Eli Cleveland.) He
sold 184 acres in March 1778. In the minutes of Albemarle church (Baptist) a
list of membersin 1773 included Jacob Cleveland, Milley Clevelan and Fanney
Cleveland.10 I do not knowwhere this Jacob fits in. Edmon James Cleveland

says he is a son of Jeremiah (son of Alexander), born May6, 1739. Perhaps this
iscorrect, although the date maybe off soewhat.

I did not find any other deeds for Alexander but he witnessed a deed by James
Cleveland July 26, 1767.11 His williz is recorded as being made February 2, 1776
and proved at Novembercourt 1776. It lists his wife Margaret and children James
(eldest), Oliver, William (under 21), Anne, Elizabeth, Mille, and Polley.

' (Polley is a nicknamefor Mary). It doesn't list Eli as a son but executors
included "wife Margaret and son in law and son Eli Cleavlan and EdwardJohnson"
(presumably he meant Eli as a son). Witnesses were Eli and Oliver Cleavland and
Edward Johnson. This could well be the Alexander that EdmundCleveland listed

as the second child of the Alexander whowas supposedly born in 1659 and died in

1770,(but in reality born in.16872.) This Alexander Jr. would have been a bro­
ther to John of Orangecounty. The children listed in the will are also listed
by EdmundCleveland. However, there are additional ones listed in Edmund's book
(Anka, Alexander, John, and Martha or Patsey) which are not listed in the will.
In a 1782tax list a Margarett Cleavlan is listed with no males in the household
above age 21. She must have been the widow of Alexander.

Putting EdmundJames Cleveland's list together with information from other
sources13 we can comeup with the following:

Alexander Cleveland, b. 1712, Gloucester co. VA;m. Margaret Doolittle (deed
records, will and statement of grandson HenryWilson Cleveland); children:

1. James, b. ___, d. prob. 1791 (if this is the James whose will is rec.
in Louden co. 12 Sep 1781 - wife Frances, child. Johnston, Hannah, &

George); was a captain in the Rev. War.
2. Eli, b. 1729-3# (according to tradition he was 95-100 at time of death.

However, most Cleveland ages seem to be exagerated and he was probably
somewhatyounger - note birthdates of bothers and sisters); d. Apr. or
May1829 in Fayette co., KY(w.p. Jun 1829). Possibly this is the same

Eli whowas an assistant minister in the Littleriver Church(Regular
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Baptist), Louden co., VAin 1772.10 This church had several branches and
he may have been in the Bull Run Branch. On Oct. 16, 1766 he leased
land in Prince William co. and was listed as being of that county.

3. Alexaner, b.____3 d. abt. 1825; md. Sarah Ann______.
it. John, b. __ 3 d. bef. 1839.
5. Oliver, b. abt 1749; d. Fetter Spring 184#, Madison co., KY; md. 19 Dec

1792 Jane Buckner (The Oliver Cleveland who d. in Albemarle co. in 1785
is apparently an earlier one).

6. Anna, b. 1751: d. 14 Jan 1838, Montgomery co., KY; m. John Hazelrigg.

7. Anka or Ankey, b. ____; d.—still living in Amherst co. VAin 1839; m.

Wood. _

8. Elizabeth, b. abt 1755-6; d. 1845/6; m. John Mcwilliams or perhaps
Bennett Gillum (?); went to KY.

9. William, b. 2# Dec 1757, Albemarle co., VA;d. 18 Jun 18h2, Pendleton
co., KY; m. Margaret Wilson.

10. Milly, b. _____3 d.-living in KYin 1839; m. _____fienry.
11. Mary (Polly), b. _____3 d. prior to 1839: m. ______Johnson.
12. Martha (Patsy), b. 9 Jun 1764; d. __. m. Mar 14 1793 Bernard Franklin!“

Also went to KY.

All six of the boys were in the Revolutionary Warand were supposed to have
all been at the Yorktownsurrender.

The problemthat still remains with the above list is that the age span of
birthdates is too great, at least for one wife.
there seems to be nothing better at this time. As previously mentioned, Alexander
Jr. (the father in the above list) died in 1776 in Albemarle county. His wife

It can be seen that most of this
family went to Kentucky, although it is possible the son Alexander mayhave gone
to Prince William county Virginia.

Returning to the family of Alexander Cleveland Sr.. the second son, John
(who settled on Blue Run in Orange county) had a well-known family. He married

Elizabeth Coffey (_no_tMartha, as EdmundJames Cleveland says). She was a younger
daughter of Edwardand Ann (Powell) Coffey (see chapter 3). John's will in 1778
lists 5 sons and 3 daughters. He omits his son Larkin but there are enough other
accounts of the Clevelands to indicate that Larkin belonged to this family. The
account of EdmundJames Cleveland omits Patty, and does not have the names for
daughter Betty (Elizabeth?) and son Reuben.

Utilizing these two sources together with the Draper papers and other historical

However,I offer this list since

Margaret lived for someyears after the war.

Someof his dates are also incorrect.
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accounts we can arrive at the following:

John Cleveland, b. Jul 31, 17143 Gloucester co. VA: d. Nov 1778, Bue Run,Orange co., VA; m. 20 Apr 17341 Elizabeth Coffey (b. abt 1714, Essex co.VA).
Children:

1.

2.

5.

Mary - m. Bernard (Barnett or Meishack) Franklin; moved to Wilkes co.N.C.
with most of the Clevelands (land entry in 1778); d. Jan 1828. There
is some confusion here with the Bernard Franklin whom. Martha of the
previous family (I amhere assuming they are two different imdividuals.)
Benjamin16- (prob. the oldest son) b. 26 May 1738, prob. Orange co. VA;
raised there; m. abt 1761 Mary Graves, dau of William Graves. Benjamin
spent some time in Pittsylvania co. VAwhere he became known as a mighty
hunter. In about 1768he movedhis family to N.C., initially to Surry
(created from Rowanin 1770), finally settling on the "Roundabout" on
the upper Yadkin River in Wilkes co. He and Mary had three children:
Absalom, John and Jemima. gn 1779 & 1780 he represented Wilkes co. inthe N.C. General Assembly.2 Ben was a Colonel in the Rev. War, command­
ed a Regiment of N.C. Militia ("Wilkes county Bulldogs") in the famous
battle of Kings Mt.17 (So. Carolina) Oct. 7, 1780. This regiment included
several Coffeys and relatives. Col. Ben was knownas the “terror of the
Torries", being forever in and out of scrapes with the Bitish but always
comingout victorious. For awhile after the Warhe operated an inn in
Wilkes co. but soon movedto the Pendleton District of So. Carolina along
the Tugalo River on a line between the whites and the Cherokee Indian
tribe. Herehe became a judge. Benjamin is reported to have grown to
enormous proportions, reaching a weight of #50-500 pounds. One account
even says his weight at death was 73# pounds (rather unlikely). He
died in S. Carolina (some say Georgia) in Oct. 1806 (w.d. 10 Sep, w.p.
21 Oct). Cleveland co. N.C. was named in his honor.

John - b. 1zh0?. EdmundJames Cleveland says he was the oldest and born
1730. This seems highly unlikely and probably based on age reported
(by some) at his death. As we have seen and will continue to point out,
tradition has a tendency to lengthen the life of an ancester and this
seems especially true in the case of the Clevelands. This John Cleveland
should not be confused with one called "Devil John" who is supposed to
be the son of Benjamin and with him at the battle of Kings Mt. However,
if the birthdate of 1769, generally given for him, is correct he would
only have been 11 years old at the time of the battle! (I think the b.d.
is incorrect).The John we are here discussing becamea Bptist minister
in Wilkes co., N.C. (lan entry there Jan. 1779). later in s. Carolina.
His death is reported to have occurred at Cleveland's Ferry, Tugalo R.,
S.C. (or poss. Georgia) in 1820/1. He m. Mary or Molly Mccann.

Elizabeth (Betty) - b. 6 Jun 17u2, Orange co., VA; d. 19 Apr 1828, Scott
co. KY; m. abt 1760-65 David Gilla5PY3 moved to Madison co. KYin 1802.

Robert - b. 8 Jan 17h#, Blue Run, Orange co., VA. He also removed to
Wilkes co. N.C. (land entry 1 Oct 1779) where he remained the rest of
his life, dying Apr. 10/26, 1812 at his home on Lewis Fbrk. He was a
captain in the Warand also at King's Mt. He also was involved with
his brother Ben in somedaring skirmishes with the Torries. Robert m.

(1) bef 1770 Alice (Aley or Ailyg Mathis of Kentucky who was b. 11 Dec1750 and d. 18 Dec. 1791, and (2 Sallie Johnson of Wilkes co. He had
17 children by the 2 wives. In 1809 he was a member of the 6th U.S.
Electoral College from N. Carolina. Hemayhave lived in Pittsylvania
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county Virginia before going to Wilkes co.. N.C. as a Robert Cleveland,
not otherwise accounted for, is there as a land owner in 1779 (Deed
Bk: 5; Pa 91):

6. Reuben- Little is knownabout him but he is mentioned in his father's
will. He apparently d. bef. 9 Feb. 1792 and had a son John.18

7. Jeremiah - b.-abt 1746 according to EdmundCleveland. However, his
dau. Martha Cleveland Lingow, b. 1788,13 (quoted in Draper papers)
says 1753. He remained in VA& d. there in 1806. He is mentioned
several times in Albemarle deed and order bks. His wife was Mary
Gentry (dau of Benajah Gentry &Miss Austin & b. abt 1755) of Albe­
marle co.19 Jeremiah had 13 chi1dren.2° Onemust be careful to dis­
tinguish between this Jeremiah and his uncle, son of Alexander Sr. Some
claim that Jeremiah, son of John, also went to N.C., but the dates fit
better here. It maybe that he went to Wilkes co. briefly then back to
VA. The Jeremaih who m. Elizabeth Moonwas a son of this Jeremiah.12'20

8. Larkin - b. 6 Apr 1748 (his monnent says "April 1748"); went to Wilkes
co., N.C. where he was amongthe earliest to make a land entry in 1778,
and was a Lieutenant in the Rev. War. He was badly wounded at Kings Mt.
and was a cripple the rest of his life. After the Warhe also went to
So. Carolina, Georgia and finally settled in Lincoln co. TN. He d.
in Giles co. TN9 Jul 181h. Larkin m. Erances . A Larkin Cleve­
land appears on some records of Bedford co. VAin 1775 (Ct. Ord. Bk.
5; PP. 26, 1110)

9. Patty or Patsy - m. James Smith 9 Nov 1775. Orange co., VA?1

It should be noted that somesources list the b.d. of Patty as 1750 and
Reuben1752 bt the above order (with the exception of the omitted Larkin)
is as they are given in John's will. I have also seen a source listing
Larkin's birth as 1756.

Of the other children of Alexander Cleveland, Sr. given in the Abingdon
Parish Register:

(1) nothing is known of the Benjamin born in 1721.

(2) William, b. 1718, was amongthe citizens of Albemarle co. signing a dec­
laration of IndependenceApril 21, 1779, but apparently lived later in
Loudoun co. VA22and had a wife Nancy and a dau. Dorcas; d. 1787/8.

(3) Wehave already seen that Grace (b. 1716) md. Edward Coffey the son of
Edward. They lived in the Albemarle-Orangeco. area, at least for a time.

EdmundJ. Cleveland does not list Benjaminor Grace as children of this
Alexander but does list Jeremiah, Elizabeth, and perhaps Micajah. This Jeremiah
had a son Jacob and it may be he who is mentioned in the Albemarle county deeds.9
I have no record on Micajah and it is uncertain if he belongs here so I will not
discuss him further.

That brings us to Elizabeth who Cleveland says was born about 1704~16 and

married Rev. James Coffey. However, since the latter was born in 1729 it would
seemthat Elizabeth could not be as old as he says. Since all the other dates
for this family given by Cleveland seem to be wrong there is no reason to believe
this one would be correct. But whydo not the names of Elizabeth and Jeremiah
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appear in the AbingdonParish Register? This is because they were born after the
family left Gloucester county and movedto Spottsylvania county and we have no
record of births there. Thus Elizabeth might have been born about 1726 or 1727
or as late as 1730 as some have suggested. (Note that in chapter 5 we have shown
that there is one possibly good record that gives the date as February 1727).

There is another Cleveland that does not appear in either EdmundCleveland's
book or the AbingdonParish Register but nevertheless probably belongs here.
This is Jane Cleveland whomarried Chesley Coffey. The reader should turn to
chapter 7 for additional information on this couple and their descendants but
for nowI will simply say that I amplacing her birth as occurring about 1725.
This date fits an open spot in the list of AlexanderSr.'s children and would
makeher about the right age to marry and have the children attributed to her in
chapter‘7.

This just about accounts for all of the Clevelands in the records of the
counties around Orange and Albemarle except for a John whodied in Albemarle
county in 1786.23 He sold 259 acres in Albemarle to Edward Johnson December 13,
177h, witnessed by Alexander Cleveland.2u At present I have no idea whothis
John was because all other John Clevelands we know about moved elsewhere and died

later. If he was the John son of Roger (h. before 1678), he would be at least
108 at the time of his death. Perhaps he was a son of William (1718), Benjamin
(1721), Jeremiah (1723) or Micajah. The latter supposedly had two sons named

John.1 Weshould also not rule out Alexander and Margaret as his parents.
In order to bring somesort of logical conclusion to this lengthy discussion

I suggst that Chart 6 might explain what I believe to be the true Cleveland gene­
alogy at least as far as I can derive it with the information I have.

It will thus be seen that Elizabeth Cleveland is a daughter of Alexander
Cleveland (as her son Rice gives it25) and a granddaughter of Roger Cleveland.
She is thus an aunt of our Colonel Benjamin Cleveland (not a sister as some have
said). Also, she would be an aunt to the Clevelands who went from Albemarle county
to Kentucky(children of her bother Alexander).

Using these dates we would find that Alexander Sr. (b. 1687), who if he died
in 1770, was only 83 years old, not 111 as related by manydescendants. Alexander

Jr. (b. 1712) died at age 64 (1776) and his brother John at Blue Run, Orange county
(b. 1714) was also 6# (d. 1778). Also manyof the other Clevelands previously men­
tioned as having died between age 90 and 100 were probably somewhat less. I am

reminded of the saying, "the palest ink is better than the strongest memory."
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Anearly Cleveland, still unplaced, is William Clgiggland whogave his power
of attorney in 1724 in Essex county. Another unplaced one is the Robert "of
Fauquier county“ who leased land in Prince William county on December 18, 1775.
Perhaps he is a son of William (1718) or Eli since both were in neighboring Loud­
oun county. The Alexander Cleveland whowitnessed two wills in Fairfax county
(Hill Bk. D) in 1777 must have been the son of Alexander and Margaret (Doolittle)
Cleveland.

It should finally be mentiond that an important source of Cleveland history
has been the Draper Papers.13 LymanDraper wrote to a lot of the Cleveland des­
cendants te get information for his Kings Mt. and other histories. He collected
a multitude of information, muchof it contradictory and based on tradition. How
he pieced it together to get his history leaves something to be desired. Anexami­
nation of his original papers together with other knownfacts can easily lead one
to different conclusions which I believe to be more correct.

To Draper's credit he does discredit the story of the supposedClevelan con­
nection with Oliver Cromwell. Since this has becomeso mucha part of Cleveland
history and tradition I feel compelled to makesomemention of it. As the story
goes a beautiful maiden in the palace of HamptonCourt by the nameof Elizabeth
Cleveland attracted the attentions of Oliver Cromwell,the CrownProtector, and a
son was born to them. Whenhe grew up he took his mother's name and wrote a book

"The Life and Adventures of Mr. Cromwell, Natural Son of Oliver Cromwell" which
was first published in 1731 (after his death) by the consent of his son. Several
researchers have concluded that it is a fictitious romanceand no evidence for
such a Cromwellian-Cleveland son exists. Be that as it may, Col. Benjamin Cleve­
land had a copy of the book and delighted in claiming his descent in this manner.

Other Clevelans did so as well and the story has becomelegend. I suspect that
Oliver Cleveland (son of Alexander Jr.) was namedfor the character in this book.
Suffice it to say here that the Roger-Alexanderdescent seems to be the correct one.
As to the English origin of the Clevelands weknowthat this family is an anceint
one, deriving its namefro a tract of land in the North Riding of Yorkshire.17



1.

P

C\D®\lG\U‘l

12.
13.

l4.

15.

16.

17.

18.

19.
20.

'21.

22.

23.
24.
25.
26.

89

NOTES AND REFERENCES

Cleveland, EdmundJames. The Genealogy of the Cleveland Families. 1899. Note especially Vol. 3, Chapt. 2
"Alexander Cleveland of Prince William County Virginia, and His Descendants."

Martin, George A. Virginia Cleveland Ancestor Discovered. Nat. Gen. Soc. Quart. Vol. 46 (3), Sept. 1958.

. Crozier, William A. Virginia County Records, Vol. I, Spotsylvania County 1721-1800. Baltimore: Genealog. Pub.
Co. 1971, p. 17.

. Mason, Polly Cary. Records of Colonial Gloucester, Virginia, Vol. II. 1948. Also, Vol. VI, p. 83 of Rappahan­
nock County Deeds, 1676-82.

. Minutes of the Council and General Court of Colonial Virginia. Vol. 58, p. 254­

. Orange County Virginia, Deed Bk. 1, pp. 13-19.

.‘Ibid, Bk. 3, pp. 115-117.

. Orange County Virginia, will Bk 3, p. l.

. Albemarle County Virginia, Deed Bk. 3, p. 226.

. Edwards, Morgan. Materials Towarda History of the Baptists in the Province of Virginia (Vol. 3 of a series).
So. Bap. Theol. Sem., Louisville, KY. Typed copy.

. Albemarle County Virginia, Deed Bk. 4, p. 415.
Albemarle County Virginia, will Bk. 2, pp. 345-6.
Chiefly the LymanDraper Papers, especially those of Kentucky and Kings Mountain.

Albemarle County Virginia, Rec. of Marriage Bonds, # 1, 1780-1805, p. 92.

I have no proof of this date. It comes from the files of R. Ivey Moore of No. Wilkesboro, N.C. who in turn
got it from a Mrs. Frank Westerman of Cincinnati, OH. It should also be noted that EdmundJames Cleveland
and much family tradition had John marrying Martha Coffey. However, Laurence Coffey in his ThomasCoffey and
His Descendants (generally considered a more authoritative source) lists John as marrying Elizabeth and
Martha 3Patsy) as marrying Joshua Stapp. The Stapp (Stepp) faily also has it this way.

In addition to the following reference a good account of this man can be found in Bailey, J.D. Commandersat
Kings Mountain. Gaffney, S.C.: Ed. H. DeCamp, Pub. 1926.
Draper, Lyman C. Kings Mountain and its Heroes. NewYork: Dauber & Pine Bookshops. 1929. First pub. at Cin­cinnati in 1881.
Guardian Bonds of Albemarle co., VA. John Cleavelsnd, orphan of Reubin put under guardianship of Jeremiah
Cleaveland on this date, Sec. David Gillaspy.
Gentry, Richard. The Gentry Family of America. Kansas City, MO. 1909, p. 42.
Family Group Record Archive sheet of Jeremiah Cleveland, at L.D.S. Genealogical Lib., Salt Lake City.

Knorr, Catherine L. Marriages of Orange County Virginia, 1747-1810. Pine Bluff, ARDuplicating Service, The‘
Perdue Co., 1959.
King. J. Estelle Stewart. Abstracts of Wills, Inventories and Administrations Accounts of LoudounCounty
Virginia, 1757-l800'(Will Books A-F.) Beverly Hills, CA1940. William w.d. 17 Oct 1787, w.p. 9 Jun 1788:
James, 3 Mar 1783 - 12 Sep 1791. See also Loudoun Co. VAwill Bk. C, p. 342 & Will Bk. D, p. 202. Some
discrepancies occur in the Abstracts. ­
Albemarle co. VAWill Bk. 3, p. 17.
Albemarle co. VADeed Bk. 8, p. 35.
Letter from Rice Coffey to his nephew, reprinted in Ray, worth S. Tennessee Cousins.
Hayes, Johnson J. The Land of Wilkes. Wilkesboro, N.C.: Wilkes Co. Hist. Soc. 1962.



O6CHART 6

GENEALOGY OF TPE CLEVELAND FAMILY

. ROGER CLEVELAND
Immigrant from England to Gloucester co., VAbefore 1670

—m. Dorcas or Dorothy
?

Johlfi» bef. 1678 Alexander - 1687 E11gaJeth - 1584

Elizabeth - 1698 m. Mary£5 Millie Presley

Alexander Jr. John GraLe William Benjamin Jerlmiah Jane Elizabeth Mic jaJ ?
1712 1714 1716 1718 1721 1723 1725 1727

m. Margaret m. Elizabeth m. Edward m. Mary m. Chesley m. James Children:
Doolittle Coffey Coffey ? ~ Coffey Coffey Micajah

(see Chapt.3) (see Chapt.7) (see Chapt.5) John or Jack
Lived & died in I John
Orange co. VA- Dorcus Jacob Reuben Jeremiah Sally
Most of children 1739 l7hl 1743 Nancy
went to N.C. & S.C.

m. Milly White
Moved to Albemarle
co. - most of child­
ren went to Kentucky F’ ,

Mary "Benjamin John Elizabeth Robert Reuben Jeremiah Larkin Patty or Patsy
1736 1738 1740 (Betty) 1744 1746 1748 1750

m. Bernard m. Mary m. Mollie 1742 m.(l)Aley m. Mary m. Frances m. James
Franklin Graves McCann m. David Mathis Gentry ? Smith

Gillaspie (2)Sally | |
Johnson 13 12

children children

I I I I I I '

E1i~a Mary Anca or Milly Alexander John Oliver Ann James Elizabeth William Martha
1734 1736 Ankey 17 0 174A 1746 l7b8 1751 1753 17 5 1757 176A

1738

m. Mr. m. Mr. m. Mr. m. Sara Ann m. Elizabeth m. John m, John m. Margaret m.Bernard
Johnson Wood Henry 7 Mc Williams Hazelrigg Mc Williams Williams Franklin

?

8 This date and others for this family are from a Family Group Record Archive sheet at the L.D.S. Genealogical Library, Salt Lake City.



CHAPTER 7

KISSIN’ cousINS- OXTHEP COFFE_YS

IN VIRGIN]/_\_AND NORTH CAROLINA_
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"Great families of yesterday we show,
And lords whose parents were

the Lord knows who."
. . .Daniel Defoe
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At this point in our story I believe it helpful, primarily for the benefit

of future Coffey researchers whomight read this, to discuss somewhatthe other
Coffeys who were contemporaries of those on our line. As everyone who has done
muchfamily searching knows, it is necessary to separate one's ownline from
others of the same name that occur in the same place and same time period. In
the process of doing this I have accumulateda great deal of data on other
Coffeys, particularly in Colonial Virginia and North Carolina, that I think should
be shared with others. A complete account is not intended since the main purpose
of this book is to give an account of one main line and those closely related to
it, and manyCoffeys appear in the records for whomit is difficult to assign a
family line. However,a few family lines appear rather frequently and members
of these lines have been confused with those of our line. Thus it seems necessary
to set the record straight, at least to the extent of our present knowledge.

Early Immigrants

It appears that there mayhave been a nuber of Coffey immigrants to Virginia
during colonial times, and at present we have no way of knowing if or howthey
might have been related. Several individuals by the nameof Coffey (with variant
spellings) reached Virginia in the 16005and 1700s as indentured servants. Those

whopaid for their importation received land grants. Someof the importees in­
clude an Alice Coffei (NewKent co., 1673). another Alice Coffel (NewKent co.,
1691), me. Coffeyz (Nansemond/Is. of Wight co., 1711), Charles Coffeez (King 8:
Queen co., 1711+),and Edward Coffeyz (Is. of Wight co., 1726). In addition to in­
dentured servants there were also many bonded servants who came to America from

English prisons. I have only found one Coffey (Peter) whocame to Virginia in
this manner(see later).

About 1683 the name of AbrahamCoffee appears on a vestry petition3 in New
Kent county. I knowof no further reference to him and this is an unusual name
for a Coffey. The only other mention of an Ahaham Coffey before 1800 that I have

seen is one born in Virginia in 1797.4 He was a son of a William Coffey Sr., born
(apparently in Virginia) in 1763. Most of this line went to Logan county Ohio with
some then going to Rock Island county Illinois and a few on to Iowa. A brother of

William sz-.5 was John who married Rachael Pidgeon December 8, 1784 in Loudoun

county Virginia. His Virginia connections are better knownsince he was a Quaker.6
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He seems to originally have come from Loudoun county but moved to Bedford county
in 1788. There are several records of him there. In 1805 he and family movedto
Belmont county Ohio. *

A Timothy Coffey died. April 1, 1728 in Spotsylvania county-7 He left his en­
tire estate to a friend, AdamGordon, whowas also the executor. It does not
seem that he would be closely linked to our family.

It might be useful at this point to say a few words about the spelling of U
the nameCoffey since there seems to be so manyvariant spellings. It should be
apparent from what we have said in chapter two on the origins of the family that
the namedid not arise from the beverage coffee, bt rather from the English ren­
dering of an Irish namethat soundedlike it. The spelling -ee must surely have ’
comeabout by association with the better knownbeverage and also due to the un­

educated status of the masses whospelled by sounds almost exclusively. In the
United States we generally find that those going to the south have spelled the

name -ee and those to the north -ey. However, because I am convinced that the ?
true and original spelling was -ey, I shall use that spelling henceforth except
whenquoting from a record that has it otherwise. '

Peter Coffey

The only other immigrant for which we have a definite record is a Peter
Coffy who came from Newgate (England) to Virginia on the ship "Forward Galley"
which sailed October 28, 1730 an arrived on the Potomackin January 1731.8

This Peter was apparently one of those taken from Newgateprison and shippped to .
the Colonies to atone for their crimes by penal servitude in the plantations.
Lest anyone think he was somesort of heinous criminal let us rememberthat it
was commonthen to put a person in prison for stealing a loaf of bread! Gener­

ally they served for 7 years but a notation in his record says 1b years. It *seems quite possible, if not probable, that this maybe the Peter Coffey who

settled in Prince Edward county. However, the two most commonaccounts of this
family usually say that (1)"Peter and Joshua Coffey, brothers, camefrom Ireland

in 1750 and settled in Prince Edward county Virginia.9 Each had a son namedJohn *
and both becamegenerals in the war of 1812;" 9; (2)"Peter and Susannah Coffey
camefrom Ireland in 1750 and brought at least several of their children with them."

The best knownson, Joshua, is usually quoted as being born in Ireland in 17#5.

However, the OverwhartonParish Register in Old Stafford county Virginialo mentions ’
children born (presumably there) in the early 1740s and a marriage in 1745. There
are somediscrepancies between these children and those mentioned in the will of

Peter (Prince Edwardcounty Will Be. 1, p. 132 - w.d. 1 Jan. 1771), but similari­

ties suggest they are the samefamily, having been in Stafford county before going ,
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to Prince Edward. A book dealing with this line11 prints the will of Peter and
then makesa list of the children whichdoes not take the will into consideration.
AlthoughI have not investigated this line extensively I feel the evidence indi­
cates the following maybe the approximate truth, at least a good point of depar­
ture for further research:

Peter Coffey came from Ireland by way of England in 17301 probably as a
bonded or indentured servant. He married Susannah probably soon after
coming to Virginia. They lived during the early 1740s (and probably the 1730s)
in Stafford county, movingto that portion of Amelia county that later became
Prince Edwardcounty, perhaps by 17b5. Peter received a Virginia Land Patent of
220 acres in Amelia county September 20, 17#8. One daughter, Mary, was born in
the early 1730s. She married James Kendall February 25, 17h5 and they had the
following childrenzm Jesse, b. 19 Jan 1747, d. 17 Apr 1750; John, b. 26 Feb 1749;
Jess, b. 20 Sep 1752; and Bailey, b. 8 Oct 1755. '

I Daughters born during the 1730s probably included Catherine whomarried a

Thomas, Hannahwhomarried a Weakly, and Elizabeth (Bettie), probably not married.
There was also a son Hilliam and a daughter Frances born before 17#1 (the latter
died January 17h1). Other children were James, born February 27, 1740; Lydia,
born January 25, 17h2; Benjamin, born October 9, 1743; Joshua, born January 26,
17h5, and Peter, evidently born after Joshua. William was probably born by 1734
since he is on the 1755 list of tithables for Prince Edwardcounty. However,
Peter and Peter Jr. are also listed. If Peter was younger than Joshua then ac­
cording to mycalculations Peter Jr. wouldbe less than 10 years old. Either he
was much older than Joshua or perhaps the Peter whomarried Susannah was a junior
and his father, a Peter Sr., camewith them from Ireland. (I believe the first
option is morenearly correct).‘

Extensive information is available for only 2 of these children, Joshua and
Peter, although there is somedata relating to William (see later). Peter married
Sarah Smith in 177h, fought in the Revolutionary War (Private, 12th Virginia Regi­
ment), and eventually went to Hancock county Georgia where he died. They had 7

girls, a son Joshua whonever married, an a son John (b. 3 Dec 1782, d. 25 Sep
1836) who married Ann Penelope Dyan (178h-1865). This John was a general of the
State troops of Georgia in the Warof 1812and later rather prominent in that
state (see picture). Coffey county Georgia was namedfor him in appreciation of
his service against the Creek Indians.8 Hewas in the state legislature and twice

8elected to congress, dying on the day of his second election.

The other son, Joshua married Elizabeth Graves in Hanover county June 2 (or
August 11), 176712 (she was born January 28, 1751 (or 1741)12 in Hanover county
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Virginia and died in 180k in Davidson county Tennessee). A Joshua Coffey appears
as a plaintiff in a court case in Pittsylvania countyVirginia in 1772. It is not
knownif this is the same Joshua. Joshua lived in Prince Edwardcounty until
1775 when he moved13to Granville county North Carolina. He enlisted in the War
in 1779, was captured by Indians, and did prison labor at Detroit. Aided by a
trader's wife he escaped and in 1780 was made a captain commandinga company of

mounted gunners (North Carolina Militia) in the Southern Campaign(D.A.R. # 3930).
After this conflict he movedto Rockinghamcounty where he died September 8,

1797.12 Only 2 children, John and Mary are mentioned in the will but the follow­
ing is supposedly a more complete list:

ThomasGraves, b. 4 Sep 1769 (some say 7 Dec 176# but his parents weren't mar­
ried until 1767); :1. 5 Sep 18%; m. 10 Jul 1787 Mary Knight (1770-1832).

William. b. 20 Sep 1768. '

Elijah, b. 15 Oct 1770.
John, b. 2 Jun 1772: d. 7 Jul 1833, Lauderdale co. AL; n. 3 Oct 1809 Mary Donal­

son.

Mary, b. 17 Aug 1774; d. 28 Apr 1839, Rutherford co., TN; m. 1792 Simpson Harris

Tho General John Coffeys: left, John, son of Joshua and friend of
AndrewJackson; right, John, son of Peter and Georgia statesman.
(Drawings made from oil paintings)
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According to somerecords there was another son (but perhaps a grandson),
Joshua M., born September 27, 1789 whomarried January 29, 1810 Jane Trousdale
and went to Smith county Tennessee in the early 1800s.‘ He is on the 1820 census
of Smith county as is a David Coffey, somewhatolder.” Joshua died in Warren
county Tennessee in 18#2.15 Joshua M., Abner, David and Pleasant B. Coffey are
supposed to be brothers. David died in 1822 and Pleasant is on the 1820 census

of Overton county Tennessee. Abner and wife Christianna probably remained in
Prince Edward county. All four are apparently sons of William (son of Peter) who
probably lived in both Prince Edwardand Buckinghamcounty Virginia16 or at
least he ownedland in the latter.

Someof the children of Joshua and Elizabeth went to Tennessee. The one of

most interest to us is John. He , like his cousin John of Georgia, rose to rank
of General in the War of 1812. However, this John was more famous. He was a

comrade in the war and lifelong friend of AndrewJackson,17 whose niece, Mary
Donelson, he later married. John Coffey and AndrewJackson were early business
partners.18 Theyhad a fleet of flat boats that traded up and downthe Cumberland,
Ohio, and Mississippi Rivers. As early as 1798 we find John Coffey moving salt
from the Illinois Saline (an area later to becomeSaline county) downthe Mississippi
River. John was a Colonel of the Tennessee volunteers and with Jackson in the Creek
War, his incursions into Florida, and the famous Battle of NewOrleans in the War
of 1812.13 Manyauthors have extolled the heroics, loyalty and integrity of this
John Coffey (see picture on preceding page).

After the WarJohn Coffey, whowas a surveyer by trade, settled on a large
plantation knownas "Hickory Hill" in Florence, Lauderdale county, Alabamawhere
he died in 1833.8 He is buried in the Coffey cemetery 3 miles north of Florence.
Rice Coffey (see chapter 5) wrote his nephewthat he was a cousin of Gen. John

Coffey. I'm not sure if this was supposed to be through the Graves or Ceffeys but
in either case they were not more than "kissin' cousins", somegenerations removed.
It was commonto refer to someoneas cousin even though the blood lines were thin,
or even supposed, as was probably the case here. In the early 1920s whenLaura

McFarland Thompsonwas living at Adams, Oregon with her grandparents, James B.

and Mary E. Coffey, she used to write letters for James B. to Dr. Robert Coffey
of Port1and.2O James B. told her that Dr. Coffey was a cousin. An investigation
of this showsthat they were actually only #th cousinstzi

Thoas Coffey also went to Tennessee and then to Lauderdale county Alabama.
He had a son, Richard S. Coffey whomarried Sarah Fielder.22
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Chesley Coffey

Another line which has caused muchconfusion is the one which I shall call

the Chesley-Joel line. There were manylarge families in this line and today
manydescendants are researching it. Because of this, and since it is not my
line I will not go into great detail but rather give only someof the early
branches where confusion with the Edward-John-Jamesline might be more likely to
occur. Beyondthis I refer the interested reader to other researchers23 and es­
pecially an essay on the family written by TimothyPeterman (see later reference).

As mentioned, there were manylarge families in this line in early Ameri­
Each family used a lot of the same names and thus it is sometimes

difficult to untangle all of them. Fortunately there are someearly Bible and
other family records, and a few wills, all of which help immensely. MaryPorter

Her husband, Calvin

Reese Porter, is the great grandson of Nathan Coffey and Sarah Meredith, this Nathan
being the son of Joel Coffey and Martha Step, and Joel the son of Chesley Coffey

can times.

2k

and Jane Cleveland. ,

The information back to Nathan seems documented by an old Bible.
the material on Joel Coffey-Martha Step, and Chesley Coffey-Jane Cleveland was
written downby a daughter of Nathan and Sarah (Eliza Emeline Coffey Porter) about
1&95,presumab1y from older records which she had.25

A DARrecord26 has always listed Joel as born 1730 and married in 1753 to

Martha Sealey who was born in 1737. However, their youngest son Nebuzaradon, born

posthumously in 1789 would thus have been born when Martha was 52 years old.
Several possible explanations have been proposed: (1) Joel married Martha Sealey
who died and then he married Martha Step; (2) Joel married a widow by the name of
Mrs. Martha Step Sealey; (3) Sealey was a nickname for Celia which was a middle
name of Martha; (#) Joel was really much younger, being born circa 1750.
moreof these possibilities could exist.

It has been suggested that a son ‘Josephwhois not listed in Joel's will27 of
1789 but is on the list of children given by Eliza Porter, could have been born to
the first wife and died before the will was made. Also, this Joseph is reported
to have gone to Kentucky quite early and was supposedly older so he might have al­
ready been provided for and perhaps thus not be listed in the will. Of course,
even if there was only one wife Joseph could have died early. Martha Step's father
was namedJoseph so it is quite logical that the first son could have also been

28 One of the daughters of Joel and Martha was named Celia but re­

However,

One or

Let us examine them.

named Joseph.

-F»
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ferred to as "Sealy" in Joel's will. This maybe where the name"Sealy" originated.
I have not been able to find any Sealy family in any county where the Coffeys lived
in either Virginia or North Carolina. Whathave generally been identified as‘Joel's
brothers appear to have all been born mostly in the 1750s and none later than 1760.
It has been suggested that Joel could have been born in 1730 and been the father of
those listed here as his brothers. However,a family recordzu says that Joel's
son James married Betsy, daughter of his uncle (Nathan). Thus Nathan (1760) at
least would have to be a brother of Joel. TimothyPeterman ably discusseszg other
evidence which points to them as brothers. Space does not permit me to go into
detail here but suffice it to say that the evidence I have seen leads meto believe
that Joel was born closer to 1750. probably 17u5-#8, married (1765-68) Martha
Step (b. abt 1750, d. 1816), whomay have had a middle name of Celia (Sealy), and
their children were born mostly in the 1770s and 1780s. Although the sequence may
not be correct, the following seemsto be the list24 of their children:

Joseph - mayhave died young, but there is a Joseph Coffey on the early tax
records of Adair co., KY.

Cleveland - prob. b. by 1768 since he was namedan executor of his father's
will in 1789: d. 29 Oct 181%. Adair co., KY; m. 11 Feb 179# Jane Witherspoon,
Wilkes co., N.C.; children: Kitty,'George, Hhphrey, Elijah (b. 1806 Adair
co. KY), Halton, Lincy, & Cleveland (all under age when father died). An
indenture in Russell co. 30 May1836 inicates a dau. Patsey but no mention
of Kitty or Liney.

Catherine (Caty) - prob. namedfor her mother's mother, Katherine Nitherspoon.
James - b. 13 Mar 177h (one acct. has James b. 1783 and his wife b. 1791 & d.

1837, Jackson co., AL): d. 15 May 1826; m. # Mar 180# Elizabeth (Betsy)
Coffey (dau of Nathan & Mary Saunders Coffey, Nathan stated to be an uncle
of James), Adair co. KY.: children: Langston, Logan, William, Hoodson,
Cleaveland, Wyatt, &Lucy.

Joel - d. 18h9; m. abt 1815 Martha Patricia Cobb.
Jane - prob. the one whomd. Joel Coffey (son of Nebuzaradan) Aug 1793, Wilkes

co., N.C.
Celia (Sealy) - m. Fielding Coffey (prob. son of Nebuzaradan) 3 Mar 1800 - bond

dated 10 Mar, Madison co., KY. She was stated as being over 21.
Nathan (or Nathaniel) - b. 10 Jan 1788; d. 19 Sep 1834: m. 11 Nov 1806 Sarah

Meredith, Adair co., KY.
Nebuzaradan - b. 29 Aug 1789, Wilkes co., N.C.; d. 20 Jan 1867, Marion co., OR;

m. 11 Sep 1810 Elizabeth Easley, KY

Joel apparently lived in the King's Creekarea of Hilkes county.30 It's in­
teresting that this is the general area wheremyArchelaus Coffey bought land.

_ Sometimeafter Joel's death the mother and children movedto Kentucky, first
Madisonand then that part of Green county that becameAdair county and still later
Russell county. Soc of the children later went to Illinois, and the younseht son,
Nebuzaradan, and his family were Oregonpioneers (see chapter 13). Elijah Coffey31
says the first move to Kentucky was in 1794 but I do not find them on the Madison

county tax 11sts32 until 1796. The first Coffeys of this family appear on the
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Green county tax 1ists33 in 1799 but somedo not appear until 1800.
Nowlets return to the family of Joel Coffey. Eliza Porter states25 that his

parents were Chesley Coffey and Jane Cleveland. As far as I know no one has
found a record of this early Chesley or of a Jane Cleveland. The latter seems
obviously related to the Cleveland family of Virginia3u and later Wilkes county
North Carolina (see chapter 6), and tradition seems to have the Joel Coffey
family coming from (probably) Albemarle county Virginia35 to North Carolina in an
early day, perhaps in the 1750s or by 1760. If Joel was born closer to 1750 per­
haps Chesley may have been born around 1730. The latter could then, as has been
suggested, be a son of Edward or Austin Coffey, brothers of the John Coffey who

married Jane Graves. Supposedly Edward (who could have been born32s early as
1700) married Grace Cleveland and Austin married a Miss Shenault. However,
Grace Cleveland was a witness to a deed in Orange county in 173k so apparently
hadn't married Edward Coffey early enough to be the mother of Chesley. Also, she
wasn't born until 1716 (see chapter 6). Weknowlittle about the early life of
Edward: perhaps he could have been married before Grace. As we saw in chapter 3
he is in Orange and Albemarle counties in the 1750s to 1770s and had a short stay
in Ansoncounty North Carolina (1751—2). This might establish the close relation­
ship of EdwardCoffey to the Chesley-Joel line, but we don't have adequate infor­
mation to makethis connection and dates do not coincide as well as need be. Per­

haps a number of our dates are somewhatoff and perhaps there is something in­
correct about the Chesley Coffey-Jane Cleveland information. 0f course it is
possible that this line is entirely separate from the Edward-John-Jamesline but
there seems to be so manyconnections, in Virginia, North Carolina, and Kentucky
that it is difficult to imagine them not related. TimothyPetermanzg
out the manyclose parallels in the two lines.

also points

It has been suggested that Chesley Coffey could have been a son of an unknown
Coffey whomarried a Miss Chesley since the practice of using sir names for given
names in such cases was not uncommon. I have seen nothing to substantiate this

except that a Phillip Chesley and wife Margaret are mentioned in York county
Virginia court records January 25, 1674and Phillip is mentionedeven earlier
(166#) in connection with his land patent in James City county. Also a Dan Ches­
ley is mentioned?7

The children of Chesley and Jane appear to be as follows:29

1. Joel - b. 1730 (DAB)9; more probably abt. 1745-H8, in Virginia (?); d.
bef. 27 Jul 1789, Vilkes co., N.C.: m. 1765-68 Martha Step (Sealey of DAR
rec.); served in Rev. War.

2. Salathiel - b. abt 1750-55; d. bef. 28 Jul 178”, Vilkes co., N.C.; m. bef.
1773 Elizabeth .
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3. Chesley Jr. - b. 19 Nov 1755: d. 18 Sep 1818, Maury co., TN: m. bef. 1730
Margaret Baldwin.

H. Nebuzaradon - b. 1757 (or earlier); d. 1797. Madison co.; KY; m. abt 1780
(tradition) Elizabeth Hays; pvt., N.C. Militia in Rev. War. If his son
Joel was the one who md. Jane Coffey in Wilkes co., N.G. 22 Aug 1793 then
Nebuzaradon must have md. several years before 1780.

5. Nathan - b. 1760 (or earlier), Rowanco. (?) - DARLineage recs. say Anson
co., N.C.: d. 1823, Jackson co., AL; m. late 1770s Mary Saunders.

6. (Perhaps) Cleveland 3; Jesse Cleveland and/or other undetermined Coffeys.
Salathiel died (bef. 28 Jul 1789) intestate in Wilkes county and although

his wife is namedin the administration38 of the estate, no children are named.
His wife and children moved to Adair county Kentucky29 about 1799-180139 (Green
county at the time) and somechildren later went to Illinois. The children and
someother descendants are apparently the following:u°

1. Newton‘”- b. 1773, Wilkes co., N.C. (Surry co. at that time); d. 1858; m.
1802 Sarah Meridith: went to Bond & Montgomerycounties, IL by 1818 where
he founded the town of Hillsboro; children: Cleveland Salathiel, Martha
(Patsey), Ruth Eliza, ThomasL., Colbert L., Nancy, and Murry.

2. Eli - b. 8 May 1775; d. 18 Jul 1833: m. 22 Mar 180142 Mary Coffey, dau of
Nathan (1760), Green co., KY;movedto Sangamon then Shelby, then Christian
co., IL: 12 children: Mariah, Uillis, Elizabethh” (b. 14 Aug1807: d. 21
Jan 1891: m. 19 Dec 1826 Jacob Wolford, Russell co., KY)h Nancy, Salathiel,Sirena, Nathaniel J., Stanton 1=.. w1111ams., NewtonEli 3 (b. 2 May 1823;
d. 1890; m. 13 Apr 1843 Martha Vermillion), Mary Ann, and Reuben.

3. Elizabeth "Graney" Coffey - b. 1781-4; m. 17 Mar 1801 Rutherford Coffey
(son of Nathan, 1760), Green co., KY.

#-6. Possible children mayhave been James, Richard, and alathiel, the latter
b. 1781 & m. 25 Oct 1808 Polly Fair in Adair co., KY. 5

Chesley is the only one of the 5 known sons of Chesley Sr. for whomwe have
exact birth and death dates. He and his wife Margaret Baldwin were married before
1780 and are on the 1782 tax list of Wilkes county. They had 9 children as follows:

1. Nathan - b. 13 Aug 1780; m. (1) 3 Mar 1806 Elizabeth Gilbreath (or Kilbcreath),
Adair co., KY, (2) Euphy Stockard.

2. Polly - m. John McClain.

3. Isaac - murdered in 1799 as a young boy.

#. Gracie - b. 1782; d. 13 Jan 1559; m. 12 Dec 1802 Andrew Turnbow, Adair co. KY

5. John - m. 29 Mar 1809 Sallie Brown, Adair co., KY.

6. Fbliciau6- b. 3 Mar 1787; d. 18 May 1865: n. 21 Aug 1811 James Turnbow,
Maury co., TN.

7. Joel (Joe) - b. 15 Jun 1789; n. Sallie Mackey; see chapt. 13 for more on this
family which came to Oregon in an early day.

8. Jacob (Jake) - n. Annie Kelsey.
9. Landon - b. 1794; m. 15 Mar 1821 Polly Tate.

This family movedafter 1795“7 to Knoxville, Tennessee29 and were in Adair

county Kentucky by 180248 and possibly as early as 1799.u9 Chesley had gone to
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Maury county Tennessee by 180950 but he an some of the children are on the Adair
county census of 1810.
settle in Maurycounty tennessee.

However,it seems that most of the family did finally
At least Nathan and Landon are on the 1850

census of Maury county.

H373 9

The next child of Chesley and Jane was Nebuzaradon. He married Elizabeth

probably before 1780, and went to Madison county Kentucky about 1794.51
Here he made a will52 and died in 1797. By 1801 his family joined the other re­
latives in Adair county.53 Accordingto the will his children were:

1.

2.

Joel - m. 22 Aug1793 (if this is the Joel-Jane marr. in Wilkes co.N.C.)
Jennie Coffey (prob. Jane, dau of Joel); d. 1822-6; Child: James, 1800, Celia
Sary (Sarah) - It is sometimes claimed that this might be the Sarah whomd.
James Coffey in Wilkes co. N.C. 30 Aug 1794 but that Sarah is also claimed
to be a dau. of Benjamin (see chapt. 4).
Polly - m. Jo McDowell Mcmillian. —

Fielding - d. w.d. 1# Nov 1833, w.p. 13 Jan 1834: m. 13 Mar 1800 (bond dated
10 Mar) Celia (Sealy) Coffey, Madison co. KY. She is prob. the Celia, dau
of Joel; children: ThomasH., Mahala, Elizabeth, Sealy, Fielden, Louis, and
Allen.
Sail (Sale or Salathiel) - d. bef. Oct 1835; m. 19 Aug 1813 Anna Lynch
(dau. of William Lynch), Pulaski co.. KY.
Nias (Ananias) - 1785-1828: m. 1809 Jane Hindman.5u

Hayes55- 1793-1860 ; m. Mary Burkett.

Betsy - m. 14 Dec 1819 James Lester, Pulaski co., KY.
Ruth - m. 15 Jan 1800 (bond dated 7 Jan) Anrew Moody, Madison co., KY.
She was stated as being over 21, another indication that Nebuzaradonwas
md. bef. 1780. '

Son, Zidner, b. 1810

Other possible children are Louis (1793-1860) whomd. Cassey Coffey (1798-?)
and a James Coffey.

Perhaps the fifth child of Chesley and Jane was Nathan, born 1760 (or earlier).
He was also a Revolutionary soldier and is knownto have married Mary Saunders,
probably before 1780. Their children were as follows (some birthdates may be sev­
eral years off):

1:‘

2.

3.

Mary (Polly) - b. 7 Dec 1780: d. 10 Mar 1872: m. 22 Mar 1801 (consent note
dated 12 Mar, bond dated 17 Mar) Eli Coffey, son of Salathiel. Green co. KY.
She signed her ownconsent note and testified that she was over 21.
Rutherford - b. 1786 (tradition, but prob. 1779 or earlier - maybe older
than Mary): m. 17 Mar 1801 Elizabeth "crahey" Coffey, dau of Salathiel (one
record says he md. Celia Coffey; there may have been 2 Rutherfords).
Absolom - b. 1788; m.29 (1) Mary Lusk, (2) Nancy Chadwick, but unless there
is another Absolem the same age, then he md. Polly Beard 20 Sep 1808 in
Adair co. KY.
Joel - b. 3 Aug 1790; d. 1850; n. 5 Jan 1818 Mary Knox (1798-1878), dau of
John Knox. In marr. bond Joel's name is given as Joseph. They had dau. Eli­
zabeth (1827-62) who m. in 1888 John C.C. Peacock (DARLin.Ek. 77.p. 53-4).

to
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5. Elizabeth - b. 1791 1’; d. 1837, Jackson co., AL; m. 1+Mar 1804 James Coffey
(b. 1774 or 1783 ?, son of Joel), Adair co. KY.

6. Grace - b. 1793; m. 29 Oct 1809 John Harlow, Adair co., KY.

7. William Saunders - b. 1795; m. Elizabeth Scheyler (or Schuyler).
8. Nancy - b. 1797: m. 15 Feb 1823 Richard Lockett, Adair co., KY.
9. Catherine - b. 1799; m. John Baxter. ’

There is also an Appleton mentioned by some but perhaps this was meant to be
Absolom.

This family also went to Kentuckyand settled primarily in the Adair county
area. Somelater went further south. Nathan died in Jackson county Alabamain
1823.

There were probably other children of Chesley and Jane. Wedo not know of
any girls but there mayhave been a son Cleveland, or Jesse Cleveland. There is
more than one Cleveland Coffey in the Wilkes county area in the late 1700s. It
is probable that at least one belongs to the Edward-Johnline, possibly as a son
of Benjamin and Polly Hayes (see chapter 4) or as a son of Edward Jr. and Grace

Cleveland (see chapter 3). Weshould also mention that there is a Cleveland Coffey
in the Orange and Albemarle county Virginia records from 1762 to 1791 (see chapter
3). His wife was namedElizabeth. A Cleveland Coffey did have a land entry in
1778 on Zacks Fork of Lower Creek in Burke county, N.C. bt we don't know which
Cleveland he is.

AnAdair county Kentucky Coffey that hasn't been identified is Richard, aged
26-#5 on the 1810 census. He is probably too young to be a son of Chesley Sr.,
but by association would seem to belong somewherein this family.
3 daughters were all under 10 in 1810. A Richard Coffey married Catherine Mc

Cormick May 29, 1820 in Lincoln county but he was probably a son of Osborn (see
Chart #-A, Chapter 4). ,

Another "mystery" Coffey is Martin. According to an old Bible record56 he

was born September 15, 1762 and either in Virginia or North Carolina.57 He ap­
pears in Green county Kentuckyas early as 1799 (tax list) and is on the Adair

county tax lists from 1802 to 1807. He is later found on records in Wayne,Warren,
and finally Russell county where he died November27, 1867, age 105. He is prob­
ably the Martin whomarried Nancy Phelps August 17, 1798 in Madison county Kentucky.

He married 2 or 3 times and one of the marriages was on December 1, 1817 to Nancy

Hansford. They had a son James, born September 7, 1818 whomarried Martha (Patsy)

Tucker. The latter were the parents of Moses Coffey, born August 6, 1843, who
lived in Casey county Kentucky.

His 2 sons and

Because of the close association in Madison, Green,
Adair and Russell counties it maybe that he belongs to the Chesley Coffey family,
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perhaps as a youngerbother of the 5 just discussed. I do not have a list of
the children of Joel (son of Nebuzaradon) and Jane (daughter of Joel, d. 1789)

but I understand that they had a son Martin.56 It is quite possible he could ‘M
have been namedafter an uncle. Of course if Joel and Jane married in 1793 and

this Martin was born in 1821 it might seema little unlikely. The latter Martin ’
died in Russell county in 1855, age 3h. Perhaps a different Martin married Mary ?
Meljuire on October 5, 1830. - flr

Hugh Coffey

Still another family for which there maybe someconfusion in the records is
the HughCoffey family.58 The origin of this family in America is also obscure.
A HughCoffey appears in the records59 of Northumberland county Virginia in 1705.

A history58 of this family indicates that Hughcameto Virginia about 1725 but if‘
this is the same Hughthen the earlier record must have been missed. Hughis
supposed to have initially settled around Harpers Ferry,6° but soon afterwards.
moving to Augusta county. Here he died before August 22, 1767. His son John who ,

married Susannah Watson, was born in Augusta county about 1730 and moved to Lan- I
caster county South Carolina about 1754.58 Hugh's wife was named Mary and they may '
also have had sons William and Benjamin.6O However. one or both of these might

be sons of John and Jane (Graves) Coffey of Albemarle county who could have spent
sometime there. At least it seems that the William mentioned as buying land in
Augusta in 1780 and as a land insolvent in 1792 must have been the William of Al­

bemarle-Amherst-Nelson counties (see chapter h); Hughis mentioned in the records60

of Augusta county as early as 1787. He had a land patent of 220 acres in “Cowpas-* 1
ture" received November3, 1750. His son John administered his estate and sold’
this land in 1767. ' 4

Succeeding generations of this family used the names of Hughand John over
and over. From South Carolina some descendants went to Tennessee (Hugh W., born ‘a

1800 in South Carolina, and wife Jane are in Maury county in 1850), but most seem

to have settled in the deep south and there are apparently thousands of descendants
there today. A HughCoffey, son of John, was born April 9, 1784 in South Carolina

and sometimeafter 1827 settled in Mississippi.61 He died in Lafayette county Mis- §
sissippi May7, 1861. To avoid confusion we should also mention the HughCoffey
living in Ansoncounty North Carolina in 1755. The John Coffey family in Lancaster
county South Carolina lived near the North Carolina border (Ansoncounty at that
time but nowMecklenberg county). They are said to have sometimes been in the rec­

ords of first one state and then the other. Presumably this Hugh(1755) was a
brother of John and another son of Hughof Virginia.
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James Coffey of Surry/Stokes North Carolina

In the early records of Surry county North Carolina (about 1779 or early
1780s) we find several references to a James Coffey whowas a constable. After
Stokes county was formed from Surry in 1789 further references are found there.
Others in Stokes county at this time include a Micajah Coffey and a Sarah Coffey.
James apparently had a son James who had a son Lewis M. (born 1798 in Stokes
county). The latter went to Pulaski county Kentucky where he married Delilah
Turpin January 11, 181862 (name is Leg; in marriage records). AmongLewis’ child­
ren was a son James Wilson, born in 1822. In 1827 the family moved to Morgan

county Indiana. A descendant, Leonard Coffey,lives in Martinsville, Morgancounty .
Indianatoday and has a great deal more information on this line. i

The original James of Surry county, N.C. came from Pittsylvania county Vir- ‘
ginia according to both Surry an Pittsy1vania63 county records. Since he has
not been connected otherwise a possibility exists that he maybe the son of An­
nister Coffey of Essex county Virginia (see chapter 3). This possibility is
strengthened by the fact that the 1820 census of Stokes county, N.C. has an Anis
Coffey whocould be namedfor a grandmother, Annister. All the Coffeys of Stokes
are apparently descendedfrom or closely related to the first James.

Other Coffeys

There remain a few other Coffeys in colonial Virginia and North Carolina
records, but tying themto specific family lines is difficult. In Rockingham
county, N.C. there is a Michael Coffey whomade a will in 180k (probated 1810).
He names wife Margaret; sons Michael, Robert, Thomasand John; and daughters
Sophia, Mary, and Margaret. I have no further information on this family. Some
other Coffeys appear in someeastern ad central counties of North Carolina but
since there is little likelyhood of confusing themwith the Wilkes-Brke Coffeys
I have not investigated them.

I would like to end this chapter with a mention of one James Coffey whowas

tornin Chester county Pennsylvania August 17, 1759. In this study I have paid
little attention to Colonial Coffeys in states other than Virginia and North
Carolina. However, this James Coffey has sometimes been confused with our family
so I will make a few comments about him. Wedo not know who his parents were.64
He was in the Revolutionary Waréjharried MaryLeeper, and later went to Marshall

county Tennessee where he died. There are Bible and DAR66records on the many

descendants of this family in Marshall county Tennessee. MaryMiller Coffey, great
aunt of Noreva H. Sharr of El Monte, California, was a descendant of this line.67



106

NOTES AND REFERENCES

1. Nugent, Nell Marion. Cavaliers and Pioneers. Abstracts of Virginia Land Patents and Grants. Vol. 2 Rich­
mond, VA:Press of the Diets Printing co. 1934, Baltimore 1963.

2. Ibid, Vol. 3.
3. Warner, ThomasHoskins. History of Old Rappahannock countyrVirginia, 1656-1692. Tappahannock, VA1965.
4. Lyman, Margaret E., Frances Coffee, and Helen Lindhorst. The Coffee-Coffey Family. Unpub. Family Hist.
5. Loudoun County VAmarr. rec., 1760-1892, from Fairfax Friends Monthly Meeting, Bk. of Marr. Cert., 1760-1892,p. 88.
6. Hinshaw, William Wade. Encyclopedia of American Quaker Genealogy, Vol. 6 - Virginia. Baltimore: Gen. Pub. )0.1973.

7. Crozier, William A. Virginia County Records, Vol. I, Spotsylvania County Records 1721-1800. Baltimore:
Gen. Pub. co. 1971.

8. Kaminkow,Marian and Jack. Original List of Emigrants in Bondage from London to the American Colonies,
1719-1744. Baltimore: Magna Carta Book Co. 1967. V

9. Harris, Jaes Coffey. The Personal and Family Histo of Charles Hooks and Mar aret MonkHarris. 1911.
10. OverwhartonParish Register, Old Stafford County, Virginia. pp. 11,12. (dates are 1741-45 for Coffeys.)
11. The Coffey Family, Descendants of Peter and Susannah Coffee in the Thomas Graves Coffey Line. No author orpub. listed.
12. Graves, John Card. The Graves Family in Virginia. Unpubl. manuscript in Grosvenor Library, Buffalo, N.Y.

Elizabeth was the dau. of Henry Graves who was a son of Ralph, the son of Ralph, the son of John, the son of
Thomas Graves of the Jamestown Colony. "

13. Letters of Gen. John Coffee to his wife (1815-16). Tenn. Hist. Mag. Dec. 1916.
14. Smith co. TN, U.S. Census 1820.
15. Acklen, Jeannett Tillotson. Notes FromTombstoneInscriptions and Manuscripts (Tennessee Records)
16. See Prince Edward co. Deed Bk. 13, p. 89, and Buckingham co. Pers. Prop. Tax lists 1783-1797.
17. James, Marquis. The Life of AndrewJackson. Bobbs-Merrill co. 1938.
18. Saline County - A Century of History, 1847-1947. Harrisburg: Saline Couty Hist. Soc. 1947.
19. Letter from Rice Coffey to his nephewJefferson Coffey in Ray, Worth S. Tennessee Cousins. Baltimore: Gen.

Pub. Co. 1980, orig. pub. 1950. p. 560,
20. Personal Communication from Laura McFarland Thompson.
21. ThomasCoffey, brother of our Rev. James was the 2 g. grandfather of Dr. Robert Coffey (see ThomasCoffey and

His Descendants),and Rev. James the 2 g. grandfather of James B.
22. Lewis, William Terrell. Genealogy of the Lewis Family in America. 1892. _
23. The Coffey Cousins Clearinghouse, c/o L.N. Coffey, 38 N. Outer Dr., Martinsville, IN 46151 maintains a list

of those working on various Coffey lines. Someof these individuals will be referred to later in this section.
24. Mrs. C.R. (Mary E.) Porter of El Reno, OK. She and husband Calvin Reese Porter have Bible rec. of Nathan

Coffey (son of Joel & Martha) & recs. written down by Eliza Emeline Coffey Porter (see Ref. # 25).
25. This is a history of Nathan Coffey written on blank pages of an old ledger which is now in the possession of

Calvin Reese Porter. In part it states "Nathan Coffey was son of Joel and Martha Step Coffey, was grandson
of Chesley and Jane Cleveland Coffey, natives of Virginia. But the grandparents removed to North Carolina in
an early day and settled on the Yadkin River where the parents of our subject was born and raised and married."

26. DARNo. 76141.

27. Wilkes co. N.C. Will Bk. 1, p. 260. Will dated 27 Apr 1789, probated 27 Jul 1789.
28. The definitive work on the Stepp family is "The Stepp/Stapp Families of America" by Henry P. Scalf, 1976 and

is the reference from which most of mymaterial comes. AbrahamStapp or Stepp, referred to in chapter 3 as
the father of Joshua who married Martha Coffey, also had a son Joseph, supposedly born 1690-1. He however
died in 1735 in Orange co. VA, too early to be the father of Martha, and supposedly died single anyhow.
Joshua &Martha (Coffey) Stapp had a son Joseph, prob. b. in the 1720s and thus the right age to be the
father of Martha. However, he is reported to have md. Elizabeth Lucas and is not known to have had a dau.
Martha. Eliza Porter's Bible recs. say that Joseph's wife was Katherine Weatherspoon. Thus this does not
seem to be the right Joseph either. Apparently the only other Joseph amongthe early Stapps is a grandson of

- Joshua &Martha through son John and his son James. This Joseph wasn't b. until 1757, a date probably later
than the b. of Martha. Wecan only conclude that Scalf's book is not complete on the Stapp-Stepp families,
a fact true of probably all early family histories. There were a numberof Stepps or Stapps in Wilkes co.
N.C. at the time Joel &Martha lived there. For example, the 1782 tax list has Thomas, Moses, and 2 James,
and the 1787 State census has Thomas & John. Early land entries show a James Stapp and James Stapp Sr.
in 1779. However, I did not find a Joseph Stepp there but a Joseph Stape had a land entry (# 1358) in Burke
co. "... between William & ThomasStapes line," Dec. 27, 1778. It appears that many of the Stapps moved tothe Wilkes-Burke co. area.

29. Correspondence from Timothy Peterman and his essay previously referred to.
30 Somepapers, source unknown, refer to him as "Joel Coffey of King's Creek."
31- Letters Vritten by Elijah Coffey 05 Liberty. Casey co., KY1873-4 to LymanDraper. He says he is a son of

Cleveland Coffey (comonly called Clifton) and Witherspoon and that Cleveland brought his mother & broth­
era & sisters to KY(lst Lincoln or Madison co., then Russell & Adair) in 1794. However, he has him coming
from Albemarle co. VA(not N.C. as it should be). He does say his grandfather was Joel Coffey & his g. grand­
mother was a sister of Col. Cleveland (the latter prob. incorrect but at least giving further evidence that
she was a Cleveland). These letters are in the Draper Kings Mt. Papers, 13 DD-128-31.

32. Madison co. KYtax lists (microfilm copy).



107

. Green co. KYtax lists (microfilm copy).

. Timothy Peterman (see Ref. # 29) thinks that she is likely a younger dau. of Alexander Cleveland Sr. In
absence of further evidence I tend to agree.

. This appears in the handwritten records of Eliza Porter and also in several letterswritten by Elijah Coffey
of Liberty, Casey co., KYin 1873-4 (see Ref. # 31).

. Coffey, Laurence H. Thomas Coffey and His Descendants. Chattanooga: Newell Sanders. 1931.

. Virginia land patents, Bk. 6, p. 201 & Bk. 8, p. 82.

. Wilkes co. Will Bk. 1, PP. 134 & 139.

. They appear in different years on Green co. tax lists, 1799, 1800, 1801.

. As Timothy Peterman points out (see Ref. # 29) we do not have proof that these are his children but the evi­
dence is quite convincing.
This is the line of Mrs. Truan (Ruby) Buck of Sacramento, CA.
Green co. KYMarr. Rec. The bond says Mary was over 21.

. He is the ancestor of Timothy E. Peterman of Kansas City, MO.

. She is the ancestor of Doris V. Miller of Barnard, MO.

. Marr. Rec. of Adair co. KY. Nameis misspelled as "Sabathial."

. The source of this information is Dorothy Marsh, Baxter Springs, KS. Felicia Coffey is her direct ancestor.

. Chesley is on various records of Wilkes co. from 1782-95.

. Gracie was md. there in 1802.
1799 & 1800 tax lists of Green co. KYshow son John Coffey already there.

. Adair co. KYDeed Bk. B, p. 397 says "Chesley Coffey of Tennessee ..."

. This is according to tradition. I could find none of the family on tax records there until 1796.

. Madison co. KYwill Bk. A. Will made 1 Oct 1796, probated 7 Mar 1797.

. Tax recs. of Madison & Green cos. KY.

. There is an "Annanias Coffee" (wf. Catherine) on the 1860 census of White co. TN. Mention is made of this
since this is an uncommonname and he was b. abt. the same time as Nebuzaradon’s Ananias; could they be the
same person?

. Ancestor of Marie Easton, Glendale, CA.

. Corres. from Mrs. James B. (Edith) Smith of Owensboro, KY, a descendant of Martin, b. 1762.

. The 1850 census of Russell co. KYsays born VA, the 1860 list N;§.

. Reed, Forrest F. A Reed Family in America. Nashville: Tenn. Bk. co. 1962., pp. 17-26.

. Fleet, Beverly. Virginia Colonial Abstracts, Vol. 19: Court Records of Northumberland County, p. 25.

. Chalkley, Lyman. Chronicles of the Scotch-Irish Settlement in Virginia. 3 Vols. Baltimore: Gen. Pub. Co. 1965.

. Coffey, Walker Jackson. Journal of A Journey.

. Marr. Bonds of Pulaski co., KY.

. Pittsylvania co. Ct. OR. Bks. 2 (82,312), 5 (336,390), & 6 (82). He appears as a plaintiff in these recs.
The dates are 1772, 1774, 1786, & 1788.

. A ThomasCoffey is on tax lists in Chester co. PA 1753-58 and thus is likely his father. There is also some
early mention of a James Coffey in the 1750s.

. DARPatriot Index, 1966, p. 141.

. Marshall co. TN, Bible & other Fam. Recs., recd. from Mrs Richard Frank, Brentwood, TN, Genealogical Records
chairman of the Tennessee DAR.

. Mary Miller Coffey, b. 9 Jun 1858, d. 11 Jun 1949, m. 18 Oct 1877 James Alexander Pope Neill. She was dau.
of Thomas Whitfield Coffey (b. 17 Mar 1824, TN, d. 6 Sep 1889, TN) & Malissa Davidson. Thomas W. was the
son of Thomas Coffey (b. 17 Jan 1788, d. 14 Nov. 1852) who md. Mary Jane Miller (1795-1882). Thomas Coffey
was the son of James Coffey (b. 17 Aug 1761 Chester co., PA, d. 20 Dec 1836 Marshall co. TN) & Mary Leeper
(1769-1861). It is also of some interest that Noreva Sharr's husband (Hershe1 Emery) is a descendant of
Reuben Coffey (1744) & Sally Scott through son Benjamin (1790) who md. Exa Saphronia Stepp, & their son
Milton Hiatt Coffey (1831-1915) who md. Cynthia J. Nicholas. The latter couple had a son James Marion Coffey
(1861-1941) who md. Jessie Richards & had Bessie May Coffey (1885-1969), the mother of Herschel Emery Sharr
of El Monte, CA.





CHAPTER 8

FRONTWfl?FAMlUES­

ARCHELAUS COFFEY AND ELEANOR WADE

'5 ;
. 3 4;

s@: K:5/ «of
~

-7.’; I 3.

1 }

“The first farmer was the first man,
and all historic nobility rests on
possession and use of land.'‘

. Emerson
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It has long been held that the third child and second son of James Coffey

and Elizabeth Cleveland was namedArchelaus. There are no records as to his

exact date of birth but it has generally been considered by Coffey genealogists
to be in 1755 in Albemarle county Virginia. If the records of David Strange
(see chapter 5) are true and John was born in 1755, the above assumptions may not
be true. Again, it is not knownwhenhe married Eleanor Wadebut from the date
of birth of the oldest son it is presumedthat the marriage took place in 1775.
It must have been in Amherst county as this is where the Coffeys lived at the time
and also where the parents of Eleanor, John and Elizabeth Wadelived. However,
the Amherst county clerk does not have a record of the marriage.1
on the Hades in Chapter 9.

In October 1777 Archelaus Coffey bought 150 acres on Davis‘ Creek in Amherst
county from his father-in-law, John Hade.2

More is written

A year later he sold 50 acres back to
him and the other 100 acres to James McAlexaner.3 I believe that the occasion

for these sales was the moveof Archelaus and his family to Hilkes county, North
Carolina. This was either in companywith or close to the time James and Eliza­
beth Coffey movedthere. Archelaus' land entry in Wilkes county“ is dated January
4, 1779. It was for 60 acres on the North Fork of Kings Creek in what is now
Caldwell county. This is also recorded in the deed books in 17825 but it is not
entirely clear whether this is an additional and separate purchase or another re­
cording for the sameland. I believe the latter to be the correct interpretation.
Tax records indicate only 60 acres. Archelaus originally entered 250 acres of

land in Burke countyé on the main Mulberry Fork of Johns River on December 29,
1778, but for somereason this was transferred to others and he settled on the
above-mentioned land in Wilkes county.

The first child of Archelaus and Eleanor seems to have been James (perhaps

James 3.) According to his tombstone? he was born July 20, 1776 and since he was
listed as heir8 to Archelaus it is assumedhe was the oldest child. He will be

the subject of chapter 10. Only 2 other children are knownfor certain, John V.
and Jane. Mr. John L. Coffey of Oklahoa City has a chart in which he lists the

children as James, Baily, Hezekiah, and John W. However, I have never been able
to find records of a Baily or a Hezekiahbelonging to this family an I believe
that in family tradition a generation was "slipped" (a rather commonoccurrence).
Weknow that John H. had sons Bailey and Hezekiah and that Hezekiah had a son

Milton, the latter being listed as a son of John H. on Mr. Coffey's chart. The
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name Bailey seems to have come from the Harbord family (John W. Coffey married

Mary Harbord).
The second child was probably John W.

traditional family spelling of his mother's name,although all Virginia records
show it to be Wage. John W. is very closely associated with James in Waynecounty
Kentucky and later for a time in Indiana. Since he had a land grant in Wayne
county in 17999 and was married by 180110 it is presumed he was close to the age
of James, most likely born two years later in 1778 and probably in Amherst county
before going to North Carolina. This is supposition of course and the reader
should take it as such since we have no record of John's birth. ‘His marriage was

to Polly (Mary) Harbord, daughter of John Harbord, on December 29, 1801 in Wayne
This John W. should not be confused with a John W. Coffey who

I have never

The initial "W"stands for Waid, the

county Kentucky.1°
appears on various Waynecounty records in the 1840s and later.
been able to discover wherethe latter, born about 1797, fits in.

Our’John H. is only on the tax records“ of Waynecounty through 1807. In
1811 he is listed on the delinquent tax lists as "not foun“ and in 1812 as “moved
to Ohio". Wehave no record of him going to Ohio but the first record in Washing­

ton county Indiana is that he located near Harristown in 1811.12 His first land
record there is in 1813.13 He was an early teacher in the first school house in
the Franklin township,1# west of NewPhiladelphia and not far from Salem. This
may be the point of confusion regarding John A.W.Coffey (see chapter 13), grand
nephew of John W., who was said to have been a teacher and lived around Salem
(Oregon). John W. was also a clerk in the Sharon Baptist Church.15 the oldest
Baptist church in Washington county. On February 3, 1821 he resigned his clerk­
ship and requested a letter of dismission because of his intention of removing.
John and Mary sold part of their land in Washington county in April 1820 and more
in January 1821.16 He bought land in Vigo county Indiana in 1823,17 one-half of
which was sold the next year, the remainder still ownedby John at his death (about
1834). He desn't seen to be on the 1830 census of Indiana and I couldn't find

He may have moved back to Washington county

by 1825 as one daughter was married there then. I didn't find anything further
on him in the Washington county records, but Stevens‘ History of Washington County

sayslu he died in Washington county. This seems to have been before July 9, 1834
as on this date his son Hirammadepetition in Washingtoncounty court for a
guardian (Heny Young)in order to obtain a sale of the land in Vigo county of
the deceased John W. Coffey.18 According to these records his wife was still
alive as the heirs‘ rights were “subject to the widow's dower." Marymayhave
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gone to live with her son Bailey or one of the other children in Bloomington,Illi­
nois. Although I couldn't find her there on the 1850 census she is supposed to
have died there in 1853.19 Bailey was a first sergeant in the companyof Capt.
Merritt L. Covell, 5th Regiment, Whitesides Bigade in the Black HawkHar.20
Following this service, in 1832 he went to McLeancounty Illinois along with a
number of the Harbords. Bailey was quite prominent in McLeancounty, being a

countyclerk, justice of the peace, sheriff, an
county judge.21 After his wife Nancy died (Feb. V
27, 1850)2%e went to Davies county Missouri where é
he married Catherine, widowof Matthew Harbord

(April 29, 1851)?3 He died at Coffeysburg (now _

Coffey), Davies county, Missouri August 23, 1879.24 E
This town was namedfor him. Bailey also laid out 1

the village of Salem (Davies county) in the fall ‘
of 1856 and in the township he served as a super- 1
visor (1873) and a trustee (1874-77).25 1

As mentioned, other children of John W. went 1
to McLeancounty. Eleanor and her husband Jacob l
Young were there in 1850.26 John H. was there be- 5

fore he went to Davies county Missouri. In the
latter place he was a pastor and a justice of theBailey H. Coffey

peacetzh "Mary (Polly) Annalso lived in McLean
county, in the 1840s an 18505. Hiram was also in Bloomington, in 1860.27

The oldest son, James Harvey was a carpenter who continued to live around
Salem, Washingtoncounty, Indiana until his death. Descendants of his still live

28 One of these is Gary K. Coffey of Borden, Indiana. His line is:
John Haid Coffey, Sr. &Mary Harbord-->James Harvey Coffey, Sr. &.AnnEliza
Graham——-9JamesHarvey Coffey, Jr. & Diantha Boling~——aTalmage I. Coffey——-9

Gary K. Coffey.
The son Hezekiah also lived in Washingtoncounty Indiana until the mid-1850s.

He then went to Lawrence county Indiana until about 1869 when he joined his
brothers Bailey and John W. in Davies county Missouri. Here he stayed only about
3 years, moving on to Republic county Kansas where both he and his wife Susan died.29
Their daughter, Susan Amanda,was the great.grandmother of Mrs. William Tripp of
CampHill, Pennsylvania. Hezekiah's occupation was a blacksmith.

A more complete list of the John "Waid"family appears in Chart 8. It should
be noted that the date of birth is not knownfor all so the order of birth given

maynot be correct.

in the area.
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The girls Betsey and Maryare presumed to belong to this family because of their
early marriages in Washington county where no other Coffey family was known. If
this is true it would appear that the family used the nameMarytwice. However,
the 1820 census of Washingtoncounty Indiana does not indicate that there was a
girl of Mary's age in this family.

The only other knownchild of Archelaus and Eleanor was Jane, quite possibly
namedfor her great grandmother, Jane Graves Coffey who lived near them in Wilkes
county North Carolina and a person Archelaus would have known well. Jane was born
June 22, 178230in Wilkes county. Her step-father, Jesse Shasteen, signed the

» consent note for her marriage to William Harhord in Waynecounty Kentucky January

2, 1802.10 The bondsman and witness was her brother John W. Coffey who married
William's sister Polly. This was a second marriage for William Harbord whohad
one son, Robert A., by his first wife (name unknown). The children of the second
marriage are shown in Chart 8.30 About 1809-10 William and Jane moved to Indiana,
settling in that part of the territory that becameDecatur county in 1822. During
the War of 1812 they had manyproblems with the Indians. A companyof soldiers
was stationed in a fort near their homeand William served for a time in this

War. In 1832 most of the family movedto McLeancounty Illinois, settling in
Twin Grove. Life was quite primitive here too. The first school at Twin Grove

was a roun-log house with greased paper for windowsand a fireplace which ex­
tended across one entire end of the bilding. It had seats madeof hewedlogs.

Mary Ruth Ross of Chapel Hill, North Carolina and Viola Cook of Santa Clara,
Utah are descendants of the daughter Eleanor whomarried William Platt. Mary Ruth
(Platt) Ross is the daughter of SamuelPlatt (1880-1960) and Alice Miller (188k­
1963). Samuel was the son of John Platt (1839-1906) and Mary Ann McKinney (1841­

1931). John was the son of William Platt (1810-1869) and Eleanor Harbord (1818­
1889). William's parents almost certainly were Jonathan Platt (1780-1849) and
Amelia Binley. Jonathan Platt was from NewJersey.

At this point it might be of interest to somedescendants to give someinfor­
mation about the Harbord family. 32 John and Mary Harbord came with their children
from Virginia to Waynecounty Kentucky quite early. John namedin his will Agnes,

Matthew, Susannah, William, Patsey, Mary Hayley, Joseph Bazley, and Hezekiah Mosby.

Mary Bailey Harbord married John W. Coffey and William married Jane Coffey. A num­
ber of the Harbords went to Iniana and then on to McLeancounty Illinois, Joseph
Bailey nu-bgr_t (he changed the spelling) being the first, in 18214».or the descen­
dants of William & Jane Harbord, Eleanor Harbord married William Platt in McLean

county in 1835 and Matthew Harbord married Catherine Lowthere the next year.

31
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Matthewdied at Tremont, Illinois in 18#9 of cholera. Catherine then married
Bailey H. Coffey (previously mentioned) whose wife had also died.

Having given the children of Archelaus and Eleanor Coffey we need now to
return to the parents. Archelaus died quite youngand apparently quite suddenly
as he left no will. The date is unknownbt would have been before tax time in

1784 as Eleanor's nameappears on the tax list for their 60 acres.33 There is no
mention of them on the 1782 list and apparently there is no 1783 list. Archelaus'
father Jamesmentions the "heirs of the deceased Archelaus" in his will dated

September 1786.3“ It has been thought that Archelaus may have been killed in Q
the Revolutionary Warsince it is supposed that all of James‘ sons whowere old
enough (that would include Archelaus) fought in the War. However, no Revolution­

ary Warrecord for Archelaus has ever been found. Eleanor apparently returned 1
to her native Amherst county Virginia sometimeafter Archelaus' death and there 3
married Jesse Shasteen November22, 1785.35 Eleanor was the legatee in 178R of 3
the will of William Trotter in Amherst county.36 The executor was Samuel Denny
who was also a witness along with Charles Tate and William Allen. The will was

dated Febuary 27, 178# and proved May3, 178#. It is not knownhow if any of
these men were related to Eleanor or whyshe was the legatee.

Archelaus' land in Hilkes county was not sold but retained for the heirs and
listed variously on the tax rolls: 1785, Eleanor; 1786, Elonder by James Coffey; 1
1787, Elender by Reuben Coffey (an executor of James‘ estate); 1788, Elizabeth _
for Archelaus Coffey; not specifically mentioned 1789-96; 1797. Elender C. by 1
John (another executor of James‘ estate). In 1798 James Coffey, as heir of 1

Archelaus Coffey sells this 60 acres.8 James was then listed as in Madison
county Kentucky but there seems to be no information as to howhe got there or
what he was doing. The next year he is in that part of Cumberlandcounty that
became Waynecounty in 1800, along with his brother John H.9 Wedo not know where

James was between 1784 and 1798. It may be that his mother did not take him (and
possibly John as well) to raise after her second marriage. Frank R. Moorein
his book on the Coffeys states that James was raised an orphan, being about 5
whenhis father died and about 10 whenhe joined the first families crossing the
the mountains, eventually getting to Fort Boonesoro. However,he gives no ref­
erence for this other than a letter by James‘ son Rev. Achilles (Archelaus) Coffey38
in which he says his father was raised an orphan boy. Weknow that Eleanor and
her second husband Jesse Shasteen joined James and John V. Coffey in Waynecounty
Kentucky by January 1802 (when Jane Coffey was married) an that the Shasteens
remained in Waynecounty (according to tax records) until the 1820s. They then
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1apparently went to Gallatin county Illinois where James had taken his family, but
I have been unable to find any record as to where or whenEleanor died. Jesse and
Eleanor had other children, probably sons Thomasand Jesse Jr. and possibly William
and daughters Elizabeth and Margaret. The Waynecounty Kentucky 1810 census shows
2 males 10-16 and one female"16-26 still at home. There were no children listed

The 1830 census of Gallatin county Illinois has a Jesse Shas­
There is no correspondingly older ~

on the 1820 census.

teen family where the oldest male is 60-70.
female so Eleanor must have died before 1830.

20-30 and some children. The male must be Jesse Jr. as there is no older male on
the 18h0 census of Jesse Shasteen. He is listed as 40-50 so I believe the 1830
census is in error and should read 30—h0. This would also agree better with the
1810 census. Jesse Jr's wife was probably namedPolly as that nameis given in
the Bethel Creek church records.

There is a male and female each

Pkkdr cgm,-yy

TENNESSEE

Waynecounty Kentucky showing areas where Coffeys lived.
James M. & John H. Coffey and the Lanes lived on Otter
Creek.
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In the late 1700s and early 1800s the route to Kentucky (as W91188 Indiana
and Illinois) from Virginia, North Carolina or Tennessee passed through the Cum­
berland Gap an along the Wilderness Trail (see mapp. 68). This road was orig­
inally blazed by Daniel Boone, but was surveyed, cleared, and opened by others in
1781 under authority of an act passed by the Virginia General Assembly. It was
somethrill for me in 1977 to travel through the Gapand over part of this route.
The picture shownhere is drawn muchas it might have looked in the early pioneer
days. (see page 118).
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View of Cumberland Gap, looking north from Tbnnessee, much as it may have looked in early days.
(A drawing adapted from a photograph by William W. Luokett in The Tbnn. Hist. Quart. Vol. XXIII,
No. 4, Dec. 1964, used hy permission)
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CHART 8

VITAL DATA OF THE ARCHELAUS AND ELEANOR (WADE) COFFEY FAMILY

Archelaus Coffey
b. abt 1755, Albemarle co., VA, son of James Coffey and Elizabeth Cleveland.
d. by 178#, prob. 1783, Wilkes co. (?), N.C.
m. abt 1775 Eleanor Wade (dau. of John & Elizabeth Wade, b. abt 1755, d. bef

1830), prob. Amherst co., VA
children:

, 1.

2.

James M. Coffey
b. 20 Jul 1776, Amherst co., VA
d. 7 Jan 18#9, Saline or Hamilton co., IL
m. 16 Jan 180# Frances Lane, Wayne co., KY
For additional information on this line see Chapter 10.
John Waid Coffey 1
b. abt 1778, prob. Amherst co., VA 4
d. abt 1834, prob. Washington co., IN ?
m. 29 Dec 1801 Mary "Polly" Harbord (dau of John & Mary Harbord, b. 30

Oct 17813, d. 19 Apr 1853, Bloomington, IL), Wayne co., KY.
children:

1. Eleanor
b. abt 180#, Wayne co., KY
m. 23 Nov 182h.Jacob Young, Vigo co., IN.
children: Mary A. (b. abt 1831), Sarah E. (b. abt 1833), Heny c.

(b. abt 1835), Elizabeth (b. abt 1837), Jacob H. (b. abt 18h0),
and Irenius M. (male b. abt 18#2).

James Harvey
b. 6 Aug 1806, Wayne co., KY
d. 13 Feb 1855, Washington co., IN
m. Anna Eliza Graham
children:

1. Celestis E. - b. abt 18362: He“:‘ beabt ‘
3. John Waid - b. 13 Jan 18#1, Washington co., IN: m. 26 Oct 1869

Eliza Matilda Persinger: children: George Henry, James Harvey,
William Waid, AnnaEliza, Mary Elizabeth, & Minard Ernst.
Almira E. - b. abt 1843
Mary A. - b. abt 1846
JamesHe‘ be HashingtonCO. do me8 Dec
Diantha E. Boling, Washingtonco., IN; children included
Claud M. (d. at age 1), Talnage I. (b. 4 Jan 1903, d. 23 Nov
1978) an n others. A son of Talmage is Gary K. Coffey living
in Borden, Washington co., IN

7. Addie Caroline - b. abt 1851
Betsey
b. abt 1808, prob. Wayne co., KY
m. 9 Oct 1825 (1ic.) Horace S. Ranson, Wshington co., IN
Bailey H. Coffey
b. 16 Aug 1810, prob. Wayne co., KY
d. 23 Aug 1879, Davies co., M0
m. (1) 27 Dec 1832 Nancy Cox, McLean co., IL (dau of Benjamin. Sr.

and Philena Dye; b. 16 Apr 1813; d. 28 Feb 1850, Bloomington, IL).
children: .

1. Mary Philenah e b. 183#;.m. 20 Mar 1851 Edwin Mclntire, Mc
Lean co., IL

2.

4.
5.
6.

3.

3 Bloomington (IL) cem. recs. & Boomington Intelligencer 27 Apr 1853
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5.

7.

2. John Hm. - b. 4 May 1837; d. 13 Apr 1853. Bloomington. IL
3. Hiram Jerome - b. 21 Sep 1839; d. 13 Nov 1854, Bloomington
4. Volney Thornton - b. 4 Jun 1843; d. 1 Jun 1853, Bloomington
5. Taylor Y. - b. 15 Oct 1846; d. 1 Jun 1847, Bloomington, IL
6. Lucinda A. - b. abt 1849; m. 27 Jan 1870 Wm.B. Vandervort,

Davies co., M0.
m. (2) 29 Apr 1851 Mrs. Catherine Low Harbord (widow of Matthew

Harbord, b. 19 Jan 1816; d. 9 May 1895), Davies co., MO.
children:

1. James B. - b. 28 Feb 1852; d. 2 Aug 1911, Davies co., MO;
n. 17 Mar 1878 Janie (Jennie) E. Maloney, Davies co., M0.

2. Catherine - b. abt 1855/6; n. ? - some records say a Weldon,
but Davies co., M0marr. recs. say Cynthia B. Coffey md.
25 Mar 1875 John R. Weldon (I don't know who this Cynthia
could be), and a Catherine Coffey md. 29 Dec 1891 Robert
Adams- but this could be the Catherine, dau of John & Esther.

3. Nancy - b. abt 1860
4. Harvey B. - b. abt 1859; m. 9 Mar 1884 Maggie Glaze. There

is doubt as to whether this one belongs to Bailey & Catherine.
He is not listed on the census with them but in 1860 census
he is age 1 & in household of Ira & NaomiJones, living
near Bailey & Catherine. Deedrecs. indicate he does belong.

Mary
b. abt 1812, Washington co., IN
m. 17 Feb 1828 George Beck, Washington co., IN
The 1820 census would not indicate that Mary was a memberof this
family but she is listed here as we do not knowof another family
to which she could belong.
John W.
b. 9 Mar 1814, Washington co., IN
d. Davies co., M0 .
m. Esther (b. 4 Nov 1814, d. 19 Aug 1894).
children:

1. Laura - b. abt 1840 IL
2. Mark H. (or Marquis‘ - b. abt 1842, IL or M0
3. Mary - b. abt 1844,MO
4. Phebe - b. abt 1848, IN; m. 28 Dec 1876 James 0. Ellis, Davies

CO0; _
5. Elias Y. - b. 14 Apr 1848: d. 4 Sep 1891: m. Jessie P.
6. Catherine - b. abt 1850; m. ? 29 Dec 1891 Robert Adams ?
7. Sarah Bell - b. abt 1853/4, IN; m. 24 Feb 1876 Elijah Ellis

Jrep Davies coo. MO.
Hiram
b. 2 Apr 1816, Washington co., IN
d. Jul 1873
m. abt 1839/40 Elvira Coe
children: 1. Theodore - b. abt 1844: 2. Henrietta C. - b. abt

1845. in. ifeter: 3. Mary E. - b. abt 1846, m. 11 Oct 1866 Charles
E. Kimler: 4; Loretta - b. abt 1848, m. 19 Jul 1866 John Allen
Stewart: 5- Frances Josephine - b. abt 1850, m. Duckett; 6.
5135139 ' F ' mn DBViS3 7. Amadin (Amy) - b. abt 1855, m. Gay;
8. Lincoln: 9. Clara - :11.George.

Hezekiah
b. abt 1818, Washington co., IN
d. 19 Nov 1892, Courtland, Republic co., KS
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m. 25 Apr Susan A. Jones, Washington co., IN
children: '

1. Milton J. - b. abt 1842 3; m. Rebecca A.
2. Sarah E. - b. abt 1847 8; m. Harris
3. Susan Amada - b. 24 Nov 1853, Lawrence co, IN; d. 22 Apr

1896: m. Joseph WoodyFullen.
Mary "Polly" Ann
b. 1 Feb 1822
d. 26 Nov 1856, Bloomington, IL
m. (1) 10 May 1843 Edward M. Depew (he d. 19 Apr 1844)children:

1. Ella ,
m. (2) 21 Feb 1850 Harvey Bishop
children:

2. Margaret
3. Jane Coffey

b. 22 Jun 1782, Wilkes co., N.C.
d. 2/3 Oct 1862, Bloomington, McLean, IL
m. 28 Jan 1802 William Harbord, Wayne co., KY (he was b. 24 Dec 1777,

VA, son of John & Mary Harbord, d. 17 Sep 1845, McLean co., IL).
children:

1.

2.

3.

5.

James Coffey Harbord
b. 16 Dec 1803, Wayne co., KY
d. 8 Mar 1873, Bloomington, McLean, IL
m. 17 Jan 1825 Esther Guthrie, Decatur co., IN
childrenabl. Martha Ann —b. 21 Jan 182?, :1. 15 Jan 1844 McLean

co., IL, m. 18 Aug 1848 John Wesley Walker, McLean co. IL; 2.
Moses G. - b. 3 Jul 1837. d. at Portland, OR, m. Jane Price;
3. George H. - b. 22 Oct 1840, d. 27 Dec 1914, Lyon co., KS,
m. 1863 Effie C. Gault, McLean co. IL; 4. Mahala —b. 22 Sep
1846, d. 8 Jul 1873. m. 7 Jan 1864 James A. Hunt, McLean co.
IL (may have been md. once or twice bef.); may have also been
children Nancy, Margaret and twins Adelia & Adeline.b

Agnes Harbord
b. 9 Aug 1805, Wayne co., KY
m. 24 Nov 1829 James Wilkins, Decatur co., IN
children: George, Jemimaand prob. others.
John V. Harbord
b. 18 Jul 1807, Wayne co., KY
d. 5 Mar 1882,Clarence, Shelby co., M0
m. 9 May 1830 Mary S. McKee, Decatur co., IN
children: son H.H.
Matthew L. Harbord
b. 23 Jan 1813, IN
d. 24 Jul 1849, Tremont, IL
m. 26 Nov 1836 Catherine Low, McLean co., IL
children: 1. George C. - b. 19 Apr 1837: 2- Alphonzo - b. 12 Oct

1839; 3. Sarah J. - b. 20 Mar 1843, m. 5 Oct 1859 Napoleon B.
Brown; 4. Ione - b. 24 Dec 1844, 111. Brown: 5. Laura - b.
24 Dec 1846; and Matthew Adolphus - b. 20 Mar 1849.

Mary B. Harbord (Harbert) .
b. 19 Mar 1815, Indiana
m. 2? Apr 1835 Matthew B. Herbert, McLean co., IL
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6.

7.

8.

Eleanor Harbord
b. 3 Oct 1818, Iniana
d. 1889
m. (1) 17 Jul 1835 Willian Platte, McLeanco., IL (he was b. 1810

in N.J. & d. 1869 in KS (?).
children: 1. Amelia Jane - b. abt 1838, m. Kelly Webb; 2. John A. ­

b. 30 Dec 1839, McLean co., IL, d. 11 Mar 1906, Arlington, TX, m.
4 May 1869 Mary Ann Mcxinnfiyi 3. Merit C. - b. abt 18#2; d. 8
Jan 1863, Colliersville, TN; 4. James H. - b. abt 184#, d.? May
1889, Dry Grove, IL: 5. William H. —b. abt 18#7; 6. Samuel Leo­
nard - b. abt 1889: 7. Lewis; 8. Eldora (Ella) - b. 8 Jul 1862,
K3, d. Dec 1922, Twin Grove, IL, n. Wm.H. Morgan; 9. Della.

m. (2) Stephen Webb
William D. Harbord
b. 18 Oct 1820, Indiana
d. 5 Sep 1862, Bloonington, IL
m. 28 May 1849 Susan J. Snodgrass, McLean co., IL
children: son Charles B.
Mahala J. Harbord

m. 2 May 1839 Nathan Henrix (?), McLeanco., IL

Eleanor WadeCoffey md. (2) 22 Nov 1785 Jesse shasteen, Amherst co., VA
children: see text .

b Another (and perhaps better) list of James C. Harbord's children is as fol1ows:Mary
Jane (d. age 7), Martha Ann (walker). Richard H., William E., NancyA., Moses
G., MaryMargaret, George H., Elinor Adeline, Elizabeth Adelaide (latter two
twins), and Mahala Cassandra Helen (Hunt)



CHAPTER 9 L

THE WADE FAMI LY.

"Our Irish blunders are never
blunders of the heart"

... Maria Edgeworth
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Very little is knownabout Eleanor Wadeand her ancestry. There were many

Hades in colonial Virginia, at least 10 by 16661and several had the firt name
of John (Eleanor's father). There were also someWadebonded servants shipped
to Virginia or Maryland in the 1700s, including two by the name of John Wadezin
the 17#Os. Also, a John Wadewas granted a land patent of #7 acres in James City
County Virginia in December 1710.

John Wade, and his brother Pearce were in Albemarle county Virginia as early
as 1750.3 They apparently settled in that part of the county which later became
Amherst county. They may have had brothers David and Jeremiah and possibly Daw­
son. All of these namesare used here and in adjacent counties so frequently
that it is difficult to separate father, son, and cousins. In neighboring Augusta
county there are mentions in the record§*of a Dawsonwade in 1766, 1767 and 1773

(on the latter date Dawsonand Rachel (Burside) Wadeof Botetourte county sell
land Dawsonhad patened in Augusta); a John Vaid in 1773, 1781, 1787, 179# and

1796; a John WadeSr. in 1790; a Priscilla Wade, daughter of John Wade, who
married Abram Cu in 1785; Alexander, Thomasand John Wade in 1777; a John Hades

in 1782: and David Wade (wife Rebecca) who was in Montgomery county in 1802 and

died there in 1803. V
The maiden name of John's wife Elizabeth may have been McAlexander as several

by this nameare associated with the family and three of them were witnesses to
John's will made in 1785.5 This will was proved July 2, 1787 and besides Elizabeth
lists only a son Dawson,and Eleanor and her second husband Jesse Shasteen. There

probably was another daughter, Hannah, as she was listed with Eleanor and"thgig
mother“ as membersof the Baptist church.6
both associated to-some degree with the first Baptist church in Amherstcounty.

Because of the close association with John of Pierce Wadeit might be well
to briefly mention his will (Amherst co. Will Bk. 1, p. 161). Through it and
subsequent citations concerning guardianship (Will Dks. 1 & 3) we find that his
wife was Elizabeth also and her maiden namewas probably Ballenger (or possibly

Hardwick). Children were probably Ballenger (heir), Mary whomarried I. White,
Charity whomarried John Dawson,Jane, David, Pearce, Jeremiah, Lucretia, Clary
(female), and Abigail HardwickWade. The latter four were minors, the latter
three "infants". The will was madein 1769, the guardians appointed July 5,

1779 so I suppose he died shortly before the latter date.
125

The Hades and Coffeys “ere apparently
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As to the origin of the Hades we have only_a. letter? written by Rev- Arch­
elaus Coffey in which he says "mygrandmother on my father's side by the name
of Haid. I think her parents camedirect from Ireland..." The name 'waid' has
largely become ‘Wade’ in America. The original spelling did howeverpersist in
the family of E1eanor's son John Uaid Coffey until the late 1800s (see chapter 8).
It would thus appear that James M. Coffey (as well as John H. and Jane, his brother
and sister) is four generations removedfrom Ireland on his father's side and
only two generations removedon his mother's side.

. Greer, George Cabell.

. Coldham, Peter Wilson.

. Chalkley, Lyman.

. Amherst co. VAwill Bk. 3, p. 45.
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CHAPTER IO

ON THE WILDERNESS TRAIL:

JAMES COFFEY AND FRANCES LANE

"Stand at Cumberland Gap and watch the
procession of civilization, marching
single file - the buffalo following the
trail to Salt Springs, the Indian, the
fur trader and hunter, the cattle raiser
the pioneer farmer - and the frontier
has passed by."

Frederick Jackson Turner

D





The early life of James Coffey, up to the time he came to Waynecounty Kentucky,
has been given in chapter 8. Although he is on the 1799 tax list in Cumberland
county (later a part of Waynecounty) he had no land there until 1802. He settled
239 acres in February 1802 and 136 acres in July 1802 on Otter Creek1 in the west­
ern part of Waynecounty (see map, page 116 and picture, page 130). His marriage
to Frances Lane is dated January 16, 1804, although the consent note was signed
September 29, 1803 and the bond on October 1.2 In those days they had to wait
for a circuit rider preacher to comearound in order to get married but once the
bond was completed they were considered married. Thus one can use either date but
I have choseno the actual marriage date for use here. She was the daughter of
ThomasLane and, according to the oldest son nrchelaus,3 Nancy Dabney. However,

there is somequestion about this since the consent note is signed Thomasand
gnn Lane. I believe she also went by the nameAnnand that this wasn't a second
wife. Withycombelists“ Nancyas a diminutive of-Ann. The Lanes will be further

discussed in chapter 11 and the Dabneysin chapter 12.
James Coffey is listed on the Waynecounty tax records5 1802-1813. However,

he is also on the delinquent tax records6 of 1812 and 1813, listed as "movedto
Ohio." A biography of Elder "Achilles" Coffey,7 son of James and Frances, states
that they movedin 1813 to Indiana, Jefferson county and settled 4 miles from the
fort. Because of fears from Indians they movedone year later to Washington
county and settled near the town of Salem where they remained 3 years. Here they
lived close to James‘ brother John W. Whenin Jefferson county it may be that
they lived near his sister Jane and her husbandWilliamHarbord. It is said that
during the Warof 1812 there was a fort, or at least an encampmentof soldiers,
near where they lived so they mayhave been in this area before moving to Decatur
county (see chapter 8).

James is mentioned in the Washington county commissioners records as being
appointed an overseer of a road during this time.8 In the fall of 1817 they moved
back to Waynecounty Kentucky. The only Iniana deed records I could find were
two in Washington county, the first a purchase on June 30, 18159 and the second a
sale on October 14, 1817.10 This was for 160 acres about 1-2 miles from land
ownedby his brother John W. Coffey. James sold the land for $1500, probably a

nice profit as it wasundoubtedlyobtained as a land grant for very little cost.
Frank R. Moore11says that he "sold his improved farm near Salem at a profit..."

129
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While in Washington county in 1816 he sold his 2 parcels of land in Waynecounty­
Thus, when the family moved back to Waynecounty in 1817 they had to buy more

land,13 which they sold a year later whenthey went to Alabama.7' Frank Moore
says11 (no reference given) that James "could not compete with slave labor (im­
plying that he was not a slave holder), and the available farm land was poor,
so after a stay of two years he decided to moveto Illinois." Wedo not know
where they lived in Alabama. They left there on July 30. 18207 so they may or
may not have been counted on the census. However, the 1820 census is missing for
many of the counties of Alabama.

According to "Achilles" Coffey's biography? James took up a claim in San€3­
moncounty Illinois, but partly due to Indian conditions they movedsouth 2 years
later to the northwestern part of Gallatin county (nowSaline county). This area
is generally flat but is occasionally boken by low hills (see picture, page 131.)

At the time our ancestors movedthere

it was densely wooded. Even today
those areas that have not been clear­
ed show a dense thicket which must

have presented a considerable problem
to these southern farmers. At this

time they had only the barshare plow
which had a wooden mold board and

only "stirred" the earth to a depth
of about two inches.1uHowever, the
soil was fertile so they were prob­
ably able to grow crops wherever they
could clear the lan. The woodswere

inhabited by "deer, turkey, wolves,
bears, and some panthers."15 The

Area along Otter Creek in Waynecounty
Kentucky where James Coffey lived. Note t°"“3h1P “P °“ P388131 3h°"S the 1°‘
Coffey Mountain in background. cation of James‘ land as well as that

of some of his sons, an some other landmarks. The ShawneetownLand District re­

cords, and Gallatin and Saline county deeds, testify to the ownership of these lands.
While here James was active in the affairs of this area as someearly records

note16 that he was a signer of petitions to (1) obtain a constable, (2) change the
voting place, and (3) change the county seat. He was also commissioneda Just­

ice of the Peace for Gallatin county in 182#.17 In the spring of 1829 the family
movedto Sangamoncounty but retuned in the spring of 1832.18 They already held
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2#0 acres in Section 17, township 15,
Range 2 (now in Mt. Auburn township of

Christian county). While there James man­
aged to obtain 2 more grants totaling 160
acres in Cooper township of Sangamonco­

The location of these can be found

on the map of Sangamon county on page

(note dots). Archelaus' lan was in Mt.
Auburn township (two parcels of 80 acres

unty.

each). The reader should get the proper
perspective of the relationship of those
areas in Illinois wherethe Coffeys lived
by studying the Illinois mapshownon
Pa€e132.James and Archelaus soldzo all
of their land in Sangamoncounty whenthey
movedback to Saline precinct of Gallatin
county, but one parcel of James’ was not
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Twonshipmap of a portion of North­
western Saline County, Illinois.
Location of lands held by the Cof­
feys in the 18303 is shown by T:
Thomas. A: Archelaus, J: John,and
Ja=.James M. The sons James W. &
Eli later ownedland a short dis­
tance to the north in Hamilton co.
Durhams, Sloans, Deans, Lanes and
others whomarried into the Coffey
family had land nearby or in Ham­
ilton county.

Land Where John Coffey Lived in Saline
County Illinois, 1832—h2
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SangamonCountyIllinois (solid lines) in early
days and (dash-line area with S) at present
time. Co: Cooper township. Dash-line area with C
is present day Christian county. Mt.A: Mt. Au­
burn township. James ownedland in both of these,
north and south of the SangamonRiver, but the
lands were not adjacent.

finalized until October 1835 and one of Archelaus' until January 1837.

James and Frances continued to live in what became the Longhranch township
of Saline county until 18h? whenthey sold21 their 160 acre farm there to Charles
Sloan, whomarried their granddaughter Permelia Coffey. A descendant of this

marriage , also namedCharles Sloan, lives on this or adjacent land today. He
related to me the story of howthe land in Saline was covered with thick brush

and trees (somestill is, an is indeed a dense thicket). This madeclearing
the land and farming difficult and was a major reason whythey went north to

Sangamoncounty (a more open area). However, Mr. Sloan says they nearly froze
in Sangamoncounty so cameback to "Southern" Illinois. It seems unlikely that
the distance, 1#0-150 miles, would make that muchdifference but one of the win­

ters they spent there (I believe it was 1831) has been called in someaccounts,
the ""1339? Of the his SHOW":and Pfirhaps this is what convinced them to return
south.
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Exactly where James and Frances were living when James died January 7. 1849
13 not RHOWRbut in 185023 Frances, together with her unmarried children, Eleanor,
James Wesley, and Eli, was living across the county line in Hamilton county. I
could find no deed record for James in Hamilton county but Eli was listed as Head
of Household on the 1850 census so he perhaps ownedthe land and they were living
with him. Frances died October 2“, 1859 in Saline county.2u Both she and James
are buried in the Bethel Creek Baptist church cemetery lot.g2 (see pictures of
tombstones.)
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Mapof Illinois with enlargement of Gallatin and Saline counties to
showareas where Coffeys lived and relationship to surrounding.areas.

Wedo not have the 1810 or 1820 census of James Coffey°s family. However,

knownchildren plus the 1830 census indicate that there must have been at least
10 children. Each will be discussed in the probable order of their birth.

Archelaus

The first child of whichwehave record is Archelaus (later frequently
shortened to Archilles and "Achilles".) He was namedfor James‘ father. Since
Archelaus wasn't born until July 30, 1806 it is quite possible that another was
born before him but died young (or of course a miscarriage could have occurred).
Archelaus married Jane Dean, a daughter of Rev. Jacob and Susannah Dean, April

23, 182%in Hamilton county lllinois.25 The clerk wrote his nameas Nicholas but
I don't think there can be any doubt it was Archelaus. Rev. Jacob Dean was a

Methodist minister, born June 23, 1775 in Virginia and died August 5, 1851 in
Hamilton county I1linois.25 His wife, Susannah Hatty, was born about 1766 in
Virginia. The Deans were of Germanancestry. '

Archelaus and Jane's first child was namedPermelia and was born about 1825??
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As mentioned earlier Permelia married Charles SamuelSloan. 8 3°” °f James and
Hannah Sloan.

[yr :,fl7e/gL3/ .1 }5:7éZégL

Beach, California and much of the book

Coffey apparently had the rank of Col­
onel in the Missouri—Kansasskirmishes

as that is howhe is usually referred.
He had established a store in Dodge
City, Kansas when he contacted pneu­
monia in 1879 and died there. It
should be noted that there is a gap
of 3%years between the birth of James
A. Coffey and the next child, Sales.
Somedescendants have thought that '

Archelaus married (2) Jane Durham
(Jane Deanhaving died). If so this
would likely have been the time. How­
ever, there is absolutely no evidence
that this happened; Jane Dean was, I

Their children are listed in Chart 10-A.

11

Thethird child-and

first son of Archelaus and Jane, and by
far the best known, was James Asburyo
His middle namewas quite possibly given
for Arche1aus' uncle, Asbury Madison

Coffey, son of Eli. James A. Coffey
farmed in Saline county for a time but

apparently this occupation lacked the
adventure and excitement he desired. In

185# he moved to Kansas where he worked

and fought for the anti-slavery forces.
After these conflicts he took up merchan­
dising and established several stores
and trading posts. Hetraded extensively
with the Indians and in the process learn­
ed 2 languages. In 1870 he founded the
town of Coffeyville, Kansas. (Note, the
Kansas county ‘Coffey’ but ngt the city
Coffeyville was namedafter Asbury Madi­
son Coffey.) A descendant of James A. was

Frank R. Moore (now deceased) of Laguna
he wrote is about this man. James A.

James A. Coffey (drawing from a photo.)
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believe, his only wife. Twodescendants of Archelaus which I have either met or

correspondedwith are Charles Sloan (previously referred to) of Calatia, Illinois,
and John Lockhart Coffey (a descendant of John Mcclernan Coffey) of Oklahoa

,Arche1aus was commissioned 2nd
lieutenant of the 4th Illinois Regi­
ment December 19, 182528 and on May

112, 1832 he volunteered for the Black
HawkIndian War. He was then a 2nd

lieutenant in Captain James Hampton's
companyuntil the latter was promoted
to major and then Archelaus was made

a captain. He was in charge of what
was called Captain Coffey's company,
1st Regiment,1st Bigade, Illinois
Mounted Volunteers of the Black Hawk

War. He was mustered out September
25, 1832, having been fuoughed in
August at the battle ground on the
Mississippi wherehe lost his horse,

. saddle, bridle, and blanket on a
forced march. For his services he received abountyland warrant of 40 acres in
1851 and another of 120 acres in 1855.29

After the war he becameinterested in religion and, in July 1833 joined the
Bethel's Creek Primitive Baptist church.3o His wife joined at the same time. The
histories of this area often overlook this small church, whichwas likely the
first one in the area. It was organized with 7 membersin June 1820,31 and was
associated with the MuddyRiver Baptist Association. In October 1834 Archelaus

was chosen as moderator of this church and in May1836 he was ordained to preach?9
He is said to have organized a number of churches and is knownto have been a

moderator of the SalemPrimitive Baptist church in Benton, I1linois.32 In 187? he
wrote his book,7 about the split in the church over the missionary question. In
1837this split affected the Bethel's Creek church, those favoring the missionary
work were in the minority and were excluded by the majority. The former proceeded

to form on October 19, 1837 the Union church (later knownas the Raleigh church33).
Archelaus was apparently very conservative, following the old order of the church,

?0mb8tanes of James (broken) and Frances
Saffey in fiethel Creek Church Cemetery

somewhat the opposite of the Reverend Reuben Coffey mentioned in Chapter 4. Arch­
elaus must have also been active in the community. In 1844 his name appears on a
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list of election of presidential electors. Hewas listed amongthe Democratic
party e1ectors.3u Archelaus died of lung disease in Saline county35 March 10,
1883 and is buried at Bethel's Creek church cemetery. I visited this cemetery
and the little church there in 1976. The church still has service one sunday a
month. Although not so namedfor this reason, I though it appropriate that it
be called Bethel's Creek Primitive Baptist church. It is located in what one
might say is a primitive (at least country) area. of Saline county (see below)­

~ .4 ._ «Q, N, . 3. ._

were

Road Leading to Bethe: czfeek church annex Creek cm-en, Saline co.,Aiii‘;

one needs to knowwhere to look to even find it. The graveyard in front of the

church is well kept except for somevandalism, including the hoken stone for
James Coffey.

While discussing this area it might be well to mention the schools. Accord­
ing to the leading history of the area36 the first school in what is nowSaline
county was started in 1823 and had only a 3 month term in the fall. The winters
were considered too severe to send the children to school. Another school (date

unknown) was taught by a man named Sloan. One wonders if this was an in-law of
Archelaus and if any of the Coffey children attened. It was more commonin those
days for the boys to attend (and thus knowhowto read and write) than the girls.

Thomas

It is probable that the second child of James and Frances was Thomas, named
for Frances’ father, ThomasLane. His date of birth is unknownbut it must have
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have been about 1808. On October 13, 1828 in Gallatin county Illinois he married
Kezia Varnier, daughter of Peter Vernier. They movedto Sangamoncounty in 1829
with Thomas’parents37 but I didn't find any land ownership for them there. They
probably moved back to Saline at the same time as did James and Frances. A Thomas

Coffey was a private in the Black HawkWar of 1832 in the Companyof Capt. James
Hall. This probably was our Thomas. He joined the Bethel's Creek church in April
1834 and was examined for ordination November1837.30 The church records do not

mention an actual ordination but our ownfamily records say he was a preacher.38
However,the records do say he was appointed assistant clerk of the church in
1839. In May 184339 he and Kezia sold their land (3 19, 1' 7, R 6 - obtained in
1836) and in August of that year received a letter of dismissal from the church.

In these records be was at the time listed as "Elder ThomasCoffey." They went
to Miller county Missouri where Thomasdied 2 years later.ho He and Kezia are
knownto have had 5 children, 3 boys and 2 girls, although there apparently was
a third girlui (see Chart 10-B). A descendant of this line through the son Allen
is Fred Coffey of Kingsport, Tennessee.

The third child of James and Frances was John, born April 22, 1810 in Wayne
county Kentucky. Chapter 13 will be devoted to him and his family.

Ann, Eleanor and Sally

The next child may have been a girl named Ann. Wecan only speculate here
since wehave no family or official records linking her to this family, but there
were 2 girls 15-20 on the 1830 census and one must have been Eleanor (discussed
below). Annmarried John Baldridge December2Q, 1834 in Gallatin county Illinois
(marriage performed by Jacob Dean.u2) There seems to be no Coffey of marriageable
age belonging to any other Coffey family in Gallatin county at this time.#3 What
happened to Annis unknown. They apparently did not settle in Gallatin county as
there are no Baldridge deeds there at this time and they do not appear on other
records. There are a numberof Baldridge families in nearby counties, especially
Jefferson, and several with the first nameof John. However, in each case the
wife is not named Ann, although Ann could be a middle name or a nickname. I
have been unable to identify the wife of any John Baldridge in Illinois at this
time as the correct one to fit this marriage. It is quite possible that Anndied
soon after their marriage and John remarried. Anotherpossibility is that they
may_haveleft the state. I believe the first option to be more likely.

"Elinor" (probably correctly spelled Eleanor) Coffey is listed as 35 years
of age on the 1850 census.u4 If true,she probably was born late in 181# or early
1815. On March 1?, 1852 Rev. Archelaus Coffey performed the marriage of Elendor
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Coffey to James L. Kennedy. It is presued this is the sameEleanor. James L.
Kennedywas elected an associate justice of the Saline county court in 1855.
He was born March 12, 1804 and died July 20, 1858, buried in Bethel Creek ceme­

tery.22 There is no further record of Eleanor , unless she is the Ellenor Kennedy
on the 1900 census in Franklin county listed as a widow, born November1812, age
87. She had 1 daughter, Lou (or Lori) K. Auld, born March 1853 in Illinois. If
this is the sameEleanor then her birthplace and that of her father and mother are
incorrectly given and her age on the 1850 census is wrong. The latter is a 5009
possibility since two others in the family have the incorrect age listed. Thus,
if she was born in 1812 then Annmust have been younger, perhaps born in 1814. I

suspect this maybe the correct interpretation but since proof is lacking I will,

for the time being, stick with myoriginal data. I
The 1830 census also lists a girl 10-15. Since the next child of knownbirth,

James Wesley, was born May 15, 1818, it seems probable that she was born about 1816
and was the Sally Coffey whomarried Ewing Flannigan July 28, 1836.” This marr­

iage was performed by the Rev. Jacob Dean whose family had close ties with the
Coffeys and Lanes. Ewing had a land entry in Hamilton county in 183?u6 and they
apparently settled there. Sally is said to have had 2 girls and died before 1840,
Ewing later remarrying.u7 However, the 1840 census of Hamilton county shows a
male and female each 20-30 and 3 females under 5. According to Gallatin county

Illinois marriage records (Book1, page 225) Ewingdidn't marry his second wife,
Caroline Mace, until May19, 1843. Thus it would seem that Sally had 3 daughters.
The records of Mildred Pulliamzé showthat Ewingmarried (3) Mary Elinor Cantrell

on September 15, 1843. Ewing was killed or died in the Mexican War on December
20, 1846 at Matamoras, Mexico. He was born in 1816 in Tennessee to Samuel Ewing

Flannigan and NancySharp, both of North Carolina. In the 1850 census of Hamilton
county the two knowndaughters of Sally and Ewing, Perlina (age 13) and Martha E.

(age 11, are living with their grandmother Frances (Lane) Coffey.

James Wesley

James Wesley Coffey (mentioned above) apparently remained in Longbranch

‘township of Saline county all of his life (although he ownedsome land in Ham11ton
county) and was a rather prominent farmer there. He married Mary E. M. Kane on
November20, 1854 in Saline county, the marriage being performed by his brother
Archelaus.u9 Mary Kane was born January 11, 1839 and died July 11, 1916.22 James

H., along with William Durhamhad the town of Hamburgplatted in 1871 and he do­
nated the land on which the Long Branch Baptist church was built in 1860.50 James
Wesley died August 5,1883 and is also buried at Bethel Creek, as are 4 of his
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children. The list of children given in Chart 10eDis taken from 1860, 1870, and
1880 census records, Bethel's Creek:cemeteryrecords, and the estate record of James
Wesley. However, the list still may not be complete. A few years ago a granddaugh­
ter, Blanche Pulliam (nowdeceased) gave a list (sent to me by Janie Summersof
Johnston City, Illinois) in whichshe listed the following other names: Silas,
Ollie (female whomarried a Chaffin), Owen,Myrtle, John, and Jessie (female).
However, she omitted 5 of those on the list I compiled. A possible explanation
is either they went by other names or she got somefrom another generation by
mistake.

Lewis P.

Lewis P. Coffey may have been the next child, born between 1820 and 1825,37
probably about 1821 since the following child was apparently born in 1823. He was
married October 5, 18#251 to Nancy Ann C. Laswell. Lewis died before April 25,

1848.52 According to the 1850 census53 he left 3 children, all girls. Nancyre­
married on October 25, 1853 to Eldridge Sneed and had one daughter. See Chart
10—Efor more complete data on this family. I think it might be of interest to
here give the inventory of Lewis’ estate as an example of what the average frontier
farmer of those days had in possessions. The original spelling is retained.

April 25, 1848. An Inventory of the Estate of Lewis P. Coffee, deceased.
An improvement, one mill. bolting chest, one toledish two head of horses,
two head of cattle, five sows and pigs, and four head of other hogs, one

_sheep, nine geese, two ducks, five chickens, one pair of gears, one collar,
one ho, two ascess, one croscut saw, one logchane, a pair of tungchanes
loaned, two beefhides in tan on sheves, one table, one oven, one skillet,
one stew kettle, one tea kettle, one coffeepot, one churn, one water pail,
two buckets, one pigging, three crocks, one jug, one tray, one coffeemill,
two baskets, four cheers, four barrels of corn guessed at, about two dozen
bundles of flasc, one barrel and about sisc gallons of wiskey init, four
midlings of bacon, one set of plates, four knives and forks, one set of
teacups and saucers, three tincups, one English reader and two spelling
books, one trace chans, five or six pounds of cotton, three or four pounds
of laird. abt $209.00 value of inventory. Manyother articles allowed
the widowNancyann C. Coffee such as 2 beds and bedding household and kitchen
furniture, stove, 1 cowand calf, 1 horse, 8 sheep, fuel, clothing, etc.
to total $302.00 her claim of dower.

Louisa

A girl was born to James and Frances between 1820 and 1825.37 I believe this

was Louisa whomarried John J. Lane December25, 18h2 in Miller county Missouri.54
Although we lack proof I believe this is the place in Missouri where John and

NancyCoffey went in,18b1 (see Chapter 13) and that they took John's sister Louisa,
then 18 years old, with them. Fred Coffey of Kingsport, Tennessee believes55

that Louisa was a daughter of Thomas(John's older brother) but according to the
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1850 census of Miller county Missouri Louisa was born in 1823. $00 Old *0 be 3
daughter cf Thomaswhowasn't married until 1828. Also, Thomasdidn't go to Miller
county until 18#3 an his oldest daughter was namedCarolineo It Still remains
to be proven but I believe this John J. Lane was21srafid3°n °f Th°ma5Lane (see
chapter 11). If so, Louisa was a first cousin of John. His father wouldhave to
be Mordecai Lane, brother of Frances, whowas on the 1800 census of Miller county
and had a male child of the appropriate age. Mordecaialso lived in Gallatin
county Illinois in 1830.56 John and Louisa Lane sold someland in Miller county
in 184857but they were still there in 1850.58 I could not find them after that
and they apparently did not cometo Oregon in 1853 with John Coffey and Mordecai
Lane. For additional material on this family see Chapter 11.

E11
59

The youngest child appears to be Eli, born October 6, 1825. He married

(1) Nancy Russell on Jun 17, 1852 and (2) NancyEllen Foster on October 10, 1872.
The children of both marriages are given in Chart 10-Féo Eli is listed on the
Hamiltoncounty Illinois Militia List in 1861.61 Helived in the southern part of
Hamilton county most of his life. A granddaughter, Mrs. Ray (Janie) Summers,
lives at JohnstonCity, Illinois.

Somerecent information causes meto add a postscript to this chapter.
Records of Mildred Pulliamzé show that William Dean, born October 1799 in Tennessee,

married (1) Jane Coffey whowas born in 1804. William Dean is living next to
James Coffey in Sangamoncounty Illinois in 1830 according to the census records.
In 1833he is living amongthe Coffey families in the Saline precinct of Gallatin
county, but in 1835 he obtains land in the section just north of ThomasCoffey
(across the line in Hamilton county) and is on the 1840 and 1850 census of Hamilton
county. It seems likely to me that this Jane could well be a daughter of James
and Frances, in fact their first daughter, born in 1804. Jane is a Coffey family
nameand it would be appropriate that their first daughter be namedJane. William
Dean was apparently a son of Jacob (Sr.) and Susannah Dean and thus a brother of
Jane who married Archelaus Coffey, Jacob Clay Dean who married Sarah Lane, and

NancyDan whomarried Lewis Lane (for latter two see chapter 11). Myinformation
on William Dean is incomplete but it appears that his second wife was Bathsheba
Jane Durham.25
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CHART 1o

VITAL DATA or THE JAMES AND FRANCES (LANE) COFFEY FAMILY

Coffey, son of Archelaus and Eleanor (Wade) Coffey
20 Jul 1776, prob. Amherst co., VA
7 Jan 1849, prob. Hamilton co., IL
16 Jan 1804 (bond dated 1 Oct 1803), Frances Lane (dau of Thomas & Nancy
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(Dabney) Lane; b. 22 Jun 1785, N.C.; d. 2n Oct 1859, Saline co., IL), Wayne
co. KY

children:
1.

2.

. 3.

7.

9.

10.

Archelaus (Achilles)
b. 30 Jul 1806, Wayne co., KY
d. 10 Mar 1883, Saline co., IL
m. 23 Apr 1824 Jane (Jennie) Dean, Hamilton co., IL
Thomas
b. abt 1808, Wayne co., KY
d. bef 5 May 1845, Miller co., MO
m. 17 Sep 1828 Kezia (Keziah) Varnier (or Varner), Gallatin co., IL
John (see chapter 13) .
b. 22 Apr 1810, Wayne co., KY
d. 8 Apr 1879, Lookingglass, Douglas co., OR
m. 13 Sep 1832 Nancy Snyder, Gallatin co., IL
Ann
b. abt 1812, Wayne co., KY
m. 2h Dec 1834 John Baldridge, Gallatin co., IL
Eleanor (or Elinor)
b. abt 181»/15, prob. Washington co., IN
d. after 1900 ?
m. 17 Mar 1852 James L. Kennedy, Saline co., IL
Sally
b. abt 1816, prob. Washington co., IN
d. abt 1839-43, prob. Hamilton co., IL
m. 28 Jul 1836 Ewing Flannigan, Gallatin co., IL
James Wesley
b. 15 May 1818, Wayne co., KY
d. 5 Aug 1883, Saline co., IL
m. 20 Nov 185# Mary E. M. Kane, Saline co., IL
Lewis P.
b. abt 1820/1, Illinois
d. bef 25 Apr 1888, Hamilton co., IL
m. 5 Oct 18#2 Nancy Ann C. Laswell, Hamilton co., IL
Louisa ,
b. abt 1823, Illinois
m. 25 Dec 18#2 John J. Lane, Miller co., M0
E11
b. 6 Oct 1825, Gallatin co., IL
d. 7 Oct 1899, Hamilton co., IL ­
m. (1) 17 Jun 1852 Nancy Russell; (2) 10 Oct 1872 Nancy Ellen Foster,

both Hamilton co., IL.
There may have been another one - Jane, b. 1804; m. William Dean.
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CHART 10-A

CHILDREN OF JAMES AND FRANCES (LANE) COFFEY: # 1 ARCHELAUS

Archelaus "Achilles" Coffey
b. 30 Jul 1806, Wayne co., KY
d. 10 Mar 1883, Saline co., IL
m. 23 Apr 1824 Jane Dean (dau of Jacob Dean & b. abt
children:

1805), Hamilton co., IL

1. Permelia
b. abt 1825, Prob Gallatin co., IL
d. after 1 Feb 1890

l' m. (1) bef 1844 Charles Samuel Sloan (1814-1863), (2) 13 Dec 1866 Abel Hunt.
children:

1.
2.
3.
4.
5.
6.
7.
8.
9.

10.
2.

b. 10
d. 26

James A. Sloan - b. 1844: m. Malinda Caroline Hunt.
David Sloan - b. 1848; m. Elizabeth Cantrell.
Samuel T. Sloan - 1850-51
William Monroe Sloan - 1854-87; m. Martha Drusilla Dean
Mary Sloan - m. James Boyd
Melvina Eldine Sloan - m. Jarreth E. Stilley
Jane Sloan - m. Charnel Glascock
Hannah Sloan - m. (1) Perry Hunt, (2) Braxton P. Crawford
Sibelia Sloan - m. Jacob Dean
Paulina Hunt - m. AmonHumes Coffey

Paulina
Sep 1826, prob Gallatin co., IL
Jul 1843 (bur Bethel Crk Church, Saline co., IL)

not married
James
b. 18

3. Asbury
Nov1827, Gallatin co., IL

d. 13 Jan 1879. Dodge City, KA
m. 27 Dec 1849 Louisa Adelade Ferris Long Carnahan
children:

1‘
20
30
“I
5.

6.
7.
8.
9.

Sales
b. 15

John Gerry - d. in infancy
Marya- b. 13 May 1851, Saline co., IL; d. 1905, Tombstone, AZ
Eben Ricea- b. 17 Dec 1852, Saline co., IL; d. 1935, Austin,.CO
Phoebe - d. in infancy
Irena Ann - b. 12 Dec 1856, Lawrence, KS; d. after 1935; m.
John F. Moore
Laura - b. 1859 Humbolt, KS; :11.(1) J.P. Soderstrom, (2) F.P. Knight
Amy- 1861, Hubolt, KS; n. George Emerson
Elizabeth - b. Hubolt, KS: m. Smith Ruble
Lulu - b. 1866, Kansas City (KS?); m. Thomas Murdock
MD

May 1831, Sangamonor Gallatin co., IL
d. 1 Feb 1890 (bur. Bethel Crk ch., Saline co., IL)
never married

5.
b. 31
Malvina (or Melvina) E.

Dec 1833, Gallatin co., IL
d. 18 Jul 1854
m. 18 Dec 1851 Asahel (or Ashel) W. Durham

a Mary md. Louis Mclntire. Eben md. Tola Kreigh



9.

10.

11.

12.

13.
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children: only 1, Sarilda, whomd. Robert Marshal Dean and had Bertus A.
Dean. Melvina Dean Fox, Loretta Deen Hayes, Cora Deen Shaw, & Dora (d.
young)­

Louvica J.
b. 5 Aug 1836, Gallatin co., IL

3. 28 Jun 1838, Gallatin co.. IL (bur. Bethel ark. ch., Saline co., IL)aura
b. 20 May1838, Gallatin co., IL
d. 3 Aug18u1, Gallatin co., IL (bur Bethel Crk ch, Saline co., IL)
Amanda. Eu
b. 20 Aug 1839, Gallatin co.,IL
d. 29 Oct 1839, Gallatin co., IL (bur Bethel Crk ch, Saline co.. IL)
Lawrence Lesenby
b. 1841
m. abt 1862 S. Melvina Barker
children: (muchconfusion between family lists & census lists - some

prob. went by nicknames: ,
1. Orella (or Orilla)-b. 1863/fig m. 20 Jul 188k William D. Ezell
2. Riley - abt 1864 (age 16 on 1880 census)
3. AmonHume- (Harmon on 1880 census) - b. abt 1865/6; m. Pauline Hunt.
4. Ethan - b. abt 1868 ‘ '
5. Edith - b. abt 1873
6. Alley (or Allie) - b. abt 1876: m. Mathews (was there an Allie and

an 0llie?? Perhaps Ollie was Ollie Grace and b. 1871).
7. MaudeMary - b. Dec. 1879 (birth rec. says she was 6th child);

m. Handle
8. Ethel - m. Reeves
9. John H. - b. 11 Feb 1881: d. 30 Aug 1881 (9th child)

10. Shelby c. - b. Oct 1882; d. 28 Jul 188a (could this be Car Coffey?)
11. Edd - Could this be Edith, b. abt 1873 (see # 5 above)?

CI A!
b. 3 Dec 18h1
d. 5 Dec 1841 (or 18uh) - bur Bethel Crk ch., Saline co., IL
G.E.C.
b. 7 Feb 18#3
d. 8 Feb 18u3 (bur Bethel Crk ch, Saline eo., IL)
John Mcclernan
b. 1847
m. 15 Aug 1869 Mary Glascock, Saline co.. IL
children:

1. John Ernest
2. Nora - b. 1871; m. Toberman
3. George Achilles —b. 1878; d. 19#9; m. Julia Lockhart and had

John Lockhart (b. 1898), May (m. Nickens), and Georgia (m.(1)
Helch & (2) Camp).

Phoebe Ann
b. 16 Nov 1852
d. 18 Dec 1852 (bur Bethel Crk cn., Saline co., IL)

CHART 10-B

CHILDREN OF JAMES AND FRANCES (LANE) COFFEYa # 2 THOMAS

Thomas Coffey.
b. abt 1808, Wayne co., KY
d. bef 5 May 18h5, Miller co., M0
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m. 13 Oct 1828 Kezia (or Keziah) Varnier (or Varner). dau of Peter Vhrnier (or
Varner), Gallatin co., IL.

children:
1. Caroline

b. 1829, Illinois
m. Goodwin
children: Thomas,Christina E., Keziah C., another son, and others (?).

2. William Allen
b. 1831/2, Illinois
do Miller (3009
m. Mary "Polly" Hiseman, Camden co., M0
children: George, Louisa, Rufus, Keziah C., Caldonia, Sarah J., Thomas,

James A., Jasper, & another son (?).
3. Harvey C.

b. 183#, Gallatin co., IL
4. Elizabeth A.

b. 1838, Gallatin co., IL
59 ThOma5 Mo

b. late 1839 or early 1840, Gallatin co., IL
6. Sarah J.

b. 1845, Miller co., M0

CHART 10-C

CHILDREN OF JAMES AND FRANCES (LANE) COFFEY: # 6 SALLY

Sally Coffey
b. abt 1816, prob. Washington co., IN
d. bef 1840 (?), or perhaps 18hO—#3,prob. Hamilton co., IL
m. 28 Jul 1836 Ewing Flannigan, Gallatin co., IL
children:

1. Perlina
b. abt 1837, prob. Hamilton co., IL2: Ea_
b. abt 1839, prob. Hamilton co., IL3:POSS.as dangbe

Ewing (b. 1816, TN):m. (2) 19 May 1843 Caroline Mace, (3) 15 Sep 1843 Mary
Elinor Cantrell; d. 20 Dec 18#6, Matamoras, Mex.

CHART 10-D

CHILDREN OF JAMES AND FRANCES (LANE) COFFEY: # 7 JAMES NESLEY

James Wesley Coffey
b. 15 May 1818, Wayne co., KY
d. 5 Aug 1883, Saline co., IL (bur Bethel Crk ch)
m. 20 Nov 185k Mary Ellen M. Kane (b. 11 Jan 1839; d. 11 Jul 1916, Saline co.

IL, bur Bethel Crk ch.), Saline co., IL.
children: (poss. others)

1. Isabella F. Coffey
b. abt 1855/56
m. 15 Feb 1872 John D. Simmons, Saline co., IL

2. James H. Coffey
b. 18 Jun 1858
d. 27 May 1873 (bur Bethel Crk ch.)

3. Sarah Elizabeth (Lizzie)
b. abt 1860
m. 24 Oct 1880 John C. Ogden



9.

Lewis P.
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Mal? Jo
b. abt 1862
m. 6 May 1883 James E. Hargraves
Samuel M.

d. 6 Oct 1869 (bur Bethel Crk ch.)
Robert E.
b. 19 Dec 1869
d. 6 Aug 1870 (bur Bethel Crk ch.)
Lillie M. (female)
b. 11 Jun 1871
d. 18 Dec 1872 (bur Bethel Crk ch.)
Lillian R. (male)
b. 21 Oct 1873
d. 4 Jul 1947, Harrisburg, Saline, IL
m. 20 Jan 1895 Arminda F. Baden, Saline co., IL
children: 1. Blanche (yd. Cecil Pulliém): 2. Beulah (md. James Conrad

Pemberton); 3. Rex (not married); 4. Ray (md. Winnie Tate); 5.
Arthur (md. Ruth Jones); 6. Inez (md. Fredrick Allard).

Hhilly (male)
b. abt 1774
d. bef 1883

CHART 10-E

CHILDREN OF JAMES AND FRANCES (LANE)'COFFEY: # 8 LEWIS P.

Coffey
b. abt 1820/21, Illinois
d. bef 25 Apr 1848, Hamilton co., IL
m. 5 Oct 1842 Nancy Ann C. Laswell, Hamilton co., IL
children:

1.

2.

3.

Sarah J.
b. abt 1845, prob. Hamilton co., IL
Sophronia
b. abt 1847, prob. Hamilton co., IL
Louisa
b. abt 1848, prob. Hamilton co., IL
d. 1889/90
m. 1 Dec 1872 John Frank McGi1l, Hamilton co., IL

CHART 10-F

‘CHILDREN OF JAMES AND FRANCES (LANE) COFFEY! # 10 ELI

Eli Coffey
b. 6 Oct 1825, Gallatin co.. IL
d. 7 Oct 1899, Hamilton co., IL (bur Rector Fork cem., Hamilton co., IL)
m. (1) 17 Jun 1852 Nancy Russell (b. 27 Jun 1832; d. 4 Aug 1869; bur Rector

Fork cem., Hamilton co.), Hamilton co., IL '
children:

1.

2.

3.

Frances M.

b. 12 May 1854 éor 1853 ?)d. 24 Oct 1862 bur Rector Fork cem., Hamilton co.)
Melvina J:
b. abt 1855/56
m. 22 Feb 1882 Alexander Frank Laswell, Hamilton co.) IL
Louisa Eliza
b. abt 1857
m. (1) 22 Jan 1888 Robert 3. Gibson: (2) 25 Nov 1902 William Beachu.
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7.

8.

9.

James A.
b. abt Jan 1860
m. Henrietta
children: Joseph E. Coffey, Saloma Bootman, Ora B. Coffey: & L013 3- C°ff8m
Colubus
b. 15 Oct 1861
d. 3 Feb 186# (bur Rector Fork cem, Hamilton co.,
'IhOm8.S Ra

d. 15 Feb 1864 (bur Rector Fork cem, Hamilton co.)
Mary E0
b. 1866
m. 6 Oct 1889 William Jack Holland
Samuel M.
b. 6 Oct 1868
d. h May 1892 (bur Rector Fork cem., Hamilton co.)
Nancy
b. Jul/Aug 1869 (1870 census)

IL)

m. (2) 10 Oct 1872 Nancy Ellen Foster (13. 10 Nov 18l+5; d. 15 Apr 1879 (bur
Rector Fbrk cem.. Hamilton co.), Hamilton co., IL

children:
1.

2.

3.

Modesta Anna
b. 1873
m. 30 Apr 1899 Thomas Warren McKay, Hamilton co.. IL
Sariah
b. abt 1875/76
m. 6 Oct 1889 Samuel Lloyd Holland
John Eli

b. 24 Jan 1878 E311-th Bk. A, # 55. Hamilton oo.. IL)6.. 22 Mar 1952 bur Rector Fork cem., Hamilton co.) .
m. 21 Oct 1900 Sarah E. Shaptaw, Rural Hill, Hamilton co., IL
children:

10Lucille "' by
2. John Elvis - b. 1903 "
3. Janie Evelyn - b. 1905; m. Ray Summers (she has furnished much of

the material for E11an his children).1?.Mamie " be ­
5| Floyd.A. ‘ by
6. Resa Ethel - b. 19117:Newman "'be
8. Othel Leman - b. 1916
9. Roy Leo - b. 1919.

1



CHAPTER 11

THE LANE FAMILY

“So upright Quakers please
both man and God."

. . Pope





On August 8, 1783 in Bedford county Virginia one ThomasLane married a Nancy

Dabney. It was their daughter, Frances whomarried James M. Coffey as given in the
previous chapter. Both the Lane and Dabneyfamilies were early and numerous in
Virginia so the particular lines of these 2 individuals are not entirely clear.
However,I will give what I have been able to find, first, in this chapter the
Lanes, and in the next chapter the Dabneys.

There were already at least 19 Lane immigrants1 to Virginia by 1666 and many
others appeared in Marylandz and in North Carolina3 before the Revolution. There

was a ThomasLane (age 30) in Virginia as early as 1613? In the early 1700s a
London merchantj by the nameof ThomasLane did a lot of trading in Virginia.
There is a possibility that he finally settled there but no proof. There was
also a Thomasand ThomasJr. in Surry county Virginia (more later), and a Thomas
in NewKent county in 17O#.6 A William Lane came from Newgate to Virginia on the

ship "Forward Frigate" October 25, 17237 and some other Lanes in the early 1700s.
There are a nuber of other Lane records in early Virginia including a Thomasin
Hanover county in 1719? a runaway white servant named ThomasLane in Caroline

county about 17h#-469 and a ThomasLane an wife Ann in Spottsylvania county in
the 1760s and 177Os.1O

However, all we know of our line seems to come from Quaker records.11 William

Lane, son of Thomas, married Anne Crew, daughter of John Crew at the Friends Meet­

ing House in Henrico county Virginia November6, 1733/34. William had been meet­

ing with the Cedar Creek Particulate Meeting (located in Hanovercounty) at least
one year whenhe was married. The manner in which this data is presented suggests
that Hilliam mayhave been a convert to the Quaker faith. Wehave no earlier

record of him in Quaker meetings nor of his father Thomas. Perhaps the latter was
the Thomas living in Hanover county in 1719 and the Thomas in NewKent county in
170k (Hanover was formed from NewKent county). The Crews seem to have been a

strong Quaker family. John and wife Sarah together with marriages of their child­
ren are listed in Henrico MonthlyMeetings, apparently held in Charles City
county in the early 1700s. Wedo not have the birthdates but the marriages were
as follows:

1. Sarah - m. 8 Jan 1711+/15Robert Elyson
2. John - m. 14 Mar 1717 Agatha Elyson
3. Andrew - m. 12 Feb 1720 Hannah Elyson
h. Mary - m. 10 Sep 1724 John Ladd
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5. Joseph - m. 12 Jun 17?5 Massey J°hn5°n6. Jane - m. 28 Dec 1727 23 J°hn Sanders
7. William - m. 8 Jul 1729 Hannah Sanders
3. Anne - m. 6 Nov 1733/34 wnnam Lane
9. David - m. 9 Nov 1733/3“ Marv Stanley

There must have been Quaker meetings hehiat John Crew's house as it is on the map

(in Charles City county) provided by Hinshawof Quaker meetins Places in V1r81n13'
Most further Virginia records of the Lane family are in the Cedar Creek P.M.

(see picture), located in Hanovercounty. Theminutes of this Particulate Meeting
mention a Thomasand a Daniel Lane signing a marriase certificate in 1739/40- In

,é§;;¢/‘3‘:
Cedar Creek Quaker Meeting House, Hanover
Co. VA (Redrawn from Meyer} Dr. Harold J.a)

1739 William and family requested a certificate to go to OpeckenMonthly Meeting
(Hopewell) in Frederick county an madea second request in 17#1. It was granted
in October 17h1 but there is no record that they ever went there. If they did,
they apparently cameback and were probably living in Caroline county while attend­
ing Cedar Creek P.M. in 1764 when they were granted a certificate to go to New
Garden M. M. (Guilford county North Carolina). whenthey arrived there in Feb­

ruary 1765 the children were listed as Sarah, William, Daniel, Jesse, Thomas,
Marjory, and Mordecai. The father William and the children Sarah, William, Dan­
iel, and Jesse were dismissed (disfellowshipped) for various reasons while living
there and in 1771 Ann and 3 children (Thomas, Marjory, and Mordecai) received a
certificate to go to South River M.M. (Bedford co. VA, nowCampbell co.). They
apparently didn't stay at South River long as they were received at Cedar Creek

a VAMag. Hist. Biog. 64(4)=u5u, Oct 1956
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M.M. in June 1772. In 1778 Ann went back to NewGarden, Guilford county, North

Carolina. Fromthese records it may sound as though Ann, with some of her children,
is moving back and forth but not her husband William and the rest of the children.

However, since they had been "dismissed" no record was made of them. Probably the
entire family movedtogether except that someof the older children mayhave been
married and remained in Guilford county North Carolina when the family movedback
to Virginia in 1771. Not muchis knownabout the children other than Thomas.

Sarah married Benjamin Hancock about 1765. She was dismissed from the NewGarden
M.M. December 28, 1765, probably for marrying Hancock who was evidently not a
Quaker. They moved to Waynecounty Kentucky between 1779 and 180h. Their child­
ren were:

1. William
2. Nancy
3. John L.
4. Margaret (Margery)
5. Sarah Gwen - 111.William Rains (b. Franklin co., VA), 2 Mar 1809, Wayne co.,

6. §:sse
7. Benjamin, Jr.

Benjamin, Sr. died in 1815 and Sarah sometime after that. Sarah Gwen Hancock and

William Rains had a son Benjamin H. Rains, born December 18, 1816 in Wayne county

Kentucky and he married Catherine Roberts Wallen November10, 1869 in Waynecounty.

They had a son Constant Benjamin Rains April 17, 1875 who married Lennie Etta
Carter July 5, 1905. The latter couple were the parents of Estil E. Rains, born
May 18, 1906 and he was the father of Katherine Rains Buck of Alpha, Kentucky.

I have no definite records for the next 3 children, William, Daniel and
Jesse, but these namesoccur in Guilford county records and I believe they settled
there. All 3 were dismissed from NewGarden M.M. (Daniel 1769, William 1770, and

Jesse 177h), but reasons are not given. A Jesse married HannahHuddleston about
1803. They had the following children: Lydia, Ira, Phebe, Levi, Annuel (Ann),
Rhoda, Mary, Elizabeth, Rachel, and Susannah and movedto Ohio in 1809, affiliating
with the Miami Monthly Meeting. It would seem that Jesse, son of William and Ann
would be too old to be this Jesse so perhaps he is a son of Jesse, William or Daniel.
As far as I knowthere is no information on the daughter Marjory but the youngest
son, Mordecai is apparently the one who was received at NewGarden M.M. from Cedar

Creek M.M. June 8, 1782. He was dismissed November 7, 1797 for "marrying out of
Union (too near kin)". Perhaps he married Susanna Ballard as she was listed as

a Lane when dismissed October 3, 1796 for the same reason. They settled on Deep
River (Guilford county) but I do not knowtheir children.
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ThomasLane may have gone to Bedford county soon after the family's return
to Virginia as a ThomasLane had 400 acres on both sides of Little Whipping Creek
surveyed there in 177h, and purchased 250 acres on both sides of Phelps Creek
in 1778. However one or both of these could well be another Thomas (Tommy)Lane

who was in Bedford county during this time. Wekn0V that the Th°m35"h° married

Nancy Dabney there on August 8, 1783 is our ThomasLane. There were quite 3 few
Lanes in Bedford county at the time and it seems likely that at least some of them
mayhave been related to Thomas‘family, although a definite tie-in is lacking.
WhenWilliam and Anne and the younger children stopped there in 1771/2 it could
have been because of Lane relatives. However,it is equally likely that they
went there to be with Anne's relatives since there are Crews amongthe Quaker

families of Bedford county and they seem to have a connection to the Crews in
the area where Anneoriginally lived. Onepossible Lane connection is that
Cornelius Dabney, not her father but the one whogave consent for Nancy's mar­
riage to ThomasLane, married a Mary "Molly" Lane, probably in Hanover county.

Perhaps she was a close relative of our Lane family.
Floyd B. Layne in his book12 on the Lane family gives the descendants of

Thomasand Elizabeth (Jones) Lane of Surry county Virginia (Thomasborn 1635).
He had a son Thomas, born about 1662 who married Jane Flood. They had a son

Thomas, born 1687-94 in Surry county whomarried Mary . Amongtheir child­
ren was a son John, born prior to 1721 in Surry county, died 1789 in Bedford
county. He married (1) Martha Heath and (2) Jane Heath (sister of Martha). Be­
sides a son John Jr. the children included a son Thomas, born about 1758. This
family was in Bedford county, particularly the portion that becameCampbell county
in 1781-2. By 1789 Thomashad crossed over into Halifax county (Halifax county
deeds, BR. 15, p. 430, etc.). This Thomasis often referred to as Tommieor

Tommyin the records. Mr. Layne says he is the one who married Nancy Dabney in

1783. Perhaps this is because there is only one ThomasLane in the marriage
records of this time and also because he was unaware that there was another

ThomasLane in Bedford county. Although it is difficult, if not impossible,
to separate the two ThomasLanes in some of the records of Bedford and Campbell
county it seems evident to me that there really were two men by that namethere
in the 1770s - 1790s. The tax records and somedeed records at least show two

Thomas Lanes at the same time or only one when our Thomas was gone to North Caro­

lina and only one in Bedford when the other one (often called Tommy)had moved

from the county. The most difficult record to reconcile is the deed in Campbell
county September 2, 1790 in which "Thomasand Nancy Lane of the county of Campbell"
sell 50 acres on Little WhippingCreek. Perhaps the other Thomasalso married a
Nancy.
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The most positive evidence we have connecting our line to ThomasLane (the
Quaker) and NancyDabneyis a letter13 written by their grandson, the Rev. Achilles
(Archelaus) Coffey in 1878. Archelaus claimed to have good knowledge of and as­
sociation with ThomasLane. Quoting from the letter, "Onmymother's side her
fathers name was ThomasLane; I think he was of English descent. He died at nine­
ty six years of age in Southern Illinois. Hehad lived in Virginia, North Caro­
lina and NewYork, raised in the Quakerpursuasion but finally espoused the Bap­

tist faith. Mygrandmother on mymother's side was of Welsh descent; her name
was NancyDabneybefore her marriage." Archelaus further clarifies this in his

booklu on the history of the Regular Baptists: "... mygrandfather ... joined the
Baptists manyyears before my birth £1806]: was a man of extraordinary mind, and
lived to be about ninety-six years of age. Hewas living in this country [Southern
Illinois] at the time the division commencedtsplit in the Regular Baptists to I

form the Mission Baptistgl, but died before the separation was complete [generally
conceded to be 1832]. I had manyinteresting interviews with him. He spent a
portion of his time amongthe Baptists in Virginia and North Carolina, but princi­
pally in Kentucky and Illinois. His name was ThomasLane." I

If we can accept what Archelaus says then ThomasLane could have been born
as early as 17hOor 17#1 and died about 1836 or 1837. I believe the latter to be

approximately correct but if his birth order in the family is as given in the
NewGarden M.M. minutes, then I doubt he could have been born before 1793. This

would make him #0 years old when he married. If he spent time amongthe Baptists
in Virginia this was probably whenhe was in Bedford county. Perhaps his Lane
relatives there (if indeed they were) were Baptist and so influenced him, or
perhaps the Dabneyswere Baptists (I have not been able to find out). The ref­
erence to living amongthe Baptists in North Carolina could have been after his

marriage. At least 2 of his children were born in North Carolina (Frances, 1785
and Mordecai, 1787). One might expect that they would have gone to Guilford

county where others of Thomas’ family lived and where there were some Dabneys
who were probably closely re1ated.15 There is no ThomasLane on the 1784-87
state census of North Carolina and none in Guilfbrd county on the U.S. census

of 1790. However, William, Daniel, and Mordecai are listed there and perhaps
Thomasand Nancy with their 2 or 3 children could have been living with one of
them, although in each case only one male over 16 is listed. There are 3 Thomas
Lanes on the 1790 census’of North Carolina, one in Dobbs county, one in Burke
county, and one in Stokes county. There is a ThomasLane on the 1793 tax list

‘of Wilkes county North Carolina. Our ThomasLane apparently cannot be identified
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from the North Carolina 1790 census or the one in 1800. The Virginia census for
1790 and 1800 are missing bt sometax records and other state enumerations are
available. A Thomasappears on the Bedford county personal property tax lists.
1787-1790 so perhaps this is our Thomasand Nancy. They may have gone to North
Carolina where Frances and Mordecai were born, returning to Bedford county in

time fer the 1787 tax list (the first they are on) but missing the 1787 state
census in North Carolina. It is possible they later went to NewYork as Rev.
Achilles says as much.13 The 1800 census of NewYork lists 3 ThomasLanes. Ours
does not fit the statistics given for any of the 3. Frank Moorementions,16 with­
out giving a source other than Achilles letter, that the Lanes got to Kentucky
(from NewYork) by rafting downthe Ohio river. Lacking evidence to the contrary,
I prefer to think they were in North Carolina, Virginia, or perhaps eastern Tenn­
essee and entered Kentucky by way of the CumberlandGap, thus accounting for their
presence in Wayne county Kentucky in 1803.17 Whywould they have gone to Wayne
county? Possibly because there were other Lanes and/or Dabneysthere at that time.
Someof the Dabneys there seem to be closely related to Nancy Dabney Lane (see

chapter 13) but there is no sure connection with the Lanes except for Thomas‘
sister Sarah whomarried Benjamin Hancock. A John Lane is on the 1802 tax list
(moves to Tennessee in 1806) and a Jonathan Lane and a William Lane are in Cumber­

land county in 1799. The area of Waynewhere ThomasLane settled was taken from

Cumberland county.

ThomasLane is listed on the 1810 and 1820 census of Waynecounty Kentucky,

but in 1827 he sold his land18 there and they followed the Coffeys (James Coffey
and his wife Frances Lane) to Southern Illinois.19 I have been unable to find any
indisputable record of ThomasLane in Illinois. However, from what has previously
been given we are sure he was there and that he probably died there about 1836/37.
Wedo find a ThomasLane living next to the Coffeys and Durhamsin the Saline pre­
cinct of Gallatin county in 18#0,20 but he was only 40-50 years old. As will be
discussed later I believe him to be ThomasJr., the son of our ThomasLane.

It is important to distinguish our Lanes from other contemporary Lane fami­
lies in Southern Illinois. A John Lane and wife Elizabeth living in Equality
township of Gallatin county is probably unrelated and presents no problem in con­
fusing lines. The same is true of‘aJohn Lane in Hamilton county from Ohio. How­
ever, a large Lane family settled in Hamilton county21 in 1818, coming from Sum­

ner county Tennessee, but originally from Craven county North Carolina. The fathers

name “as James ("ifé Mary Ph1PPS) and his sons were William, Leaven, Thomas, James

Jr. (who was born June 28, 181h and became a county judge), Lemuel B., and a mar­

ried son Lewis with wife Mary (Prince) and children Joel P. and Eliza. James'
daughters were Sadie, Lavina, Elizabeth and Mary. The family located a few miles
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east Of M¢Le3nSb°r0 (T-5 3. R 6 and 7 E). Twoand possibly 3 sons of Thomas and

NancyLane also settled in Hamilton county, in the 1820s. These were Lewis,
Dabney, and Thomas(assuming the latter was their son), but they settled just
north of the Saline county line (thus near the Coffeys) in T 7 S, R 6 E. An ex­
amination of the marriage, census, and tax records of Waynecounty Kentucky to­
gether with census and lan records in Hamilton-Gallatin-Saline counties Illinois
helps us to reconstruct the family of Thomasand Nancy.

1. Frances Lane - b. 22 Jun 1785, N.C.;22 m. 16 Jan 180133 James Coffey,
Wayneco. KY; d. 24 Oct 1859 of‘Dropsy",2# Saline co., IL. Little is known about
her personally but she can be followed through the movesand activities mentioned
for James Coffey in the last chapter.

2. Mordecai Lane - b. abt 1787,25 N.C.; m. 7 Nov 181123 Celia Atkinson, Wayne

co. KY; d. prob. bef 1880 Marion co., OR. He was a private in the War of 181226
in Capt. John Martin's Co., Col. Wm.Lewis‘ Regt., KYVolunteers (assuming there
was no other Mordecai Lane in Kentucky at that time). On Oct. 9, 1829 he sold27

his land in Waynecounty (which bordered on land once held by John W. Coffey) and
movedto Gallatin county Illinois. He is in the latter place in 183028but some­
time between then and 1840 he movedto Miller county Missourizg where several of

his children married3o during the 18#0s. The relationship of the 2 census and the
proximity to the Coffey family identify him as the correct Mordecai Lane. One
might not think this name commonenough to need to distinguish him from others of

the same name” However, there is a Mordecai Lane on the Bond county Illinois
census of 1830, 2 in Indiana in 1800 and 185031 (spelled Mordica) and another one

- in Missouri 1830-40-50.32 It appears that Mordica was just another spelling of
Mordecai as our Mordecai was also spelled "Mordica" on the 1800 census. Mordecai's

son, John J. married Louisa Coffey in Miller county Missouri December25, 184233
and this family is on the 1850 census of that county.

10 there is strong circustantial evidence that this Louisa is a youngerdaughter
Thus, John J. and Louisa would have been

As was mentioned in Chapter

of James and Frances (Lane) Coffey.
first cousins.

They do not appear on subsequent census or other recrods of Miller county or
adjacent counties as far as I can tell, but Mordecaiand some-of his other child­

ren apparently crossed the plains to Oregon in the same wagontrain as John Coffey
in 1853.34 Mordecai and his wife Celia are on both the 1860 and 1870 census of

Marion county Oregon but not on the 1880 census. Presumably they had died by that
time as they were 83 and 80 respectively in 1870. I have not been able to find
what happened to the John J. Lane-Louisa Coffey family. Further data on Mordecai's
family can be found in Chart 11.
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3. ThomasLane (Jr.). b. l793-180026(Pr°b- 1794)- There 15 “° Pr°°f °f this
one but there are 2 ThomasLanes in Hamilton county on the 1830 census, one 30-40

and one 20-30. In 18h0 there are none there but one, age #0-50 is in Gallatin
county,2o Saline precinct living next to the Coffeys and Durhamsvand °“° 1“ Har‘
din county, also age M0-50. In the Bethel Creek church records19 a Milly Lane
is received by letter May18#0 from Rector's Fork church in Hamilton county.
Thomasand Milly Lane are on the 1850 census of Saline county, but are then back
in Hamilton county on the 1860 census (but probably living just across the county
line). The only problem with this Thomasbelonging to our family is that the census
records say born in Tennessee. Of course we don't know what happened to the Lanes
from 1787 to 1803, with few exceptions, so they may have gone to Tennessee for 3
time. It is also possible the census records could be wrongin stating Tennessee.
If this Thomasbelongs to our family what happened to the Thomasin the James

Lane family? He may haNe gone to Hardin county as a ThomasLane is there on the

18#0 and 1850 census (wife Jane). He is listed as age 60 in 1850 and born in
Virginia so this might even be our Thomas. However, I favor the other Thomas
because of his closeness to the Coffeys in Saline county.- It is also quite possi­
ble there was no ThomasLane Jr. since no definite evidence for him occurs in

Waynecounty Kentucky records.

4. Nancy Lane, b. 1791+-180035(Prob. not later than 1796-7); m. 5 Mar 181223

Samuel Moore in Wayneco. KY. The bond and an oath of the consent of her parents

was given by Mordecai Layne. This family is on the 1820 Waynecounty census and
Waynecounty tax lists 1815-1827. They probably then went to Illinois. Several
SamuelMooresoccur in Illinois where the Coffeys lived so it is difficult to be
sure if one of them is our Samuel and Nancy or not. I believe the one on the 1830

census of Sangamoncounty living near James and Frances (Lane) Coffey is ours and

the one on the Christian county Illinois 1840 census may be the same. I have not
found the family in 1850. They would appear to have had a son born 1812-1815, 2

daughters 1815-20, 2 daughters 1820-25, and 3 sons and 1 daughter 1825-30.
5. Lewis Lane, b. 7 Mar 1799.36 The situation here is somewhat similar to

the one with Thomas. There were 2 Lewis Lanes on the 1830 and 1840 Hamilton cou­

nty Illinois census but only one seems to belong to the James Lane family. In
185037 one is age 50, born Virginia, wife Eliza J. The other is 56, born North
Carolina, wife Jane. The latter is the only one on the 1860 census, listed as
age 66. A Lewis Lane appears on the Waynecounty Kentucky tax lists 1822 to 1827

and a Lewis Lane provides the bond for a marriage of Jesse Shasteen and Polly
Kinnett March 21, 1818.23 This Jesse is probably the son of Jesse 31-, and Eleanor
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WadeCoffey Shasteen, hence the Coffey-Lane relationship. The Lewis, born 1799
in Virginia whomarried Eliza J. definitely belongs to our family. Wenowknow36

that he first married NancyDean (a daughter of Jacob Sr. and Susanna Dean) on
April 17, 1824. Nancy died before 1845 and Lewis then married Elisa Jane "Louisa"

Boyles, daughter of Fielding and Susan Broyles March 3, 1845 in Hamilton county
Illinois.38 Lewis was in the Back HawkWar39but apparently not (?) the one who
was a Lieutenant in the companyof Capt. Arden Bigerstaff. Data for this family
can be found in Chart 11-A.

This picture thought to
be of Lewis Lane family:

Lewis, right front; wife
Eliza, far right; son
Jacob left front and his
wife Nancyfar left;
Lewis’ daughter Nancy
Ellen in middle.

6. According to the 1850 census of Hamilton county Illinois Sarah "Sally"
Lane was born in 1800 in North Carolina. Wehave no better information than this.
The Lanes must have movedagain from Bedford county Virginia to North Carolina

sometime between March 1799 and Sally's birth in 1800. It would undoubtedly be
interesting if we knewthe story behind she and brother Lewis’ double marriage to
Deans on April 17, 1824 in Hamilton county Illinois. The Lanes had apparently
not movedto Illinois by this date with the exception of Frances whowas married

to James Coffey. It would appear that Lewis and Nancyalone made the trip prior
to April 1824. Although there were Deans in_Waynecounty as early as the.Lanes,
apparently Jacob (Sr) and Jacob (Jr) were not, as tax records and deeds indicate
they did not arrive until 1826. One can imagine that Lewis and Nancy went to
visit James and Frances Coffey and they introduced them to the Deans wholived

not more than a mile or two across the county line. If Jane Coffey married William

Dean and Archelaus "Achilles" was to marry Jane Dean (on April 23, 1824) the
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connection would be more than justifiably provided. Thus on April 17» 182“ LeWiS

Lane married Nancy Dean and Jacob Dean (Jr) married Sally Lane ‘ hT°ther a“d
sister married sister and bother. As mentionedabove both the Jacob (Sr-) and

Jacob (Jr.) families movedto Waynecounty Kentucky in 1826. but then back to
Hamilton county Illinois in 1827. This is probably the same time Thomasand
Nancy Lane moved to Il1inois.uo Dabney Lane and his new wife Cassandra Dean plus

Samuel and Nancy (Lane) Moore also probably moved in 1827, but not Mzidecai. A
Jacob Dean (Jr.), more fully knownas Jacob Clay Deandied intestate in Hamilton
county August 2, 185# and his son, James D. Dean was granted letters of Adminis­
tration October 17, 185#. Jacob C. and Sally (Lane) Dean's family is shown in
Chart 11.

7. Dabney Lane, b. 1802, N.C.37z m. 3 Jan 1827 Cassandra Dean (Dane in record)

Wayneco. KY.23 He is probably the "Dabarry" Lane on the Hamilton county 1830

census except that the age is wrong (30-40). However,he is definitely there in
18h0 and 185032, but not in 1860 or thereafter. Dabney is on the 1825, 6, and 7
tax lists of Waynecounty Kentuckyand during the last year his property is list­
ed under the name of "J. Coffey". He probably moved with other Lanes in 1827. No
further information on Dabneyhas been found.

A Bradford Lane appears on a marriage bond in Waynecounty Kentucky in 1820
but there is no information as to how(or if) he is related to our family. Per­
haps one of the Lanes remained in Waynecounty and had children there as some
Lanes are found in later records, notably a Samuel W. whomarries in 1838.23

William Dabney Lane family: 1st row, 1.-r., Elzada, Wm.
Dabney, Cora, Sarah Flannigan Lane, Susan; 2nd row, l.-r,
Robert, Emily, Lonnie, Ida, and James,
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11.

12.
13.

14.

. Baldwin, Jane, Compil. & Ed.

. Kaminkow, Marion & Jack.

. Chamberlayne, Churchill G., Ed.

. Dorman, John.

. Crozier, William A.

. Morewill be given on this later in the section

. See book mentioned in Ref. # 13.

. Wayneco. KYtax list for 1803 (also on those of succeeding years).

. Soldiers of the Warof 1812. Rept. of the Adj. Gen..of the St.

. Wayne co. KY Deed Bk. E, p. 141.

. U.S. Census for Gallatin co. IL 1830.

. U.S. Census for Miller co. MO1840.

. Marr. recs. of Miller co. MO.

. U.S. census, Indiana, 1840: Orange co. (p. 30) & Owenco. (p. 82);

. Poss. range of birth yrs. according to children of ThomasLane
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CHART ll

OUR LANE LINEAGE

Thomas Lane
b. England (7)

in 1ew Kent-Hanover, VA, 1704, 1719 (7)

John Crew
b. 1670-80 (7), d. 29 May 1762
m. Sarah

Thomas Daniel William Lane

Lane (7) Lane (7) b. abt 1707 (7) 9 children including
11. 6 Nov 1733/34, Anne Crew ———-——-Anne crew

Henrico co., VA b. abt 1713-19, NewKent co., VALived 1734-64 in Hano”er or Caroline co., VA

I I I J
Sarah ‘ William Daniel Jesse Thomas Marjory Mordecai
b. abt 1735 b. abt 1737 b. abt 1739 b. abt 1741 b. abt 1743 b. abt 1745 b. abt 174
d. after 1815 m. 16 Aug 1774 m. abt 1796/7
m. abt 1765 . Patients Green (?) Susanna Ballard (7)

Benjamin Hancock Guilford co., N.C. Guilford co., N.C.' children: see text

Frances Morbecai Thomas Jr. Nancy Lewis Sarah (Sally) Dabney
b. 22 Jun 1785, N.C. b. abt 1787, N.C. (may not belong) b. abt 1796 b, 7 Mar 1799 b. abt 1800, N.C. b. 1802. N-C­
d. 24 Oct. 1859 d. bef 1880 b. abt 1794 m. 5 Mar 1812 Bedford co.YA

Saline co., IL Marion co.,OR m. Milly
16 Jan 1804 James m. 7 Nov 1811

m. 17 Apr 1824
Samuel Moore d. 10 Sep 1874 Jacob Clay Dean
Wayne co., KY Phelps co.M0 (1804'2 Aug 1854)

m. 3 Jan 1827
Cassandra Dean
(b. abt 1812)

Coffey, Wayne co. KY Celia Atkinson 1. James m. 17 Apr 1824 “lm11t°“ °°- IL WIYHG30- KY
children: see chap.10 Wayneco., KY 2. Isaac Nancy Dean

3, Mary Hamilton co,IL *l.Jacob Dean Jr. *1. Hossannah
. William (7) b. 15 Sep 1825 b. abt 1829

‘ See Chart 11-11 d. 15 Oct 1907 -2. Lewis c.
m. 20 Dec 1847 b. abt 1831

John J. Elizabeth Nancy Mary M3113,‘ James Dabney Dean 2? Martha Ann -3. Lettitha J.
b. abt 1821 m.(l) James m. 19 Jan m. 9 Mar b. abt 1826 Johnson b. abt 1834
Wayne co.KY Perry 7/1838 1841 Creed 1847 James m. 20 Oct 1846 -4. Thomas H.
m. 25 Dec 1842 or 8 l839,M0 T,B1gger3 T_ Lynch —Priscilia Nancy Elizabeth -3.Ju1ie Ann Dean b. abt 1837
Louisa Coffey (2) Fry M1113: co, M111er co, m. 10 Nov 1853 Lewis b. 18 Dec 1828 *5. Willis V.
Miller co. M0 aft.l862 M0 M0 Augustus Miller d. 5 Oct 1897 b. abt 1839
(see c ap. 10) Marion co.0R Marion co.,0R Lucinda E. Dean 47 m. 2 Apr 1846 ‘6. Nancy J.

1 b. abt 1830 (7) William Wilson b. abt 1843
J K PEmi1ine m. 10 Feb 1848 Johnson 7. Sarah E.

ames Thomas Wil iam Lucinda Others m. 5 Oct 1854 Maury V. Lewis F5. Sarah Adeline Dean b. abt 1846
b. abt b. abt b. abt b. abt 7 David Kirkpatrick b. abt 1833 ..8. Frances L.
1843/4 1845/6 1847/8 Nov 1849 Marion co., OR Susan N. Dean 67 m. 12 Aug 1852 b. abt Dec 1849/

b. abt 1835 Ninian Edwards Eaaly Jan 1850-Frances
another dau Q____ m. 11 Oct 1855 L7. Nancy Dean
another son Robert Godfrey " b. abt 1837

Marion co., OR

3-9I
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CHART 11-A

VITAL DATA OF THE LEWIS LANE FAMILY

Lewis Lane
b. 7 Mar 1799, Bedford co., VA
d. 10 Sep 1874, Phelps co., MO; bur Millcrk. cem., nr. Newburg, M0
m. (1) 17 Apr 1824 Nancy Dean, Hamilton co., IL (dau of Jacob & Susanna Dean)children:

1. Jacob C. Lane
b. 3 Mar 1825, KYdo Jan Phelpscoop
m. 6 Mar 1845 Nancy NeomaFlannigan (b. 1825, dau of Samuel Ewing Flan­

nigan & Nancy Sharp), Hamilton co., IL .
children:

1. Samuel - b. abt 18h7, MO
2. NancyElizabeth - b. abt 1849, IL
3. William Larkin - b. abt 1852, IL; m. 13 Feb 1873 Mary Elizabeth

"Polly" Flannigan, Phelps co. MO
4. James - b. abt 1855-7, IL; m. Tillie Clark; most of children went

‘ to Calif.
5. Thursey Ella - b. abt 1858, IL; m. after 1883 John K. Giddens.
6. Martha J. "Mattie" - b. abt 1862; m. John Vincent.

2. Susanna Lane
b. 27 Nov 1829, IL
d. 23 Nov 1913, Hamilton co., IL '
m. 20 Feb 18h8 Lewis Waller (b. 5 May 1828, d. 5 Nov 1899), Hamilton co.
children: Theresa, Saphronia, William, NancyEleanor, AmandaE., Lewis,

John, Jarret, America "Mark", Richard, Paralee, Martha, Oscar, Thomas.
3. William Dabney Lane

b. 29 Mar 1835, Hamilton co., IL
d. 22 Feb 1905, Pulaski co., M0; bur Hopewell cem.
m. 23 Jan 1860 Sarah J. Flannigan ( dau Robert Harrison Flannigan, b.

17 Mar 1895, 29 Aug 1907), Hamilton co., IL (one marr rec has 25
Jan 1861.

children:
1. Nancy Elzada - b. 10 Apr 1862, Hamilton co., IL; d. 1921 PulaskiC00. mo M015
2. Lonidis "Lonnie" Walker - b.22 Jun 1869, Hamilton co., IL: d. 19

Feb 1930, Pulaski co., M0; m. Elmeda (Emily) Firestine 6 Nov 1892.
3. Robert Lewis - b. 3 Dec 1866, Hamilton co., IL; d. Dec 1914-1,Ceres,

CA; 28 Nov 1897 Cora Ellen Firestine.
1+. William Larkin - b. 22 Nov 1868; d. 22 Dec 1869.
5. Mary Louisa - b. 6 Feb 1870; d. 30 Aug 1879.
6. Laura Alice - b. 28 Mar 1873: d. 30 Sep 1879.
7. Susan Naomi - b. 23 Oct 1875, Phelps co., MO: m. Owen Thomas Sneed.
8. James Marion - b. 6 Oct 1879; d. 18 May 1905.
9. Ida Caroline - b. 6 Oct 1879 (twin): m. (1) Waller or Walter

Logan Holloway 9 Jun 1907. '
10. Cora Ellen - b. 11 Feb 1882; m. NormCraft.
11. Thersa Emily (Emma) - b. 29 May 1889; m. 29 Feb 1908 Robert E.

Lee Null. '
12. Martha Safrona Ann - b. 19 Apr 1886: d. 19 Jul 1887.

4. Laura L.
b. abt 1837/8
d. after 1850
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Thursia E. Lane
Giddens (dau of
Jacob C. Lane),
holding daughter
Susie A.:Left:
John K. Giddens
and 2 children by
former marriage.

5. Nancy Ellen Lane
b.23.Jul 1814'-0,Ha.mi1ton co., IL '
m. 1? Apr 1859 Larkin Cantrell Waller (b. 25 Apr 1833, d. 1928), Hamil­

ton co., IL.
children: Sarah Ann, Charles, Porter, Larkin, Erastus "Rassie", William,

Margaret, Uriah, Emma.
m. (2) 3 Mar 18h5 Eliza Jane "Louisa" Boyles (dau of Fielding & Susan Eoyles,

b. 5 Jan 1825), Hamilton co., IL.
children:

1. Jeremiah Ewing Lane
b. 13 Oct 18h7,Hami1ton co., IL
d. 9 Apr 1919, Waynesville, Pulaski, M0 .
m. 16 Jan 1873 Mary Abigail Page, Phelps co., MO(she was b. 28 Jun 1849

Hamilton co., IL, d. 11 Nov 1925, Haynesville, MO.)children:
1.

2.

3.
4.

5.

6.

George Washington - b. 20 Sep 1873, Phelps co., MO:d.in Jan 1956,
Waynesville, M0: m. 26 Apr 1905 Cora Miller Duncan.
Virginia Belle - b. 15 Jan 1875;d.5Eec 19265 m. (1) 13 Mar 1901
LemuelElliott (div), (2) Hibbard (div), (3) 5 Feb 1924
Henry Roach.
Walker Burton - b. 5 Jan 187?: d. 9 Jul 1891.
Minnie Jane - b. 15 Nov 1879, Phelps co., M0: d. 2 Jan 1970, St.
Louis, MO; m. 19 Dec 1912 ChampFred Gray (div).
Nancy Louisa - b. 12 Sep 1881, Phelps co., MO;d.
21 Feb 1909 Emmet G. Coogan. ­

Mary Agnes "Mollie" - b. 6 Dec 1883, Pulaski co., MO;d. 10 Apr
1934: m. 25 Dec 1902 Houston Elihue Morrow (b. 18 Apr 1880, Phelps
co., M0, d. 7 Oct 1934); children: 1
1. Mildred Ruth Morrow, m. William F. Bown: 2. Lawrence E.
b. 29 Oct 1906, d. 26 Jan 1946, m. Gladys Sanders; 3.
Morrow, m. Hugh G. Willoughbyg U. Opal Lea Morrow;
Morrow, m. John Louis Mcculloch.

8 Aug 1938; m.

Morrow,
Eunice Helen

5. Effie Jeanette

9
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7. Rebecca Anna - b. 16 Dec 1885, Pulaski co., M0; d. 21 Jun 1926, Ceres
CA; m. 10 Oct 1906 Vandiver "Dick" Berry H111 McDonald.

Above: Jeremiah Ewing Lane
family, 1st row 1-r, Nancy
Louisa, Jeremiah Ewing,
Mary Agnes, Rebecca Anna,
Mary Abigail Page Lane, &
Minnie Jane. Back, Virginia
Belle and George Washington

Left: George Washington

Lane, pointing to tombstone
of his uncle, Jacob C. Lane
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Mary Agnes Lane Morrow and husband Houston E. Morrow
with children Lawrence E. (L) and Mildred Ruth (R),about

Opal Lea Morrow, 1981+
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It was mentioned in Chapter 11 that ThomasLane married a Nancy Dabney in

Bedford county Virginia on August 8, 1783. Their grandson, Rev. Archelaus

("Achilles") Coffey states,1 "mygrandmother on mymother's side was of welsh
descent; her name was Nancy Dabney before her marriage. There were some men of

distinction amongst them but I amnot able to give their history." Such a pity
he did not knowat least their names! After muchresearch, today we still do not
knowthe names of her parents.

Although a book on the marriage bonds of Bedford countyz says "consent of
Cornelius, father of Nancy," the actual bonds only say "consent of Cornelius.3"
I have taken this to meanthat Cornelius could have been a relative, probably
an uncle, with whomshe was staying and perhaps her parents had movedelsewhere
or were deceased. There are several reasons for this: (1) there is also a marriage
bond (Nov. 3, 1785) for a Nancy Dabney to John Overstreet in which Cornelius is
listed as her father, (2) In Cornelius‘ will (1792)u NancyOverstreet is mentioned
as a daughter. This latter family is knownto have gone to Illinois.: (3) as

evidenced by marriage and deed records there were other (at least one) Dabney
families in Bedford county about this time. There is a Nathan whomarried Jenny
Younger (more on him later). Then we have William Dabney who received a patent5

for 35# acres on both sides of the North Fork of Difficult Creek July 26, 1765.
He is not a child of Cornelius but could be a brother. In 1791 William Dabney

"of Guilford county, North Carolina" sells6 to Cornelius Dabneyof Bedford county
174 acres in Bedford county. It is possible that William had movedto North Caro­
lina leaving his daughter Nancywith her uncle Cornelius. Or, he could be deceased
and this is a son William selling to his uncle Cornelius. In either case, I
have been unable to find any record of a Hilliam Dabneyin Guilford or neighboring
North Carolina counties. There was a John Dabney in Guilford county in deed?
and court8 records from 1779 to 1784 and also in Rockinghamcounty on the 1790

census. A Cornelius Dabney was in Caswell county on the same census as well as
the North Carolina state census of 1786. Cornelius also appears on some Rockinghamg

and Guilford8 county records, and is mentioned in the Caswell county court minutes
in 1787and 1788. Wefind records across the state line in the Pittsylvania­
Henry counties area for a John Dabneyas early as 1769,10 William in 177211 and

Cornelius somewhat later (mostly 178Os).12 Since William Dabney must have been
169
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in Guilford county sometime(although not on official records) and had a land
transaction with Cornelius of Bedford county, I feel that all of these Dabneys
in the Guilford-Caswell-Rockingham, North Carolina area must be closely related
to those in Bedford county Virginia (additional reasons will be given later).
Sometime after her marriage to ThomasLane,NancYDabney 313° Vent t° N°rth Car°'
1ina.13 Wedon't knowexactly where but this area would be a good probability
since ThomasLane also had relatives in Guilford county, and had himself lived
there earlier.1u

There are several mentions of a William Dabneyin the Bedford county court

order books but it may be a younger William. One says he is son of Rachael
Dabneyis and then there is a marriage of William Dabney to Beckey Echols on
September h, 1793.2

Perhaps before we go further with the Bedford Virginia and North Carolina
Dabneys we should back up somewhatto lay the foundation for these families. The
most prevalent theory16 regarding the origin of the Dabneysis that they stem
from a French Huguenot leader, Agrippa d'Aubigne (1550-1630) through his son
Constant. It is further maintained that after the revocation of the Edict of
Nantes (1685) a branch of this family left France and went to Wales. About 1715­
1717 two brothers Cornelius and John d'Aubigne left Wales and came to Virginia,
settling respectively on the northern and southern banks of the PamunkeyRiver,
near the point where the river divides King William and Hanover counties. All of
the Virginia Dabneys would thus have sprung from these two brothers.

The above descent, or variations of it is to be found in several books and
family histories.17 However, Charles William Dabneyin 1937 wrote an article18

that gives rather convincing evidence that the Huguenottheory could not be true,
but rather a Norman-Englishorigin is instead correct. This theory proclaims the
origin to be Sir William d'Aubigne, a knight of Normandy(an area in France) who
went to England with William the Conqueror in 1066. The Dabneys (many variations

of the name) seemed to be particularly strong in Cambridgeshire and Norfolk England.
The first Dabneyin America for which we have record is Cornelius, the inter­

preter to the Queen of the PamunkyIndians. He had a land grant19 in NewKent

-county (now Hanover) as early as 1664 and is generally thought to have been born
about 1630-15“°' In 1678 he had a wife Edith (Eedeth) and they had at least 2

sons.2o Edith apparently died before he did as he is supposed to have married (2)
17D

Susagfa (Swan?) before 1686. He died sometime between October 1693 and May
159W and Susanna married (2) David Anderson. It is said22 that Cornelius and

Susannah had 3 children and then she had 3 children by David. However, I believe
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there is some confusion here. By Anderson she had a son David and possibly a dau­
ghter whomarried James Trice (Ruth?). It is usually said that she had a third
child, Mary who married Major Thomas Carr. However, Mary was born January 22, 1688

and most certainly was a Dabney, not an Anderson. Thus, by Cornelius she had
Maryand Cornelius, the latter born about 1686. A daughter Elizabeth died April
4 and a son John April 7, both 1688.23 Their age at death is not known as we do
not know whether Edith or Susanna was the mother. Of the boys by Edith, one was

most certainly James whomarried Ann Sherwood by 1690.2” Capt. George was probably
another, although not stated as such in any record. He received a land grant25
on the same day (25 Apr 1701) and in the same area in Pamunkey Neck as did James,

Sarah, and Dorothy (latter married William Anderson). James, Sarah, and Dorothy
are stated as being brother and sisters. However,Trist Woodc1aims26 that Sarah
was really a sister-in-law and was the widowof John Dabneywhodied in early man­
hood and she married later that same year (1701) William Winston. He suggests
that this John Dabney (born about 1665) was not the one who died 1688 but a son
of a traditional John Dabney, immigrant, brother of Cornelius. Trist Woodfurther
states27 that Sarah was Sarah Jennings (not the same one that later - 1721 - marries
Cornelius Dabney, Jr.) I do not knowany bona fide evidence (civil or church
records) for this, unless Mr. Woodhad family papers which he did not mention. I
amthus basically not accepting his contentions, while at the same time not re­
jecting them, but showingthemas possibilities.

Before summarizing this first generation I need to add that a Benjamin Dabney
is on the 170# quit rent roll of King William county, along with James and George.
Some28 say he was a son of Cornelius the interpreter. At this point lets summarize,
diagramatically, the first generation of Dabneysin Virginia (refer to Chart 12).

1 Somecommenton the John Dabney line (right side of chart) is needed. There
does not seem to be any records of an early immigrant John but there are enough
descendants, or early unplaced Dabneys, to make one believe there was a John. For
instance, Trist Wood'sancestor, Francis Strother, apparently did marry a Susannah

Dabneygg born about 1698, who was the daughter of a John Dabney. Also, we have
someearly John Dabneys, that are probably too early to belong to the Cornelius
and Sarah (Jennings) Dabneyline (see later). Amongthose are records of a John
in Hanover county (1733), Amelia county (173h, and Caroline county (173#). Some

sources3O bay John (born about 1665) married twice, names unknown, and by the
first wife he had John III, George of Dabney's Ferry and Nancy whomarried Mr.

Millar of Henrico county. By the second wife he had James "the Powerful". Sup­
posedly John III and James didn't marry and George most probably belongs to Corn­
nelius the immigrant.18There is little else I can add on this "John line."
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It is generally assumed that Capt, George DabneyI was a son of Cornelius the
immigrant He may have been born as early 35 1670- He had 5 5°“ Ge°rge born
169731 and a daughter Elizabeth born 1699.23 There were several other daughters
but the only other son was William (of Aldringham).
the two sons but first let me clear up another problem. Capt- George I is prob­

ably confused with the supposed George, first son of the Cornelius Dabneywho
married Sarah Jennings.) The story goes like this: Cornelius lived in England
with his first wife (not named), whowas an invalid. He came to Virginia with her,
a grown son George, and a housekeeper, Sarah Jennings. Whenthe first Wife died
he married Sarah and proceeded to have 3 sons and 6 daughters. I suspect the
truth is that Cornelius was the son of Cornelius the immigrant (b. 1686) and went

to England for schooling. He did marry Sarah Jennings in April 1721 in Hanover
county32 but whether or not he had an earlier wife we cannot as yet establish.
If there was a son George it would have to be a different one than Capt. George.
I have not as yet found one that fits, so for at least the time being I'm ignor­
ing this perhaps mythical George.

Whetheror not there was an original Cornelius and John or just an original
Cornelius we have at least three second generation lines to follow: James, George,
and Cornelius.

1. James: The only child of James for which we have documentary record is
a female, Nelthan, born 1698?3 However, it is generally accepted that he had a
son Cornelius, born probably in the 1690s. According to Trist Woodthis is the‘
Cornelius that married Lucy Winston. However,there is contradictory evidence
for this (more later). Other than this wedon't knowanything about James’ des­
cendants and perhaps this is where the lines we can't find would fit.

2. George: This is the best knownline and many prominent Virginians come
through this means. As mentioned earlier there were two sons of Capt. George
Dabney, George II and William. The latter is knownas Col. William of Aldringham.

He was born perhaps as early as 170731 and died between 1765 and 1775 (prob. 1773).

He married Anne Barrett by whomhe had 5 children:16 William Jr. (1736) who is

supposed to have married another Anne Barrett, Mary (1740) whomarried (1) Isaac
Winston and (2) EdmundMassie, Capt. George (1742) whomarried Elizabeth Price,
Col. Charles of Revolutionary War fame who never married, and Samuel who married

Jane Merriwether. After Anne died William married Susanne Anne George and had

Robert (or Robin) whomarried (1) Elizabeth Winston and (2) Elizabeth Christmas,
Elizabeth whomarried William Morris, and Susanne whonever married.

The son George was known as Capt. George Dabney of the Grove. He served in

It is important to talk about
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Dabney's Legion (his brother Col. Charles was commander)as a captain in the Revo­
lutionary War. He was the father of Judge John Dabneywhomarried his cousin
Susanna D. Morris. They were the parents of John Blair Dabney, author of "Sketches
and Reminiscences ....." or the John Blair DabneyManuscript.33 The latter two
generations were in Campbell county Virginia, partly formed from Bedford. Because
ofthis somehave thought that the Bedford Dabneyswere of this line. However, I
find no close relationship.

Nowlets return to George II, William's brother and first son of George I.
He is George "of Greenville" or "the Ferry" and he married Ann Anerson. They
had 4 daughters: Elizabeth whomarried John Crutchfield, Judith whomarried Shackel­
ford, Mary or Molly whomarried Matthew Anerson, and Ann whomarried Dillard.
There were 2 sons: James whomarried Judith Anderson and lived mostly in Louisa
county (father of William whomarried Sarah Watsonan was knownas "Bickhouse

Billy"), and George III whomarried (1) Grace Smith, (2) ? , and (3) Mrs. Ann
‘Nelson Baker. George III lived also at Greenville and is supposed to be the pro­
genitor of the Gloucester Dabneys. He had perhaps 1h children and one of the
better known ones was Benjamin (1750-1806) whomarried (1) Martha B. Armistead
and (2) Sarah Smith who became the mother of the well-known Thomas Smith Gregory

' Dabney. Apparently George III was the father of the George whomarried Susan
Littlepage Quarles, but Benjaminhas been listed as the father too. However,
it's doubtful that he was married whenGeorge IV was born so I go along with the
George III—--- George IV idea.3h Chart 12-A summarizes the George Dabney line.

3. Cornelius: This is the one whomarried Sarah Jennings and this seems to
be myline but proof is lacking. Cornelius is generally considered to have been
born about 1686 and he died in 1764/5.35 His marriage was in April 1721.32 He
and Sarah had 9 children (the will lists only 7) as follows, but not necessarily
in this order:

a. Cornelius, Jr. - married Lucy Winston. Some
son of James whomarried Lucy and somedata would fit better if this is the case.
The Winston genealogy37 has either a William or a Ben Dabney marrying Lucy. I

feel certain they are wrong on both counts. Cornelius Jr. was deceased whenhis
father made his will in 1754. Somesay he died by 1738, others 1745 but perhaps
it was even later. He had only two knownchildren: John an William (some say
only William but the will says children). If Cornelius was born sometimeafter
1721 (perhaps several years) it is doubtful if he could have been married and
had children (at least 2) before 17#5, let alone 1738. For this reason it would
make more sense if Cornelius was the son of James. Lucy remarried William Coles
and had several more children. The Coles history says Lucy first married William

Dabney, then corrects itself to say it was Cornelius. Onehistory says that the

36 say it was the Cornelius,
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son William married Philadelphia Gwathmeybut the dates don't fit. That William
was probably the son of Cornelius and Sarah (see number c. below). One family
history says the son John was the John of Appomattox(whoever that was) but then
says he married AnnHarris, daughter of Col. Harris of Louisiana (Louisa?)
county. I believe they are talking about John of Albemarle (see # b. below).
Wewill comeback to these two sons of Cornelius Jr. later. However, before leav­

ing Cornelius lets add one thing: no matter which Cornelius the Cornelius Jr.
belonged to, it would makemore sense if he was born before 1721. This is cert­
ainly possible if it were Cornelius the son of James. If it were Cornelius the
son of Cornelius the immigrant, then we would have to postulate a marriage for
him before Sarah Jennings. One account16 has Cornelius Jr. having 3 sons, William,
John and Cornelius. AssumingJames did have a son Cornelius (born in 1690s) and
his genealogy is, as such, missing, then it's possible that 19th century Dabneys
who compiled family genealogies mixed up the children of the two contempory Corn­
elius Dabneysplus Cornelius Jr. Note the will of Cornelius (married Sarah Jen­
nings) lists only 4 daughters and most genealogies list 6. Perhaps the last 2

belong to Cornelius, son of James and perhaps he also had s$gs3gilliam, John and/orICornelius. Because of the supposed millions in inheritance due descendants
of Sarah Jennings from her uncle William Jennings of Acton Place, London, many

descendants spent close to 50 years collecting genealogies in the 18005.18 Many
of these were later lost, and someprobably recalled by "memory." It is also 7
quite possible that some of these were badly confused (where not based on Bible
records) or even falsified. Apparently the whole idea of a fortune was a fraud.18

b. John —I believe this is the one generally called John of Albemarle since
he lived there for sometimeand probably_reared most of his family there. He
married AnnaHarris, daughter of Maj. Robert Harris and Mourning (Glenn) Harris.39
After John died Annamovedto Bedford county. This may be a clue that this line
is closely related to the Bedford Dabneys. John and Anna had a son John who is
often confused with his father. Both have been called John of Albemarle and for

both it has been said that they married (1) Anna.Harris and (2) Margaret Smith.
The younger John was born in Albemarle county in 174640 and definitely married

Margaret Smith in 1772.u1 They went first to North Carolina (Guilford-Rockingham­
Chathamcounties) about 1779 and about 1800/l movedto Tennessee, settling in
Williamson county where he died in 1830-1.u2 He appears to be the John whc was
a Lieutenant in the Virginia Militia and was at Yorktownat the surrender of
Cornwallis.u0 John and Anna also had a son Cornelius who also went to the same

area in North Carolina (plus Caswell county). Hemarried Frances Harris,

daughter Of Tyre Harris. a brother of Anna, and thus his first cousin. Another



175
r

son of John and Anna, William, supposedly married a Miss Quarles. Wedon't know

her first name but perhaps it was Jane (we know there was a William Dabney and
wife Jane in Albemarle county in the 1760s). They were the parents of John Quarles
Dabney of Campbell county but I have found nothing more on this line.. There is
probably no significant reason here to mention the daughters of John and Annaex­
cept to mention Lucy who married ThomasMcReynolds (1781) in Bedford county,

there listed as daughter of Anna (John was nowdeceased). Whywould Anna go to
Bedford county if there were not close relatives there?

c. William - married Philadelphia Gwathmeyand lived and died in King William
county.#3 Amonghis children was a Cornelius (1756-1821) whomarried Elizabeth
Smith Winston and lived in Louisa county. It should be mentioned that others
have said that William was the son of Cornelius and Lucy Winston, but in this case
meaningCornelius son of James. This is a possibility which I will consider later.
One source says his only bother was Isaac (not John).

d. Mary - married Christopher Harris, brother of Anna.
e. Elizabeth - married Daniel Maupin.
f. Frances - married John Maupin.
g. Anna - married Mr. Thompson.

(h).A daughter who married Matthew Brown?7CCould this have been Sarah who

supposedly married Benjamin Brown?38

(i).A daughter whomarried William Johnson.
The latter two are not in the will of Cornelius (died 1764/5).

Nowto present someproblems. First of all, there is another John Dabney

17C 4

listed as marrying an AnnaHarris (confusion?). He is, I suppose, the John of

Appomattox16 an perhaps the son of Cornelius Dabney and Lucy Winston. He is
listed as having as manyas 12 children including Garland, Anderson, Tyree, Nathan­
iel, Robert Kelso, a John, and a Cornelius (none of the girls names are known).
If we are to accept the idea that Cornelius (which ever Cornelius he was) who
married Lucy Winston had 2 sons, John and William, that takes care of John. There
are a nuber of other Johns in the records but we needn't consider them now. But

what about William? Wehave several possibilities: (1) he was the William who

married Philadelphia Gwathmey. If so, then we must account for the William son
of Cornelius and Sarah Jennings, born probably in the 1720s or 17305; (2) A
William in Albemarle bought land from and sold to John Dabney "of Hanover".

This John was probably the John Dabney of Albemarle whomarried Anna Harris. But

it is said by one source that John and William were bothers.u5 The William
whomarried Philadelphia Gwathmey(supposedly John's brother) didn't leave King
William county and died there before the last William deed in Albemarle.43
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Also, in the Albemarledeeds Willim's wife is listed as Jane. If the John and
William in the Albemarle records were brothers then either the William whomar­

ried Philadelphia Gwathmeywas not the son of Cornelius and Sarah Jennings but
rather the son of Cornelius and Lucy Winston, 9; the John was not the son of Corn­
elius and Sarah. I doubt the latter; the former maybe a better possibility.
Perhaps they were not brothers at all, but rather father (John) and son (William).
But who was Jane? Could she have been a Jane Quarles? Wedon't know Miss Quarles

first name, but remember, William Dabney, son of John and Anna, married such a

person. And what happened to them? As early as 1771 we find a William in Pitts­
ylvania county11(later Henry). He died in 1779 in Henry county leaving widow
Anna and a minor daughter Lucy.u6 Further study has shown that this Anna was
AnnaHarris daughter of Mary Harris and James Harris of Albemarle county.u7 Anna
and William must have married in Albemarle county before going to Pittsylvania.
Is it possible that this is the sameWilliam? Could Jane have died and then Will­
iam married Anna? Weshould also consider the possibility that William first
married Jane Harris and then her sister Ann. James and Mary Harris are supposed
to have had a daughter Jane who married a Dabney.n6 However, it would make more

sense if Jane were a Quarles since then John Quarles Dabney could be a son of

William. There are a number of deeds in Campbell county between Anthony and Anna
Haden and John Quarles Dabney. Did Jane and William have other children and if

so who? Did Anna and William have other children besides Lucy? (there was no will

and Lucy was mentioned only because a guardian had to be provided.) Is it possi­
ble that some unplaced Bedford county Dabneys were children of William and Jane?

For instance, Nathan and Nancy? And what about the William who had a land grant5
in Bedford county in 1765? Whowas he and what happened to him? Was he the Wil­

liam above or was he the William who sold land6 there (presumably the same land

as in the 1765 grant) to Cornelius in 1791? The latter William was then supposed
to be "of Guilford county North Carolina." However, I can find ng records of a
William Dabney in Guilford county North Carolina.

There is a William Dagney in Bedford coupgy Virginia in the 1790s. He mar­ried BeckyEchols in 1793. In court records he is listed as a son of Rachael

Dabney. Fanny (Frances?), another umplacsiDabney in Bedford county, married
John Jackson in 1790.2 Consent was given by Rachel Dabney. It thus seems like­
ly that William and Fanny were brother and sister but who is Rachael and who was

her husband? Could Nathan and/or Nancyalso belong to this family?

Before taking up a more detailed discussion of the Bedford county Dabneys
and their subsequent migration to Waynecounty Kentucky I believe it would be well

to summarizein a chart the knownfacts and possibilities of the Cornelius Dabney
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families. The reader should at this point study over Chart 12—Bin conjunction
with what has just been written. '

As mentioned earlier, there was more than one family of Dabneys in Bedford

county. The first was William who had the land patent5 in 1765. Wedo not know
whohe was unless he is either (1) the son of John and Anna (Harris) Dabney or
(2) the son of Cornelius and Lucy (Winston) Dabney. At any rate he apparently
did not stay in the county, but may be the one whowas in Pittsylvania county by
1771 and died in Henry county in 1779. MyNancy could well be his daughter and

after his death taken by Cornelius (William's supposed bother) in Bedford county
to raise. Or, if William lost a wife Jane in Albemarle county, and before he
married AnnHarris, one or more of his children could have been taken by Cornel­
ius. Later census records5O indicate Nancy was born between 1765 and 1775. Other

children may possibly have been Nathan (born 1765-177051), Fanny, and William.
Since the mother of the latter two is listed as being Rachael they maybe from a
different family. If Nathan belongs to the William whomarried one or more
daughters of James and Mary Harris (Jane and/or Ann) he could have been named after
Nathan Harris, a son of James and Mary. Incidentally, Mary Harris (born 10 Feb

1729) was the daughter of Major Robert Harris and his wife Mourning Glenn52 and
thus a sister to AnnaHarris whomarried John Dabneyand Christopher Harris who
married Mary Dabney. She married James Harris, a cousin, but I have not been
able to find out to which family he belongs. Somehistories list James as the
son of Maj. Robert and MourningHarris (born 1722), but I believe the former is‘
correct.

In "Dabneys of Virginia" (which has manyerrors and must be used with care)
it is said that Nathan had a bother William and that their father (nameunknown)
had 3 sons and several daughters but only the names of these 2 were known. Of

17A

William, the account goes on to say that he lived for a while in Waynecounty
Kentucky and then movedto Indiana. I have not found a William Dabney in Indiana.
Also, it says that William had 5 sons: Benjamin, George, Charles, John and William.
These are the names of the sons of Cornelius of Bedford county except that Corn­

elius should be listed in place of William. It says this William lived in Shelby
county Kentucky. There is a William Dabney in Shelby county Kentucky in the 1820s
but I can't say that it is the sameperson.

Cornelius’ family is the largest one in Bedford county and we know something
about it, thanks to Cornelius’ will“ of 1792. With it plus marriage records,2’3
we can comeup with the following for his family:
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Cornelius Dabney53
b. bef 1700 (?), prob. Hanover co., VAdo CO0’
m. Mary "Molly" Lane, prob. Hanover co., VA
movedto Bedford co. abt 1772. Had a sister Elizabeth, 5“ b. abt 17uo, prob.

Hanover co., VA, m. Rev. Samuel Shrewsbry (1735-1785. 50“ Of Ruel 3hIeVS'
bury and Elizabeth Poindexter), d. 25 Oct 1830, Bedford co., VA.

was on Bedford co. tax lists 1782-1792.
children:

1. George Dabney55

2.

5|

b. 15 Sep 1760, Hanover co., VA
d. 1h May 1843, Clinton co., KY
m. 10 Jan 1793 Elizabeth Eckhols, Bedford co., VA
private in Rev. War, later Capt. in VAMilitia.
lived in Bedford until 1804/5, movedto Montgomeryco. until abt 1812

when he moved to Wayne co. KY.
children included:

1. Robert A. Dabney - b. 7 Nov 1800; m. Polly.
2. Elizabeth Dabney —m. 31 Dec 1822 Anderson Summers
3. Rebecca - m. 4 Mar 1833 Wesley Owens
4. George W.

Charles Dabney
b. abt 1761 (if this is the Charles on the 1850 census of Campbell co. TN)
d. after 1850 1
m. (1) 19 Jan 1796 Luranny Blankenship: (2) 26 Mar 1798 Betsy Hale, both

Bedford co., VA
on 1810 census, Bedford co., not found for certain in Wayneco. KYbut

may be the Charles who was in the 15th KYReg. in War of 1812 and in
Campbell co. TN 18uo & 1850(census).

probable children:
1. Cornelius - b. abt 1800, m. Sarah
2. Thomas - b. abt 1802, m. Nancy
3. Benjamin - b. abt 1803, m. Lucy
4. Charles - b. abt 1811, m. Ann
5. James ? - b. abt 1822, m. Melinda
6. William ? - b. abt 1825, m. Polly

Benjamin
b. bef 1760 if 1830 Wayneco. KYcensus is correct
d. after 1830
m. 1 Jan 1795 Nancy Wheeler, Madison co., KY
went to Madison co. KYby 1795 - in Wayneco. KYby 1801 (tax list)children included:

1. Milley - m. (1) Hancock, (2) 13 Jan 1817 William Chance
2. Sally - m. William Sturman 9 Jul 1810, Wayne co., KY
3. Charles - b. abt 1800, m. Edey

Cornelius
on 1800 tax list & 1810 census of Bedford co. VA(age 26-45), may be
one Whod. in War of 1812 (1810).
John
b. 1770-80, prob. Bedford co., VA
d. bef. 1850, Wayneco., KY (?).
m- 23 Mar 1801 Lydia J°neS (b. abt 1776), Montgomery co., VA
lived in Bedford until 1805-08, Montgomeryco. 1808-16, Wayneco. KYby
1817; was an attorney in Bedford co. Lydia was a midwife in Wayne co. KY.
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children of John &Lydia:
1. Nathan - b. abt 1802; m. (1) 14 Dec 1822 Frances Sutherland, (2)

9 Feb 1859 Mary Calhoun
2. Robert - b. abt 1804; m. 16 May 1827 Nancy Hancock
3. Sarah - b. abt 1808; m. 7 Aug 1834 Archibald C. Horton
4. Polly - b. abt 1825; m. 21 Feb 1837 John Jones (one or more dates

appear to be off here)
6. Sarah (Sally) Dabney

b. Sep 1773
m. 25 Jul 1791 Stephen Pratt (1764/5 - 13 Mar 1841), Bedford co. VA
moved to Powells Valley, Knox co. TN abt 1816 —2 yrs. - then to Wayne

co. KY - on 1820 census of Wayne co.
10 children include:

1. Nancy Pratt - b. 23 Oct 1792; m. Kinnet
2. Stephen - b. Sep.
3. Permelly - b. 7 Sep 1794
4. Lucy - b. 16 Sep 179_
5. John - b. Feb 1800
6. Cornelius - b. May 1802
7. Charles - b. 20 Dec 18048.
9. Milly

7. Agatha (Agnes) Dabney
m. 4 Mar 1801 John Kennett, Bedford co. VA

8. Anna Dabney
m. 24 Nov 1800 Mordecai McLain, Bedford co., VA

9. Nancy Dabney
m. 3 Nov 1785 John Overstreet, Bedford co., VA.Went to Illinois.

10. Molly Dabney
b. 15 Aug 1762, Bedford co., VA
m. (prob) James Turner
went to Wayne co., KYabt 1817.

While discussing Kentucky I should mention the William Dabney on the 1800
tax list of Green county and the NancyDabneyon the 1799 tax list of Cumberland

county. The latter married Martin Alexander in Cumberlandcounty Kentucky some­

time in 1801.56 I have no idea whoeither of these Dabneys were but I mention
them because (1) the namesrelate to somewe are looking for, (2) these localities
are close to or later formed into Waynecounty, and (3) this was an early time
for Dabneys in Kentucky. 1

Weneed now to turn to Nathan Dabney. He married Jane (Jenny) Younger in

Bedford county in 1789. As mentioned he was born between 1766 and 1770. I will

repeat again, could his father be one of the William Dabneys? An/or could his
mother be Rachael Dabney? A careful reading of "Dabneys of Virginia" indicates

that his father had married a womanof Turkish descent (probably by way of France).
There seems to be no record of this but most traditions have ggmgbasis in fact
so the possibility should be considered. MiriamKendall of Laguna Beach, California
has suggested57 that this might be TORQUAY(instead of Turkey), a seaport in
southern England (Devon). I have no further information or evidence one way or the
other.
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Nathan and Jane had gone to Waynecounty Kentucky by 1810- They lived °n

Otter Creek, near Thomas and Nancy (Dabney) Lane. About 1833 they Vent t0 M300“
58

county Missouri where he probably died 1850 (after June 6) ' 1852- A11 Of

their sons and at least someof their daughters went to Maconcounty too. Their
children were as follows:59

1. Sophia - b. 20 Jan 1791 Bedford co. VA; m. 6 Feb 1812 Wm. Hall, Wayne co.KY

2. Permelia (Pamela) - b. 23 May 1793 Bedford co. VA: d- bef 1863: m- 13 May
1813 Wm.Garrett, Wayne co. KY; went to Macon co. M0.

3. Jubal ~ b. 3 Jul 1795 Bedford co. VA; d. abt 1866; m. Mary Phipps.

4. Rhoda - b. 23 Jul 1797 Bedford co. VA; d. 1851 Macon co. MO; m. 5 Mar 1820
Lewis Gilstrap Wayne co. KY; went to Macon co. M0­

5. Bluford (Buford) - b. 20 Aug 1799 Bedford co. VA; d. aft 1880; m. 3 Feb
182% Rebecca Vickory Wayne co. KY.

6. Elizabeth - b. 7 Oct 1801 VA; m. 9 Dec 182# John McCain Wayne co. KY.

7. Tyree - b. 5 Aug 1803 VA; d. 1893; m. Irene Elles.

8. Jane - b. 2 Oct 1805 VA (?)g m. (1) 1 Jun 1826 John Frost, Wayne co., KY;
(2) 1833/4 Haley Andrews

° Nathan Jr. - b. 29 Feb 1808 VA(?); d. 1877; m. 183h Kaziah Elles.
10. Thomas Jefferson - b. 27 Jul 1810 Wayne co. KY; m. 24 Mar 1837 Cassandra

Walker, Macon co. M0.

To analyze all this, in searching for the ancestors of the Bedford Dabneys,
it seems that we must consider (1) the William Dabney, son of Cornelius and Lucy
Winston, and (2) the William, son of John Dabneyand Anna Harris. Either of these
could have been the father of Nathan and/or Nancy, William and Fanny. I should

mention here that Dorothy Wilson of Alamosa, Colorado, a descendant of Nathan,
has a letter written by Nathan's grandson in whichhe states that his grand­
father said that his parents were John Dabneyand AnnHarris. This doesn't seem
to fit the facts very well. Perhaps he was (1) mistaken, (2) meant William, or
(3) "slipped" a generation and it was Nathan's grandfather that was John Dabney
(married Anna Harris). In any case, howdo we tie these Dabneys in with Cornelius
(d. 1792)? Their presence in Eedford county seems to indicate close relation­
ship as does the permission of Cornelius for Nancyto marry, and the fact that at
least 3 of Cornelius‘ sons went to Waynecounty Kentucky where Nathan and Nancy

also went. George, probably the oldest son, was born in Hanover county in 1760
and came to Bedford at age 12 (1772). Cornelius would have had to have been born

at least by 17#0, perhaps earlier. He married Molly (Mary) Lane, presumably in
Hanover county. Since ThomasLane's father William was married at Cedar Creek

Meeting House (Hanover county) it is possible he and Molly were related, thus
accounting for the reason the Lane family (and Thomasin particular) went to Bed­
ford county.
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Elizabeth Dabney (born about 1740) married Samuel Shrewsbury (probably in
Hanover county) and they went to Bedford county in the late 1760s. Elizabeth

was probably the sister of Cornelius and possibly a daughter of a George Dabney.
The George above (son of Cornelius) refers in his pension application to "uncle
Samuel Shrewsbury." Nowwe don't seem to have an Elizabeth, daughter of George
that hasn't already been accounted for. Nor do we have a Cornelius, son of George
in our records. Nevertheless, we should keep this open as a possibility. Maybe
there is sometruth to the idea that Cornelius whomarried Sarah Jennings had a
son George by a first marriage.

The close relationship of the Bedford Dabneyswould indicate that the father
(or fathers) of Nathan, Nancy, William and Fannymight likely be a brother (or
brothers) of Cornelius. If this is a William then where in our records do we
find a William and a Cornelius that were brothers? (that have not already been
accounted for). The Cornelius whomarried Lucy Winston and died young is said
to have had a son William and (by some) a son John but no Cornelius or Elizabeth.
Could there have been more children? They would be about the right age. Assuming

there was a John this is most likely the "John of Appomattox"whohad, amongother
children, a Nathaniel and a Tyree (after Tyre Harris). Nathaniel is supposed to
have died unmarried but the use of these names shows close relationship. Our
Nathan named a son Tyree, his family used the name Nancy freely, and one of

Cornelius‘ sons (John) nameda son Nathan. If one of our Williams was the son
of John Dabneyand AnnaHarris it again shows a close relationship and helps ex­
plain whyAnna came to Bedford county to live after John died.

The toughest thing is to decide whoCornelius of Bedford county belongs to.
Oneother possibility exists. Wesaid earlier that James, son of the immigrant
Cornelius may have had a son Cornelius, born perhaps in the 16903, who may have
married Lucy Winston. In fact he mayhave had several children (other than the
daughter Nelthan of record.) A Cornelius born at this time period would likely
be too old to be the Cornelius we are seeking but he could be the father 9;
grandfather of our Cornelius. Perhaps this early Cornelius had a son George who
then had children Cornelius, Elizabeth, William, and maybeJohn or even Nathan.
It's conceivable that Nathan could have been namedafter James‘ daughter Nelthan.

The problem is, we have no proof that James had a son Cornelius or any posterity
for that matter of fact. It just seemslikely that he wouldhave. It's quite
possible we do not have the substantiating records because they occurred in one
or more of the counties like Hanover or NewKent where many of the records have

been destroyed.
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Study Chart 12-C. ThisI believe one more summarizing diagram W°“1dh°1P'

one shows what I believe to be the best explanafibnofwhat WePréséntly kn0V­
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CHART 12

GENERATION ONE ??

Cornelius Dabney(the interpreter)
b. abt 1630-40 in England
d. 1693/4, NewKent or King William co.VA
m. (1) Edith and came to VA abt 1660

John Dabney (older brother?)

children:
r. George (known as Capt. or Gent.) son John

b. abt 1667-1678 b. abt 1665, England
d. 1730-34, King William co. VA
m. Elizabeth

2. James
b. abt 1670 or earlier
m. by 1690 Ann Sherwood

m. Sarah Jennings, dau of
Peter Jennings

d. abt 1699

Sarah then_md.

3. Dorothy __ .—’ ’ ‘P
m. William Anderson _, ——" ­

(A)_sarah __ __ .— “ ‘— - children of John'& Sarah
"m. 1701 William Winston<& " 1. John 111
d. bef 1732 b. abt 1690
children: went to sea & not heard

1. Isaac Winston from again
bap. 12 Apr 1702 2. Susannah

r---9 2. William Winston b. abt 1698-1701b, abt 1703/A m. Francis Strother,
' m. (2) Susanna (Swan? - dau of Thomas Swan) bef 1721 (prob. 1720)

children:
I F (5) John

d. 7 Apr 1688
L_ (6) Elizabeth

d. 4 Apr 1688
7. Cornelius, Jr.

b. abt 1686
d. 1764/5
m. Apr 1721 Sarah Ann Jennings, dau of Charles Jennings

8. Mary
b. 22 Jan 1688
d. 7 Sep 1748
m. 1704 Maj. Thomas Carr (l678- 29 May 1737, son of Thomas Carr (b. 1655) from England, and Mary

Garland).
(9)? Benjamin

Susanna m. (2) David Anderson
children:

1. David
2. a dau. - Ruth?

m. James Trice



CHART 12-A
THE GEORGE DABNEY FAMILY

Cornelius or John

Capt. George Dabney
b. abt 1667 ( - 1678)
d. 1730-3b (w.d. 24 Oct 1729), King William co. VA
m. Elizabeth
children

George II (of the Ferry) Mary Susannah Judith Elitabeth Sarah William ( of Aldringham)
b. abt 1697 m. Pettus ' m. Thomas m. a Pettus bap ll Nov m. Col Wm. b. abt 1707
d. abt 1783 Pettus also 7 l698 Winston (? d. abt 1773
m. Ann Anderson Note: One dau md. m. Matthew confusion m. (1) Ann Barret, dau of
children Stephen Pettus - may be Mary, Judith Anderson 7 with Sarah- Dr. Charles Barret and

or another unknown dau. d. abt 1725 Wm.Winston Mary Chiswell
on Chart 10) children

Elizabeth George III Judith Mdry ALn Jamda William,Jr. Mary Capt. George (of
b. abt 1730 (of Dabneys m. George (Molly) m. Dillard, b. 6 Jan 1735 b. 1736, d. b. abt l7b0 the Grove), b.
d. abt 1769-50 Ferry or Shackel— m.Matthew or Samuel d. 13 Nov 1803 aft. 1806 d. 1835 abt. l7h0-2,
m. John Crutch- Greenville) ford Anderson Anderson m. Judith m. Ann Bar- m. (l)abt d. 1824

field b. abt 1734 b. 27 Aug Anderson ret, dau of 1758 Isaac m. Elizabeth Price
m. (1) Grace 1748 Charles Winston(no children:
Smith, (2)? Barret II & children), 1. William, m.
(3) Ann Nelson Mary Leigh“ (2)Edmund Mehitable Hylton

Baker - 9 E11 bath Ci] 1 A. M Maasie II 2. George (n.m.)

ghgldrin T: m ;:V m c;n§ Adderson bar§7 Jan I 9 children 2' Eary ( )r wi e, ' ' ' ' ‘ . ancy Ann

:1tggecher Chr15t°Ph°r Th°m°5 m‘ Th°m“ 1777- m' 7. Lucy G. 8. Elizabeth m. Judge Alexan­(not in or er Johnson Shelton Harden Edward d_ 1801 unmd' m_ (1) Lynn def Stuart
1' B°“j3m1“ 2' A““' m' “"113” 9. Jane Shackelford 5. Maria (n.m.)

5- $57}; ‘$11806 gamgfi 524390“ d. 1835 unmd. (2) William 6. John, d. 1811.m- 5' 5 ' '5 e l0.C therine Pollard’ m. u nn D.
Armistead, (2) m. Camp Charity William (Brick House Billy) m. Sfiaton crantland zogaisa
Sarah Smith 4. William m. Samuel m. Sarah Watson 11_ Chiswell’ b. 24 Jun 1791
5' Gr3°eY 6' G°°'g° IV T°dd d. 1865, m. (1) Nancy Norvell John Blair Dabney

3' ::ryJames 3' gf :2: l;;g' m 1792 éfi M;s;hN:ncy Wyatt’ (3) Mrs (1793-1868)- - - I - za e ee
b. 1778, m. Susannah Littlepage Quarles (16 Child.)
Eliza Perrin 9. Mary, d.s. LE. (2) aft.l753 Susanne Anne George J
10. Edmond ll. Judith, d.s. Samuel Col. Charles
12. Maj. Thomas 13. Cecilia, b. 7 Oct 1788 Susanne Elizabeth Robert or Robin b. 14 Apr 1752 b. 1744

(of Dorrell) m. J.T.C. Wiatt n.md. d, abt 1820 m. (1) Elizabeth d. 1798 (or 1812) d. 15 Dec
b. 2 Jul 1786 1A. Nelson m. William Winston, (2) 17 m. 4 Feb 1775 Jane l829, n.md.
m, (1) Lucy walker Morris Dec. 1782 Eliza- Merriwether
(2) Mary E. Tompkins beth J. Christmas

5 Susanna D. 1. Thomas 5. William 10. John
Some say Rev. Robert Barret & wife Elizabeth Lewis, Morris 2. Dr. Samuel 6. Richard 11. Elizabeth
but they apparently had no daughter Ann while Charles 3. Charles 7. Robert Lewis 12. Mildred
II & Mary Leigh did. 4. Francis 8. Edmund 13. Mary Jane

9. George

1781
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CHART 12-B

'I'HE_CORNELIUS DABNEY FAMILIES

Cornelius DabneyzhdwifeSusanna %?p-1;-st wifeEdith
Cornelius, b. 1686
m. Sarah Jennings, 1721

James, b. abt 1670
m. Ann Sherwood, abt 1690

children:
1. Cornelius- d. by1745?;m.LucyHinston?Co£ne11us, 1;.16905;111.Lucy

“\_ _’-’Winston?\_ ‘? ’
children: ’
!—-1.John (of Appomattox?), rn. an Anna Harris?

2. Villia.m- d. 1767 King Wm.co. | children include Garland, Anderson, Tyree,
In. Philadelphia. Gwathmeyg ‘ - Nathaniel, John, Cornelius and Robert Kelso.

‘~,;¥L.2. William (maybe two different Williams)
/ I m. (1) (Jane?) Quarles--—-glohn Quarles Dabney

3. John - b. abt 1724?: d. abt / _o_1;Jane Harris
(2) Ann Harris———)Luoy
also, from one of these wives, poss. children:

Nathan, Nancy, others?
? of Bedford. co.?

1768:m. AnnaHarris ’,/ I
Children: _ , ’ I
1. William ’ I
2. John - 1746-1830: In. Margaret 1

I

I

|

Smith, to N.C., rm "3' 7 °°”‘°11“"*
3. Cornelius - m. Frances Harris
it. Sarah - 111.Thomas Waller
5. Mary - m. Thomas Minor "LP. ? Elizabeth
6. Anna. - in. Henry Terrill ? :11.Samuel Shrewsbury
7. Elizabeth - m. Bernard Brown to Bedfoni co.I

Susan - m. Thomas Harris [
9. Lucy - :11. Thomas Mcaeynolds 110. Rebecca - :11.Thomas Warren

11. Nancy - m. John Hunter _ I
12. - m. Flournoy I

I

I

1

Mary - m. Christopher Harris @
5. Elizabeth - 11:.Daniel Maupin
6. Frances - m. John Maupin Luis thataare knownor
7. Anna - 111. Thompson qui e pro ble

_ Lines that are likely true
-------- PossiblelinesCO

I

. ? Sarah ? - m. ? Benjamin Brown<-——)|_5. Sarah '?

m. Wm.Johnsong-— — —--4-6. ?9' ? —-—- T ‘________;Either/or possibilities

CHART 12-C

POSSIBLE DESCENT OF BEDFDRD COUNTY DAENEYS FRCM CORNELIUS THE IMMIGRANT

Cornelius - son of Cornelius the immigrant

/ Q son of James |’/ /// I ?
I // / / m, LucyHinsto John - m. AnnaHarris ‘

Geofge\ \ / / // H1111 William - m. Quarles ‘
ll /\/\ €:?‘nAnpmattox) 1n. (l?mJane Harris?) 1 J h 1 Dab I

Elizabeth C81-henus ‘ . Anna.Harris» who 111- ' ° " Q“: as ‘nay '
m. Samuel m. Mary Tyre (2) A111’-h°1’1YH3-den
Shrewsbury Lane Nathaniel Rachel

Robert Kelso ’
John |Nathan Nancy Lucy will iam?
°°’“°11“s b. 1765-70 b. 1765-75 4: others?
8‘ others In. Jane 11:. Thomas

Y°“”5°’ L“‘° w111'1am Faxmy
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CHAPTER13

ON THE OREGON TRAIL­

JOHN COFFEY AND NANCY SNYDER

Together with some notes on other
Coffey families that were Oregon

Pioneers
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Go west young man!"
...Horace Greeley
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John Coffey, born April 22, 1810.1 was apparently the third child of James

and Frances (Lane) Coffey. Nothing is knownof his early life except the moves
of his parents which were described in chapter 10. It may be that he served in
the Black HawkWar2 in 1832 as there was a John Coffey who was a private in the

company of Captain John G. Adamsmounted volunteers, 5th Regiment commandedby

Colonel James Johnson of the Bigade of MountedVolunteers of Illinois Militia.
He was enrolled at Pekin April 27, 1832 and mustered out of service at the mouth
of the Fox River May‘27, 1832 (1 month service). Since John is a commonname and

there were a numberof other Coffeys in the state it is impossible to be sure
whether or not this was our John.

John's marriage to NancySnyder September 13, 1832 in Gallatin county3
was solemnized by Rev. Jacob Dean whose daughter Jane married John's brother

Archelaus. According to our family records1 Nancy was born December 1, 1815 in
Virginia, but nothing further is knownabout her. There were no Snyders in Galla­
tin county at this time. Perhaps John met her whenthey lived in Sangamoncounty.
There were 4 Sniders listed there on the 1830 census: Henry, John, Jonas, and
Logan C. but I have not been able to connect her to any of these. There was also
an Aaron Vandever and a George Vandever. This may have been the maiden name of

Nancy's mother, since this was the nameof John and Nancy's first boy. There
were Snyders in nearby Franklin county but again I cannot connect them with Nancy.

NumerousSnyders (Snider)arefound on both the 1810 and 1820 census of Virginia,
mostly in the counties in and along the Shenandoah Valley where a number of German
families settled, comingdownfrom Pennsylvania. (Snyder is probably originally
German.) There were also several Vandiyers in Hampshire county Virginia (now in
West Virginia) in both 1810 and 1820. This is in the same general area. There

is also a Vandaver and a Vandgyeron the 1820 Virginia census in other counties.
John and Nancysettled in Gallatin county, obtaining a 40 acre land grant

in 1835“ located in the samearea as the other Coffeys.(see picture, page131,)
Their first 4 children were born there. OnSeptember 20, 18#1 they sold their
#0 acres and apparently went to Missouri. Weknowonly that at least the next 2
children, Julia Annand Eli, were born in Missouri, but we don't knowwhere. It
is possible that they went to the samearea that John's bother Thomaswent in
1843 (Miller county),and then returned to Illinois after Thomasdied in 18#5.
However, we have not been able to find any record of John in Miller county. Two
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neighboring counties, Camdenand Pulaski, where court house fires destroyeg early
records, are possibilities since Thomaslived close to these county 1ineS- An‘
other indication that John likely went to Miller county Missouri is that his uncle
MordecaiLane, whopreviously lived in Gallatin county Illinois, had gone to
Miller county by 18h0é and his sister Louisa married Mordecai's son. John J- Lane
there on December 25, 1842 (see chapters 10 and 11).

The family was back in Illinois at least by 18#87 and they were on the Hamil­
ton county Illinois census in 1850.8 I could find no deed record for them in
Hamilton county so they may have lived with relatives. By Decemberof 1852 they
were back in Missouri,9 but this mayhave been in a western county where they were

preparing for the trip across the plains. The family record says only that'they
movedfrom southern Illinois to Missouri joining a wagontrain and crossing the

plains in 1853310 It is unfortunate that wedo not have a record of their jour­
ney as they undoubtedly had manyinteresting adventures. Most wagontrains did
not leave Missouri before early April and since the Coffeys arrived in Oregon on

August 12, 1853 the trip probably took about 4 months. Most wagontrainstook long­
er than this, some 5 to 6 months. Although some wagontrains began at St. Joseph,
Missouri, most apparently assembled near Independence, probably the beginning of
the original OregonTrail.

There are a numberof diaries and other accounts of this 2,000 mile trip,

including several that took place in 1853. Fromthem12 we can probably recon­
struct events that might have happenedto the Coffeys on their trip. Most
families started with two wagons and two team of oxen. Wagontrains varied from
less than 25 to well over 100 in the number of wagons. The Coffeys were probably
fortunate in having two older sons, one nearly 20 and the other almost 16, to

help out. Most pioneers brought extra cattle and horses and had to bring enough
supplies to last for months. Manybrought furniture and other household and
farming materials. In some cases some of these had to be dumpedalong the trail
as difficulties set in. Fording streams was often difficult and sometimestook
several days. At the deeper ones they made bridges from ropes they brought along.

Going up and down mountains was sometimes harder. Most who were not sick had to
walk to lighten the load and menassisted the oxen in pushing on the wheels to
get the wagonup the steep and rutted trails. Comingdown, trees were often tied
on the back of the wagons to slow them down.

Indians were sometimes problems but most accounts from 1853 do not indicate

serious problems. The Indians were generally honest traders whereas white men at
posts along the way were more likely to be the early versions of our modern
"scalpers."
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Sickness was always a problem, especially dysentery. Others got "mountain
fever" or various assorted ailments. Manyof course died; it has been estimated
that there were 30,000 graves along the OregonTrail! Apparently none of the
Coffeys died on the trail.

The trail can be seen by referring to the map on page 19M“Starting from
Independence they traveled through northeastern Kansas and along the Platte River
in Nebraska. Passing ChimneyRock they went on to Fort Laramie, through South
Pass and to Fort Bridger in Wyoming. In Idaho they stopped at Fort Hall, and then
followed the Snake River to Fort Boise where a crossing was made. After leaving
Farewell Bend (near present Huntington, Oregon) it was on to the Grande Rounde
Valley, over the Blue Mountains and downalong the Columbia River to The Dalles.
Here most people in 1853 took the Barlow Road.13 This trail went south to Tygh

Valley, around the south slope of Mt. Hood and down the Cascades to Sandy, ending
at Oregon City. This 80 mile road was built in 18h#-45 by Samuel Barlow and a

toll gate was erected near Rhododendron (southwest of Mt. Hood). The charge was

$5.00 for a team and a dollar a head for men, womenand cattle. However, it is
said that most either didn't pay or didn't have the moneyso it proved to be an
unprofitable venture.

There were other routes into Oregon. One, which I shall not detail here,
was across central Oregon to Bendand over the Cascades into the Willamette Valley.
This is the route taken by the ill-fated "Lost Train"14 of 1853. Other pioneers,
after leaving Fort Hall, took a route through someof northern Nevadaand followed
the Applegate Trail into the RogueRiver Valley of Southern Oregon. I have con­
sidered that our ancestors might have taken this route since their first known
location in Oregonwas on the south central coast in Coos county (see later).
However,I believe it was more likely through the northern route previously des­
cribed. John's uncle, Mordecai Lane, whoevidently accompanied them on the trip,15
established himself in Marion county. It seemsmore likely that John, after coming
into the Willamette Valley from the north, could have gone on further south (be­
cause of the discovery of gold in Coos county) than Mordecai, coming into the

Rogue Valley, would have gone north to the Salem area. The Lanes were some 20

years older and probably more interested in getting some good farm land than
hunting gold in Southern Oregon.

The Oregonian published16 a list of 1853 immigrants to Oregon which was taken
of those passing the Utilla Agency. The Coffeys are not mentioned but in a number
of cases names are not given, just so manymen, womenand children. They counted

a total of 6,4#9 men, womenand children coming through there that year.
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Weused to think that they settled initially near OregonCity, bt their land
claim there was not commenceduntil September 20, 1855. Also, we find them on

both the 1854 and 1855 assessment rolls of Coos county and the census roll of 1855.
In 1854 they had a dwelling house worth $100 and another house worth $75 for which
they paid a total tax of $3.15. In 1855their personal property included 3 horses,
3 cows, and 1 note for a total value of $400.17 They lived near Port Orford which
is nowin Curry county and at least the oldest son, Vandever, if not John as well,

worked in the mines. There were gold mines in the area and also caal mines. 1
Whetheror not they went there directly upon arriving in Oregon, or not until
spring of 1854 we don't know but the newly discovered gold in the area must have
attracted them. Gaston18 records that "In 1853 there were more than a thousand

men washing gold out of the black sand along the sea shore south of Coos Bay."

Evanslg says the "... discovery of gold mines near [Eort Orfozfifl in the summerof
1853 secured a rush of miners, and brought the locality into prominent notice."

In September 1855 John & Nancy filed at the Oregon City land office for a

claim of 320 acres located a few miles east of OregonCity in the Redland area
not far from the present town of Sandy. They are listed on either assessment
or census rolls for Clackamas county from 1856 through 1859, but on the 1860
Federal census they are in Pacific county, WashingtonTerritory.21 Here they

lived near Oysterville where John was listed as a carpenter and Vandeveras an
oysterman. John's real estate value was $1500and his personal estate $3,000.
Vandever had a real estate value of $300 and a personal estate of $1550. They
lived there about 3 years22 and then went back to the farm in Clackamas county,
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2
at least by 1864. 3 In 1865 they soldzu 312 acres of their donation land claim
and movedto Linn county, a few miles north of Scio (actually only about 1 mile
across the North Santiam River from Stayton). At this time their personal property
WasValued at Only $45325 so they apparently weren't doing too well with farming.
Also, it appears from the records26 that 101 acres of their donation land claim
in Clackamas county was sold in 1869 for delinquent taxes ($26.40) and the county
redeeded it to V.L. Coffey (of Marion county) for taxes and cost of sale. They
sold their land in Linn the sameyear.27 At this time John and Nancy were in

Douglas county, south of Lookingglass. Here they bought 100 acres in 1873 for
$1,000 and sold it in 1877 for $1500.28 Perhaps they continued to live on the
land as they were apparently there when John died April 8, 1879.29 John made a
will on April 2 which was recorded May6.30 He gave all of his estate to Nancy
except 2 horses to John A.W., a wagon to his youngest son Thomasand $5.00 to

Martha. This latter seems peculiar since Martha apparently died about 1861.
Perhaps he meant Mary Jane since whe was still living with them. The rest of
the children were left out of the will. Evidently it was not considered valid
since on August 22 John A.W.Coffey filed for letters of administration and was
subsequently appointed administrator of the estate.31 The living children, and
heirs of the deceased Martha E. Arthur were listed and each child received $88.63.
Nancyreceived half of the estate or $620.47. She also petitioned for (and ap­
parently received) the following property as exemptfrom the property of the estate:
2 cows and caves, 1 bay mare, l Studebaker wagon, 1 stove and utensils, household

furniture, tinware plates, 1 clock, 2 beds and clothing and 26 sacks of chop. It
can be seen from the foregoing that they were not prosperous people. WhenJohn
was taxed by Douglas county in 1873 he had 100 acres, 2 horses, 8 head of cattle,
and 10 swine, and the gross value of all his property was only $1180.32 There is

no indication as to whyJohn died but he had been sick for some time, as doctor
bills in the estate file indicate. Onedoctor had seen him every Qay from April
2 to April 8. He was buried the same day he died, the burial being in the Civil
Bendcemetery located a few miles south of their residence near the town of Winston.29
The probate process took two years, afterwhich Nancy and two grown children, John

A.W. and Mary Jane went to Scie33_for a time, and sometime later moved to Morrow
county.

As we shall see wheneach of the children are discussed, all the children
except Thomaslived in Morrowcounty at one time or another in the 1880s and 18905.
Nancyapparently lived part of the time with several of them but also had a home­
stead,3# settlement of which commencedin September 1884 but the filing for was
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not until June 1891. This was near Lexington (sw % s 27, T 1 s, R 26 E). She
was living with her daughter Mary Jane whohad married W.W.Kirk, when in February

1893 she was thrown from a hack. The fall caused a paralysis which brought on
her death February 28, 1893.35 She was probably buried in the Lexington cemetery
which was partly destroyed by a great flood in the early part of the twentieth
century. 36

The first three children of John and Nancywere boys, the first being Vandever
(or Vandiver) Lee, born October 26 1833. The family recordlo has it Lee Vandiver
but all other records have the Lee as a middle nameand all but 1 or 2 records

uses the spelling Vandever or, more commonly, simply Van or V.L. In the family
he was referred to as "Uncle Van."37 He worked in the mines at Port Orford38

apparently stayed there when the family went to Clackamas county. On March 26,
1856 he enlisted for a 3 month term in the OregonMilitia Volunteers in the Oregon
Indian Wars.22 He was a private in the company commandedby John Creighton in
the 9th Regiment which fought a battle at the mouth of the Coquille River. He was

39

and

honorably discharged at Oregon City June 25, 1856. He then purchased 102 acres
(for $2/acre) in Clackamascounty near his parents where he lived for nearly Q
years.22 He, along with his parents, movedto Oysterville, Pacific county, Wash­
ington Territory by 186021 where he was an "oysterman." After 3 years there22 he
went to Marion county (around Salem) for another 6 years and finally settled at
Scio in Linn county for about 10 years.4O Someof the above is according to his
ownstatements22 but if he actually lived in Marion county that long he must have
also spent a lot of time in Scio as he was listed on the records of the Scio school

district as early as 1869 and in 1866he received a contract to build a school-_
house.u1 He is also supposed to have bilt a church in Scio,37 carpentry apparent­
ly being his principal occupation at that time.

On January 5,1872 Vandever married Rebecca J. Wright, daughter of Lyndon
Wright, in Marion county. They probably lived at Scio until 1879 but are listed

42 They moved, about the time Van'son Marion county assessment rolls 1871-187#.
father died, to Weston, Umatilla county. Here he was in the furniture business
and later owneda livery stable until the latter burned to the ground in 1884.38
He then entered a homestead near Heppner (in the Eight Mile area)43 until the

38.44
spring of 1901,
county). Here, at Beach Creek, he was postmaster, operated a long distance tele­
phone station, farmed, and operated a hotel and feed stable.38 In 1903 he was

22

when they moved to a place 18 miles west of John Day (Grant

granted a pension for his service in the OregonIndian Wars.
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Vandever died May 2, 190945 at his home in Beech Creek and was buried in

Fox cemetery. There is no record that he and Rebecca ever had any children.
She remarried twice and died in 193# in John Day (born January 13, 1854 at Aums—

#7ville, Oregon.)
What else do we know about "Uncle Van?" Chester Coffey in his own historyu8

says that he was six feet, 6 or 7 inches tall and was a carpenter. The height
cited is an example of howtradition stretches truth. In a statement madeand
sworn to by Vandeverhimself he describes22 himself at age 22 as "six feet tall,
blue eyes, auburn hair, and light complexion."

Apparently the secord child born to John and Nancy was named Miles. We

Knownopging about him except that his nameappears at this point in the family
record. Wemight suppose that he was born in 1835 since this is half way be­
tween the birthdates of Vandever and James B. He undoubtedly died in infancy.

The third son and child of John and Nancy was James Bluford. Nothing more
will be said about him here since he and his descendents were the subject of

VolumeI of this work. However, his children are listed in Chart 13.
The next child seems to have been Martha Ellen, and judging from the census

records she was born in late 1839 or early 18hO.a9 She was the first of the

children to marry, this event53oming on the 8th of May1856 in Clackamas countyOregon to William Arthur, Jr. William was born about 1831 in Missouri. They
lived in Hardin's precinct, Clackamascounty and had 2 daughters (Mildred and
Josephine) and 1 son (William). The latter was born about 186151 and Martha

apparegtly died soon afterwards as William remarried September 1861 (to Margaret2 .
East.) The Arthur family movedto McMinnville (Yamhill county) where William

and Mzggaret had two more boys, Milton, born about 1863, and Albertis, born about
1855- Marggret died August 20. 1866 and is buried in the Masonic cemetery at
McMinnvil1e.5 William Arthur, Jr. was the son of William Arthur, Sr. (who died

August 14, 1866 in Clackamas county) and his wife Cather1ne,54 For the most part
the Arthurs remained in Yamhill county for the rest of their lives.37'u8

The next5§hi1do Julia Ann! Wasborn after the family movedto Missouri, Octo­
ber 10' 1844' She married J°5ePh A. Hugges in Clackamas county December 24,
1861. In 1876 and 1879 there are records5 showing they were living at Howell

Prairie in Marion county. Later they movedto lone, Morrowcounty where he was
a cattle buyer and butcher.37 He died January 5, 1919 in lone and is buried in
the lone cemetery. After his death Julia movedto Portland where she died Nov­

ember 25, 1928. She is buried in Ione alongside her husband and 1 son John Aj 0

daughter, Minnie V. King lived in Portland at the time of Juliavs death_ other
children are listed in Chart 13.
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While the family lived in Missouri a son was born, Eli D. According to census
records57 he was born about 1844. It is interesting that on the Coos county
Oregon 1855 census roll he is listed as "Elijah."58 There seems to be no further
record of him after the 1860 census so he must have died sometime soon after that,
perhaps while the family was living in Oysterville, Washington.

The next child for whomwe have any record is Winfield W., born about Nov­

ember 1848 and died in November1849 in Hamilton county Illinois.59 It would seem
that there might be a child between Eli and Winfield. The family record used by
Chester Coffey to compile his history says that John and Nancyhad"12 children, 7
boys." Then it lists 7 boys but only 4 girls. I suspect a girl was born about
1846 and she died at birth or soon thereafter, perhaps unnamed. There is no
record to confirm this.

The last child to be born before leaving Illinois was MaryJane, evidently
born in late 1850 or early 1851.60 She first married John Sloan in Douglas county
July 27, 1874.61 They had one daughter, Nancy E. I could find no record to show
whether he died or the marriage was disolved. At any rate Mary married Arthur
McCarty January 24, 187761 and they had 1 son, Eli H. On the 1880 census Mary

Jane was living at homeand had the 2 children, but was listed as married. What

happened to Arthur McCartyI don't knowbut Mary Jane apparently reverted to the
use of the name Sloan since when she married William W. Kirk in Morrow county on

April 14, 1889 she used the name "Mary Jane Sloan."62 I do not know if they had
’other children, but there doesn't seemto be a record of any. She was nearly 39
years old when she married W.W.Kirk. The latter, born May 4, 1828 in North Caro­

lina, died near Lexington October 21, 1912. He had been previously married and
had several children, probably all grown at the time of the marriage. WhenMary
Jane died is not known but it was evidently before 1900 as W.W.Kirk was living
in the home of a married daughter when the 1900 federal census was taken, and is

listed as being widowed. Mary Jane's son Eli HowardMcCarty died in Heppner
December 18, 1918 of pneumonia.63

The next child was John Archilles Winfield. The 2 middle names were un­

doubtedly for (1) his oldest uncle, Archelaus (John's family spelled it Archilles),
and (2) his brother Winfield whodied as an infant. In the records his nameappears
in various forms but often as "J.A.W." He was born in December 1852 somewhere in

Missouri and was thus an infant whenthe family took the long trip west. The
family record says 1851?? but all census records and John's ownstatement in his
father's probate record indicate it was 1852. He was living at home, taking care
of the farm whenhis father died in 1879 (age 26). He was appointed the adminis­
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trator31 and faithfully attended to the settlement of the estate. In the 5PTinS6#
of 1883 he applied for a timber culture homestead in Morrowcounty, having

6
spent the previous year with his brother Vandever in Weston. 5 The MorrowC0untY
homestead was sold in 1892.66 He also bought Vandever's 102 acres in Clackamas

county in 1886 and sold it in 1889,67 but there is no indication he eV3r 1iV9d
there. Although he probably farmed in Morrowcounty he had other interests. First,
he was in the hardware business and then he was a newspaper publisher. On March

20, 1890he sold his half interest of the "hardwarestock, tin ware, stoves, cut­
lery, agricultural implements, tinners tools, and merchandise" of the business of
Gilliam and Coffey located on Main street in the town of Heppner for a total sum
of $3100.0O.36 On the 16th of October of the same year he bought the Lexington

newspaper called the "WeeklyBudget," movedall material to Heppner and without
missing an issue came out one week later with Volume 1, Number 1 of the "Morrow

County Record."68 This must have been Heppner's first newspaper as one county
history doesn't even record it but lists a later date for the first newspaper.
The paper was apparently short-lived and J.A.W. mayhave left Morrowcounty in

1892. The listing of heirs in his mother's probate record simply says after his
name, "P.0. address unknown."

On April 26, 1900 John was committed to the Oregon State Hospital with a
diagnosis of "acute melancholia."69 He was committed from Yamhill county and his
occupation was listed as carpenter. In 1903 he was discharged "to CamasValley."
This must have meant into the care of his brother Thomaswholived there. Ap­
parently he remained around Douglas county the rest of his life but died essent­
ially unknownand unclaimed by his family. His death occurred on March 10, 1931

in a Roseburg hospital and he was buried the next day in the county cemetery where
indigents are buried.70 Thedeath certificate71 also listed him as an indigent
whose residence was CamasValley and whose occupation was "laborer-farming."

John A.W.never married and it appears as though the stigma (in those days) of
having been in a state hospital mayhave caused his family to disown him. Chester
Coffey says37 his mother told him that "great uncle John was a school teacher and

lived around Salem." I could find no indication that this was ever so. A pos­
sible explanation is that this was a family cover up 95 perhaps family tradition
slipped a generation or two. It might be rememberedfrom chapter 10 that James
Coffey (John A.W.'s grandfather) had a brother John whowas a school teacher and
lived around Salem, Indiana. Chester also says he was told that John A.W. was a

large man, about 6 ft. 6 in. Since the same thing was told about Vandever and we
have seen howthat was somewhatof a "tall tale", it is probable that John was more
like 6 ft. or so. There were not manypeople in those days as tall as 6 ft. 6 in.
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The youngest son of John and Nancy was named Thomas Wesley. The middle name

must have been for his uncle James Wesley Coffey (see chapter 10). According to
the death certificate71 he was born September 27, 1854. This would have been

while they lived near Port Orford (then Coos county). The 1860, 1870, and 1880
census records confirm the year. However,the family records37 say 1855, bt as in
the case with John A.W. I believe this was an error, being written downsome years
later by a relative whodid not live close to either John or Thomas.

Thomas married AmandaE. Coon June 27,1878 in Douglas county and they lived
at CamasValley and are buried in the Martindale cemetery there along with most of
their children.72 Amanda(born May18, 185k) died September 19, 1903 and as far
as we know Thomas never remarried. He farmed until 1929 and probably moved soon

after that to Portland where he died September 2, 1939 at the house of his daughter
Mildred (Mrs. Leonard L.) Johnston71 (or perhaps Lillian). The probate record of
his mother Nancyin 1893 lists him as living at Eight-Mile (Morrowcounty). How­
ever, it is probable that this address was meant for John A.W. (and John's "P.0.
address unknown"was meant for Thomas). There are no deed or other records to
indicate that he ever lived in Morrowcounty. The list of children are given in
Chart 13. The son Fred went to Arizona and later Los Angeles where he was a
photographer for Los Angeles newspapers in the late 1930s-early 19405, but nothing
further is knownabout him.

According to family records1O’37 John and Nancy had a daughter namedLouisa.
She is listed last of the H girls in the family record, indicating she was the
youngest (the boys are apparently all listed in order of birth as are the other
girls.) The 1857 census roll of Clackamascounty lists two females under 10
(one is MaryJane) but the 1856roll lists only 1.74 There is no later census
mention of this female. I believe this was Louisa, born 1856/57 and died in
infancy. This then accounts, as near as we can, for the 12 children.

Before concluding this chapter I should makemention of a few other Coffey
families that cameto Oregonin the early days. It is surprising just howmany
were here, and I shall omit a discussion of most of them, but a few families
have caused some confusion and should be mentioned.

Probably the earliest Coffey family in the OregonTerritory was that of
Nebuzaradan Coffey, son of Joel and Martha (Step) Coffey. (see chapter 7). He
and his family came from Pike county Illinois with William and Stephen Porter in
1848.75 All of his married children also came except Thomaswho came later.

They settled near Aumsville in Marion county and remained there the rest of their
lives, although most of the children movedout from there. See Chart 13-A for
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vital data on this family.76
Another Oregon family referred to in Chapter 7 Wasthat Of Joel C°ffeYv

son of Chesley Coffey, Jr. (1755). Joel, born June 15. 1789. married Sarah

Mackey April $9, 1818 in Maury county Tennessee. Joel and Sarah moved to Boone­
ville, Cooper county, Missouri (He is listed there in the 1830 census). Sarah
died there in 1850 (she was born in 1795, the daughter of William Lewis Mackey
and Elizabeth Ashbrook, both of Rutherford county, North Carolina). In 1852 Joel
brought his children to Oregon. They first settled at Vancouver (nowWashington)
where Joel died December 10, 1855. There were 10 children but a number of them

must have died young. Three of the children are buried in a family P10t with
Joel in Camas, Washington. The most noteworthy of their children are the twins
Terral M. and Alexander L., born March 15, 1831. They both went to Umatilla

county Oregon and lived not many miles from my ancestors, James B. and Mary E.

77a

Coffey. To makematters more confused, after Terral died there are 2 marriage
records of "MaryE. Coffey." Both seem to be for Mary E. Patterson Coffey,
widowof Terral. The latter was a very prosperous farmer near Pendleton and his

brother Alexander became the county surveyor in Adamscounty Washington. The
knowndata for this family is given in Chart 13-B.

A third Coffey family that came to Oregon, but not so early, was that of Dr.

Robert Coffey, a well-known physician in Port1and.78 He and his wife Clarissa
were cousins and both descended from ThomasCoffey (1742) whose history is given

in chapter 4. Robert and Clarissa's line79 is as follows:

William Coffey & Annie Boone-———§DanielCoffey &
Clarissa Estes

ThomasCoffey & Sally Fields

Calvin Coffey 8cMary Greene
Drury D. Coffey

Patterson V. Coffey &Martisha Estes &Harriet Collett

Robert C. Coffey—md. —c1ar1ssa Ellen Coffey

Patterson Coffey settled in Douglas county Oregon8Owhereas his son Robert

went to Portland. Other children of Patterson were James Alexander, Rose, Vanda,
and Ada.

There are records of several other Coffeys in Oregon before 1900 but the
lines to which they belong are not well known. Someeven came directly from
Ireland as did the EdwardCoffey family which settled near St. Paul in Marion

county in the 1850s, the James Coffey - Hannah Harrigan family who were in

Salem in the 1860-70-80 era,81 and the George and Bridgett Coffey family of
Benton county.82
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CHART 13

VITAL DATA OF THE JOHN AND NANCY (SNYDER) COFFEY FAMILY

John Coffey
b. 22 Apr 1810, Wayne co., KY, son of James Coffey and Frances Lane
d. 8 Apr 1879, Lookingglass, Douglas, OR
m. 13 Sep 1832 Nancy Snyder (b. 1 Dec 1815, Virginia), Gallatin co., IL
children:

1'

2.

3.

Vandever Lee Coffey
b. 26 Oct 1833, Gallatin co., IL
d. 2 May 1909, Beech Creek, Grant, OR
m. 5 Jan 1871 Rebecca J. Wright, Marion co., OR
no children
Miles Coffey
b. abt 1835, Gallatin co., IL
James Bluford Coffey
b. 11 Oct 1837, Gallatin co., IL
d. 3 Jul 1929, Adams, Umatilla, OR
m. (1) 19 Oct 1862 Mary Ann McCork1e, Marion co.. OR
children:

1. George F. Coffey
b. 20 Jan 1864, Howell, Marion, OR
d. 30 Jun 1912, Medicine Hat, Alberta, Canada
m. 5 May 1886 Sarah Frances Phillips, Albany, Linn, OR

m. (2) 16 Jul 1866 Mary Elizabeth Bolin, Salem, Marion, on
children:

1. Mary Ann (Anna) Coffey
b. 1 Apr 1867, Solo, Linn, OR
d. 20 May 19h6, Portland, Multnomah, OR
m. 2 Feb 1892 Frank Baker, Freewater, Umatilla, OR
James Eldy (or Eldo) Coffey
b. 27 Sep 1868, Scio, Linn, on
d. bef 1870
Albert MoCoffey
b. 18/19 Jul 1870, Scio, Linn, on
d. 24 Mar 1958, Pendleton, Umatilla, OR
n.md.
Nancy Bell Coffey
b. 24 Jul 1871, Silverton, Marion, OR
d. 1 Jul 1992, Portland, Multnomah, OR

m. $1; 25 Dec 1890 William Henry McFarland, Linn co. OR2 Benjamin Franklin (Tex) Barnett
(3) Wallace M. Frisby .

Ica Coffey
b. 26 May 1873, prob. Marion co. OR
Lee Alford (or Alfred) Coffey
b. 26 Jul 187%, Marion co., OR
d. 18 Jun 1950, Yakima, Yakima, WA
m. (1) 11 Jan 1898 (div) Minnie Swanson, Walla Walla, WA0
Amer Wood Coffey
b. 8 Jun 1876, Marion co., OR
d. 31 Dec 1958, Yakima, Yakima, WA
m. (1) 19 May 1900 Essie Swanson, Walla Walla, WA

(2) 1930 Mary Hamilton

2.

3.

5C

7.
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9!

10.

James Orval Coffey
b. 5 May 1878, Lookingglass, Douglas, OR
d. # Dec 1962, Lindsay, Tulare, CA
m. (1 30 Jan 1898 (div) Iva May Johnson, Walla Walla, WA

22$ abt 1910 Carrie B.3 Evelyn Violet Surby
This is grandfather of the author of this book.
Alonzo (Loney or Lonie) Coffey
b. 6 Mar 1880, Scio, Linn, OR
d. 18 Dec 1951, Monroe, Snohomish, WA
m. 30 Apr 1900 Carrie Kane, Walla Walla, WA
Lulu Coffey

' b. 12 Sep 1881/2, Scio, Linn, on

11.

12.

13.

d. 30 Jan 19#8, Ilwaco, Pacific, WA

m. £1) 22 May 1899 Andy Barker, Walla Walla, WA2) Dumont; (3) Jacobson
Leona (One; Coffey
b. 6 Nov 1883, Scio, Linn, OR
d. 9 Aug 1964, Kennewick, Benton, WA
m. 20 Dec 1898 James Harrison Overturf, Walla Walla, WA
Lester B. Coffe
b. 30 Jul 1884 5, Scio, Linn, OR
d. abt 1889, Morrow co., OR
Thomas Webster Coffey
b. 23 Feb 1891, Walla Walla, VA
d. 16 Jan 1966, Portland, Multnomah, OR
m. 1 Apr 1915 Lois Evalyne Bartlett, Pendleton, Umatilla, OR

4. Martha Ellen Coffey
b. abt 1839/40, Gallatin co., IL
d. abt 1861, prob. Clackamas co., OR
m. 8 May 1856 William Arthur, Jr., Clackamas co., OR
children:

1.

2.

3.

Julia
b. 10
d. 25

5.

Mildred A.F. Arthur
b. 1857, Clackamas co., OR
m. 5 Oct 1875 w.s. Allen, Yamhill co., on
Martha Josephine Arthur
b. 1859, Clackamas co., OR
m. 5 Dec 1876 Harvey C. Neal, Linn co., OR
William C. Arthur
b. abt 1861, Clackamas co., OR
m. 29 Aug 1880 Emily H. Yocum, Yamhill co., OR
Ann Coffey
Oct 18H1, Missouri
Nov 1928, Portland, Multnomah, OR

m. 24 Dec 1861 Joseph A. Hughes, Clackamas co., ORchildren:
1.

2.

John L. Hughes
b. 1868
d. 1960
Minnie V. Hughes
b. abt 1877
m. ___; King
Sam J. Hughes
b. abt 1879
Richard D. Hughes
b. abt 1881



10.

11.

12'

Eli D. Coffey
b. abt 1844, Missouri

Daughter, name unknown
b. abt 1846
Winfield W. Coffey
b. abt Nov. 1848, Illinois
d. Nov. 1849, Hamilton co., IL
Mary Jane Coffey
b. abt 1850/51, Hamilton co., IL
d. bef. 1900, Morrow co., OR
m. (1) 27/28 Jul 1874 John Sloan, Douglas co., onchildren:

1. Nancy E. Sloan
b. 1875, Douglas co., OR

m. (2) 24 Jan 1877 Arthur McCarty, Douglas co., ORchildren:
1. Eli Howard McCarty

b. 13 Nov 1877, Douglas co., OR
d. 18 Dec 1918, Heppner, Morrow, OR

m. (3) 14 Apr 1889 William W. Kirk, Morrow co., OR
no children
John Archilles Winfield Coffey
b. Dec 1852, Missouri
d. 10 Mar 1931, Roseburg, Douglas, OR
n.md. '
Thomas Wesley Coffey
b. 27 Sep 1854, Coos co. OR
d. 2 Sep 1939, Portland, OR
m. 27 Jun 1878 Amanda E. Coon, Douglas co., OR
children:

1. Lillian L. Coffey
b. June 1879,Douglas co., OR
d. 1956
m. (1) Gilpin, (2) Johnson or Johnston

2. Sarah "Sadie" Coffey
m. McMillen

3. Mildred Coffey
d. Oct 1970
m. (1) Dugan, (2) Johnson or Johnston

4. LoCoffey
b. abt 1881

205

5. & 6. Twochildren, sex and names unknown, bur. at Martindale cem.,
Camas Valley, OR.

Louisa
b. abt 1857, Clackamas co., OR
d. abt 1857, Clackamas co., OR
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CHART 13—A

THE F%MILY OF NEBUZARADON COFFEY

Nebuzaradon Coffey _ _
b. 29 Aug 1789, Wilkes co., N.C., son of Joel Coffey & Martha Step.
d. 20 Jan 1867, Aumsville, Marion, OR
m. 11 Sep 1810 Elizabeth Easley (b. 15 Aug 1790. dau Of Wm-E3519? & Sarah

Ann Lester), Cumberland co., KY.
Children:

1.

2.

90

Cassandra Coffey
b. 23 Aug 1811, Pilot Knob, KY
d. 18 Jan 1885, Marion co., OR
m. 1 Jan 1834- Joseph Monroe Blackerby, Pike co., IL
children: J. William C., ThomasRichard, Sidney G.,Marcus D.L., Elza M.,

Arthur Frank, & 4 who d. in infancy.
Martha Coffey
b. 7 Jul 1813, Cumberland co., KY
d. 17 May 1903, Marion co., OR
m. 4 Oct 1849 William Porter, Marion co., OR
children: Henry Clay, Sarah Louise, &Mary Jane.

Thomas C. Coffey
b. 17/27 Oct 1815, Kentucky
d. 1 Jul 1859, Marion co., OR
m. 26 Apr 1838 Luciller Jane Baker, Pike co., IL .
children: Ghalan 3.", Mary E.oEmily, Sydney J. John J.H., Sarah L. ,

Elizabeth F., and Greene M.
Mary "Polly" Coffey
b. 27 Jan 1818, Kentucky
d. 1870, Oregon
m. 24 Apr 1838 Walter H. Tucker, Pike co., IL
children: Elizabeth J., Martha, GermanJ., Henry C., ThomasJ., & Elmer E.
Sarah Coffey
b. 1 May 1820 Sinpson co., KY
d. 20 Nov 1848, Marion co., OR
m. 26 Nov 1840 William Porter, Pike co., IL
children: William German, Elizabeth Nancy, John Hancock, Sidney Reese.
Catherine Jane Coffey
b. 13 Nov 1822
d. 13 Feb 1850, Marion co., OR
m. 1 Sep 1844 Stephen Porter, Pike co., IL
children: NancyLouisa, David A., John Thomas.
Sidney J. Coffey
b. 19 Apr 1825. Kentucky
German J. Coffey
b. 17 Nov 1827, Kentucky
d. 1874, Marion co., OR
m. Mary Margaret Smith
children: Mary L., John J.C., Denton Darby, Edith, Ellen, Tecumseh

Sherman, Frank Nebuzaradon.
Elizabeth Coffey
b. 8 Mar 1830, Kentucky
d. 1 Nov 1863, Lane co., OR
m. 17 Oct 1850 William Wilshire Bristow, Marion co., OR
children: Iola N., Edith Clyde, Adaline C., Darwin,
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10. Denton D. Coffey
b. 28 May 1832
d. 8 Mar 1851

11. Louisa Coffey
b. 22 May-183#

CHART 13-B

THE FAMILY OF JOEL COFFEY

Joel Coffey
b. 15 Jun 1789, Wilkes co., N.C. (son of Chesley Coffey, Jr. & Margaret Baldwin).
d. 10 Dec 1855, Vancouver or Camas, WA
m. 19 Apr 1818 Sarah Mackey, Maury co., TN
children:
1. William Coffey
2. Chesley Coffey
3. Derrindia Coffey
4. Alexander L. Coffey

b. 15 Mar 1831, Booneville, Cooper, MO
d. 8 Aug 1913

5. Terral M. Coffey
b. 15 Mar 1831, Booneville, Cooper, M0 (twin of Alexander)
m. Mary E. Patterson ~

6. Mary Louisa Coffey
b. 1833, Booneville, Cooper, MO
d. 1922
m. Webster Abbott

7. Elizabeth Angeline Coffey
b. 8 May 1836, Booneville, Cooper, MO
d. 12 Apr 1905
m. Lewis Vanvleet

3 other children, d. young.





APPENDIX

1. WILL OF THOMAS POWELL

In the name of God AmenI ThomasPowell of the Parish of Citingburg in the
county of Essex and the Colony of Virginia being very sick and perfect memory
blessed and praised by Almight God for the same doth make this to be my last
will and Testament in manner and form following.
First I commendmy soule into the hands of Almighty God who gave it homeing by
the meritorious death and passing of our blessed Lord and Savior Jesus Christ
to receive full remission of mysins and a joyful resurrection at the last_day
and my body be decently and christianly buryd at the descretion of myexecutors
hereafter namedand as for ye worldly goods Godhas lent me I idll and bequeath
them as followth. Imprimis.

It is mywill that myland be divided in three equal parts and that my two
sons Place Powell and ThomasPowell have each of them one third part of the land
and forthwith after the departure of mysaid wife out of this life the third part
of my land decend to my sonne William Powell. And it is my will that my land
bequeathed as aforesaid to my sons Place Powell and ThomasPowell decend after
their or either of their decease uponthe heirs of their bodylawfully begotten
& for want of heirs that then it decend upon the next of myname and lineage
and soe from heirs to heirs till both mynameand lineage be extent.

Item: I give unto my son William Powell halfe of my female cattle and all
their male increase and mywill is that the male go to those persons that hath
the education of my son William Powell until he shall comeof the age of twenty
one years and further:

Item: I give unto my daughter Frances Powell two cows called Rose and Nanne
with their increase.

Item: I give unto my sonne Honnor Powell and my daughter Elizabeth Salmon
and my daughter AnnCoffee each of them one shilling and as for the rest of my
estate and the other half of mycattle I will and bequeath it to myloving wife
Mary Powell as long as she remains a widowor decease out of this mortal life
then it shall be divided equally betweenPlace Powell, ThomasPowell, Elizabeth
Salmon, and Anne Coffee. Also Place Powell and Thomas Powell and my son-in law
John Salmonbe executors of this mylast will and testament hereby nullifying
and making void all former wills by me made at any time. Signed sealed and
published as witness whereof I have hereunto sett myhand and seale this second
day of March Anno Dono 1700. His

Thomas X Powell
Signed sealed and published in Markthe presence of us
Edward Coffee
Sarah Miller Proven by oaths of the Witnesses in Essex

County Virginia ye 10th day of April 1701
and truly recorded.

Teste: Frances Merriweather
Cl. Cur.

2. WILL OF EDWARD COFFEY

In the name of God AmenI Edward Coffeey being in bedd of sickness but in
perfect sense and memby thanks bee to God I Edward Cofey do bequeath this to
bee my last Will and Testament: -- I leave all myland to my two suns John
Cofey an EdwardCofey to be divided at 16 years of age if the mother of them
be ded otherways att 18 years of age. I also give one cow and her increas to
mydaughter Marther Cofey att ye age of 16 or att her mothers deth also one cowe
yerling to mysun John Cofey and her increas. All the tenables stock and book
I give to my wife Ann Cofey till her deth but if she marys then every one of my
children to have their parts as they comeof age, and after ye deces of mywife

209
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all tenables to be equall divided between mysix children John Cofey, Edward
Cofey, Marther Cofey, Ann Cofey, Austes Cofey and Elizabeth Cofey.
As witness my hand and seall this 11+thday of Fehry 1715/6.

- His
Samuel Edmondson Edward K Cofey:
Themety Seleven Mark

At a court held for Essex County on Tuesday ye 20th day of Novr 1716:
The above last N111 and Testament of Edward Coffey decd. was presented & proved
by the oath of Ann Coffey his wife & Exex. therin named& also by ye oaths of
Samuel Edmondsonand Timothy Seleven the evidences thereto & is ordered to be
recorded & is recorded.

Tes. Thomas Herman DC Cur.

Essex County Virginia Deeds & Wills # 14, page 669.
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B

I. Abstract of will of Robert Mayfield, Sr. Dated 3 Dec 1714, probated 16 Aug
1715. Essex county Virginia. A

To wife Sarah Mayfield all land and movable estate during life. One
shilling each to sons: Robert Mayfield, AbrahamMayfield, John Mayfield and
Isaac Mayfield. To son Jacob Mayfield all land at decease of wife. One shilling
each to daughters : Catherine Gregory, Jane Graves, Anne Conneley.
Ext'x and Exor wife Sarah and son Robert
Wit: Daniel Hayes Signed Robert X Mayfield

Cornelius Sale

Proved by oath of Sarah Mayfield, widow, Executrix, etc., 16 Aug 1715

II. Will of James Graves. Essex county Virginia.
In the name of God AmenI James Graves of perfect sense and memory thanks

be to the Almighty God whogave it me hoping through the merits of Jesus Christ
to receive the sme at the last day to enjoy eternal bless. I reccomendmy bodey
to be buryed in desent and Christian manneraccording to the discretion of my
Executor hereafter named.
Item I give & bequeath unto my loving wife Jean Graves all my real & personal
estate to her &her heirs for ever and I do constitute and appoint myloving
wife Jean Graves my whole and sole Executor of this my last will & Testament
revoking and dissannuling all other wills & Testaments herefore by me made as
Witness my hand this 10th day of January 1724.

James Graves
Sealed and Delivered in the presence of us
Test John Munday

her
Hannah X Graves

mark

At a court held for Essex county on Tuesday the 20th day of April 1725 the above
Last will and Testament of James Graves deced was presented in court by Jane
Graves his Executrix who made oath & was also proved by the oaths of John Monday
and HannahGraves the witnesses thereto & submitted to record.

Test W. Beverly, C1Cur.

III. Will of John Graves. Essex county, Virginia.

In the name of God AmenI John Graves of the County of Essex & parish of
St. Anne am sick & weak of body but of sound pfect sence & memory thanks be to
God for it knowing that it is appointed once for all mento dye I do comit my
body to the Earth & my sole to God that gave and after my Debts & Legacies are
paid I give myEstate as followeth:

I give unto my well beloved wife Hannah Graves my plantation where I now
live dureing her life provided she does not marry againe but if she dos marry
again it is mywi11.that the land at her marriage shall go to my son James
Graves and his heirs Lawfully begotten of his ownbody but if my son James dye
without having any child of his ownthen it is mydesire that ye Land shall go
to my son Benjamin Graves & his heirs for ever.

I further give to my Daughter Martha Graves one Cow& Calf to be paid at
the day of marriage. I further give to my Daughter Ann Graves one Cow& Calf
to be paid the day of marriage I further give to mydaughter Jean Graves one
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Cowand Calf to be paid at the day of marriage & as for ye rest of mypersonel
estate I give it to myloving wife HannahGraves, during her natural Life and
at her decease it is mydesire that mypersonel estate that I give to mywife
for Life that it shall be equally divided amongstall myChildren at her decease.

I further Consitue & appoint mywell beloved wife hole & sole Exectrix of
this myLast will & Testament revoking and disannuling all other wills and
Testaments heretobore by me made.

” al
Signed & Sealed in psents of us John Graves (be )
September ye 4th 1719
Robt. Elliott
John Munday
Johannah (J E) Elliott.
17 May1720. Presented in Court by Hannah Graves. Proved by Robt. Elliott and
John Munday.

IV. w111 of John Coffey. Albemarle County Virginia.

In the name of God, Amen. This thirty-first day of March 1774 I John Coffey
of Albemarle County and Parish of St. Anne's in the Colony of Virginia, yeoman,
being weak in body but of perfect mind and memory, thanks be given unto God;
Therefore calling unto mind the mortality of mybody and knowingthat it is ap­
pointed for all menonce to die, do makeand ordain this mylast will and testa­
ment. That is to say, principally and first of all I give and recommendby soul
unto Almighty God who gave it, and my body I recommendto earth to be buried in
a decent mannerat ye discretion of myexecutors, nothing doubting but at the
General Resurrection I shall receive the same by the Almighty power of God. As
touching such worldly estate as it hath pleased Godto bless me with in this life
I give and devise and dispose of the same in the following manner and form:

Imprimis, I order that myjust debts and funeral expenses be first paid out
of the whole.

Item. I will and bequeath to my sons, James and William Coffey, to each of
themfive shillings sterling.

Item. I lend to mydearly beloved wife, Jean Coffey, during her widowhood
the rest of myestate, real and personal, and at the end of her widowhoodto be
equally divided amongthe rest of my children, viz.: ThomasCoffey, John Coffey,
EdmondCoffey, Reuben Coffey, and Benjamin Coffey, Winifred Moran and Betty Field
and the above estate to be sold at said time.

Item. I order ThomasCoffey and Benjamin Coffey, my executors, and I do
hereby utterly disallow, revoke and disannul all and every other former will and
testament, legacies, and bequests and executors in anywise before namedand be­
queath, ratify, and confirm this and no other to be mylast will and testament.
In witness whereof I have hereunto set myhand and seal the day and year above
Writteno

John Coffey (Seal)
Signed, sealed and delivered by the said John
Coffey as his last will and testament in the
presence of the subscribers, Chas. Patrick and
Alex'r. Craig

Presented to Court & proved by oaths of witnesses at Albemarle March Court 1775.
Thomas& Benjamin Coffey qualified as executors.



APPENDIX
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I. Will of ThomasCoffey. Wilkes county, North Carolina.

In the name of God, Amen. I, Thomas Coffey, of Wilkes County and State of
North Carolina, being of sound mind and memorydo make and ordain this my last
will and testament, viz:

First, I commendmy spirit to God who gave it and my body to the grave and
as to myworldly property, both real and personal, that shall remain after my
just debts are paid, I lend it to mybeloved wife Sarah Coffey for her use during
her natural life or widowhoodand what remains after her death or the end of her
widowhoodto be equally divided amongst my children, viz: mydau. Elizabeth Allen,
my son John Coffey wife and children, my son Thomas Coffey, my son James Coffey,
my dau. Mary Coffey, my son Smith Coffey, my dau. Patsy Dowell, My son William
Coffey, my son Reuben Coffey, my son Elijah Coffey, my dau. Sally Stewart, my
son Lewis Coffey, my son Larkin Coffey, and my son W. Caleb Coffey. Provided
never the less that if mysaid wife should marry again that then and case she
shall have an equal share with one of my children.

I here by appoint two of my sons, viz: Smith Coffey and William Coffey ex­
ecutor of this mylast will and testament.

Signed, sealed and delivered in the presence of us the 29th day of February
A.D. 1825.

Witness: Larkin Coffey Thomas (X) Coffey
Martin Coffey

Proved at October term 1825 on oath of
Larkin Coffey, Smith Coffey and
William Coffey

II. Will of James Coffey. Wilkes County, North Carolina.
In the Name of God Amen.

I James Coffey of Wilkes County and State of North Carolina
being sick & weak in body; though of sound and disposing mind and memory: and
calling to mind that it is ordained for all mento die; do makeand nominate this
my last will and testament,Viz: 7
First I recommendmy soul into the hands of Almighty God that gave it. And my
body to be buried in a desent manner at the discretion of myexecutors. Andas to
what worldly goods that pleased Almighty God to bless me with I give and despose
of thap in the following manner (To wit).

It is mywill and desire that myloving wife Elizabeth Coffey the whole of
myEstate both real &personal (that shall.remain after paying my just debts
and furneral expenses) during her natural life.

Item:I give and bequeath to mydaughter Betty Whitesides, my son John Coffey,
my son James Coffey, my son Reuben Coffey, my son Abious Coffey, my son
Ely Coffey, my son Rise Coffey, my daughter Martha Durram, my son Joel
Coffey, my son Lewis Coffey, and the heirs of my son Archelus Coffey; the
whole of myestate both real and personal of all kinds whatsoever: that
shall remain after myjust debts and funeral expenses shall be paid: to
be equally divided amongst them at the decease of my wife Elizabeth Coffey
That is to say allowing all the heirs of mydeceased son Archelius Coffey
jointly a part equal to one of mychildren and ___ ___ of equal share
____my own chillren. .
I do nominate and appoint my son John Coffey and my son Reubin Coffey execu­
tors of this mylast will and testament and do hereby disannul all former
wills and ratify and confirm this to be mylast will and testament; in
witness whereof I have hereunto set myhand and seal this thirteenth day of
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September in the year of our Lord One Thousand Seven Hundred and Eighty Six.H

Signed Sealed published and declared James is Coffey
in presence of mark
Wm. Lenoir

Peter Holt . iiifie °g N°:*h °ar°1i“a October 1786
Benjamin Coffey es °““ V The within will was duly

in open court by
oath of William
Esq. a subscribing witness
there to and ordered to be
recorded.

Teste. Wm.Lenoir
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Abner 23, 97
Abious 213
Abraham 50 , 93
Absolom 102
Achilles (Elder, Reverend) 115,

129. 130. 133°“. 137. 143-4.
155'6v 169

Ada 200
Addie Caroline 119
Adolphus 49
Albert 48,50
Albert MC203
Alexander B. 74
Alexander Hamilton 75
,Alexander L. 200, 207
Alfred 49,50, 203
Alfred Martin 48
Alice 61, 73. 93
Allen 50,62, 74, 102, 137
Almira E. 119
Alonzo 204
Alphonso 48
Alvira (Elvira) 76
Amadin (Amy) 120
Amanda 48
Amanda E. 145
Ambrose 4, 21, 58, 60 66, 69, 73
Amelia (Milley) 46
America 61,73
Amon Hume(s) 144,145
Amer Hood 203
Amos 50
Amy 144
Ananias 102
Anderson 48
Ann(e) 18, 25, 37-8, 54, 84 137-8,

143, 209, 210
Anna 45, 72, 203
Anna Eliza 119
Annis 105
Annister(s) 4, 21, 24, 28, 105
Appleton 103
Arabine 120
Archelaus 4-6, 50, 58-9, 66, 69, 99,

111, 114-5, 119, 133-6, 138, 140,
143-4. 159. 189. 197. 213

Archelaus (Rev.) 115, 126, 133-4,
137. 143-4. 155-5

Arthur 145
Arthur A. 52
Asbury 47
Asbury Madison (Col.) 62, 74. 134
Athan 47
Ausburn (Ausbon) 40, 52
Austin (Austes) 4, 21, 24, 28. 47.

54, 73, 100, 210

Bailey (H.) 111-13, 115, 119
Benjamin 4, 22, 34, 38, 40, 43. 47.

51-2, 54, 59. 95. 102-4, 212, 214
Benjamin B. 75
Benjamin Franklin 77
Bennett 53-4
Bennie Byan 60,72
Bennie Lou 40

INDEX
1 - Coffey Names

Bessie May 51
Betsey 61, 99, 102, 114, 119
Betty 57: 95: 212
Beulah 147
Blanche 147
Bice 50
Bidgett 200
Eddie 49

C.A. 145
Caldonia 146
Calvin 47, 200
Captain 135
Caroline (a) 140, 146
Carr 145
Carrie B. 204
Cassandra 47, 206

gcassey 102
C&8WB1l53.54
Catharine 53. 71. 95. 99. 103. 120
Catherine Jane 206
Celestis E. 119
Celia (Sealey) 71, 98-9, 102, 47
Charles 18, 49, 93
Chesley 25! 541 59: 871 901 98!

100-3, 207
Chesley Jr. 101, 200, 20?
Chesley sr. 101, 103
Chester 196, 198
Christianna 97 _
Christopher Greenup 74
Clara 120
Clarissa Ellen 200
Cleveland 22, 23, 40, 99, 101, 103
Cleveland L. 77
Cleveland Salathiel 101
Claud M. 119
Colbert L. 101
Colby 39. 52
Columbus 148
Cornelius 48
C.R. 34, 44, 145
Cynthia E. 120

Daniel 10, 47, 200
David 23, 97

I Denton Darby 206-7
Denzia 50
Delphia 53
Derrindia 207
Dorcas 34, 45
Drury D. 200

Eben Rice 140
Edd 145
Edith 145, 206
Edmond (Edmund) 4, 32, 35-6, 41, 43,

46, 70, 212
Edmond F. 36, 45
Edmond S. 36
Edward 4,6, 10, 17-18, 20-1, 23-5,

28. 31. 33. 35. 43. 82. 84. 86.
90. 93. 98. 100. 103. 200. 209.
210

Edward Jr. 22, 103
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Edward Sr. 82
Eleanor (all variants) 71,72, 114,

115. 119. 133. 137-8. 143
Eleanor Wade 122, 159
Elendor 115, 119, 133, 137. 143
Elias Y. 120
E11 (Ely) 4, 47. 49, 58, 62, 66,

69, 74, 101-2, 131, 133-4,
140, 143, 147, 189, 213

E11 D. 197. 205
Elijah 231 u7'8I 50! 531 96099!

197, 213
Elinor 4, 137, 143 .
Elizabeth 4, 21, 25, 28, 33, 36,

40. 43-4. 50. 52-4. 58. 52.
64-6, 69-71, 73-4, 84-5, 90,
95, 97, 102-3, 111, 115, 144,
206, 210, 213

Ella Mae 52
Ellen 206
Ellen B. 74
Elisha 23, 50, 70
Eliza 46, 47
Elizabeth A. 146
Elizabeth Angeline 207
Elizabeth (Betsy) 72. 99. 76
Elizabeth F. 206
Elizabeth Cleveland 66, 72, 76
Elizabeth Graney 101,102
Elonder 115, 133, 119, 137. 143
Elvira 45, 48, 51, 75
Ely 62, 213
Elzy 49
Emily 48, 53, 61, 74, g06
Enoch 50, 70
Ethan 145
Ethel
Etta 203
Esther (Hester) 34, 45
Esther C. 120

Felicia 101
Fielden 102
Fielding 99, 102
Floyd A. 148
Frances (Franky) 76, 95, 129, 132,

%g3v 135-140! 1u3'u7) 158'59y9
Frances Caroline 49
Frances Josephine 120
Frances M. 147
Frankey 45
Frank Nebuzaradon 206

Gary K. 113, 119
George 40. 53. 99. 146. 200
George Achilles 145
G.E.C. 145
George F. 203
George Henry 119
George Washington 73
Georgia 145
German J. 206
Ghalan S. 206
Gilliam 47
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Glathia Jane 52
Grace 103
Gracie 101
Green M. 206
Greenup 61

Hannah 95
Harvey B. 120
Harvey C. 146
Hayes 102
Henderson 76
Henrietta 120
Henry 62, 74
Heny Bradford 75
Henry C. 49
Hezekiah 111, 113, 120
H. Marcus 40
Hiram 49, 61, 73, 112, 113, 120
Hiram Jerome 120
Holland 61, 73
Hugh 10, 104
Hugh W. 104
Humphrey 99

Ica 203
Inez 147
Irena Ann 144
Isaac 23, 47, 101
Isabella F. 146
Isaiah Zarrah 23
Isom 50

Jacob 45, 101
James “'69 21'uo 32'3v 35: 37‘9u

Q1! #31 45) #71 #9! 51‘21 5“!
57'9I 62: 64‘6v 69‘74u 76! 819
85: 90. 95» 98-9. 102-3. 105:
111-12, 115-16, 119, 129-33,
135-140, 143-7, 156-9, 162,
189-90, 200, 203, 212-14

James A. 134, 146, 148
James Alexander 200
James Asbury 134, 144
James B. 97. 120, 196, 200
James Bluford 3,4,5, 28, 51, 196,

203
James D. 50
James Eldy or Eldo 203
James H. 119, 146
James Harvey Jr. 113, 119
James Harvey Sr. 113
James Jr. 52, 59, 66, 69, 72
James Lewis 76
James M. 4. 5. 59, 111
James Madison 52, 61, 73
James Marion 51
James Orval 204
James Temple 45
James Sr. 66
James V. 52
James H. 50, 138
James Wesley 4, 131, 133, 138-9,

143. 196. 199
James Wilson 105
Jane at 2u‘5o 321 3”) 361 381 uO'11

u5'9o 511 5hr 57; 831 99: 101'“:
111, 121, 126, 133-4, 140, 143,
159

Jane Louisa 50
Janie Evelyn 148
Jason 49

Jasper 48, 146
Jean 212
Jefferson 61
Jemima 36
Jenny 35, 46, 102

Jesse 23, 33, 36-7, 40. 44. 49-51:I
Jesse Cleveland, 101, 103
Jesse Moore 77
Jessie 139
Jerusha 63, 75
JOe1 Q, 23, 5n, 63, 691 75! 98'9g

100-4, 199. 200, 206-7, 213
Joel Anderson 50
Joel Henry 45
Joseph 50, 98-9, 102
Joseph E. 148
Jordan 36
Joshua 47, 94, 95, 96, 97
Joshua M. 97
John 4-5, 17-18, 22-3, 28, 31-5,

37'81 u°'1p u3‘7o H99 51‘3p 57‘8v
66! 69'71l 83: 93‘8u 1oo‘19 1o3'5I
111, 115, 131, 137, 120, 139,143,
1579 189) 191'31 198'9o 203: 2091ao,m2.u3

John A.W. 112, 193, 198, 199
John Archilles Winfield 197, 205
John Davidson 50
John E11 148
John Elvis 148
John Ernest 145
John Gerry 144
John Jackson 52
John J.c. 49, 206
John J. H. 206
John L. 111
John Lockhart 135, 145
John Mcclernon 135, 145
John Reid 63, 75
John W. 111-16, 120, 126, 129, 145,

157
John Vaid Sr. 113, 119, 126
John William 120
Judson 48
Julie Ann 189, 196, 204
Julie Jane 49

Keziah (Kezia) 70, 137
Keziah C. 146
Kitty 99

Landon 101, 102
Langston 99
Larkin 37. 49. 313
Laura 120, 144, 145
Laura Louise 49
Laurence (Dr.) 24, 32, 35, 36
Lawrence Lesenby 145
Lawson 51
Leah 22
Lee Alford or Alfred 203
Lee Vandiver 195
Leland 47
Leona 204
Leonard 105
Lester B. 204
Levi 58, 70, 105
Le"15 an u8‘9o 5“: 6“: 701 1581213
Lewis M. 105
Lewis P. 139, 143, 147

Iportr:r------------------------------------------—4

Lewis Russell 4, 59, 63, 69, 76
Lillian L. 205
Lillian M. 147
Lillian R. 147
Lincoln 120 V
Lincy 99
Logan 99
Loney or Lonie 204
Lora A. 148
Lorenzo 49
Loretta 120
Louis 102
Louisa 4, 47, 53-4, 139-40, 143,

146-7. 157. 162, 190, 199. 205
Louisa Elza 147
Louney 70
Lovancy 47
Louvica 145
Louisa 207
Luchia 50
Lucille 148
Lucinda 50
Lucinda A. 120
Lucy 44, 99
Lulu 144, 204
Luthur 48
Lydia 95

Mahalia (Mahala) 46.53, 102
Malena 48
Malinda 53
Malinda Caroline 50
Malvina (Melvina) E. 144
Mamie Ellen 148 .
Marcus 52
Margaret 45! A7: u9'5Ov 531 105
Mariah 101
Mark Alan 64
Mark N. (Marquis) 120
Martha an 21! 23'5v 28! u7‘9p 591

60, 72, 84, 193, 206, 209-10
Martha Ellen 196, 204
Martha L. 76
Martha "Patsy" 69, 101, 75
Martin 103-4, 213
Martin Van Buren 49
Marvel 47
Marvin Dale 215
Mary 45-8. 53-4. 58. 74. 95-6.101,

102, 104-5, 114, 120, 144, 213
Mary A. 119
Mary Ann 51, 70, 101, 113, 203
Mary C- (0.) 75
Mary E. 97, 120, 148, 200, 206
Mary Elizabeth 119
Mary E. Patterson 200
Mary J. 147
Mary Jane 193. 195. 197. 199. 205
Mary L. 206
Mary Lou 49
Mary Louisa 207
Mary Miller 105
Mary Philenah 119
Mary "Polly" 76
Mary "Polly" Ann 121
Mary Saunders 99
Matilda 50 51, 53
Matthew 44
Maude Mary 145
May 145
McCaleb a9



Meredith an, us
Micajah 105
Michael 105
Mildred &&, 61, 73, 205
Miles 196, 203
Millie &7
Milton &8, 51, 111, 121
Minard Ernst 119
Minerva &8-9
Mira &6, 53, 61
Miriam &8
Modesta Ann 1&8
Morgan &7
Moses 103
Myra 47. 73
Myrtle 139
Murry 101
Murtagh 10

Nancy 23, &5-6, 50-2, 70-1, 101,
103, 1.13, 1201 139s 1118: 192‘3v
199. 203

Nancy Bell 203
Naomi 73
Nathan 98-9, 101-3
Nathaniel 76, 99 v
Nebuzaradon 38, 98, 101-2, 10&,

199, 206
Newman Arthur 1&8’
Newton &8, 101
Newton Eli 101
Nias 102
Nicholas 133
Nora 1&5

Oliver 73
Oliver N. 51
Ollie 139. 1&5
Ollie Grace 1&5
Cna 20&
Ora B. 1&8
Orella (Orilla) 1&5
Othel Leman 1&8
Osborn 33, 3a, an, 103
Owen 10, 139

Patsey (see also Martha) &&,99
Patterson V. 200
Paulina 1&&
Permelia 132—&, 1&&
Perry &7
Peter 23. 93-5. 97
Peter Jr. 95
Peter Sr. 95
Phebe 120
Phoebe 1&&
Phoebe Ann 1&5
Pleasant 23
Pleasant B. 97
Polly (see also Mary) 38, &6, 51,

61, 71, 73, 101-2
?olly Ann 61

Rachel &9, 62, 72, 76
Rachael Frances 7&
Ray 1&7
Rebecca &7, 196
Rebecca A. 121
Resa Ethel 1&8
Reuben &, 32, 37-8, &3, &8-9, 58,

60, 66, 69, 72, 101, 115, 135,
212, 213

Rex 1&7
Rice at 469 59: 62"3o 66. 69'70.

87. 97. 75
Rice Abner 63
Richard &&, &8, 101, 103
Richard S. 97
Riley 51, 1&5
Rise 213
Robert 70. 105
Robert (Dr.) 47, 97, 200
Robert C. 200
Robert E. 1&7
Rose 200
Roy Leo 1&8
Rufus &8, 71+, 1&6
Ruth 102
Ruth Eliza 101
Rutherford 101-2

Sadie 205
Salathiel 100-2
Sale (Sail) 102
Sales M. 131+, 1&&
Sallie &?
Sally 4. 35-6. 44, &6—8.50-1, 71-2.

137-8. 1&3. 1&6
Sally Ann 151
Salome 1&8
Samuel M. 1&7-8
Sarah (S3-Ty) 39: 1+5) u8"5ov 511‘!58'91

70-1, 102, 105, 205-6, 213
Sarah Bell 120
Sarah E. 121
Sarah Elizabeth 1&6
Sarah J. 1&6-7 '
Sarah L. 206
Sarah Lucinda 53
Sariah 1&8
Sealy 99, 102
Sephronia &8
Serena T. 51
Shelby 76
Shelby C. 1&5
Shelton &8
Silas 51, 139
Sirena 101
Smith 3?. 47, 213
Sophia 105
Sophronia 1&7
Squire &7
Stanton P. 101
Starling &8
Susan &5, &9, 113
Susan Amanda 113, 121
Susannah 23, 9&-5
Sydney (Sidney) J. 206
Sylvester &9

Talmage I. 113, 119
Taylor Y. 120
Tecumseh Sherman 206
Teige 10
Temperance 50
Terral M. 200, 207
Theodore 120
Thomas &, 10, 18, 32-6, 38, &1, &6,

&7. &9. 43. 51. 53-4. 59. 66. 93.
97. 105. 131. 136-7. 139-&0. 1&3.
1&5-6, 190, 193. 198, 200, 212-13

Thomas (Elder) 137
Thomas C. 206
Thomas Coleman 77

21.9

Thomas Graves 96
Thomas H. 102
Thomas Jefferson &8, 52, 73
Thomas L. 101
Thomas M. 1&6
Thomas R. 1&8
Thomas Webster 20&
Thomas Wesley 199, 205
Timothy 9&
Tipton 7&
Todd 6&

Van 195
Vanda 200
Vandever Lee 192, 195,-6, 198,203
Vernon 52
V.L. 193
Volney Thornton 120

Walton 99
Waneta &7
Washington 61
Webster 70
W. Caleb 213
Weightstill Avery 75
Whilly 1&7
Wilborn &7
Wiley H. 50
William &, 23. 32-&, 36-8, &1,

43'?! “'9! 510 534*‘: 65: 71!

3537, 99, 10&, 200, 207, 212,
William Allen 1&6
William Benjamin 52
William Columbus 59
William H.H. 119
William M. 53
William S. 101
William Sanders 103
William Sr. 93
William Trimble 50
William W. 52
William Waid 119
Willis 101
Wilson &7-8
Winfield 197
Winfield W. 197. 205
Winifred 4. 36, a1, 43~u, 212
Winnefred (Ureney?) &&
Winnie &7
Woodson 99
Wyatt 99

Zacheus 50
Zidner 102



INDEX
2 - Surnames Other Than Coffey

ABBOTT,Webster 20?
ADAMS,John G. (Capt.) 189

Mary 52
Nancy 1-I-1+
Robert 120

ALEXANDER,Martin 179
Minerva 76

ALLEN,Charlotte 1+8
David 1+7, 51, 62, 711­
Elizabeth 213
Hannah 1+, 62, 69, 711­
William 115
+1.5. 201+

ANDERSON 1+5
Ann 173, 181+
David 170-1, 183
Joshua 1+5
Judith 173. 181+
Mary 171
Matthew 173. 181+
Ruth 171, 183
Sallie 1+5
Samuel 181+
Thankml 70
William 171, 183
Winnie 1+5

ANDREWS,Haley 180
ARMISTEAD, Martha. 173: 181+
ARNETI‘, Jacob 1+5
ARNOLD, Forrest 31+
ARTHUR, Albertis 196

Catherine 196
Josephine 196
Martha E. 193
Mildred A.F. 196, 2011­
Milton 196
William 196
William Jr. 196, 20a
William Sr. 196
William C. 201+

ASRBROOK,Elizabeth 200
ATKINSON,Celia. 157. 162
AULD,Lou (or Lori) K. 138
AUSTIN, David 25

Miss 86
Susannah 25

BAKER,Mrs. Ann Nelson 173. 18h
Frank 203
Luciller Jane 206

BARKER, 3. Melvina 11+-5
BALDWIN,Margaret 101, 207
BALDRIIXEE, John 1+, 137, 11+3
EALLARD,Susanna. 153, 162
BALLENGER,Elizabeth 125
BARKER, Andy 201+
BARNETIE, ‘Mic 70

Nancy 1+, 36‘ 1+3, 1+6
smnarr, Ann(e5 181+

Charles (D13) 181+
Charles II 1811­
Robert (Rev.) 18h

BAR'I'LE'I'I‘,Lois Evalyne 201+
EEACRUM, William 11-I-7
BEARD,Polly 102
EEASLEY, E1 Wanda 52

BECK, George 120
BELL, Jane 1+1!­
BIGERSTAFF,Arden (Capt.) 159
BIGGERS, Creed '1'. 162
BIGGS, Isabel 71
BISHOP, Harvey 121

Margaret 121
William 71

ELACKERBY,Arthur Frank 206
Eliza. M. 206
Joseph Monroe 206
J. William C. 206
Marcus D.L. 206
Sidney G. 206
Ihomas Richard 206

ELADEN, Mrs. 50
BLAIR, Polly 101
BLANKENSHJ3,Luranny 178
BOLIN, Mary Elizabeth 5, 203
BOLING, Diantha 113, 119
BONHAM,C. Philip 52

Jeanne Snodgrass 52
BOONE, Mr.

Annie 1+7, 200
Daniel 37. 61, 66
Hannah 1+7

BOOIMAN, Saloma 11+8
BORK, June 59
BOYD, James 1111+
BRADEN, Anninda. F. 11+? '
BRADFORD,Henry (Col.) 71+

Mary 62, 71+
Sarah "Sally" 1+, 62, 63, 68, 75
Mrso 77

BRAWNER,Jesse 70
ERIIIJE, John 1+1-+
ERINLEY, Amelia 111:­
BRISTOW,Adaline C. 206

Darwin 206
Edith Clyde 206
I013 N. 206
William Wilshire 206

EROWN_.121
Benjamin 175, 185
Bernard 185
Matthew 175
Napoleon B. 121
Sally 101
William F. 1611­

BROYLES,Elisa Jane "Louisa" 159,161+
Fielding 159, 1611­
Susan 159, 161+

BRYAN,Ann Penelope 95
BRYANT, Catherine 1+1-+
BUCK,Katherine Rains 153
BUCHANAN, J. H. 148
BUCKNER, Jane 81+
BULLEN,Isaac 53
BURGER, Elizabeth 11-5
BURIETI‘, Mary 102
BURSIDE, Rachel 125
EURPO, Lucinda 51
BYLES, Carolyn 51

CALHOUN, Mary 179
CALLOWAY,Larkin
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CAMP 114-5, 185
CAMPBELL,Eliza 51

Joel 1&6
John 116
Martha 53

CANTRELL, Elizabeth 114-1+
Mary Elinor 138, 111-6

CARNAAHAN,Louisa Adelaide Ferris Long1 .

CARLAND, A.B. 71
cane, Thomas (Maj.) 171, 183

Thomas 183
CARTER, Dorcas 1+, 311-, 1+3, 1+5

Henry 83
Lennie Etta 153

CASE, Laxton 71
CATESBY 20
CAUGHEY 12

CRADWICK, Nancy 102
CRAFFIN 139
CHANCE,William 178
CHAPMAN, Roy 52
CHENAULT,Stephen 25, 28

William 25
CHESLEY, Miss 100

Da.n 100
Margaret 100
Phillip 100

CHSWELL, Mary 184
CHRISTMAS,Elizabeth 172, 181+
CLARK, Lou Mina Jane 52

Nancy 76
Tillie 163

CLEVELAND,Absalon 85
Alexander 6, 22, 28, 57, 69, 81-14-,

86-8, 90
Alexander Jr. 82-15, 87-8, 90
Alexander Sr. 82, 81+, 86, 87
Anka 83—1+’, 90
Anna 81+
Ann(e) 83, 90
Benjamin 82, 85-7, 90
Benjamin (Col.) 25, 38, 60, 66,

87-8
Betty 81+-5, 90
Dorcas or Dorothy 82, 86, 90
Edmund James 81, 83-7
Eli 83, 88, 90
Elizabeth 11-5, 21, 1-+3,57, 67,

70, 81, 83-5, 87-8, 90, 111,119
Fanny 83
Frances 83, 86
George 83
Grace #, 22, 28, 35, 82, 86, 100,

103, 190
Hannah 83
Henry Wilson 83
Jack 90
Jacob 83, 86, 90
James 83, 90
Jane 86, 98, 100, 102
Jemima 85
Jeremiah 81, 83, 86-7, 90
John 1+, 22, 28, 81-7, 90
John (‘Devil’) 85
Johnston 83
Larkin 81+, 86, 90



CLEVELAND, Cont.
Margaret 83-4, 87-8
Martha 83-5, 90
Mary 83-5. 90
Micajah 81, 86-7, 90
Mildred 83
Mille 83
Milly 83-4, 90
Moses 81
Nancy 86, 90
Oliver 81, 83-4, 88, 90
Patsey (Patsy) 83-4, 86, 90
Patty 84, 86, 90
Polly 83-4
Reuben 84, 86, 90
Robert 85-6, 88, 90
Roger 6, 82, 8708, 90
Sally 90
Sarah Ann 84
William 81-4, 86-8, 90

COBB,Martha Patricia 99
COBTHACH 12, 14
COBHTHAIGH9, 12, 14
COE, Elvira 120
COGHILL, James 19

Margaret 20
Mary 20

COLES, William 173
COLLETT,Elizabeth 49

Harriet 200
COLLMAN(COLEMAN), Samuel 44
CONMELY, Anne 211
COCGAN, Emmet G. 164
COOK, Viola 114
COON, Amanda E. 199, 205 '
ccaaum 74
COVELL,Merritt L. (Capt.) 113
COWEY 12

COX, Benjamin Sr. 119
Nancy 119

CRAFT, Norm 163
CRAIG, Alex'r 212
GRAIN, Samuel 46
CRAWFORD,Braxton 144
CREEL 28
CREIGHTON, John 195
CREW, Andrew 151

Anne 5, 151-2, 162
David 152
Jane 152
John 151-2, 162
Joseph 152
Mary 151
Sarah 151, 162
William 152

CRISP, Myra 48
CRCMWELL,Oliver 88
caoss, Mary Ann 75
CRUMPTON, James 40

Jesse 71
Winifred 37, 49

CRUTCHFIELD, John 173, 184_
CULLOM,Richard Northcraft 64, 76

Shelby Moore 64
CURTIS, Rice 82

Samuel 52
William J. 48

CURTSINGER, Beulah 52

DABNEY,Agatha (Agnes) 179
Anderson 175; 185

DABNEY, Cont.
Ann 173, 178, 184
Anna 175-7. 179. 155Benjamin17191731
Bluford (Buford) 181
Catherine 184
Cecilia 184
Charity 184
Charles 177-8, 184
Charles II 184
Charles (Col.) 172, 184
Charles William 170
Chiswell 184
Cicely 184
Cornelius 154, 169, 170-8, 180-1,

183-5
Cornelius, Jr. 171, 173-4, 183
Dorothy’ 171, 183
Edey 178
Edith (Eedeth) 170-1, 183, 135
Edmond 184

Elizabeth 171-3, 175, 178, 180-1,
183-5

Fanny 176-7, 180-1, 185
Frances 175-6, 184-5
Garland 175, 185
George. 171-2, 177-8, 180-1, 184-5
George II 172-3, 184
George III 173, 184
George IV 173, 184
George W. 178
Gracey 184
Isaac175
James 171-5, 178, 181, 183-5

_James (Dr.) 184
James (the Powerful) 3
Jane 176. 177. 180, 184
John 169, 171, 173-9. 180-1,183-5
John III 171, 183 *
John (Judge) 173
John Blair 173, 184
John Quarles 175-6
Jubal 180
Judith 173; 184
Lucy 175-8, 185
Lucy G. 184
Lydia 179
Maria 184
Mary 171-2. 175. 177. 183-5
Mary or Molly 173, 184
Mary Jane 184
Melinda 178
Mildred 184
Milley 178
Molly 179
Nancy 5. 129. M3. 151. 154-5.

169. 170-1, 176, 178-9, 180-1,
185

Nancy Ann 184

Nafgan 169, 176-7, 179, 180-1,5
Nathan Jr. 180
Nathaniel 175, 181, 185
Nelson 184
Nelthan 172, 181
Permelia (Pamela) 180
Polly 178-9
Rachael (Rachel) 170, 176, 185
Rebecca 178, 185
Rhoda 180
Richard 184
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DABNEY, Cont.
Robert 179
Robert (Robin) 172, 184
Robert A. 178
Robert Kelso 175, 185
Robert Lewis 184
Sally 178
Samuel 172, 184
Samuel (Dr.) 184
Sarah (Sally) 179
Sarah 171, 17L"'5o 178‘9o 1-83'5
Sophia 180
Susan 185
Susanna(h) 171, 183, 185
Susanne 172, 184
Thomas 178, 184
Thomas (Maju of Dorrell) 184
ThomasJefferson 180
Thomas Smith Gregory 173
Tyree (Tyre) 175. 180-1, 185
William 169, 170, 172-9. 180.

181, 184-5
William Jr. 172, 184
William (Col., of Aldringham)

172. 184
William ('Eickhouse Billy’)

173. 184
DALTON,Matilda 52

Tandy 53
_ Timothy 53

D AUBIGNE, Agrippa 170
Cornelius 170
John 170
William (Sir) 170

DAVIS 120
Demoriah 71
Isaac 70

DAWSON,John 125
DAN, Bertus A. 145

Cassandra 160, 162
Cora 145
Dora 145
family 131
Jacob (Rev. & Sr.) 133, 137-8,

140, 144, 159-60, 162, 189
Jacob Clay 140, 160, 162
Jacob Jr. 159, 160, 162
James D. 160
James Dabney 162
Jane 4, 133-4, 140, 143-4,

159: 189
Jennie 143
Julie Ann 162
Loretta 145
Lucinda E. 162
Martha Drusilla 144
Melvina 145
Nancy 140, 159, 160, 162-3
Robert Marshall 145
Sarah Adeline 162
Susan N. 162
Susannah 133, 140, 159, 162
William 140, 143, 159

DENNY, Samuel 115
DEPEW, Edward M. 121

Ella 121
DICK, Betsy 70
DILLARD 173, 184
DONELSON,Mary 96-7 .
DOOLING(DULIN) Robert 21, 28

Thomas 21
William 21
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DO0LI'I'I'LE,Margaret 83, 88, 90
DOWELL, George 1+8

James (Rex/.) 1+7
Patsy 213
Polly 37. he

DUCKETI‘ 120

DUGAN 205
DULING(see also DOOLING), William

25
DUMONT 201+

DUNCAN,Core. Miller 161+
DURHAM51, 131, 156, 157

Asahel (Ashel) H. 14a
Bathsheba Jane 11+0
Elizabeth "Betsy" 72
Hannah 21+, 28
James 72
Jane 1311
John 72
Louisa 76
Martha 60, 213
Mastin 1+, 58-9, 60, 66, 69, 72
Molly 72
Sally 72
Sarilda 11+5
Selah 72
William 138

DYE, Philena. 119
DYER, Fred 1+9

Henderson 1+6
Joel Anderson 51
Mary Abby (Polly) 5o

EASLEY,Elizabeth 99. 206
Ninian Edwards 162 .
William 206

EAST, Margaret 196
ECHOLS, Becky 170, 176

Elizabeth 178
EEMONIBON,Dolly 58

Dorothy "Dolly" 70
Mr. 73
Samuel 210
Sarah 75

ELAM,Burnett 72
Burrell 75

ELLES, Irene 180
Kaziah 180

ELLIOTT,Johannah (J.E.) 212
Lemuel 161+
Robert 212

ELLIS, Elizah 120
James 0. 120

ELYSON, Agatha 151
Hannah 151
Robert 151

EMERSON, George 11+-1+
ESTES, Clarissa 200

Marbisha 200

FAIRCI-l1'LD,Ebenezer 72
FAULKNER, Emanuel 50

Mary 51
FERGUS,Sally 53
FERGUSON,Delilah 1+7, 59

5311? 53
FIELIER, Sarah 97
FIELDING, Sally 1+5
FIELIE, Richard 36, 1+0

Reuben 1+0

Sarah (Sally) 4, 36, no, a3,
1+7, 200

FIELJB, Cont.
‘memes 1+, 1+0, 66
William 1+0

FITZGERALD 1-+5
Asbury 1+5
Perry 1+5
'I‘:Lldy 1+5

F’IRES'I'INE,Cora Ellen 163
Elmeda (Emily) 163

FLANNICAN, Ewing 11-, 1381 1,430 1-116
Martha. E. 138, 11-+6
Mary Elizabeth "Polly" 163
Nancy Neoma 163
Perlina 138, 1116
Robert Harrison 163
Samuel Ewing 138, 163
Sarah 160
Sarah J. 161+

FLOOD, Jane 151+
FLOURNOY 185
FORTNER, Kenneth 1+5
FOSTER, Nancy Ellen 1+, 11+0, 11+3, 11+8
FOX, Melvina Dean 11+5
FRANKLIN, Barnet 85

Bernard 81+, 85, 90
Isaac 50
Lawrence 82
Meishack 85

FRISBY, Wallace M. 203
FRY 162
FULLEN, John‘ 50

Joseph Woody 121
FILLING, Rachel 1-+9

GARLAND,James Jr. 38
Mary 183

GARNER,Polly 69, 71+
Vincent 60, 61

GARRETT,Villiam 180
GAULT,Effie C. 121
GAY 120

czmar, Benajah 86
Mary 86, 90

GEORGE 120

Susanne Anne 172, 181+
GIEON, Robert 3. 111-7

Mary 20
GIDDENS, John K. 163-1+

Susie A. 161+
Ihursia E. Lane 163

GILEREATH,Elizabeth 101
GILES, Betsey 1+6
GILLASPIE, David 85, 90
GILLUM, Bennett 81+
GILPIN, Mr. 205
GILSTRAP, Lewis 180
GLASCOCK, Charnel 11+-1+

Mary 11+-5
GLAZE, Maggie 120
GODFREY,Robert 162
GOLD, Ann 1+9
GOODNIGHT, Sarah 118
GOODHIN,Christina E. 1116

Keziah C. 11+6
Thomas 11+6

GORDON, Adam 91+
GRAGG,William so
GRAHAM,Anna Eliza 119

Ira. 51
GRANTLAND, Seaton 181+
GRAVES, Ann 32, 211

Benjamin 32, 211

GRAVES, Cont.
Elizabeth 95
Hannah 28, 31-2, 1+3, 211-12
James 6, 31-2, 1+3, 211
James Garland 38
Jane (Jean) 1+-,6, 21-I--5,23. 31;

32. ‘*3; 57. 59» 339 100.101‘:
113. 211

John 6, 28, 31-2, 211-12
Martha 32, 211
Mary 85. 90
Sarah 71
Thomas (Ca.pt.) 31
William 85

GRAY, Champ Fred 15a
GREEN, Mary 200
GREGORY,Catherine 211
GRIFFIN, Abby Dyer 1+3, 1+9, 51
GRUB, Elizabeth 1+5
GUDDE,Irene Theresa 52
GU’I‘I-LRIE,Esther 121
GUM, Adam 125
GWATHEY,Philadelphia 174-6, 185

HADEN, Anna. 176
Anthony 176

HAGLER,Eve Gertrude 71
HALE, Betsy 178
HALL, James (Capt.) 137

William 180
I-IAM?'I‘ON,James Gzapt.) 135
HANCOCK,Benjamin 153, 156, 162

Benjamin Jr. 153
Benjamin Sr. 153
Jesse 153
John 153
Margaret (Margery) 153
Nancy 153. 179
Sarah Gwen 153

HANSFCRD, Nancy 103
HAREERT,Joseph Bailey 111+

Mary B. 121
HARBORD,Adelia 121

Adeline 121
Agnes 11¢
Alphonzo H. 121
Catherine 113
Catherine Low 120
Charles B. 122
Eleanor 111+, 122
Elinor Adeline 122
Elizabeth Adelaide 122
George C. 121
George W. 121, 122
Hezekiah Mosby 111+
H.'r{. 121
lone 121
James Coffey 121, 122
John 112, 111+, 119, 121
John W. 121
Joseph Bayley 111+
Laura. 121
Mahala 121. 122
Mahala Cassandra Helen(Hunt)122
Margaret 121
Martha Ann 121, 122
Mary "'.Polly'' 1+, 112-1+, 119, 121
Mary B. (Harbert) 121
Mary Bayley 111+
Mary Jane 122
Mary Margaret 122
Matthew 113-15
Matthew Adolphus 121



HARBORD, Cont.
Matthew B. 121
Matthew L. 120, 121
Moses G. 121, 122
Nancy 121
Nancy A. 122
Patsey 119
Richard H. 122
Robert A. 111$
Sarah J. 121
Susannah 11%
William 11»,111+, 121, 129
William D. 122
William E. 122

HARLOW,John 103
HARRIS 121

Ann 174, 176-7, 185
Anna 174-7, 180-1, 185
Christopher 175, 177, 185
Colonel 174
Frances 179, 184
James 176-?
Jane 176-7, 185
Mourning (Glenn) 171+, 177
Mary 176-7
Simpson 96
Thomas 185
Tyre 17h,181
Robert (Maj.) 171., 177

HARGHAVES,James E. 1#7
HATTY, Susannah 133
HAWKINS, Betsy 51+
HAYES, Daniel 211

George W. 52
Jesse 52
Kathryn E. 52
Loretta Dean 145
Nancy #0, 52
Polly 4, 38, 52, 103
Thomas
William Daniel 52

HAYS,Elizabeth 101-2
Naomi 49

HAZELRIGG, John 814-, 90
HEATH, Jane 151+

Martha 154
HENDRIX, Nathan 122
HENRY, Ida Mae 52

Mr. 90
HIATT,Isabelle 52
HIBBORD 164
HICKMAN,Francis 22
HIIIL, Nicholas 17
HINIMAN, Jane 102
HINSHAW, John 45
HIPSHIRE, John 53
Hisan, Mr. 72
HOLLAND,Samuel Lloyd 198

William Jack 1118

HOLL2gAY,Waller or Walter Logan
HOLT,Peter 21h
HOPPER, Jane 1.5
HORTON,Archibald C. 179
HUBBARD 28

HUDDLESTON,Hannah 153
HULL, Polly 48
HUMPHREY,Polly no

Winifred U-0
HUNI‘, Abel 14-11­

James A. 121
Malinda Caroline 1&4

HUNT, Cont.
Paulina 14%-5
Perry ihh

HUNTER, John 185
HILTON, Mehitable ~18’-+

IRELAND, Rehecca 17
William 17

ISRAEL, Arminta 71
Caroline 71
Celia 71
Elizabeth 71
James 71
James Monroe 71
Marvin Eelson 71
Michael Jr. 58, 71
Michael Sr. 71
Monterville Marvin 71
Sarah 71
Willard 58. 71
Willard Alfred 71

ISAACS, Rachael -A. 76
ISELL, Sara Ann 76
ISLER, Mary Catherine 73

JACKSON, Andrew 97
John “'7: 176

JACOBSON 201+

J'ENNII\CS,Charles 183
Peter 183
Sarah 171-6, 181, 183, 185
Sarah Ann 183
William 1714­

JEWELL, George Washington 73
JOHNSON,Christopher (nev.) 181+

Edward 83, 87
Iva May 204
Kathryn 52
Martha Ann 162
Massey 152
Mr. 90, 205
Sally 85, 90
William 175, 185
William Wallace 52
William Wilson 162

JOHNSTON,Leonard L. 199
Lillian 199
Mildred 197
Mr. 205

JOLLIFTE, John 17
Mary 17

JONES, Adrew Jackson 76
Elizabeth 71, 154
John 179
Josephine 52
Ira 120
Lydia 178-9
Naomi 120
Russell 71
Ruth 1&7
Susan A. 121
ThomasJefferson 76

KANE,Carrie 204
MmyEM.#,1fi,1%,1%

KELSEY, Annie 101
KENDALL,Bailey 95

James 95
Jess 95
Jesse 95
John 95
Mary 95
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KENEDY, Ellenor 138
James L. 4, 138, 143
Miriam 179

KENNE'I“I' (KINNET) 179
John 179

KETRON,Alice 52
KILBREATH,Elizabeth 101
KIMLER, Charles E. 120
KIIE, Minnie V. 196

Mr. 201-!­

KINNETT,Polly 158
KIRK, W.W. 195

William W. 197; 205
KIRKPATRICK, David 162
KNIGHT, F.P. 1144

Mary 102
KREIGH, Tola 1'-U-+

LAMBERTH, George 20
Mrs. Joyce 20

LANE, Ann 129, 151-4
Annuel (Ann) 153
Bradford 160
Celia 157 '
Core 160
Cora Ellen 163
Dabarry 160
Dabney 157, 160, 162
Daniel 152-3, 155, 162
Eliza 156
Eliza J. 158-9
Elizabeth 153-11»,156, 162, 178
Elzada 160
Emiline 162
Emily 160
family 131
Frances 4,5, 119, 129, 136,
138! 11109 14347: 1519 155'9p
162, 189, 203
Frances L. 162 ~
George Washington 169-5
Hossanmah 162
Ida 160
Ida Caroline 163
II3 153
Isaac 162
Jacob 159
Jacob c. 163-5
James 156, 158, 160, 162-3
James Jr. 156
James Marion 163
Jane 158
Jeremiah Ewing 16h-5
Jesse 152-3, 162
Joel 156
John 4, 154, 156
John J. 139. 1110, 1t+3, 157,

162, 190
John Jr. 154
Jonathan 156
Laura Alice 163
Laura L. 163
Lavina 156
Leaven 156
Lemuel 156
Lettitha. 162
Levi 153
Lewis 150, 156-9, 160, 162-3
Lewis G. 162

’ Lonides "Lonnie" Walker 163
Lonnie 160
Lucinda 162
Lydia



224

LANE, Cont.
Marjory 152-3. 162
Martha J. "Mattie" 163
Martha Sofrona Ann 163
Mary 153, 156, 162, 184
Mary Agnes "Mollie" 164-6
Mary Louisa 163-5
Mary Melissa 162
Mary or Molly 154, 178, 180
Mary Abigail Page 165
Milly 158
Minnie Jane 164-5
Mordecai 140, 152-3, 155-7, 160,

162, 190-1
Nancy 154-5, 157, 159, 160, 162,

180
Nancy Dabney 143
Nancy Elizabeth 163
Nancy Ellen 159, 164
Nancy Elzada '163
Nancy J. 162
Phebe 153
Priscilla 162
Rachel 153
Rebecca Anna 164-5
Rhoda 153
Robert 160
Robert Lewis 163
Sadie 156
Sally 160
Samuel 163
Samuel H. 160
Sarah (Sally) 140, 152-3, 156,

159. 162
Sarah E. 162
Sarah Flannig-an 160
Susan 160
Susan Naomi 163
Susannah 153, 163
Theresa Emily (Emma) 163
Thomas 5, 129, 136, 140, 143,

151-8, 160, 162, 169, 170,
180, 185

Thomas Jr. 151, 156, 158, 162
Thomas H. 162
Thursey Ella 163
Tommie (Tommy) 154
Virginia Bell 161+-5
Walker Burton 164
Villiam 5, 151-6, 162, 180
Willia V. 162
William Dabney Lane family

160, 162
William Larkin 163

LASWELL,Alexander Frank 147
Celia Ann 52
Nancy Ann C. 4, 139. 143, 147

LAYNE, Floyd B. 154
LEE, Mrs. Elizabeth 184
LEEPER, Mary 105

Mrs. Miriam 47
LEIGH, Mary 184
LENOIR, William 214
LESTER, James 102

Sarah Ann 206
LEWIS,Elizabeth 184

Moury V. 162
Nancy Elizabeth 162
William (co1.) 157

LINGOW,Martha Cleveland 86
LINVILL, Francis 71
LISENBY, Melrose 71

LITTON, Elizabeth 51
George 51
Malinda 51
Mary 51
Hilliam 51

LOCKETT,Richard 103
LOCKHARD,Julia 145
LOFTIN, Bennie Lou Coffey 40, 52,

51+
Robert 52

LOW,Catherine 114
LUCAS, Ann 24

Elizabeth 23
Jane 20

LUNCH,Sally 70
LUSK, Mary 102

Samuel 73
LYMAN,Calvin 51
LYNCH, Anna 102

James T. 162
Hilliam 102

MACE,Caroline 138, 146
MACKEY,Sarah or Sallie 101,207

Sarah 200
William Lewis 200

MALONEY,Janie (Jennie) E. 120
MARCH, Helen 66

Timothy 66
MARSH,Nell 59-60, 72
MARTIN, George A. 81

John (Capt.) 157
MASSIE, Edmund 172,184
MATHEWS 145
MATHS, Aley or Aily 85, 90

Alice 85
MATNEY,Waneta Coffey 47
MAYFIELD, Abraham 211

Anne 211
Catherine 211
Isaac 211
Jean or Jane 6, 31-2, 211
Jacob 211
John 211
Mary 51
Robert 31, 211
Sarah 31, 211
William 49

MAUPIN, Daniel 175. 185
John 175. 185

MCAlexa.nder, Elizabeth 125
James 111

MCCAIN, John 180
MCCANN,Mary (Molly) 85, 90
MCCARTY,Arthur 197. 205

E11 Howard 197. 205
MCCLAIN, John 101, 180
MCCOKLE, Mary Ann 5, 203
MCCORMICK,Catherine 114, 103
MCCULLOCH,John Louis 164
MCDONALD,Charity 50

Harriet 50
Vandiver ‘Dick’ Berry Hill 203

MCFARLAND,William Henry 203
MCGILL, John Frank 147
MCHENRY, James 60
MCINTIRE, Edwin 119

Louis 144
MCKEE, Mary S. 121
MCKINNEY, Mary Ann 114, 121
MCKINSEY 39, 51+
MCLAIN,Mordecai 179

MCMILLAN,Jo McDowell 102
MCREYNOLDS,Thomas 175. 185
MCWILLIAMS,Elizabeth 90

John 84, 90
MEADOWS,Margaret 71

Zerilda Emerine 76
MEREDITH,Sarah 98-9, 101
MERRIHETHER,Jane 172, 184
MILLAR, Mr. 171
MILLER, Alice 114

Augustus 162
Celia 71
Elijah 51
Levi 351 1+6
Patience Jane 77
Sarah 209

MILLS, Anderson B. 51
John 20, 60

MINOR, Thomas 185
MITCHEL, Jubal 45
MONROE 45
MORAN,Nicholas 4, 36, 43

Winifred 212
MORELAND 50 '
MORGAN,William H. 122
MOODY, Andrew 102
MOORE,Alley 60, 63, 73, 76

Bidant "Biddy" 4, 63-1.», 69. 76
Frank R. 115, 134, 156
J°551e 59: 602 639 731 76
John F. 144
Mildred (Millie) 60-1. 69, 76
Milley 4
Mollie 59
Nancy 160
R. Ivey 59
Samuel 158, 160, 162

MORRIS,Milley 4, so, 69. 72
Susanna D. 173, 184
William 24, 28, 172, 184

MORRISON,Elizabeth 71
MORROH,Effie Jeanette 164

Eunice Helen 164
Houston Elihue 164, 166
Lawrence 164-5
Mary Agnes Lane 166
Mildred Ruth 164-5
Opal Lee 164, 166

MULLINS, Sarah 54
MUNDAY (MONDAY) 211-12
MURDOCK, Thomas 144
MURRELL,Elizabeth 36, 40
MOSELY,Edward 17,18

John 18
William 20

MOSS, Dorothy 23

NASH,Alsy (Elsie) 52
Ellen 53

NEAL, Harvey C. 204
NEIL, Gilbraith 49
NICHOLAS,Cynthia J. 51
NICKENS, Mr. 145
NIGHTINGALE,Mary (Polly) 44

Mathew 1-I-4

NIELL, Martha K. 50
NORVELL, Nancy 184
NULL, Robert E. Lee 163

0A’I'I‘S, Joshua 76
Sophronia. 77

0'COEH’I’HAIGH9, 12, 14



O'COF'FEY 9, 12, 14
O'COHI-{EY 9
O'COH'1-IIG 9, 12
OGEN, John C. 14-6
OSBOURNE,Elizabeth 4, 33, 43, 44
ovansrnam. John 169, 179

Nancy 169
OVERTURF,James Harrison 204
OWEN,Joseph 72

Washington 72
OWENS,Hesley 178

PAGE, David Francis 163
Mary Abigail 164

PATERSON,Mary E.200, 207
PATRICK, Charles 212
PEACOCK, John (LG. 102
PEMBERTON,James Conrad 14?
PENDLEY, Nancy 47

Thomas 71
PENLEY, Betsy 40

Sally 40
PERRIN, Eliza 184
PERSINGER,Eliza Matilda 119
PERNSTEINER,Florence 71
PERRY, James 162
PETERMAN,Timothy 98-100
PETTIT, Francis 49
PETTUS, Stephen 184

Thomas 184
PHELPS, Nancy 103
Phillips, Sarah Frances 203
PHIPPS, Mary 156, 180
PIIEEON, Rachael 93
PLACE, Francis 19

Mary 6, 19-21
PLATTE, Amelia Jane 122

Della 122
Eldora Ella 122
James H. 122
John 114
John A. 122
Jonathan 114
Lewis 122
Merit C. 122
Samuel 114
Samuel Leonard 122
William 114, 122
William H. 122

POINDEXTER,Elizabeth 178
POLLARD,William 184
PORTER, Calvin Reese 98

David A. 206
Eliza Emeline Coffey 98, 100
Elizabeth Nancy 206
Henry Clay 206
John Hancock 206
John Thomas 206
Mary 98
Mary Jane 206
Nancy Louisa 206
Sarah Louise 206
Sidney Reese 206
Stephen 199, 206
William 199, 206
William German 206

POFFIMAN,George 44
POUND, Francis 71
POWELL, Ambrose 21

Ann(e) 6, 18, 20-1, 24, 28, 43,
82, 84, 209
Elizabeth 19, 20, 209

POWELL,cont.
Frances 20, 209
Francis 19
Harriet E. 48
Honorias (Honor) 20, 209
Howell 20
John 19-21
Nathaniel 19
Place 20, 209
Thomas 6, 18-20, 209
Thomas Jr. 20 209
Thomas (Majors 21
William 19-20, 209

PRATT, Charles 179
Cornelius 179
John 179
Lucy 179
Mark ~179
Milly 179
Nancy 179
Permelly 179
Stephen 179

PRESLEY,Milley 6, 28, 81-2, 80
PRICE, Elizabeth 172, 184

Jane 121
PRINCE, Mary 156
PULLIAM, Blanche 139, 14?

Cecil 147
Mildred 138, 140

QUAHLES, John Dabmey 185
Miss (Jane?) 176, 185
Susan Littlepage 173. 184

RADCLIFFE,Jeff 39, 52
RAGSDALE,Rebecca 45
RAINS, Benjamin H. 153

Constant Benjamin 153
Estil E. 153
William 153

RAMSEY,catie 52
Janie Lydia 52
Joseph Love 52 .
Sally 73

RANDE, Mr. 145
HANSON,Horace S. 119

' REEVES Mr. 164
RHEA, Benjamin 359 46
RICE, Elizabeth 4, 60-1, 69, 74
RICHARDSON,Nancy 4, 34, 45
RIDGE, Mary J. 51
RIFTE, Christopher 44

Elizabeth 44
Tabitha (Rife) 44

RIPPETO, Polly 44
ROACH,Henry 164

Thomas 45
ROACHE,Mrs. Mary E. (Beach?) 75
ROBBINS,Elizabeth 54

Margaret 54
ROBERTSON,Elizabeth 71
ROCKET, Sarah 49
BONE, Caroline 48
ROPER, Thomas 50
ROSS, Mary Ruth 114
RUBLE, Smith 14-4
RUCXER,Colby 40, 52-3

Elizabeth 40, 52-3
Margaret 53

RUE, Sally 59.
RUSSELL,Nancy 4, 43, 140, 143,147
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SALE, Cornelius 211
smxou, Ann 24, 28

Anthred. 24, 28
Elizabeth 209
John 20, 209

SANDERS, Dicey 48
Gladys 164
John 48, 152
Hannah 152

SAUNDERS,Mary 99, 101-2
SCALF‘, Henry 23
SCOTT,’Sarah (Sally) 4, 37, 43,

49, 60
SEALEY,Martha 98, 100
SELEVEN, Timothy 210
SEXTON,Jacqueline 57, 60, 72
SHACKELFORD 173

George 184
Lynn 184

smuvrou, Sarah E. 147
smnr, James 49

Nancy 138, 163
SHARE, Herschel 51

Noreva 51, 105
SHASTEEN,Elizabeth 116

Jesse 114-16, 122, 125, 158
Jesse Jr. 116
Jesse Sr. 158
Margaret 116
Polly 116
Thomas 116 '
William 116

SHAW, Cora Dean 145
SHENAULT,Miss 4, 100 (see Chenault)

Nancy 36
SHELTDN, 184
sx-mnwoon, Ann 171, 183, 185
SHOCKLEY, Enos 53

Rebecca 53
Vainright 53
William 53

srmawsmmr. Ruel 178, 183
Samuel 178, 181, 183, 185
Dabney 183
Elizabeth 183.
Joel 183
John 183
Nathan 183
Nathaniel 183
Rhoda 183
Simeon 183
uilliam 183

SIMCOX,Lou Ellen 52
SIMPSON, Mary 71
SIMMONS, John D. 146
sms, William (Capt.) 24, 28
sIN:.LE'roN, La Vina 70
SLOAN,Charles 132, 135

Charles Samuel 134, 144
David 144
Hannah 134, 144
James 134
James A. 144
Jane 144
John 197. 105
Melvina Eldine 144
Mary 144
Mary Jane 197
Mr. 136
Nancy 197, 205
Samuel T. 144
Sibelia 144­
William Monroe 144



226

sum-1, Elizabeth 1+, 36, 1+3. 1+7. 51+
Elizabeth Ann (Griffin) 7?
Grace 173, 184
James 86, 90
Margaret 48, 174, 184
Mary Margaret 206
Mr. 71
Sarah 95. 173: 18”’
Thomas 36

SMOCK,Martha 50
SNEED,Eldridge 139

Owen Thomas 169
SNIDER, Henry 189

John 189
Jonas 189
Logan C. 189

SNYDER,Nancy 4,5, 143, 189, 203
SNODGRASS,Bradford 52

Jeanne 40
M. Jeanne 52
Susan J . 122

SODERSTROM,LP. 144
SPAHKMAN, I{a.2.V1ima.n .46

Henderson 46 ‘
STACEY. Perry M. 76
STALSWORTH,Samuel 45
STANLEY, Mary 152
STANSBURY,Charlotte 49
STAPP, Abraham 23

Abraham Jr. 23
Anester 24, 28
Dorothy 23
Elizabeth 22», 28
Eve 24, 28
James 23, 24, 28
Jacob 23
John 24, 28
Joseph 23, 24, 28
Joshua. 4, 23, 28
Joshua. Jr. 24, 28
Martha 23
Rebecca 23
Ruth 23
Thomas 24, _28
William 23

STARNES, George W. 51
STEEL, John 46
ST'E'.P,Joseph 98

Martha 98-100, 199, 206
STEPP, Exa Saphronia. 51
STEWART,John Allen 120

Sally 213
Samuel Thomas 48

S'I'ILI..EY,Jarreth E. 144
smcxmnn, Euphy 101
STOCKTON,Elizabeth 70
STONE, Mrs. Amanda. Jane Hudson 77
STORY,Caroline 47
STRANGE, Abner 71

Abraham 71
Abra.ha.m Alloway 59
Archelaus 71
Archelaus Alloway 58, 71
David 58, 69. 71
David A. 32, 111
David Alloway 71
Elizabeth 71
Ellen 71
Hannah Alloway 50
Ian Macleran 71
John 71

STRANGE, Cont.
Larkin 71
Levi 71
Lewis 71
Lewis Wilson 71
Mary 71
Samuel Archelaus 71
Sarah Alloway 76
Winston 71
William 71
Zou Ellen 71

STROTHER,Francis 171, 183
STUART,Judge Alexander 184
STURMAN,William 178
SLMMERS,Anderson 178

Janie 139. 140
Noah 76
Ray 140, 148

SUMPTER,Sally 72
Thomas 72

SUHBY,Evelyn Violet 204
SUTHERLAND,Frances 178
S D, Mrs.Sophia73
SWAN, Susanna. 183

’moma.s 183
SWANSON,Essie 203

Minnie 203
SWEET 53
SWENSON,Pegy 45

TATE, Charles 115
Polly 101
Samuel 61
Winnie 147

TAUL, Micah (Capt.) 61+
TAILOR, John 82
TETER 120
TERRJIL, Henry 185
THOMPSON,Laura McFarland 97

Mr. 175. 185
THCMAS,Catherine 95

John 71 _
Mr. 95

TJILER. Frances 58, 71
Stanley 71

TOBERMAN-,Mr. 145
TODD, Samuel 184
'I‘0Ml°KINS, Ma.ry E. 184
TRICE, James 171, 183
TRIPP, William Mrs. 113
TROGDEN, E£I.v'.1J:a 46
TROTTER, William 115
TROUSDALE, Jane 97
TUCKER,Elmer E. 206

Elizabeth 206
German J. 206
Henry C. 206
Martha. 206
Martha "1-‘*atsy" 103
Thomas J. 206
Walter H. 206

TURPIN,Delilah 105
TURNBOW,Andrew 101

James 101
TURNER, James 179

VANDERVORT, Wm. B. 120
VANDEVER,Aaron 189

George 189 _
VARNIER(VARNER), Keziah (Kezia)

1+, 137, 143, 146
Peter 13?, 146

VANVLEET, Lewis 20?
VERMILLION, Martha 101
VICKORY, Rebecca. 180
VINCENT, John 163

mm (mun), 126
Abigail Hardwick 125
Alexander 125
Eallenger 125
Charity 125
Clary 125
David 125
Dawson 125 .
Eleanor 4.5.6, 69, 111, 119,

125, 143
Elizabeth 111, 119, 125
Hannah 125
Jane 125
Jeremiah 125
John 5, 111, 119, 125
John Sr. 125
Lucretia 125
Mary 125
Pearce 125
Priscilla 125
Thomas 115
Rachel 125

WADS, John 125
WALKER,Cassandra 180

John Wesley 121
Lucy 184
Robert 62, 74

WALKUP,Sally 71
Mr. 71

WALLEN,Catherine Roberts 153
WALLER, Amanda E. 163

America "Mark" 163
Charles 164
Emma,164
Erastus "Bessie" 164
John 163
Ja.J'.'J'.'ett 163
Larkin 164­
Larkin Cantrell 164
Lewis 163
Margaret 164
Martha 163
Nancy Eleanor 163
Oscar 163
Paralee 163
Porter 164
Richard 163
Sarah Ann 164
Sophronia 163
Theresa 163
Thomas 163, 185
Uriah 164
William 163-4

WAMLER,Theresa 50
WARREN, Thomas 185
WATSON,Sarah 173, 184

Susannah 104

WEATHERLY(MAT'HERLY?), Nancy E.
(Mary?) 75

WEBB, James 51
Kelly 122
Stephen 122
Tyre 50

WEIKE, Adelaide 71



WE'LCH, Mr. 1’+5
WELDON,John R. 120
WEST. Lama: 58
WHEELER, Nancy 178
WHISANAND, Mary 51
WHITE, I. 125

Milly 90
WHITIS, Alma. 72
wHm3.'sIrE(s), batty 213

James 70
Joel 70
Jonathan 58, 70
Mary "Polly" 70
Roheri 57: 55: 59. 70
Thomas 58
William 1+, 58, 70

WHITSE'I"I‘,Nathan 52
WIATI‘, J.T.C. 18’-J»
WILKINS, George 121

James 121
Jemima 121

WELIAMS, Margaret 90
WIILOUGI-CBY,Hugh G. 164
WILSON,Catherine 49

Dorothy 180
Hannah #7
Margaret 8h
Rachel 50

WILHOUT 28
WINSTON,Elizabeth 172, 184

Elizabeth Smith 175 '
Isaac 172, 183, 18#
Lucy 172-3, 175-7, 180-1, 185
William 171, 183
William (co1.) 18l+

HISEMAN,Mary "Polly" 1%
WI'I'h'ERSPOON, Jane 99

Katherine 99
WOLFE, Lydia 52
VOLFORD 101
HOOD, Mr. 10

Trist 171, 172
HOODSON,Tucker 65
WORSHAM,Mary Ann 77
WRIGHT, Lyndon 195

Martin 76
Rebecca J. 195. 203
Summers 73

WYATT,Mrs. Nancy 184

YELL. Alex 75
YOCIM, Emily H. 2014­
YOUNG,Eleanor 113

Elizabeth 119
Jacob 113, 119
Jacob H. 119
Henry 112
Henry C. 119
Irenius M. 119
Mary A. 119
Sarah E. 119

YOUNEER,Jenny 169, 185
Jane (Jenny) 179
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